EXAMPLE 1

HARNESSING ONCOLYTIC VIRUS-MEDIATED ANTITUMOR IMMUNITY

Topic Editors Philippe Fournier and Volker Schirrmacher







FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2015 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-450-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-450-6

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

HARNESSING ONCOLYTIC VIRUS-MEDIATED ANTITUMOR IMMUNITY

Topic Editors: Philippe Fournier, DKFZ, Germany Volker Schirrmacher, DKFZ, Germany

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) have emerged as a promising anticancer treatment. OVs selectively infect, replicate in, and kill tumor cells. Oncolytic viral therapy occurs in two phases: an initial phase where the virus mediates direct oncolysis of tumor cells, and a second phase where an induced post-oncolytic immune response continues to mediate tumor destruction and retards progression of the disease. For a long time, the therapeutic efficacy was thought to depend mainly on the direct viral oncolysis based on their tumor selective replication and killing activities. But the post-oncolytic anti-tumor activity induced by the OV therapy is also a key factor for an efficient therapeutic activity. The topic adresses various strategies how to optimize OVs anti-tumor activity.

Table of Contents

- **04** *Harnessing oncolytic virus-mediated anti-tumor immunity* Volker Schirrmacher and Philippe Fournier
- 06 Oncolytic immunotherapy: dying the right way is a key to eliciting potent antitumor immunity

Zong Sheng Guo, Zuqiang Liu and David L. Bartlett

- **17** *Immunotherapeutic potential of oncolytic vaccinia virus* Steve H. Thorne
- 22 Oncolytic virus-mediated reversal of impaired tumor antigen presentation Shashi A. Gujar and Patrick W. K. Lee
- 29 Oncolytic viruses as anticancer vaccines Norman Woller, Engin Gürlevik, Cristina-Ileana Ureche, Anja Schumacher and Florian Kühnel
- 42 Oncolytic virotherapy as emerging immunotherapeutic modality: potential of parvovirus H-1

Markus Moehler, Katrin Goepfert, Bernd Heinrich, Caroline J. Breitbach, Maike Delic, Peter Robert Galle and Jean Rommelaere

52 How informative is the immune response against surrogate tumor antigens to assess antitumor immunity?

Valérie Janelle and Alain Lamarre

55 Armed therapeutic viruses – a disruptive therapy on the horizon of cancer immunotherapy

Maxine Bauzon and Terry Hermiston

65 Multimodal cancer therapy involving oncolytic Newcastle disease virus, autologous immune cells, and bi-specific antibodies

Volker Schirrmacher and Philippe Fournier

70 Attacking postoperative metastases using perioperative oncolytic viruses and viral vaccines

Lee-Hwa Tai and Rebecca Auer

- 79 Sorting out Pandora's box: discerning the dynamic roles of liver microenvironment in oncolytic virus therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma Jennifer Altomonte and Oliver Ebert
- 89 Pharmacological modulation of anti-tumor immunity induced by oncolytic viruses

Nicole E. Forbes, Ramya Krishnan and Jean-Simon Diallo

101 Chemotherapy and oncolytic virotherapy: advanced tactics in the war against cancer

Andrew Nguyen, Louisa Ho and Yonghong Wan

EDITORIAL published: 24 November 2014 doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00337

Harnessing oncolytic virus-mediated anti-tumor immunity

Volker Schirrmacher^{1,2}* and Philippe Fournier¹

¹ DKFZ, Heidelberg, Germany

² IOZK, Cologne, Germany

*Correspondence: v.schirrmacher@web.de

Edited and reviewed by:

Wolf Hervé Fridman, INSERM, University Paris Descartes, France

Keywords: oncolytic virus, anti-tumor activity, tumor-associated antigen, oncolytic virotherapy, immunovirotherapy, immunotherapeutic approaches, anti-viral response

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) selectively infect, replicate in, and kill tumor cells. For a long time, the therapeutic efficacy of OVs was thought to depend mainly on this mechanism of direct viral oncolysis. Nowadays, however, the post-oncolytic anti-tumor activity induced by the OV therapy is considered a key factor for an efficient therapeutic activity. The research topic addresses these issues and discusses future strategies how to further optimize OVs anti-tumor activity.

The first two articles deal with viral oncolysis and the immune response. Guo et al. (1) from the University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute (USA) point out that dying the right way is a key to eliciting potent anti-tumor immunity. They describe that OVs induce mostly immunogenic cancer cell death (ICD) including immunogenic apoptosis, necrosis/necroptosis, pyroptosis, and autophagic cell death. A review of recent advances in our understanding of danger signals is followed by a discussion of potential combination strategies to target cells into specific modes of ICD. Thorne (2) from the same Institution argues in his perspective article that the immune response raised by an OV can also hinder optimal therapeutic activity and repeat dosing. Using oncolytic vaccinia virus (VV) as an example, Thorne summarizes approaches to enhance the anti-tumor immune response by the introduction of immune stimulatory transgenes. His article points our attention also toward interesting new alternative strategies.

The next four articles review and discuss in more detail postoncolytic anti-tumor immune responses. Gujar and Lee (3) from the Dalhousie University of Halifax (Canada) discuss how OVinduced immunological events override tumor-associated antigen (TAA) presentation impairment and promote appropriate T cell interaction with antigen-presenting cells (APC). Woller et al. (4) from the Medical School in Hannover (Germany) review the role of viral oncolysis for induction of ICD including autophagy, DAMPs and PAMPs, and the ER-stress response. Finally, they highlight developments for exploiting the vaccinative potential of oncolytic virotherapy. Moehler et al. (5) from the University Medical Center in Mainz (Germany) together with Jean Rommelaere from the DKFZ, Heidelberg (Germany) draw our attention to oncolytic parvoviruses and review their evidence that these can trigger maturation of dendritic cells (DCs) and induce activation of antigen-specific cytotoxic T cells. Finally, they discuss the clinical potential of the immunovirotherapy concept and its combination with new targeted therapies or with immune checkpoint blocking antibodies. Janelle and Lamarre (6) from the INRS-Institut Armand-Frappier in Quebec (Canada) discuss the question of how to assess anti-tumor immunity. They

exemplify this by reviewing experimental studies with B16 mouse melanoma, which is treated by vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) variants.

How can OVs be harnessed or combined with other agents such as antibodies to mediate stronger anti-tumor effects? This question is discussed by the following two manuscripts. Bauzon and Hermiston (7) from the Bayer HealthCare US Innovation Center in San Francisco (USA) propose to merge OVs with immune checkpoint blocking antibodies. Immune checkpoints refer to a number of inhibitory pathways that play crucial roles in maintaining selftolerance and immune homeostasis. The discovery and targeting of immune checkpoints has opened a new immunotherapeutic avenue generating very promising clinical results. Arguments are put forward to combine this strategy with an OV therapy to create synergies between both approaches. This might result in enhanced safety and efficacy and would be also economically advantageous. Schirrmacher and Fournier (8) from the DKFZ, Heidelberg (Germany) and from the IOZK in Cologne (Germany) put forward in a perspective article a new concept of a multimodal cancer therapy involving oncolytic Newcastle disease virus (NDV), autologous immune cells (activated T cells and/or polarized DC1), and bi-specific antibodies (bsAbs). The bsAbs they created are NDVspecific single-chain (scFv) antibodies fused with anti-CD3 or anti-CD28 T cell activating scFvs. These reagents, upon attachment to NDV infected tumor cells, are reported to have a strong potential to activate cancer patients T cells, including TAA-specific memory T cells and not TAA-specific naïve T cells. Such ex vivo activated autologous T cells can be transferred back to the patient. To increase their tumor targeting efficacy, it is suggested to preactivate the tumor microenvironment by low dose irradiation or by local hyperthermia. Tumor targeting of grafted T cells is suggested to become also improved via cell-bound tri-specific antibodies targeting a tumor introduced viral antigen such as HN of NDV.

Delivery of OVs is another important aspect for achievement of optimal effects. Tai and Auer (9) from the Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa (Canada) argue that the optimal time point should be either pre- or post-operative to counteract surgery induced immunosuppression and to attack post-operative metastases. They review their preclinical surgery models, in which pre-operative OVs prevented post-operative NK cell dysfunction and attenuated tumor dissemination. Altomonte and Ebert (10) from the Klinikum rechts der Isar, Munich (Germany) discuss the particular challenges of OV therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma as well as some potential strategies for modulating the immune system and synergizing it with the hepatic microenvironment. Combination strategies involving the adoptive transfer of immune cells together with OVs are expected as an exciting new approach.

Successful therapy using OVs will ultimately depend on effectively navigating the delicate balance between the anti-viral response and the anti-tumor immune response such as to minimize the former in the short term and maximize the latter in the long term. As outlined by Forbes et al. (11) from the Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa (Canada), several approved drugs and novel small molecules can be effective tools to dampen the innate and adaptive anti-viral responses, increase the anti-tumor immune response, or both. Such approaches are discussed to be undoubtedly context dependent (e.g., tumor type and tumor site) and OV-dependent. This topic of combining oncolytic virotherapy with chemotherapy is further discussed by Nguyen et al. (12) from the McMaster University, Hamilton (Canada). With a particular focus on pharmaceutical immunomodulators they discuss how specific therapeutic contexts may alter the effects of these synergistic combinations and their implications for future clinical use.

It is remarkable to what extent experts from Canada, Germany, and the USA are in accord in this e-book by emphasizing the potential importance of OVs on systemic T cell-mediated anti-tumor immunity.

REFERENCES

- Guo ZS, Liu Z, Bartlett DL. Oncolytic immunotherapy: dying the right way is a key to eliciting potent antitumor immunity. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:74. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00074
- 2. Thorne SH. Immunotherapeutic potential of oncolytic vaccinia virus. *Front* Oncol (2014) **4**:155. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00155
- Gujar SA, Lee PWK. Oncolytic virus-mediated reversal of impaired tumor antigen presentation. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:77. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00077
- Woller N, Gürlevik E, Ureche C-I, Schumacher A, Kühnel F. Oncolytic viruses as anticancer vaccines. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:188. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014. 00188

- Moehler M, Goepfert K, Heinrich B, Breitbach CJ, Delic M, Galle PR, et al. Oncolytic virotherapy as emerging immunotherapeutic modality: potential of parvovirus H-1. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:92. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00092
- Janelle V, Lamarre A. How informative is the immune response against surrogate tumor antigens to assess antitumor immunity? *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:135. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00135
- Bauzon M, Hermiston T. Armed therapeutic viruses a disruptive therapy on the horizon of cancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:74. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00074
- Schirrmacher V, Fournier P. Multimodal cancer therapy involving oncolytic Newcastle Disease Virus, autologous immune cells and bispecific antibodies. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:224. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00224
- Tai L-H, Auer R. Attacking postoperative metastases using perioperative oncolytic viruses and viral vaccines. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:217. doi:10.3389/fonc. 2014.00217
- Altomonte J, Ebert O. Sorting out Pandora's box: discerning the dynamic roles of liver microenvironment in oncolytic virus therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:85. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00085
- Forbes NE, Krishnan R, Diallo J-S. Pharmacological modulation of antitumor immunity induced by oncolytic viruses. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:191. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00191
- Nguyen A, Ho L, Wan Y. Chemotherapy and oncolytic virotherapy: advanced tactics in the war against cancer. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:145. doi:10.3389/fonc. 2014.00145

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 23 September 2014; accepted: 06 November 2014; published online: 24 November 2014.

Citation: Schirrmacher V and Fournier P (2014) Harnessing oncolytic virus-mediated anti-tumor immunity. Front. Oncol. **4**:337. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00337

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Schirrmacher and Fournier. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Oncolytic immunotherapy: dying the right way is a key to eliciting potent antitumor immunity

Zong Sheng Guo*, Zuqiang Liu and David L. Bartlett

Department of Surgery, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Edited by:

Philippe Fournier, DKFZ, Germany

Reviewed by:

William L. Redmond, Providence Portland Medical Center, USA Volker Schirrmacher, DKFZ, Germany Karen Mossman, McMaster University. Canada

*Correspondence:

Zong Sheng Guo, Department of Surgery, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA e-mail: guozs@upmc.edu

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) are novel immunotherapeutic agents whose anticancer effects come from both oncolysis and elicited antitumor immunity. OVs induce mostly immunogenic cancer cell death (ICD), including immunogenic apoptosis, necrosis/necroptosis, pyroptosis, and autophagic cell death, leading to exposure of calreticulin and heat-shock proteins to the cell surface, and/or released ATP, high-mobility group box 1, uric acid, and other damage-associated molecular patterns as well as pathogen-associated molecular patterns as danger signals, along with tumor-associated antigens, to activate dendritic cells and elicit adaptive antitumor immunity. Dying the right way may greatly potentiate adaptive antitumor immunity. The mode of cancer cell death may be modulated by individual OVs and cancer cells as they often encode and express genes that inhibit/promote apoptosis, necroptosis, or autophagic cell death. We can genetically engineer OVs with death-pathwaymodulating genes and thus skew the infected cancer cells toward certain death pathways for the enhanced immunogenicity. Strategies combining with some standard therapeutic regimens may also change the immunological consequence of cancer cell death. In this review, we discuss recent advances in our understanding of danger signals, modes of cancer cell death induced by OVs, the induced danger signals and functions in eliciting subsequent antitumor immunity. We also discuss potential combination strategies to target cells into specific modes of ICD and enhance cancer immunogenicity, including blockade of immune checkpoints, in order to break immune tolerance, improve antitumor immunity, and thus the overall therapeutic efficacy.

Keywords: immunogenic cancer cell death, DAMPs, PAMP, autophagy, tumor-associated antigen, crosspresentation, immune tolerance, antitumor immunity

INTRODUCTION

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) have been shown to be effective in treating cancer in preclinical models and promising clinical responses in human cancer patients (1-3). OV-mediated cancer therapeutic includes three major mechanisms. The first is the direct infection of cancer and endothelial cells in the tumor tissue leading to direct oncolysis of these cells. The second is necrotic/apoptotic death of uninfected cells induced by anti-angiogenesis and vasculature targeting of the OVs as shown in both animal models and human cancer patients (4–6). The last is the activated innate and adaptive tumor-specific immunity, which exert cytotoxicity to surviving cancer and stromal cells. A number of recent studies have demonstrated that the antitumor immunity has played an important role in the overall efficacy of oncolytic virotherapy, which has been shown to contribute to the efficacy of oncolytic virotherapy (7-14). In the case of oncolvtic vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), reovirus, and herpes simplex virus (HSV), the antitumor immune response is very critical to the overall efficacy of oncolytic virotherapy, sometimes even more important than that of direct oncolysis (7, 9, 11, 14).

Oncolytic viruses provide a number of potential advantages over conventional cancer therapies. First, OVs are tumor-selective antitumor agent, thus providing higher cancer specificity and better safety margin. Second, OV-mediated oncolysis not only leads to regression of tumor size, but this process provides key signals to dendritic cells (DCs) and other antigen presenting cells to initiate a potentially potent antitumor immune response. The immunogenic types of cell death induced by OVs provide danger signal (signal 0) and a natural repertoire of tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) to DCs, both required to trigger an adaptive immunity against cancer (15-17). The danger signals include damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) and pathogenassociated molecular pattern (PAMP) molecules derived from the OVs. Therefore, this process could provide a highly favorable immunological backdrop for the host to respond and generate potent adaptive antitumor immunity. However, just like other immunotherapeutic regimens for cancer, a number of challenges remain for OVs-mediated immunotherapy. One is that relative inefficiency of delivering OVs to tumor nodules, viral replication within tumor mass, and spread to distant metastases dampens its overall efficacy. Second, most TAAs are self-antigens and thus weakly immunogenic. As we will discuss below, OVs may enhance tumor immunogenicity in many cases. Yet, this low immunogenicity still is a problem due to the highly immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME). Third, a highly immunosuppressive TME in late stages of cancer often suppresses the activities of tumor-infiltrated lymphocytes (TILs) generated either spontaneously or by an immunotherapeutic regimen (18).

In this review, we will discuss different modes of cell death induced by various OVs, their potential effects on the subsequent antitumor immunity. Then we discuss rationales and strategies of inducing ideal types of cancer cell death by either genetic modification on OVs or by combination with specific antitumor agents that lead to specific mode of immunogenic cancer cell death (ICD). Finally, we provide some perspective on future combination strategies to improve antitumor immunity for enhanced overall efficacy of virotherapy.

OV: TUMOR SELECTIVITY AND RELEVANCE OF ANIMAL MODEL

Ideally, OVs selectively infect and replicate in cancer cells and cancer-associated endothelial cells, leading to direct oncolysis and subsequent antitumor activities without harming normal tissue (1–3). Some OVs display intrinsic tumor tropism (naturally occurring OVs), while others obtain their tumor selectivity through natural evolution or genetic engineering. The mechanisms underlying the tumor selectivity may include altered signaling pathways of ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), p53, PKR, Ras, RB/E2F/p16, Wnt, anti-apoptosis, or defects in cellular innate immune signaling pathways or hypoxia conditions in the TME (1, 3, 19, 20).

Viruses display strict viral tropism, specific for a cell type, tissue, or species. However, OVs often broaden their tropism to cancer cells from non-permissive species to various degrees. As an example, human adenovirus (Ad) does not infect normal murine cells, yet infect murine cancer cells even though the production of infectious virus progeny is often limited. A recent study may provide some answer to this phenomenon. McNeish et al. have found that murine cancer cells support viral gene transcription, mRNA processing, and genome replication of human Ad, but there is a profound failure of viral protein synthesis, especially late structural proteins with reduced loading of late mRNA onto ribosomes. Interestingly, in trans expression of the non-structural late protein L4-100K increases both viral mRNA loading on ribosomes and late protein synthesis, accompanied by reduced phosphorylation of eIF2 α and improved anticancer efficacy (21). The key point is that some OVs display aberrant, non-productive infection in nonnative hosts such as mouse cells, leading to mode of cancer cell death different from the mode of cell death in native host. As we will discuss extensively later, the mode of cancer cell death dictates to a significant degree the subsequent antitumor immunity. As a consequence, the OV-elicited antitumor immunity in tumor models of syngeneic animals might not be relevant to the situation in human cancer patients. This is an often overlooked issue when tumor models in animals are chosen along with OVs as therapeutic models for human cancer.

SIGNAL 0: DAMPs AND PAMPs

PAMPs: SIGNAL 0s FROM PATHOGENS

In the late 1980s, Charles Janeway proposed that the immune system protects the host against infectious pathogens by presenting the molecules as signal 0s, which is what now called PAMPs, to the antigen presenting cells (22, 23). PAMPs consist of essential components of microorganisms that direct the targeted host cells, key components in the innate immune arm, to distinguish "self" from "non-self," and promote signals associated with innate immunity (24). Major PAMPs are nucleic acids (DNA, doublestranded RNA, single-stranded RNA, and 5'-triphosphate RNA), proteins (lipoproteins and glycoproteins), as well as other components of the cell surface and membrane (17, 25). Interestingly, defective viral genomes arising *in vivo* are a critical danger signal for triggering antiviral immunity in the lung (26).

This concept of PAMPs has been strongly supported by the discovery of several classes of pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs). These PRRs include the toll-like receptors (TLRs), retinoic acid-inducible gene-1 (RIG-1)-like receptors (RLRs), nucleotide oligodimerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs), AIM2like receptors, and the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) (17, 27). It is now well accepted that both DAMPs and PAMPs stimulate the innate immune system through PRRs. DCs express a wide repertoire of these PRRs. The binding of PAMP to its receptors on the APC activates the DCs (28, 29).

DAMPs: SIGNAL 0s FROM HOST

Matzinger proposed what is known now as the "danger theory" in 1994 (30). In the theory, it proposed that the immune system can distinct self from non-self and dangerous from innocuous signals. In this model, APCs are activated by both PAMPs and DAMPs from distressed or damaged tissues or microbes. The theory has been well accepted in recent years, as we have learned more and more about how dying cells alert immune system to danger (31). Over the years, a number of endogenous danger signals have been discovered. For examples, it was shown that uric acid functions as a principal endogenous danger signal, which is released from injured cells (32).

Damage-associated molecular patterns are molecules derived from normal cells that can initiate and perpetuate immunity in response to cell stress/tissue damage in the absence of pathogenic infection. DAMPs vary greatly depending on the type of cell and injured tissue. They can be proteins, DNA, RNA, or metabolic products. Protein DAMPs include intracellular proteins, such as high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), heat-shock proteins (HSPs), and proteins in the intracellular matrix that are generated following injury, such as hyaluronan fragments (33). HMGB1 is one prototypic DAMP (34, 35). The protein DAMPs can be localized within the nucleus, cytoplasm, cell membrane, and in exosomes, the extracellular matrix, or as plasma components (17). Other types of DAMPs may include DNA, ATP, uric acid, and heparin sulfate. It is interesting to note that mitochondria are a rich and unique source of DAMPs, including formyl peptides, the mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)-binding proteins, transcription factor TFAM, and mtDNA itself (36). Following interactions between DAMPs and PRRs on the target cells, the intracellular signaling cascades triggered by the interactions between DAMPs and PRRs lead to activation of genes encoding inflammatory mediators, which coordinate the elimination of pathogens, damaged, or infected cells (27). In cancer, chronic inflammation and release of DAMPs promotes cancer, while acute inflammation of release/presentation of DAMPs may induce potent antitumor immunity and helps in cancer therapy (35, 37). Based on the work in chemotherapy and radiation therapy, the concept of ICD of cancer cells has been established about 10 years ago (37, 38). As we will discuss below, this concept leads to development of novel strategies for cancer therapeutics.

OVs INDUCE MOSTLY MULTIMODALITY ICD AND RELEASE/PRESENT DANGER SIGNAL MOLECULES

Investigators have long been interested in what defines the immunogenicity of cancer cells and how we can enhance the immunogenicity for the purpose of immunotherapy. Pioneering work by Lindenmann and Klein almost half a century ago demonstrated that viral oncolysis of cancer cells by influenza virus increases immunogenicity of tumor cell antigens (39). However, it was not clear how this immunogenicity was enhanced at the time. Over a decade ago, it was found that tumor immunogenicity is enhanced by cell death via induced expression of HSPs (40). A few years ago, investigators working on chemotherapy and radiation for cancer therapy have led to this new concept as they classify the types of cancer cell death by the immunological consequence, into "immunogenic cancer cell death" (ICD) and "non-immunogenic cancer cell death" (NICD) (41–43). The original concept of ICD includes only "immunogenic

apoptosis." We and others have recently proposed that ICD includes not only immunogenic apoptosis, but also necroptosis, necrosis, autophagic cell death, and pyroptosis of cancer cells (Figure 1) (44, 45). Basically, cancer cells dying via ICD have the following common features as summarized by Tesniere, Zitvogel, Kroemer, and their colleagues (46). They stated that, "some characteristics of the plasma membrane, acquired at pre-apoptotic stage, can alarm immune effectors to recognize and then attack these pre-apoptotic tumor cells. The signals that mediate the immunogenicity of tumor cells involve elements of the DNA damage response, elements of the endoplasmic reticulum stress response, as well as elements of the apoptotic response" (46). For cells undergoing pre-apoptotic phase, they may express "danger" and "eat-me" signals on the cell surface (calreticulin and HSPs) or can secrete/release immunostimulatory factors (cytokines, ATP, and HMGB1) to stimulate innate immune effectors (46). For other types of ICD, extracellular ATP, HMGB1, uric acid, other DAMPs, and PAMPs released in the mid or late phases functions as potent danger signals, thus making it highly immunogenic.



FIGURE 1 | Four key modes of cancer cell death and their

immunogenicity. In classic apoptosis, the retention of plasma membrane integrity and the formation of apoptotic bodies render it an immunologically silent death mode, or non-immunogenic cell death. However, recent studies have shown that cancer cells treated with certain cytotoxic agents (some chemotherapeutic agents and oncolytic viruses) lead to the cell surface exposure of calreticulin (ecto-CRT) and heat-shock proteins (HSPs) prior to apoptosis, and other DAMPs released in the later phase of apoptosis, danger signals to DCs. This is immunogenic apoptosis. Cancer cells dying by necrosis/necroptosis or pyroptosis secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and release their cytoplasmic content, including DAMPs (ATP, HMGB1, and uric acid, etc.), into the extracellular space. Some DAMPs (such as HMGB1) can be secreted through non-classical pathways (25). These later modes of cancer cell death are ICD. Drawings are modified and reprinted from Lamkanfi and Dixit (47), copyright 2010, with permission from Elsevier.

Oncolytic viruses kill cancer and associated endothelial cell through a variety of types of cell death as classically defined by the morphological and ultrastructural changes of dying cells. These include apoptosis, necrosis, necroptosis, pyroptosis, and autophagic cell death, often with one as the predominant form of death for a particular OV. By the new definition, cancer cell death induced by OVs is mostly immunogenic (**Table 1**). Probably all oncolytic Ads induced autophagic cell death in cancer cells (48– 51). Coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3) induces immunogenic apoptosis in human non-small cell lung cancer cells (52). Measles virus (MV) causes ICD in human melanoma cells, because inflammatory cytokines and HMGB1 are released, and DCs are activated by MVinfected cancer cells (53). HMGB1 release often happens in late stage of apoptosis, during autophagy process and in necrotic cells infected with OVs. We first reported in 2005 that human cancer cells infected by an oncolytic poxvirus, led to necrotic/apoptotic death pathways and release of HMGB1 (54). Later studies have confirmed and extended the findings of HMGB1 release in cancer cells infected with Ads (12), CVB3 (52), an MV (53), vaccinia viruses (VVs) (55–57), HSV (14, 58), and parvovirus H-1 (H-1PV) (59). Extracellular ATP is another potent danger signal released from OV-infected cancer cells (12, 52, 56, 60). The third danger

| ov | DAMP/PAMP | Receptor | Type of cell death | Immunological functions | Reference |
|----------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Ad5/3-D24- GM-CSF; CVB3; vvDD | ATP | P2Y2 and P2X7 | Necrosis, autophagic cell death, and immunogenic apoptosis | Function as a "find-me" signal, and cause NLRP3-inflammasome-based IL-1β production | (52, 56, 60) |
| Ad5/3-D24- GM-CSF; CVB3 | Ecto-CRT (calreticulin) | CD91 | Immunogenic apoptosis (either pre-apoptotic, early or mid apoptotic surface exposure) or secondary necrosis | Function as an "eat-me" signal and it is a potent mediator of tumor immunogenicity crucial for elicidation of antitumor immunity | (52, 60) |
| Parvovirus H-1 (H-1PV) | HSPs: (HSP90, HSP70, Hsp72) | CD91, TLR2, TLR4, SREC1, and FEEL1 | Immunogenic apoptosis (surface exposure) or necrosis (passively released) | Surfaced-exposed HSP90 can mediate adaptive antitumor immunity, while secreted HSP90 can inhibit TGFβ1 activation; Leads to TAA-specific antitumor immunity | (65–67) |
| ? (Not identified) | Histones | TLR9 | Apoptosis (cell surface exposure) or accidental necrosis (passively released) | Released histones can cause initiation of TLR9-MyD88-mediated inflammation | (68) |
| Many OVs: Ad; HSV; MV; VV; H-1PV | HMGB1 | TLR2, TLR4, RAGE ,and TIM3 | Immunogenic apoptosis; necrosis; autophagic cell death | Activate macrophages and DCs; recruit neutrophils; promote <i>in vivo</i> the production of IFN-γ, TNF-α, IL-6, IL-12, and antigen-specific activation of CD8 ⁺ T cells | (53, 54, 56, 57, 59, 60) |
| MV-eGFP | IL-6 | IL-6R and GP130 | Necroptosis | A cell type-specific endokine DAMP with potent pro-inflammatory activity | (53) |
| Telomelysin (Ad) | Uric acid | P2Y6 | Autophagic cell death | Stimulate the production of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, TNF-α, and IL-6 and chemotactic factors for neutrophils such as IL-8/CXCL8 and S100A8/A9 | (61, 69) |
| Newcastle disease virus (NDV) | dsRNA and other PAMPs | TLR3; and by the cytoplasmic receptors MDA-5 and RIG-I | Immunogenic Apoptosis; autophagy | (1) Upregulation of HLA antigens and ICAM-1; (2) induction of type I IFNs and chemokines (CCL5 and CXCL10); (3) activate DCs and T effector cells but also to block Treg cells; (4) local therapy with oncolytic NDV induces inflammatory immune infiltrates in distant tumors, making them susceptible to systemic therapy | (70–74) |
| Reovirus | The virus itself (PAMP) | Dendritic cells (DCs) | (Cancer cell independent mechanism) | Induce DC maturation and stimulate the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN-α, TNF-α, IL-12p70, and IL-6. Reovirus directly activates human DC and that reovirus-activated DCs stimulate innate killing by not only NK cells, but also T cells | (75) |

| Table 1 Oncolytic viruses lead to specific mode of immunogenic cell death and exposure/re |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|

signal molecule released from OV-infected cells is uric acid (61). Some OVs may induce cell death partly through pyroptosis, a caspase-1 dependent inflammatory form of cell death (62). Both necrotic cells and pyroptotic cells release ATP more efficiently than apoptotic cells do. Pyroptotic cells, just like apoptotic cells, actively induce phagocytosis by macrophages using "eat-me" and "findme" signals (63). Cytolytic immune cells, elicited by OVs or other agents, kill additional cancer cells leading to release of DAMPs such as HMGB1 (64). In summary, most OVs induce ICD of cancer cells and present/release a number of potent danger signals, and TAAs to DCs to trigger adaptive immune response (**Table 1**).

Cancer cell death induced by some OVs has not been examined for their direct features of ICD. However, other properties suggest that cancer cells infected by the OV are immunogenic, or the viruses themselves are highly immunogenic. Newcastle disease virus (NDV) is a well-studied virus for its virology and immunostimulatory properties (76). NDV induces cancer cells into apoptosis (70), with autophagy taking place during the process (71). Human cancer cells infected by NDV show upregulation of HLA class I and II antigens, and costimulatory molecule ICAM-1, as well as induction of IFNs, chemokines (IP10 and RANTES) before apoptosis (72). Moreover, the inflammatory conditions and type I IFNs inhibit Treg cells (73). With these potent immunostimulatory properties, local administration of oncolytic NDV overcomes systemic tumor resistance to immunotherapy by blockade of immune checkpoints (74). Another RNA virus, reovirus, also induces cancer cells into apoptosis (77, 78), with autophagy taking place in the process (79-81). Melanoma cells infected with reovirus release a range of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines while IL-10 secretion is abrogated (82). These molecules may provide a useful danger signal to reverse the immunologically suppressive environment of this tumor. Even more interestingly, reovirus can also interact with DCs directly and matured DCs activate NK and T cells (75) (Table 1). Those activated NK and T cells exert innate killing of cancer cells. This innate effector mechanism may complement the virus's direct cytotoxicity and thus induced adaptive antitumor immunity, potentially enhancing the efficacy of reovirus as a therapeutic agent (75).

OV-INDUCED AUTOPHAGY IN CANCER CELLS PROMOTES CROSS-PRESENTATION OF TAAs AND ELICITS STRONGER ANTITUMOR IMMUNITY

Autophagy mediates sequestration, degradation, and recycling of cellular organelles and proteins, and intracellular pathogens. It is not too surprising that autophagy plays roles in both innate and adaptive immunity (17, 83). A number of OVs, such as Ad (48–51), encephalomyocarditis virus (84), HSV (62, 85, 86), influenza virus (87), NDV (71), reovirus (79–81), and VSV (84), induce autophagy in infected cancer cells. Evidence shows that autophagy may enhance tumor immunogenicity. One mechanism is that autophagic cells selectively release DAMPs such as ATP (88, 89), HMGB1 (90), and uric acid (61). The other mechanism is that autophagy promotes antigen cross-presentation from cancer cells by DCs to naïve T cells. It stimulates antigen processing for both MHC class II (91), and MHC class I pathways. These have been demonstrated for endogenous viral antigens during HSV-1

infection (85), and for cross-presentation of TAAs from uninfected cancer cells (92), and influenza A virus-infected tumor cells (93). In other words, autophagy within the antigen donor cells facilitates antigen cross-priming to generate TAA-specific or virus-specific CD8⁺ T cells (92–95). This property has been explored for cancer vaccines (96), and for enhanced OV-mediated antitumor effects in the future (97).

VIRUSES OFTEN ENCODE SPECIFIC GENES TO MODULATE APOPTOSIS, AUTOPHAGY, NECROPTOSIS, AND POSSIBLY OTHER DEATH PATHWAYS

Successful viral replication requires the efficient production and spread of progeny virus, which can be achieved through efficient evasion of host defense mechanisms that limit replication by killing infected cells. Viruses have thus evolved to encode genes whose products function to block or delay certain cell death pathways until sufficient progeny have been produced (47). These gene-encode products target a variety of strategic points in apoptosis, necroptosis, autophagy, or other death pathways. **Table 2** lists some examples of genes encoded by viruses especially OVs that can intervene apoptosis, autophagy, or necroptosis. The presence of these types of viral genes may skew the mode of infected cancer cells from one to another cell death pathway(s). OVs can be engineered genetically with deletion or insertion of such genes so that a desired mode of ICD would happen in the virus-infected cancer cells.

CANCER CELLS OFTEN SHOW DEFECTS IN CERTAIN CELL DEATH PATHWAYS

Every cell in a multicellular organism has the potential to die by apoptosis. However, cancer cells often have faulty apoptotic signaling pathways evolved during carcinogenesis. This property derives from the overexpression of anti-apoptotic genes, deficiency of proapoptotic genes, or both (121). These defects not only increase tumor mass, but also render the cancer resistant to therapy.

Evidence has also been accumulating that necroptosis can be impaired in cancer cells. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells have defects in signaling pathways involved in necroptosis regulation such as RIP3 and the deubiquitination cylindromatosis (CYLD), an enzyme directly regulating RIP1 ubiquitination (122). Skin cancer cells contain an inactivating CYLD mutation (123). Despite the fact some cancers are resistant to necroptosis due to genetic and epigenetic defects, necroptosis undoubtedly represents an important death pathway induced by many anticancer regimens, particularly important to those cancer resistant to apoptosis. In this case, investigators have found that some compounds can circumvent cancer drug resistance by induction of a necroptotic death (124).

The fact that cancer cells resist certain death pathways will dictate to a degree which types of drugs (including OVs) to be used in therapeutic regimens. As we stated before, a number of OVs, such as VVs, often induces cancer cells into necroptotic cell death (54, 56, 57), while other viruses such as oncolytic Ad often induce cancer cells into autophagic cell death. Appropriate OVs can be picked depending on the sensitivity of the cancer to certain death pathways, and the immunogenic consequence if it is combined for immunotherapy.

| Table 2 | Fxamples of viruses and viral | genes modulating apopto | osis, autophagy, and necroptosis. |
|---------|-------------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| | | genes mountaining apopu | bala, autophagy, and necroptosis. |

| Virus | Gene | Type of action | Mechanism of action | Reference |
|-----------------|---------|----------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Ad | E1A | AS | Associate with the pRb/p300 family and induce p53-dependent apoptosis | (98) |
| | E1B-19K | AI | Sequester pro-apoptotic Bcl-2-like proteins and p53; inhibit apoptosis triggered by numerous stimuli | (99 – 101) |
| | E1B-55K | AI | Bind to p53 and functionally inactivates it | (102) |
| | E3-6.7 | AI | Complexes with 10.4 and 14.5 resulting in downregulation of TRAIL receptors | (103) |
| HSV | ICP34.5 | ATI | Inhibit PKR signaling and directly bind to beclin-1 | (104) |
| | ICP34.5 | AI | IFN-mediated pathway; decrease eIF-2 $lpha$ phosphorylation by PKR | (105–107) |
| | Us3 | AI | Ser/Thr kinase that prevents virus-induced apoptosis | (108) |
| | Us5 | AI | Cooperates with Us3 | (108) |
| VV | SPI-1 | | Serpin, inhibit cell-cell fusion | (109) |
| | SPI-2 | AI | Serpin, direct inhibitor of caspases | (110) |
| | F1L | AI | Interact with the pro-apoptotic protein Bak and inhibit Bak activation | (111) |
| | N1L | AI | Inhibit multiple pro-apoptotic Bcl-2-like proteins | (112) |
| MYXV | M11L | AI | Prevent the mitochondria from undergoing a permeability transition; inhibit apoptotic | (113, 114) |
| | | | response of macrophages and monocytes | |
| MCMV | vIRA | NI | Target RIP1, RIP3, TRIF, and DAI; inhibit RIP3-dependent necrosis | (115) |
| Influenza virus | M2 | ATI | Block autophagosome fusion with lysosomes | (116) |
| | NS1 | AI/ATS | Inhibit apoptosis and upregulate autophagy | (117) |
| Measles virus | Н | AS | Induce apoptosis of HeLa cells via both extrinsic and intrinsic pathways | (118) |
| | Virion | ATS | Binding of virus to CD46 on cell surface induces autophagy | (119) |
| NDV | V | AI | Inhibit IFN response and apoptosis | (120) |

AI, apoptosis inhibitor; AS, apoptosis stimulator; NI, necroptosis inhibitor; ATI, autophagy inhibitor; ATS, autophagy stimulator.

STRATEGIES TO MODULATE THE MODE OF CANCER CELL DEATH FOR ENHANCED IMMUNOGENICITY

We know now that immunogenic apoptosis, necrosis/necroptosis, and autophagic cell death are desired modes of cancer cell death because they are ICD. Is immunogenic apoptosis (the original form of ICD) better than other forms of ICD in the induction of antitumor immunity? We do not know for sure. This question needs to be addressed in the future. What we do know now is that there are strategies that can enhance the ICD and subsequent antitumor immunity. They can be classified into, genetic modification of OV vectors, combination with ICD inducers, and combination with specific immunostimulatory regimens.

GENETIC ENGINEERING OF VIRAL VECTORS

Cancer cells have usually accumulated a number of genetic mutations and epigenetic modifications that enable them to resist apoptosis. Based on this property, a number of OVs are built for high tumor selectivity by deleting viral genes encoding antiapoptotic genes (see **Table 2**). These viruses can replicate in cancer cells but lead to rapid apoptosis in normal cells. For examples, the γ 34.5 gene has been deleted in many oncolytic HSVs, including the T-VEC that is going through a successful phase III clinical trial (125). The adenoviral protein E1B-19K is a Bcl-2 homolog that blocks apoptosis induction via the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways, specifically including tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-mediated cell death. Liu et al. have demonstrated that an E1B-19K gene deletion mutant had TNF-enhanced cancer selectivity due to genetic blocks in apoptosis pathways in cancer cells (126). Similarly, a tumorselective oncolytic vaccinia virus was constructed by deleting two serpin genes, SPI-1 and SPI-2 (54). Due to the deletion of viral antiapoptosis genes, these mutant OVs display more potent oncolysis through apoptosis pathways when combined with appropriate apoptosis-inducing agents.

We believe that by arming OVs with necrosis and autophagypromoting genes, it is possible that the desired cell death pathway can be activated in cancer cells when infected with such OVs, leading to more ICD. More future studies with this strategy are warranted.

COMBINATION WITH ICD INDUCER OR AUTOPHAGY INDUCER

In theory, OV in combination with an ICD inducer would provide more potent danger signals to DCs and potentially elicit stronger antitumor immunity. Workenhe et al. demonstrated in a recent study that such a strategy worked well indeed (127). HSV-1 ICP0 null oncolytic vectors possess antitumor activity, but the virus alone is insufficient to break immune tolerance. Thus, the authors hypothesized that combination therapy with an ICD-inducing chemotherapeutic drug might get the job done. Indeed, the combination of HSV-1 ICP0 null oncolytic virus with mitoxantrone, which induces ICD, provided significant survival benefit to the Balb/C mice bearing Her2/neu TUBO-derived mammary tumors. Increased infiltration of neutrophils and tumor antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells into tumor tissues provide the protection, as depletion studies verified that CD8-, CD4-, and Ly6Gexpressing cells are essential for the enhanced efficacy. Importantly, the combination therapy broke immune tolerance. In conclusion, this study suggests that such a combination can enhance the tumor immunogenicity, breaking immunologic tolerance established toward the tumor antigens, thus a promising novel strategy for cancer therapy (127).

As we stated earlier, the autophagy in antigen donor cells (cancer cells) promotes the cross-presentation of antigens from DCs to T cells. The autophagy could be induced by some OVs, or its inducer could be provided *in trans*. This strategy works in combination with oncolytic adenoviruses that induce autophagy by themselves (60, 128). However, it may not work with an oncolytic vaccinia virus that does not induce autophagy by itself (our unpublished data).

ARMED VIRUS AND COMBINATION STRATEGIES FOR BREAKING IMMUNE TOLERANCE AND ENHANCING ANTITUMOR IMMUNITY

In order to further enhance the antitumor immunity, OVs have been armed with TAAs, cytokines (e.g., GM-CSF), chemokines (such as CCL5), or other innovative and artificial genes. We have recently reviewed the promising strategies of OVs in combination with other immunotherapeutic regimens (44). As we mentioned, two OVs in the most advanced stages of clinical trials, T-VEC, and Pexa-Vec, are HSV and VV armed with GM-CSF (125, 129). An oncolytic VV expressing the 4-1BBL T cell costimulatory molecule (rV-4-1BBL) showed modest tumor regression in the poorly immunogenic B16 murine melanoma model. However, rV-4-1BBL injection with lymphodepletion promoted viral persistence by reducing antiviral antibody titers, and promoted MHC class I expression, and rescued effector-memory CD8⁺ T cells. This significantly improved the therapeutic effectiveness of the oncolytic virus (130). Similarly, an unarmed oncolytic virus combined with anti-4-1BB agonist antibody elicits strong antitumor immunity against established cancer (56). We have also shown that the chemokine CCL5-expressing oncolytic VV in combination with a cancer vaccine or activated T cells resulted in better therapeutic effect in a MC38 colon cancer model (131). Recently, our collaborators have made an oncolytic VV encoding a secretory bispecific T cell engager consisting of two single-chain variable fragments specific for CD3 and the tumor cell surface antigen EphA2 [EphA2-T cell engager-armed VV (EphA2-TEA-VV)] (132). This virus retains its normal oncolvtic potency and the secreted molecule also activates T cells. The virus plus T cells had potent antitumor activity in a lung cancer xenograft model. Thus, arming oncolytic VVs with T cell engagers may represent a promising approach to improve oncolytic virotherapy. In the context of OV-mediated cancer immunotherapy, it is interesting to observe the dual effects of antiviral immunity on cancer therapy. On one hand, the antiviral immunity may attenuate the replication of an OV and thus diminish the effect of direct oncolysis; on the other hand, antiviral immunity plays a key role for the therapeutic success of oncolytic virotherapy in some cases (11, 133).

The tumor-associated immune tolerance is a big obstacle in cancer immunotherapy. Some armed OVs (such as a GM-CSFarmed oncolytic Ad) can break immune tolerance and generated antitumor immunity in at least some human cancer patients (134). In other cases, an OV alone is not enough to break the immune tolerance in highly immunosuppressive TME (127). In these cases, a combination with an ICD-inducing chemotherapeutic drug may break the immune tolerance (127). Alternatively, an OV can be combined with an immune checkpoint inhibitor to achieve the same effect. During the preparation of this review, a study has just been published on such a strategy with oncolytic NDV and systemic CTLA-4 blockade. This combination led to rejection of pre-established distant tumors and protection from tumor rechallenge in poorly immunogenic tumor models (74). It showcases the promise of such a combination strategy.

CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES

The TME in the advanced stage of disease is highly immunosuppressive (18). This immunological property is a double-edged sword for OV-mediated cancer therapy: good for viral replication but bad for the antitumor immunity. The evidence is accumulating that OVs not only kill infected cancer cells and associated endothelial cells by direct and indirect oncolysis, but also release/present danger signals to DCs and other professional APCs to elicit both antiviral and antitumor immunity. It has been demonstrated for a number of OVs, that the virus-elicited antitumor immunity plays a critical role in the overall efficacy of oncolytic virotherapy. As we and other colleagues have realized, ICD is important to elicit antitumor immunity (44, 45, 135).

In order to improve the potency of antitumor immunity, one key step is the initial presentation of danger signal (signal 0) and cross-presentation of TAAs (signal 1). Recent studies demonstrated that ICD of cancer cells leads to potent danger signals, and autophagy in antigen donor cells, in this case cancer cells and associated endothelial cells, enhance the cross-presentation of TAAs to naïve T cells by DCs. Genetic engineering and combination strategies can skew the cancer cell death into modes of ICD and autophagy, leading to potent and sustained antitumor immunity and thus enhancing the efficacy of oncolytic immunotherapy. Which mode of ICD in the context of OVs is the most potent way to elicit antitumor immunity needs careful investigation in the near future. It is also important to keep in mind that oncolytic viruses modulate cancer immunogenicity through multiple mechanisms (136). Other than the induced danger signals, they are out of the scope of this review article and thus have not been discussed. Finally, we and others believe that it is important to further test the idea that combination of OV with blockade of immune checkpoints for potent and sustained antitumor immunity would enhance this novel form of immunotherapy for cancer. We look forward to more exciting development of both preclinical and clinical studies with OVs as tools for cancer immunotherapy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Zong Sheng Guo collected and read relevant papers; designed and drafted the manuscript. David L. Bartlett and Zuqiang Liu have made suggestions to the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work has been supported by the grants P01CA132714 and R01CA155925 from the National Institutes of Health. Additional

Support was provided by David C. Koch Regional Therapy Cancer Center. We would like to thank Ms. Roshni Ravindranathan for critical reading and comments on the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Russell SJ, Peng KW, Bell JC. Oncolytic virotherapy. Nat Biotechnol (2012) 30:658–70. doi:10.1038/nbt.2287
- Patel MR, Kratzke RA. Oncolytic virus therapy for cancer: the first wave of translational clinical trials. *Transl Res* (2013) 161:355–64. doi:10.1016/j.trsl. 2012.12.010
- Guo ZS, Thorne SH, Bartlett DL. Oncolytic virotherapy: molecular targets in tumor-selective replication and carrier cell-mediated delivery of oncolytic viruses. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2008) 1785:217–31. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2008. 02.001
- Breitbach CJ, Paterson JM, Lemay CG, Falls TJ, McGuire A, Parato KA, et al. Targeted inflammation during oncolytic virus therapy severely compromises tumor blood flow. *Mol Ther* (2007) 15:1686–93. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300215
- Liu TC, Hwang T, Park BH, Bell J, Kirn DH. The targeted oncolytic poxvirus JX-594 demonstrates antitumoral, antivascular, and anti-HBV activities in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:1637–42. doi:10.1038/mt. 2008.143
- Breitbach CJ, Arulanandam R, De Silva N, Thorne SH, Patt R, Daneshmand M, et al. Oncolytic vaccinia virus disrupts tumor-associated vasculature in humans. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**:1265–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2687
- Diaz RM, Galivo F, Kottke T, Wongthida P, Qiao J, Thompson J, et al. Oncolytic immunovirotherapy for melanoma using vesicular stomatitis virus. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:2840–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3974
- Prestwich RJ, Errington F, Ilett EJ, Morgan RS, Scott KJ, Kottke T, et al. Tumor infection by oncolytic reovirus primes adaptive antitumor immunity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:7358–66. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0831
- Prestwich RJ, Ilett EJ, Errington F, Diaz RM, Steele LP, Kottke T, et al. Immunemediated antitumor activity of reovirus is required for therapy and is independent of direct viral oncolysis and replication. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:4374–81. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0334
- Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Galivo F, Kottke T, Thompson J, Pulido J, et al. Type III IFN interleukin-28 mediates the antitumor efficacy of oncolytic virus VSV in immune-competent mouse models of cancer. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**:4539–49. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4658
- Sobol PT, Boudreau JE, Stephenson K, Wan Y, Lichty BD, Mossman KL. Adaptive antiviral immunity is a determinant of the therapeutic success of oncolytic virotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19:335–44. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.264
- Diaconu I, Cerullo V, Hirvinen ML, Escutenaire S, Ugolini M, Pesonen SK, et al. Immune response is an important aspect of the antitumor effect produced by a CD40L-encoding oncolytic adenovirus. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**:2327–38. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2975
- Huang PY, Guo JH, Hwang LH. Oncolytic Sindbis virus targets tumors defective in the interferon response and induces significant bystander antitumor immunity in vivo. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20:298–305. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.245
- Workenhe ST, Simmons G, Pol JG, Lichty BD, Halford WP, Mossman KL. Immunogenic HSV-mediated oncolysis shapes the antitumor immune response and contributes to therapeutic efficacy. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22:123–31. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.238
- 15. Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. *Science* (2002) **296**:301–5. doi:10.1126/science.1071059
- Medzhitov R, Janeway CA Jr. Decoding the patterns of self and nonself by the innate immune system. *Science* (2002) **296**:298–300. doi:10.1126/science. 1068883
- Tang D, Kang R, Coyne CB, Zeh HJ, Lotze MT. PAMPs and DAMPs: signal 0s that spur autophagy and immunity. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 249:158–75. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01146.x
- Zou W. Immunosuppressive networks in the tumour environment and their therapeutic relevance. Nat Rev Cancer (2005) 5:263–74. doi:10.1038/nrc1586
- Naik S, Russell SJ. Engineering oncolytic viruses to exploit tumor specific defects in innate immune signaling pathways. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2009) 9:1163–76. doi:10.1517/14712590903170653

- Kim M, Williamson CT, Prudhomme J, Bebb DG, Riabowol K, Lee PW, et al. The viral tropism of two distinct oncolytic viruses, reovirus and myxoma virus, is modulated by cellular tumor suppressor gene status. *Oncogene* (2010) 29:3990–6. doi:10.1038/onc.2010.137
- Young AM, Archibald KM, Tookman LA, Pool A, Dudek K, Jones C, et al. Failure of translation of human adenovirus mRNA in murine cancer cells can be partially overcome by L4-100K expression in vitro and in vivo. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20:1676–88. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.116
- 22. Janeway C. Immunogenicity signals 1,2,3 ... and 0. *Immunol Today* (1989) **10**:283–6. doi:10.1016/0167-5699(89)90081-9
- Janeway CA Jr. Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol (1989) 54(Pt 1):1–13. doi:10.1101/SQB.1989.054.01.003
- 24. Janeway CA Jr, Medzhitov R. Innate immune recognition. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2002) **20**:197–216. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.083001.084359
- 25. Bianchi ME. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. *J Leukoc Biol* (2007) **81**:1–5. doi:10.1189/jlb.0306164
- 26. Tapia K, Kim WK, Sun Y, Mercado-López X, Dunay E, Wise M, et al. Defective viral genomes arising in vivo provide critical danger signals for the triggering of lung antiviral immunity. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) **9**:e1003703. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003703
- 27. Takeuchi O, Akira S. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. *Cell* (2010) **140**:805–20. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.022
- Joffre O, Nolte MA, Sporri R, Reis e Sousa C. Inflammatory signals in dendritic cell activation and the induction of adaptive immunity. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 227:234–47. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00718.x
- 29. Zanoni I, Granucci F. Regulation of antigen uptake, migration, and lifespan of dendritic cell by toll-like receptors. *J Mol Med (Berl)* (2010) **88**:873–80. doi:10.1007/s00109-010-0638-x
- Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol (1994) 12:991–1045. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.12.1.991
- Kono H, Rock KL. How dying cells alert the immune system to danger. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8:279–89. doi:10.1038/nri2215
- Shi Y, Evans JE, Rock KL. Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. *Nature* (2003) 425:516–21. doi:10.1038/ nature01991
- 33. Scheibner KA, Lutz MA, Boodoo S, Fenton MJ, Powell JD, Horton MR. Hyaluronan fragments act as an endogenous danger signal by engaging TLR2. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:1272–81.
- Klune JR, Dhupar R, Cardinal J, Billiar TR, Tsung A. HMGB1: endogenous danger signaling. *Mol Med* (2008) 14:476–84. doi:10.2119/2008-00034.Klune
- Guo ZS, Liu Z, Bartlett DL, Tang D, Lotze MT. Life after death: targeting high mobility group box 1 in emergent cancer therapies. *Am J Cancer Res* (2013) 3:1–20.
- Krysko DV, Agostinis P, Krysko O, Garg AD, Bachert C, Lambrecht BN, et al. Emerging role of damage-associated molecular patterns derived from mitochondria in inflammation. *Trends Immunol* (2011) 32:157–64. doi:10.1016/j. it.2011.01.005
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:860–75. doi:10.1038/nrc3380
- Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, et al. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202:1691–701. doi:10.1084/jem.20050915
- Lindenmann J, Klein PA. Viral oncolysis: increased immunogenicity of host cell antigen associated with influenza virus. J Exp Med (1967) 126:93–108. doi:10.1084/jem.126.1.93
- Melcher A, Todryk S, Hardwick N, Ford M, Jacobson M, Vile RG. Tumor immunogenicity is determined by the mechanism of cell death via induction of heat shock protein expression. *Nat Med* (1998) 4:581–7. doi:10.1038/ nm0598-581
- Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- Tesniere A, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Joza N, Panaretakis T, Kepp O, et al. Immunogenic cancer cell death: a key-lock paradigm. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2008) 20:504–11. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2008.05.007

- Green DR, Ferguson T, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:353–63. doi:10.1038/nri2545
- 44. Bartlett DL, Liu Z, Sathaiah M, Ravindranathan R, Guo Z, He Y, et al. Oncolytic viruses as therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Mol Cancer* (2013) 12:103. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-12-103
- Inoue H, Tani K. Multimodal immunogenic cancer cell death as a consequence of anticancer cytotoxic treatments. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21:39–49. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.84
- Tesniere A, Panaretakis T, Kepp O, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Zitvogel L, et al. Molecular characteristics of immunogenic cancer cell death. *Cell Death Differ* (2008) 15:3–12. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402269
- Lamkanfi M, Dixit VM. Manipulation of host cell death pathways during microbial infections. *Cell Host Microbe* (2010) 8:44–54. doi:10.1016/j.chom. 2010.06.007
- Ito H, Aoki H, Kühnel F, Kondo Y, Kubicka S, Wirth T, et al. Autophagic cell death of malignant glioma cells induced by a conditionally replicating adenovirus. J Natl Cancer Inst (2006) 98:625–36. doi:10.1093/jnci/djj161
- Alonso MM, Jiang H, Yokoyama T, Xu J, Bekele NB, Lang FF, et al. Delta-24-RGD in combination with RAD001 induces enhanced anti-glioma effect via autophagic cell death. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:487–93. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300400
- Baird SK, Aerts JL, Eddaoudi A, Lockley M, Lemoine NR, McNeish IA. Oncolytic adenoviral mutants induce a novel mode of programmed cell death in ovarian cancer. Oncogene (2008) 27:3081–90. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210977
- Rodriguez-Rocha H, Gomez-Gutierrez JG, Garcia-Garcia A, Rao XM, Chen L, McMasters KM, et al. Adenoviruses induce autophagy to promote virus replication and oncolysis. *Virology* (2011) 416:9–15. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2011. 04.017
- 52. Miyamoto S, Inoue H, Nakamura T, Yamada M, Sakamoto C, Urata Y, et al. Coxsackievirus B3 is an oncolytic virus with immunostimulatory properties that is active against lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:2609–21. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3185
- Donnelly OG, Errington-Mais F, Steele L, Hadac E, Jennings V, Scott K, et al. Measles virus causes immunogenic cell death in human melanoma. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20:7–15. doi:10.1038/gt.2011.205
- 54. Guo ZS, Naik A, O'Malley ME, Popovic P, Demarco R, Hu Y, et al. The enhanced tumor selectivity of an oncolytic vaccinia lacking the host range and antiapoptosis genes SPI-1 and SPI-2. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:9991–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1630
- Huang B, Sikorski R, Kirn DH, Thorne SH. Synergistic anti-tumor effects between oncolytic vaccinia virus and paclitaxel are mediated by the IFN response and HMGB1. *Gene Ther* (2011) 18:164–72. doi:10.1038/gt.2010.121
- 56. John LB, Howland LJ, Flynn JK, West AC, Devaud C, Duong CP, et al. Oncolytic virus and anti-4-1BB combination therapy elicits strong antitumor immunity against established cancer. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:1651–60. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2788
- Whilding LM, Archibald KM, Kulbe H, Balkwill FR, Öberg D, McNeish IA. Vaccinia virus induces programmed necrosis in ovarian cancer cells. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:2074–86. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.195
- Borde C, Barnay-Verdier S, Gaillard C, Hocini H, Maréchal V, Gozlan J. Stepwise release of biologically active HMGB1 during HSV-2 infection. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e16145. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0016145
- Angelova AL, Grekova SP, Heller A, Kuhlmann O, Soyka E, Giese T, et al. Complementary induction of immunogenic cell death by oncolytic parvovirus H-1PV and gemcitabine in pancreatic cancer. J Virol (2014). doi:10.1128/JVI. 03688-13
- 60. Liikanen I, Ahtiainen L, Hirvinen ML, Bramante S, Cerullo V, Nokisalmi P, et al. Oncolytic adenovirus with temozolomide induces autophagy and antitumor immune responses in cancer patients. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:1212–23. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.51
- Endo Y, Sakai R, Ouchi M, Onimatsu H, Hioki M, Kagawa S, et al. Virus-mediated oncolysis induces danger signal and stimulates cytotoxic Tlymphocyte activity via proteasome activator upregulation. *Oncogene* (2008) 27:2375–81. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210884
- Colunga AG, Laing JM, Aurelian L. The HSV-2 mutant DeltaPK induces melanoma oncolysis through nonredundant death programs and associated with autophagy and pyroptosis proteins. *Gene Ther* (2010) 17:315–27. doi:10.1038/gt.2009.126

- 63. Wang Q, Imamura R, Motani K, Kushiyama H, Nagata S, Suda T. Pyroptotic cells externalize eat-me and release find-me signals and are efficiently engulfed by macrophages. *Int Immunol* (2013) 25:363–72. doi:10.1093/ intimm/dxs161
- 64. Ito N, DeMarco RA, Mailliard RB, Han J, Rabinowich H, Kalinski P, et al. Cytolytic cells induce HMGB1 release from melanoma cell lines. *J Leukoc Biol* (2007) 81:75–83. doi:10.1189/jlb.0306169
- 65. Moehler M, Zeidler M, Schede J, Rommelaere J, Galle PR, Cornelis JJ, et al. Oncolytic parvovirus H1 induces release of heat-shock protein HSP72 in susceptible human tumor cells but may not affect primary immune cells. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2003) **10**:477–80. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700591
- 66. Grekova S, Aprahamian M, Giese N, Schmitt S, Giese T, Falk CS, et al. Immune cells participate in the oncosuppressive activity of parvovirus H-1PV and are activated as a result of their abortive infection with this agent. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2010) 10:1280–9. doi:10.4161/cbt.10.12.13455
- Grekova SP, Raykov Z, Zawatzky R, Rommelaere J, Koch U. Activation of a glioma-specific immune response by oncolytic parvovirus minute virus of mice infection. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2012) 19:468–75. doi:10.1038/cgt.2012.20
- 68. Radic M, Marion T, Monestier M. Nucleosomes are exposed at the cell surface in apoptosis. *J Immunol* (2004) **172**:6692–700.
- Uratsuji H, Tada Y, Kawashima T, Kamata M, Hau CS, Asano Y, et al. P2Y6 receptor signaling pathway mediates inflammatory responses induced by monosodium urate crystals. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:436–44. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1003746
- Elankumaran S, Rockemann D, Samal SK. Newcastle disease virus exerts oncolysis by both intrinsic and extrinsic caspase-dependent pathways of cell death. *J Virol* (2006) 80:7522–34. doi:10.1128/JVI.00241-06
- Meng C, Zhou Z, Jiang K, Yu S, Jia L, Wu Y, et al. Newcastle disease virus triggers autophagy in U251 glioma cells to enhance virus replication. *Arch Virol* (2012) 157:1011–8. doi:10.1007/s00705-012-1270-6
- Washburn B, Schirrmacher V. Human tumor cell infection by Newcastle disease virus leads to upregulation of HLA and cell adhesion molecules and to induction of interferons, chemokines and finally apoptosis. *Int J Oncol* (2002) 21:85–93. doi:10.3892/ijo.21.1.85
- Fournier P, Arnold A, Wilden H, Schirrmacher V. Newcastle disease virus induces pro-inflammatory conditions and type I interferon for counter-acting Treg activity. *Int J Oncol* (2012) 40:840–50. doi:10.3892/ijo.2011.1265
- 74. Zamarin D, Holmgaard RB, Subudhi SK, Park JS, Mansour M, Palese P, et al. Localized oncolytic virotherapy overcomes systemic tumor resistance to immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:226–32. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008095
- 75. Errington F, Steele L, Prestwich R, Harrington KJ, Pandha HS, Vidal L, et al. Reovirus activates human dendritic cells to promote innate antitumor immunity. *J Immunol* (2008) **180**:6018–26.
- Fournier P, Schirrmacher V. Oncolytic Newcastle disease virus as cutting edge between tumor and host. *Biology* (2013) 2:936–75. doi:10.3390/ biology2030936
- 77. Clarke P, Meintzer SM, Gibson S, Widmann C, Garrington TP, Johnson GL, et al. Reovirus-induced apoptosis is mediated by TRAIL. J Virol (2000) 74:8135–9. doi:10.1128/JVI.74.17.8135-8139.2000
- Berger AK, Danthi P. Reovirus activates a caspase-independent cell death pathway. *MBio* (2013) 4:e178–113. doi:10.1128/mBio.00178-13
- 79. Chi PI, Huang WR, Lai IH, Cheng CY, Liu HJ. The p17 nonstructural protein of avian reovirus triggers autophagy enhancing virus replication via activation of phosphatase and tensin deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN) and AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), as well as dsRNA-dependent protein kinase (PKR)/eIF2alpha signaling pathways. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 288:3571–84. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.390245
- Meng S, Jiang K, Zhang X, Zhang M, Zhou Z, Hu M, et al. Avian reovirus triggers autophagy in primary chicken fibroblast cells and Vero cells to promote virus production. Arch Virol (2012) 157:661–8. doi:10.1007/s00705-012-1226-x
- Thirukkumaran CM, Shi ZQ, Luider J, Kopciuk K, Gao H, Bahlis N, et al. Reovirus modulates autophagy during oncolysis of multiple myeloma. *Autophagy* (2013) 9:413–4. doi:10.4161/auto.22867
- Errington F, White CL, Twigger KR, Rose A, Scott K, Steele L, et al. Inflammatory tumour cell killing by oncolytic reovirus for the treatment of melanoma. *Gene Ther* (2008) 15:1257–70. doi:10.1038/gt.2008.58

- Levine B, Deretic V. Unveiling the roles of autophagy in innate and adaptive immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:767–77. doi:10.1038/nri2161
- Chakrabarti A, Ghosh PK, Banerjee S, Gaughan C, Silverman RH. RNase L triggers autophagy in response to viral infections. *J Virol* (2012) 86:11311–21. doi:10.1128/JVI.00270-12
- English L, Chemali M, Duron J, Rondeau C, Laplante A, Gingras D, et al. Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:480–7. doi:10.1038/ni.1720
- Alexander DE, Ward SL, Mizushima N, Levine B, Leib DA. Analysis of the role of autophagy in replication of herpes simplex virus in cell culture. *J Virol* (2007) 81:12128–34. doi:10.1128/JVI.01356-07
- Comber JD, Robinson TM, Siciliano NA, Snook AE, Eisenlohr LC. Functional macroautophagy induction by influenza A virus without a contribution to major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted presentation. *J Virol* (2010) 85:6453–63. doi:10.1128/JVI.02122-10
- Michaud M, Martins I, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Pellegatti P, et al. Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. *Science* (2011) **334**:1573–7. doi:10.1126/ science.1208347
- 89. Ayna G, Krysko DV, Kaczmarek A, Petrovski G, Vandenabeele P, Fésüs L. ATP release from dying autophagic cells and their phagocytosis are crucial for inflammasome activation in macrophages. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e40069. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040069
- Thorburn J, Horita H, Redzic J, Hansen K, Frankel AE, Thorburn A. Autophagy regulates selective HMGB1 release in tumor cells that are destined to die. *Cell Death Differ* (2009) 16:175–83. doi:10.1038/cdd.2008.143
- Dengjel J, Schoor O, Fischer R, Reich M, Kraus M, Müller M, et al. Autophagy promotes MHC class II presentation of peptides from intracellular source proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102:7922–7. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0501190102
- 92. Li Y, Wang LX, Yang G, Hao F, Urba WJ, Hu HM. Efficient cross-presentation depends on autophagy in tumor cells. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:6889–95. doi:10. 1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0161
- 93. Wei J, Waithman J, Lata R, Mifsud NA, Cebon J, Kay T, et al. Influenza A infection enhances cross-priming of CD8+ T cells to cell-associated antigens in a TLR7- and type I IFN-dependent fashion. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:6013–22. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002129
- 94. Gauvrit A, Brandler S, Sapede-Peroz C, Boisgerault N, Tangy F, Gregoire M. Measles virus induces oncolysis of mesothelioma cells and allows dendritic cells to cross-prime tumor-specific CD8 response. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:4882–92. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6265
- Uhl M, Kepp O, Jusforgues-Saklani H, Vicencio JM, Kroemer G, Albert ML. Autophagy within the antigen donor cell facilitates efficient antigen crosspriming of virus-specific CD8+ T cells. *Cell Death Differ* (2009) 16:991–1005. doi:10.1038/cdd.2009.8
- 96. Li Y, Wang LX, Pang P, Cui Z, Aung S, Haley D, et al. Tumor-derived autophagosome vaccine: mechanism of cross-presentation and therapeutic efficacy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:7047–57. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0951
- Meng S, Xu J, Wu Y, Ding C. Targeting autophagy to enhance oncolytic virusbased cancer therapy. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2013) 13:863–73. doi:10.1517/ 14712598.2013.774365
- Lowe SW, Ruley HE. Stabilization of the p53 tumor suppressor is induced by adenovirus 5 E1A and accompanies apoptosis. *Genes Dev* (1993) 7:535–45. doi:10.1101/gad.7.4.535
- 99. Debbas M, White E. Wild-type p53 mediates apoptosis by E1A, which is inhibited by E1B. *Genes Dev* (1993) 7:546–54. doi:10.1101/gad.7.4.546
- Perez D, White E. TNF-alpha signals apoptosis through a bid-dependent conformational change in Bax that is inhibited by E1B 19K. *Mol Cell* (2000) 6:53–63. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)00007-1
- 101. White E, Sabbatini P, Debbas M, Wold WS, Kusher DI, Gooding LR. The 19kilodalton adenovirus E1B transforming protein inhibits programmed cell death and prevents cytolysis by tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Mol Cell Biol* (1992) 12:2570–80.
- 102. Marcellus RC, Teodoro JG, Charbonneau R, Shore GC, Branton PE. Expression of p53 in Saos-2 osteosarcoma cells induces apoptosis which can be inhibited by Bcl-2 or the adenovirus E1B-55 kDa protein. *Cell Growth Differ* (1996) 7:1643–50.

- 103. Benedict CA, Norris PS, Prigozy TI, Bodmer JL, Mahr JA, Garnett CT, et al. Three adenovirus E3 proteins cooperate to evade apoptosis by tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptor-1 and -2. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276:3270–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M008218200
- 104. Orvedahl A, Alexander D, Tallóczy Z, Sun Q, Wei Y, Zhang W, et al. HSV-1 ICP34.5 confers neurovirulence by targeting the beclin 1 autophagy protein. *Cell Host Microbe* (2007) 1:23–35. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2006.12.001
- 105. Cassady KA, Gross M, Roizman B. The second-site mutation in the herpes simplex virus recombinants lacking the gamma134.5 genes precludes shutoff of protein synthesis by blocking the phosphorylation of eIF-2alpha. J Virol (1998) 72:7005–11.
- 106. Randazzo BP, Tal-Singer R, Zabolotny JM, Kesari S, Fraser NW. Herpes simplex virus 1716, an ICP 34.5 null mutant, is unable to replicate in CV-1 cells due to a translational block that can be overcome by coinfection with SV40. *J Gen Virol* (1997) **78**(Pt 12):3333–9.
- 107. Chou J, Roizman B. The gamma 1(34.5) gene of herpes simplex virus 1 precludes neuroblastoma cells from triggering total shutoff of protein synthesis characteristic of programed cell death in neuronal cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1992) 89:3266–70. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.8.3266
- 108. Jerome KR, Fox R, Chen Z, Sears AE, Lee Hy, Corey L. Herpes simplex virus inhibits apoptosis through the action of two genes, Us5 and Us3. *J Virol* (1999) 73:8950–7.
- 109. Zhou J, Sun XY, Fernando GJ, Frazer IH. The vaccinia virus K2L gene encodes a serine protease inhibitor which inhibits cell-cell fusion. *Virology* (1992) 189:678–86. doi:10.1016/0042-6822(92)90591-C
- Dobbelstein M, Shenk T. Protection against apoptosis by the vaccinia virus SPI-2 (B13R) gene product. J Virol (1996) 70:6479–85.
- 111. Wasilenko ST, Banadyga L, Bond D, Barry M. The vaccinia virus F1L protein interacts with the proapoptotic protein Bak and inhibits Bak activation. *J Virol* (2005) **79**:14031–43. doi:10.1128/JVI.79.22.14031-14043.2005
- 112. Cooray S, Bahar MW, Abrescia NG, McVey CE, Bartlett NW, Chen RA, et al. Functional and structural studies of the vaccinia virus virulence factor N1 reveal a Bcl-2-like anti-apoptotic protein. J Gen Virol (2007) 88:1656–66. doi:10.1099/vir.0.82772-0
- 113. Everett H, Barry M, Lee SF, Sun X, Graham K, Stone J, et al. M11L: a novel mitochondria-localized protein of myxoma virus that blocks apoptosis of infected leukocytes. J Exp Med (2000) 191:1487–98. doi:10.1084/jem.191.9. 1487
- 114. Macen JL, Graham KA, Lee SF, Schreiber M, Boshkov LK, McFadden G. Expression of the myxoma virus tumor necrosis factor receptor homologue and M11L genes is required to prevent virus-induced apoptosis in infected rabbit T lymphocytes. *Virology* (1996) **218**:232–7. doi:10.1006/viro.1996.0183
- Upton JW, Kaiser WJ, Mocarski ES. Virus inhibition of RIP3-dependent necrosis. *Cell Host Microbe* (2010) 7:302–13. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2010.03.006
- 116. Gannagé M, Dormann D, Albrecht R, Dengjel J, Torossi T, Rämer PC, et al. Matrix protein 2 of influenza A virus blocks autophagosome fusion with lysosomes. *Cell Host Microbe* (2009) 6:367–80. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2009.09.005
- 117. Zhirnov OP, Klenk HD. Influenza A virus proteins NS1 and hemagglutinin along with M2 are involved in stimulation of autophagy in infected cells. *J Virol* (2013) 87:13107–14. doi:10.1128/JVI.02148-13
- 118. Yi C, Liu X, Liu Y, Lu S, Qi Y. Hemagglutinin protein of measles virus induces apoptosis of HeLa cells via both extrinsic and intrinsic pathways. *Can J Microbiol* (2013) **59**:814–24. doi:10.1139/cjm-2013-0544
- Meiffren G, Joubert PE, Grégoire IP, Codogno P, Rabourdin-Combe C, Faure M. Pathogen recognition by the cell surface receptor CD46 induces autophagy. *Autophagy* (2010) 6:299–300. doi:10.4161/auto.6.2.11132
- 120. Park MS, García-Sastre A, Cros JF, Basler CF, Palese P. Newcastle disease virus V protein is a determinant of host range restriction. *J Virol* (2003) 77:9522–32. doi:10.1128/JVI.77.17.9522-9532.2003
- 121. Igney FH, Krammer PH. Death and anti-death: tumour resistance to apoptosis. Nat Rev Cancer (2002) 2:277–88. doi:10.1038/nrc776
- 122. Liu P, Xu B, Shen W, Zhu H, Wu W, Fu Y, et al. Dysregulation of TNFalphainduced necroptotic signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: suppression of CYLD gene by LEF1. *Leukemia* (2012) 26:1293–300. doi:10.1038/leu.2011.357
- 123. Alameda JP, Moreno-Maldonado R, Navarro M, Bravo A, Ramírez A, Page A, et al. An inactivating CYLD mutation promotes skin tumor progression by conferring enhanced proliferative, survival and angiogenic properties to epidermal cancer cells. *Oncogene* (2010) 29:6522–32. doi:10.1038/onc.2010.378

- 124. Han W, Li L, Qiu S, Lu Q, Pan Q, Gu Y, et al. Shikonin circumvents cancer drug resistance by induction of a necroptotic death. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2007) 6:1641–9. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-06-0511
- 125. Kaufman HL, Bines SD. OPTIM trial: a phase III trial of an oncolytic herpes virus encoding GM-CSF for unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. *Future* Oncol (2010) 6:941–9. doi:10.2217/fon.10.66
- 126. Liu TC, Hallden G, Wang Y, Brooks G, Francis J, Lemoine N, et al. An E1B-19 kDa gene deletion mutant adenovirus demonstrates tumor necrosis factorenhanced cancer selectivity and enhanced oncolytic potency. *Mol Ther* (2004) 9:786–803. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2004.03.017
- 127. Workenhe ST, Pol JG, Lichty BD, Cummings DT, Mossman KL. Combining oncolytic HSV-1 with immunogenic cell death-inducing drug mitoxantrone breaks cancer immune tolerance and improves therapeutic efficacy. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2013) 1:309–19. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0059-T
- Cheng PH, Lian S, Zhao R, Rao XM, McMasters KM, Zhou HS. Combination of autophagy inducer rapamycin and oncolytic adenovirus improves antitumor effect in cancer cells. *Virol J* (2013) 10:293. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-10-293
- 129. Heo J, Reid T, Ruo L, Breitbach CJ, Rose S, Bloomston M, et al. Randomized dose-finding clinical trial of oncolytic immunotherapeutic vaccinia JX-594 in liver cancer. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:329–36. doi:10.1038/nm.3089
- 130. Kim HS, Kim-Schulze S, Kim DW, Kaufman HL. Host lymphodepletion enhances the therapeutic activity of an oncolytic vaccinia virus expressing 4-1BB ligand. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:8516–25. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2522
- 131. Li J, O'Malley M, Urban J, Sampath P, Guo ZS, Kalinski P, et al. Chemokine expression from oncolytic vaccinia virus enhances vaccine therapies of cancer. *Mol Ther* (2011) **19**:650–7. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.312
- 132. Yu F, Wang X, Guo ZS, Bartlett DL, Gottschalk SM, Song XT. T-cell engagerarmed oncolytic vaccinia virus significantly enhances antitumor therapy. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22:102–11. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.240

- 133. Hu W, Davis JJ, Zhu H, Dong F, Guo W, Ang J, et al. Redirecting adaptive immunity against foreign antigens to tumors for cancer therapy. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2007) 6:1773–9. doi:10.4161/cbt.6.11.4855
- 134. Kanerva A, Nokisalmi P, Diaconu I, Koski A, Cerullo V, Liikanen I, et al. Antiviral and antitumor T-cell immunity in patients treated with GM-CSF-coding oncolytic adenovirus. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:2734–44. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2546
- 135. Workenhe ST, Mossman KL. Oncolytic virotherapy and immunogenic cancer cell death: sharpening the sword for improved cancer treatment strategies. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22:251–6. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.220
- 136. Janelle V, Langlois MP, Lapierre P, Charpentier T, Poliquin L, Lamarre A. The strength of the T cell response against a surrogate tumor antigen induced by oncolytic VSV therapy does not correlate with tumor control. *Mol Ther* (2014). doi:10.1038/mt.2014.34

Conflict of Interest Statement: David L. Bartlett is a scientific advisor for and has financial interest with Jennerex Biotherapeutics, a biopharmaceutical company developing oncolytic virotherapy. The other authors declare no conflict of interest.

Received: 07 February 2014; accepted: 24 March 2014; published online: 10 April 2014. Citation: Guo ZS, Liu Z and Bartlett DL (2014) Oncolytic immunotherapy: dying the right way is a key to eliciting potent antitumor immunity. Front. Oncol. 4:74. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00074

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Guo, Liu and Bartlett. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Immunotherapeutic potential of oncolytic vaccinia virus

Steve H. Thorne^{1,2}*

¹ Department of Surgery, Hillman Cancer Center, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA ² Department of Immunology, Hillman Cancer Center, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Edited by:

Philippe Fournier, DKFZ, Germany

Reviewed by:

Volker Schirrmacher, DKFZ, Germany Alain Lamarre, Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique, Canada

*Correspondence:

Steve H. Thorne, Hillman Cancer Center, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, University of Pittsburgh, 5117 Centre Avenue, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA e-mail: thornesh@upmc.edu The concept of oncolytic viral therapy was based on the hypothesis that engineering tumorselectivity into the replication potential of viruses would permit direct destruction of tumor cells as a result of viral-mediated lysis, resulting in amplification of the therapy exclusively within the tumor environment. The immune response raised by the virus was not only considered to be necessary for the safety of the approach, but also something of a hindrance to optimal therapeutic activity and repeat dosing. However, the pre-clinical and subsequent clinical success of several oncolytic viruses expressing selected cytokines has demonstrated the potential for harnessing the immune response as an additional and beneficial mechanism of therapeutic activity within the platform. Over the last few years, a variety of novel approaches have been incorporated to try to enhance this immunotherapeutic activity. Several innovative and subtle approaches have moved far beyond the expression of a single cytokine transgene, with the hope of optimizing anti-tumor immunity while having minimal detrimental impact on viral oncolytic activity.

Keywords: oncolytic virus, cytokine, chemokine, vaccine, MDSC

BACKGROUND

Viral infections and cancer bear a variety of striking similarities, as seen with the fact that several cancers are caused as a result of chronic viral infection (1, 2) and the fact that the first oncogenes were identified through their homology to viral genes (3, 4). Indeed, many of the hallmarks of cancer strongly resemble the adaptations a virus induces in a susceptible cell during its replication cycle (5). It is therefore unsurprising that some viral virulence genes are redundant for replication in malignant cells or the tumor microenvironment, meaning that their deletion results in the production of vectors whose replication is attenuated in normal, but not cancer cells (6). This finding was the basis for the design and construction of the first oncolytic viral therapies (7, 8). As the name "Oncolytic" suggests, these were hypothesized to function through the direct destruction of cancer cells, primarily as a result of viral replication in infected cells, but also as a result of immune recognition of these cells. Initial clinical testing of this approach centered around strains of adenovirus (8-12), perhaps more due to the historical use of non-replicating adenoviruses as gene therapy vectors than because of any special attributes of this backbone particularly appropriate for an oncolytic platform. However, importantly these early clinical studies demonstrated both safety and therapeutic responses (13-16). The observation that the viral infection occurring primarily within the tumor was cleared, leading to induction of anti-viral immunity, and implied the agents were capable of at least transiently overcoming localized immune suppression within the tumor.

The slow replication and limited systemic spread of the Ad5based vectors proved to be especial limitations (17, 18), however, the excellent safety profile and indications of responses led investigators to examine other adenoviral serotypes and more potent viral backbones as the basis for next generation oncolytics. In some

cases, combination with immunosuppression was investigated as a means to enhance oncolytic activity through delaying clearance of the therapy (19, 20). However, in general pre-clinical and clinical testing of different viral backbones in combination with expression of different therapeutic transgenes led to the observation that the most effective approaches frequently incorporated rapidly replicating viral backbones expressing cytokines as transgenes, notably GM-CSF (2, 21-23). In addition, when immunocompetent preclinical tumor models were available, it was frequently seen that complete responses after viral therapy was coupled with induction of anti-tumor immunity and the capacity to reject re-challenge with the same tumor cell lines (24). As such considerable focus has turned to development of approaches to enhance or optimize this immunotherapeutic effect. However, there is clearly a fine balance to be considered as robust induction of the immune response can lead to premature clearance of the therapy, meaning that the oncolytic effects are lost and adaptive immunity is targeted against the viral component only, with little or no cross-presentation of tumor antigens.

One viral strain that has been developed as an alternative to adenovirus in forming the backbone of many oncolytic viral strains is vaccinia virus (25). This enveloped DNA virus has a large genome, with many virulence genes that target host cell cycle, apoptotic pathways, or immune response, and whose deletion leads to viral strains with demonstrated tumor-selective replication (26–28). In addition, the use of this virus during the eradication of smallpox means that its immune activating capacity is well understood. The clinical use of a GM-CSF expressing oncolytic vaccinia virus has also been instrumental in demonstrating the potential for enhancing the immune response induced by oncolytic viruses as a means to enhance therapeutic activity (23, 29, 30). Oncolytic vaccinia will therefore be used as the primary example to illustrate the potential for enhancing immune-mediated mechanisms in this platform throughout the remainder of this review.

APPROACHES TO ENHANCE THE ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNE RESPONSE INDUCED BY ONCOLYTIC VACCINIA

Several standard strategies have been routinely applied to enhance the anti-tumor immune response induced through oncolytic viral therapy, primarily focused on expression of either cytokines or costimulatory molecules (31). Although several vaccinia and related vectors expressing single cytokines have clearly demonstrated therapeutic benefits in both animal models and in the clinic, this approach typically suffers from several handicaps, including reduced viral replication due to reduced initial infection of the tumor or early clearance of the virus (32); in addition, the use of a single cytokine means that typically only one step in the complex kinetic process of innate to adaptive immune response can be stimulated. The most clinically successful approach to date has been the expression of GM-CSF (33), both from vaccinia virus and from oncolytic HSV. The choice of GM-CSF was based on early reports that expression of GM-CSF from mouse melanoma cell lines resulted in failure of these cells to form tumors in syngeneic mice (34). It is likely that the reason for the success of vectors expressing this cytokine is primarily based on the fact that it has broad effects on induction of proliferation in many immune cell subtypes, while having little or no direct anti-viral properties. However, more recently the role of GM-CSF expression in increasing proliferation of some suppressive cells [notably monocyte derived suppressor cells (MDSC)] (35) has been elucidated meaning that some caution in the use of this cytokine might be needed.

Several other cytokines, including IL-2, TNF, and IFN have been used in pre-clinical vaccinia-based models but have not been successfully translated into a clinical setting, possibly due to their capacity to also induce more directly anti-viral effects (32, 36, 37). Because of this limited success with cytokines other than GM-CSF alternative immune stimulating strategies has been explored.

For example, the expression of antibodies represents a promising strategy. The relative success of monoclonal antibody therapy and the recent emergence of antibodies targeting immune checkpoint inhibitors or that mimic co-stimulators has demonstrated the potential of this platform. The requirements for expression and assembly of multiple large peptides had traditionally limited the use of antibodies as transgenes, however, more recent development of single peptide antibodies means this is likely to be a fruitful approach moving forward and initial reports of vaccinia strains expressing antibodies are promising (38).

An alternative strategy to enhancing the immune effects of oncolytic viruses is to express chemokines from the vectors that specifically attract T-cells into the tumor (39, 40). This approach appears to have minimal negative impacts on viral replication and oncolytic activity, yet enhances the immunotherapeutic effects. One of the major hurdles found with the use of therapeutic tumor vaccines has been the limited trafficking of tumor-specific T-cells into the tumor itself, so the combination of chemokine expressing oncolytic viruses with vaccination against tumor antigens may be a promising strategy.



Several other alternatives to cytokine expression have been explored in different oncolytic backbones as a means to enhance the immunotherapeutic effects (Figure 1), including the following: (i) Enhancing immunogenic cell death, it has been proposed that the route of cancer cell death after therapy may be a critical mediator of the immune response. As a result, adjusting how an oncolytic virus destroys the infected cell may promote a more robust anti-tumor immune response (41). (ii) Targeted inhibition of specific components of the immune response: as an alternative to specifically activating key pathways, key mediators of less desirable immune response pathways may be targeted for removal or depletion. One example is the use of TGFb decoy receptors to remove this cytokine that has been implicated in metastasis and tumor growth and angiogenesis (42). Alternatively, direct targeting of B-cells or other components of the humoral response may limit production of anti-viral neutralizing antibody, a key limiting factor in repeat dosing with the same therapeutic virus (43). (iii) Role of adjuvant: the field of vaccine development has helped define the importance of adjuvant in eliciting a robust immune response. Although the expectation is that the viral vectors themselves will provide a source of potent adjuvant, this can and has been enhanced through expression or manipulation of the virus, such as through the incorporation of CpG rich motifs into the DNA sequence (44), or through combination with CpG (45).

ALTERNATIVE STRATEGIES

In addition to the expression of immune stimulatory (or inhibitory) transgenes from the viral vectors, a variety of other options exist that can also have direct impact on the immune responses induced by the viral vectors.

 (i) Viral mutation: large DNA viruses such as vaccinia or HSV encode multiple virulence genes whose role is to antagonize or deplete specific cytokines or to disrupt steps in the immune response. Selective deletion of specific virulence genes can therefore have two effects; deletion of these genes often results in tumor targeting (through attenuation of viral replication in non-tumor tissues) while also allowing additional induction of specific components of the immune response to be activated (28). In this way, the immune response can be manipulated without seriously depleting viral oncolytic activity.

- (ii) Timing of immune activation: the therapeutic activity of oncolytic viral therapy can be considered to function in two steps, with an initial directly oncolytic phase mediated by viral lysis of tumor cells followed by an immunotherapeutic phase, where the host immune response clears additional infected tumor cells and ideally results in induction of an adaptive immune response against tumor antigens (as a result of the release of the tumor antigens along with viral PAMPs and host cell DAMPs). It is therefore apparent that the expression of immune activating transgenes would be most effective if limited to this second phase. One approach to achieve this is to apply exogenous regulation of transgene expression or to control the function of the protein after it is translated (32, 37). In this way, it may be possible to achieve unhindered viral replication and so full oncolytic potential during the initial period after viral delivery and tumor infection, while subsequent activation of immune stimulatory transgene activity would enhance the level and type of immune response produced at later times.
- (iii) Targeting immune suppression: in addition to activating the immune response, oncolytic viral vectors can also transiently overcome immune suppression within the tumor. However, this effect is likely only temporary or limited and some evidence exists that additional targeting of these suppressive cells may further enhance oncolytic viral activity (46). Because multiple suppressive immune cell types (including MDSC, M2 macrophages, and regulatory T-cells) often exist within the tumor, it may be necessary to target all these in a concerted fashion to ensure that a robust adaptive immune response is produced.
- (iv) Combination therapies: in addition, the development of multiple novel and effective immunotherapies means that the scope for combining oncolytic viral therapies with these other therapies continues to increase. There are a variety of approaches (such as combination with alternative adjuvants or antiimmune checkpoint inhibitors) that would be expected to produce significant synergistic benefit, and promising initial pre-clinical data means that these will be explored in more detail in the future.
- (v) Oncolytic viral vaccines: the fact that oncolytic viral therapies are capable of inducing an adaptive immune response against tumor antigens is likely to be hugely beneficial in the clearance of residual disease and metastases as well as in long term immune surveillance to prevent relapse. However, it is also likely that any adaptive immune response that is produced after viral therapy will primarily target antigens expressed on the bulk tumor cells. Because the cells that mediate relapse or metastasis often express distinct antigens to those on the bulk tumor cells within the primary tumor, it may be necessary to

induce additional immunity against antigens on these cells. It has been demonstrated that the expression of these antigens as peptides or whole proteins from the oncolytic virus can permit additional protection against subsequent relapse (47). It is therefore possible that expression of antigens from the virus may be further used to target other stromal cells within the tumor or to boost the immune response against tumor antigens and away from viral antigens.

PERSPECTIVE

Although never becoming an approved therapy outside the Chinese market the ONYX-015 (Sunway H-101) virus, the first oncolytic virus to undergo extensive clinical testing, clearly demonstrated therapeutic responses in at least a subset of patients treated. Researchers in the field have spent the last 15 years trying to enhance the activity and deliverability of these vectors so as to achieve more reliable and significant responses in the clinic. Although approaches to enhance the delivery of the vectors have met only limited success, recent clinical results with T-Vec and Pexa-Vec clearly show that significant improvements have been made in the anti-tumor activity of the vectors, especially when intratumoral delivery is employed. This has apparently been achieved through a combination of use of a faster replicating backbone and expression of an immune stimulating transgene. It is felt to be unlikely that significant additional advantage will be achieved through further enhancing replication potential without safety concerns being raised. The main avenue for further enhancing therapeutic potential may therefore be through careful enhancement of the interaction of the vectors with the host immune response. In this respect, it may be possible to learn from the advances made recently in the fields of vaccine development and cancer immunotherapy. However, it is also clear that simply activating immune stimulation will be unlikely to result in improved therapeutic activity, instead leading to reduced oncolytic activity through rapid clearance of the virus, possible with reduced induction of anti-tumor immunity. Instead, the most promising approaches look to redirect or subtly manipulate the immune response. This goal is complex and relies on inducing an increased recognition of weak tumor antigens with less targeting of typically much stronger viral antigens; increased CTL induction, with reduced humoral response; all while having minimal effects on viral oncolytic activity. However, recent pre-clinical data indicate that some major advances have been made in achieving these goals and there is renewed hope that next generation clinical vectors will significantly improve responses in a variety of cancer patients.

REFERENCES

- 1. Zur Hausen H. Viruses in human cancers. *Science* (1991) **254**:1167–73. doi:10. 1126/science.1659743
- Andtbacka RHI, Collichio FA, Amatruda T, Senzer N, Chesney J, Delman KA, et al. OPTiM: a randomized phase III trial of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) versus subcutaneous (SC) granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) for the treatment (tx) of unresected stage IIIB/C and IV melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31:LBA9008.
- Czernilofsky AP, Levinson AD, Varmus HE, Bishop JM, Tischer E, Goodman HM. Nucleotide sequence of an avian sarcoma virus oncogene (src) and proposed amino acid sequence for gene product. *Nature* (1980) 287:198–203. doi:10.1038/287198a0

- Martin GS. The hunting of the Src. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2001) 2:467–75. doi:10.1128/MCB.21.2.467-475.2001
- 5. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* (2011) **144**:646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Guo ZS, Thorne SH, Bartlett DL. Oncolytic virotherapy: molecular targets in tumor-selective replication and carrier cell-mediated delivery of oncolytic viruses. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2008) 1785(2):217–31. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2008. 02.001
- Martuza RL, Malick A, Markert JM, Ruffner KL, Coen DM. Experimental therapy of human glioma by means of a genetically engineered virus mutant. *Science* (1991) 252:854–6. doi:10.1126/science.1851332
- Bischoff JR, Kirn DH, Williams A, Heise C, Horn S, Muna M, et al. An adenovirus mutant that replicates selectively in p53-deficient human tumor cells. *Science* (1996) 274:373–6. doi:10.1126/science.274.5286.373
- Douglas JT, Rogers BE, Rosenfeld ME, Michael SI, Feng M, Curiel DT. Targeted gene delivery by tropism-modified adenoviral vectors. *Nat Biotechnol* (1996) 14:1574–8. doi:10.1038/nbt1196-1574
- Heise C, Sampson-Johannes A, Williams A, Mccormick F, Von Hoff DD, Kirn DH. ONYX-015, an E1B gene-attenuated adenovirus, causes tumorspecific cytolysis and antitumoral efficacy that can be augmented by standard chemotherapeutic agents. *Nat Med* (1997) 3:639–45. doi:10.1038/nm0697-639
- Heise C, Hermiston T, Johnson L, Brooks G, Sampson-Johannes A, Williams A, et al. An adenovirus E1A mutant that demonstrates potent and selective antitumoral efficacy. *Nat Med* (2000) 6:1134–9. doi:10.1038/80474
- Small EJ, Carducci MA, Burke JM, Rodriguez R, Fong L, Van Ummersen L, et al. A phase I trial of intravenous CG7870, a replication-selective, prostate-specific antigen-targeted oncolytic adenovirus, for the treatment of hormone-refractory, metastatic prostate cancer. *Mol Ther* (2006) 14:107–17. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe. 2006.02.011
- Kirn D, Hermiston T, Mccormick F. ONYX-015: clinical data are encouraging. Nat Med (1998) 4:1341–2. doi:10.1038/3902
- Kirn D, Nemunaitis J, Ganly I, Posner M, Vokes E, Kuhn J, et al. A phase II trial of intratumoral injection with an E1B-deleted adenovirus, ONYX-015, in patients with recurrent, refractory head and neck cancer. *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol* (1998) 17:391. doi:10.1385/1-59259-086-1:559
- Reid T, Galanis E, Abbruzzese J, Sze D, Wein, LM, Andrews J, et al. Hepatic arterial infusion of a replication-selective oncolytic adenovirus (dl1520): phase II viral, immunologic, and clinical endpoints. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:6070–9.
- Khuri F, Nemunaitis J, Ganly I, Gore M, Macdougal M, Tannock I, et al. A controlled trial of Onyx-015, an E1B gene-deleted adenovirus, in combination with chemotherapy in patients with recurrent head and neck cancer. *Nat Med* (2000) 6:879–85. doi:10.1038/78638
- Kirn D. Clinical research results with *dl*1520 (Onyx-015), a replication-selective adenovirus for the treatment of cancer: what have we learned? *Gene Ther* (2001) 8:89–98. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3301377
- Kirn D. Oncolytic virotherapy for cancer with the adenovirus dl1520 (Onyx-015): results of phase I and II trials. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2001) 1:525–38. doi:10.1517/14712598.1.3.525
- Fulci G, Breymann L, Gianni D, Kurozomi K, Rhee SS, Yu J, et al. Cyclophosphamide enhances glioma virotherapy by inhibiting innate immune responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:12873–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0605496103
- Alvarez-Breckenridge CA, Yu J, Price R, Wojton J, Pradarelli J, Mao H, et al. NK cells impede glioblastoma virotherapy through NKp30 and NKp46 natural cytotoxicity receptors. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:1827–34. doi:10.1038/nm.3013
- 21. Liu BL, Robinson M, Han ZQ, Branston RH, English C, Reay P, et al. ICP34.5 deleted herpes simplex virus with enhanced oncolytic, immune stimulating, and anti-tumour properties. *Gene Ther* (2003) 10:292–303. doi:10.1038/sj.gt. 3301885
- 22. Thorne SH, Hwang TH, O'Gorman WE, Bartlett DL, Sei S, Kanji F, et al. Rational strain selection and engineering creates a broad-spectrum, systemically effective oncolytic poxvirus, JX-963. *J Clin Invest* (2007) **117**:3350–8. doi:10.1172/JCI32727
- 23. Park BH, Hwang T, Liu TC, Sze DY, Kim JS, Kwon HC, et al. Use of a targeted oncolytic poxvirus, JX-594, in patients with refractory primary or metastatic liver cancer: a phase I trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2008) 9:533–42. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70107-4
- 24. Contag CH, Sikorski R, Negrin RS, Schmidt T, Fan AC, Bachireddy P, et al. Definition of an enhanced immune cell therapy in mice that can target stem-like

lymphoma cells. Cancer Res (2010) 70:9837-45. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2650

- Kirn DH, Thorne SH. Targeted and armed oncolytic poxviruses: a novel multimechanistic therapeutic class for cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2009) 9:64–71. doi:10.1038/nrc2545
- McCart JA, Ward JM, Lee J, Hu Y, Alexander HR, Libutti SK, et al. Systemic cancer therapy with a tumor-selective vaccinia virus mutant lacking thymidine kinase and vaccinia growth factor genes. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61:8751–7.
- Guo ZS, Naik A, O'Malley ME, Popovic P, Demarco R, Hu Y, et al. The enhanced tumor selectivity of an oncolytic vaccinia lacking the host range and antiapoptosis genes SPI-1 and SPI-2. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:9991–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1630
- Kirn DH, Wang Y, Le Boeuf F, Bell J, Thorne SH. Targeting of interferon-beta to produce a specific, multi-mechanistic oncolytic vaccinia virus. *PLoS Med* (2007) 4:e353. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0040353
- Breitbach CJ, Burke J, Jonker D, Stephenson J, Haas AR, Chow LQ, et al. Intravenous delivery of a multi-mechanistic cancer-targeted oncolytic poxvirus in humans. *Nature* (2011) 477:99–102. doi:10.1038/nature10358
- Heo J, Reid T, Ruo L, Breitbach CJ, Rose S, Bloomston M, et al. Randomized dose-finding clinical trial of oncolytic immunotherapeutic vaccinia JX-594 in liver cancer. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:329–36. doi:10.1038/nm.3089
- Thorne SH. Immunotherapeutic potential of oncolytic vaccinia virus. *Immunol Res* (2011) 50:286–93. doi:10.1007/s12026-011-8211-4
- Banaszynski LA, Sellmyer MA, Contag CH, Wandless TJ, Thorne SH. Chemical control of protein stability and function in living mice. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(10):1123–7. doi:10.1038/nm.1754
- 33. Hwang TH, Moon A, Burke J, Ribas A, Stephenson J, Breitbach CJ, et al. A mechanistic proof-of-concept clinical trial with JX-594, a targeted multi-mechanistic oncolytic poxvirus, in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(10):1913–22. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.132
- 34. Dranoff G, Jaffee E, Lazenby A, Golumbek P, Levitsky H, Brose K, et al. Vaccination with irradiated tumor cells engineered to secrete murine granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulates potent, specific, and longlasting anti-tumor immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1993) **90**:3539–43. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.8.3539
- 35. Kohanbash G, Mckaveney K, Sakaki M, Ueda R, Mintz AH, Amankulor N, et al. GM-CSF promotes the immunosuppressive activity of gliomainfiltrating myeloid cells through interleukin-4 receptor-alpha. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**:6413–23. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4124
- Wang LC, Lynn RC, Cheng G, Alexander E, Kapoor V, Moon EK, et al. Treating tumors with a vaccinia virus expressing IFNbeta illustrates the complex relationships between oncolytic ability and immunogenicity. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20:736–48. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.228
- Chen H, Sampath P, Hou W, Thorne SH. Regulating cytokine function enhances safety and activity of genetic cancer therapies. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:167–74. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.225
- Yu F, Wang X, Guo ZS, Bartlett DL, Gottschalk SM, Song XT. T-cell engagerarmed oncolytic vaccinia virus significantly enhances antitumor therapy. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22:102–11. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.240
- Li J, O'Malley M, Urban J, Sampath P, Guo ZS, Kalinski P, et al. Chemokine expression from oncolytic vaccinia virus enhances vaccine therapies of cancer. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(4):650–7. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.312
- Li J, O'Malley M, Sampath P, Kalinski P, Bartlett DL, Thorne SH. Expression of CCL19 from oncolytic vaccinia enhances immunotherapeutic potential while maintaining oncolytic activity. *Neoplasia* (2012) 14:1115–21. doi:10.1593/neo. 121272
- Workenhe ST, Simmons G, Pol JG, Lichty BD, Halford WP, Mossman KL. Immunogenic HSV-mediated oncolysis shapes the antitumor immune response and contributes to therapeutic efficacy. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22:123–31. doi:10.1038/ mt.2013.238
- 42. Zhang Z, Hu Z, Gupta J, Krimmel JD, Gerseny HM, Berg AF, et al. Intravenous administration of adenoviruses targeting transforming growth factor beta signaling inhibits established bone metastases in 4T1 mouse mammary tumor model in an immunocompetent syngeneic host. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2012) 19:630–6. doi:10.1038/cgt.2012.41
- Chang CL, Ma B, Pang X, Wu TC, Hung CF. Treatment with cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors enables repeated administration of vaccinia virus for control of ovarian cancer. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17:1365–72. doi:10.1038/mt.2009.118

- 44. Cerullo V, Diaconu I, Romano V, Hirvinen M, Ugolini M, Escutenaire S, et al. An oncolytic adenovirus enhanced for toll-like receptor 9 stimulation increases antitumor immune responses and tumor clearance. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20:2076–86. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.137
- Beug ST, Tang VA, Lacasse EC, Cheung HH, Beauregard CE, Brun J, et al. Smac mimetics and innate immune stimuli synergize to promote tumor death. *Nat Biotechnol* (2014) 32:182–90. doi:10.1038/nbt.2806
- 46. Walker JD, Sehgal I, Kousoulas KG. Oncolytic herpes simplex virus 1 encoding 15-prostaglandin dehydrogenase mitigates immune suppression and reduces ectopic primary and metastatic breast cancer in mice. *J Virol* (2011) 85:7363–71. doi:10.1128/JVI.00098-11
- 47. Kottke T, Boisgerault N, Diaz RM, Donnelly O, Rommelfanger-Konkol D, Pulido J, et al. Detecting and targeting tumor relapse by its resistance to innate effectors at early recurrence. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:1625–31. doi:10.1038/ nm.3397

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 March 2014; accepted: 03 June 2014; published online: 17 June 2014. Citation: Thorne SH (2014) Immunotherapeutic potential of oncolytic vaccinia virus. Front. Oncol. 4:155. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00155

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Thorne. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Shashi A. Gujar^{1,2} and Patrick W. K. Lee^{1,3}*

¹ Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

² Strategy and Organizational Performance, IWK Health Centre, Halifax, NS, Canada

³ Department of Pathology, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

Edited by:

Volker Schirrmacher, German Cancer Research Center, Germany

Reviewed by:

F. Ronchese, Malaghan Institute of Medical Research, New Zealand Nadege Bercovici, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

*Correspondence:

Patrick W. K. Lee, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Dalhousie University, 7P Charles Tupper Building, 5850 College Street, Halifax, NS B3H 1X5, Canada e-mail: patrick.lee@dal.ca Anti-tumor immunity can eliminate existing cancer cells and also maintain a constant surveillance against possible relapse. Such an antigen-specific adaptive response begins when tumor-specific T cells become activated. T-cell activation requires two signals on antigen presenting cells (APCs): antigen presentation through major histocombatibility complex (MHC) molecules and co-stimulation. In the absence of one or both these signals, T cells remain inactivated or can even become tolerized. Cancer cells and their associated microenvironment strategically hinder the processing and presentation of tumor antigens and consequently prevent the development of anti-tumor immunity. Many studies, however, demonstrate that interventions that over-turn tumor-associated immune evasion mechanisms can establish anti-tumor immune responses of therapeutic potential. One such intervention is oncolytic virus (OV)-based anti-cancer therapy. Here, we discuss how OVinduced immunological events override tumor-associated antigen presentation impairment and promote appropriate T cell-APC interaction. Detailed understanding of this phenomenon is pivotal for devising the strategies that will enhance the efficacy of OV-based anticancer therapy by complementing its inherent oncolytic activities with desired anti-tumor immune responses.

Keywords: reovirus, oncolytic virus, immunotherapy, antigen presentation, anti-tumor immunity

INTRODUCTION

Anti-tumor immune response of appropriate magnitude and specificity has become a valid indicator of good prognosis of cancer and associated disease pathology (1-6). As such, many therapeutic options are being investigated for their capacity to promote anti-tumor immune responses. These immunotherapies, which are based on exploiting the functions of immune cells [e.g., T cells, dendritic cells (DCs)] or immune mediators (e.g., antibodies, cytokines), represent a highly promising group of interventions and have the potential to target a multitude of cancers. Considering the fact that the presence of tumor-specific CD8 T-cell responses almost always correlate with positive patient outcomes (3), the ultimate goal of most of these immunotherapies primarily focuses on establishing anti-tumor T-cell immunity (3, 4, 7). Fully functional tumor-specific T cells can not only eliminate existing cancer cells but also establish an active, ongoing, and longterm surveillance against possibly relapsing cancer cells. Indeed, the immunotherapy-promoted anti-tumor T-cell responses have shown to delay the onset of pathology, reduce the severity of disease, and prolong the survival of cancer-bearing hosts in animal experiments and in clinical settings (1-7).

Oncolytic viruses (OVs), in their naturally unmodified or genetically engineered form, preferentially infect and lyse transformed or cancerous cells in a process called oncolysis. Some of the more prominent examples of these OVs include adenoviruses, reovirus, herpes simplex virus (HSV), vaccinia, vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), measles, maraba, and so on. In addition, every year new candidate viruses are being proposed and investigated for their potential oncolytic abilities (8). Thus far, OVs have been shown to target cancers of almost every possible tissue origin including breast, ovarian, prostate, brain, colorectal, kidney, etc. both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Considering the capacity of OVs to target cancer cells preferentially, many of these OVs are employed as anti-cancer agents to target various cancers and are currently under phase I, II, and III clinical trials internationally (8–12).

The primary mode of action for OVs is direct oncolysis. In recent years, however, another aspect of OV-based oncotherapy has become evident. Many reports have shown that, in addition to their direct oncolytic activities, OVs aid in the development of tumor-specific T-cell responses (13–20). Thus, if appropriately managed, OV-based oncotherapies can target cancers through two distinct mechanisms: direct oncolysis and anti-tumor immune responses.

The induction of antigen-specific T-cell response begins when antigen presenting cell (APC) presents an antigenic peptide to a naïve T cell. In the absence of a successful antigen presentation event, T cells either remain inactivated or become dysfunctional. Hence, the process of antigen presentation is a critical step during the initiation of T-cell response. Here, we first explain how the components of the APC–T-cell interaction work, then discuss how cancer cells avoid the presentation of tumor antigens, and finally elucidate how the OV-driven immunological events influence the tumor antigen presentation. We believe that the comprehensive understanding on this aspect of OV-based oncotherapy will advocate the development of a clinically meaningful anti-tumor immunity and consequently promote better cancer outcomes.

COMPONENTS OF THE NORMAL ANTIGEN PRESENTATION PROCESS

As illustrated in Figure 1, the priming of antigen-specific T cell occurs in lymphoid tissues and requires three signals on APCs: antigen, co-stimulation, and cytokines. Antigenic peptides are presented through major histocombatibility complex (MHC) molecules, co-stimulation is carried out by co-stimulatory molecules such as B7 family member proteins, and cytokines such as interferon (IFN)- α/β , interleukin (IL)-12, and IL-1 constitute the third signal. Both CD8 and CD4 cells bear distinct receptors (called Tcell receptors; TCRs) that interact with MHC class I or II molecules, respectively (22-26). Class I and II MHC molecules have distinct pathways through which proteins are processed and ultimately presented to T cells. For MHC class I pathway, cytosolic proteins go through the antigen processing and presentation machinery (APM), which is made up of peptide transporters, chaperone proteins, and the Golgi complex. First, proteasomes break down designated ubiquitinated proteins into peptides of 2-25 amino acids in length. These peptides are transported with the help of peptide transporters (TAP1/TAP2) into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), where they are further trimmed to 8-10 amino acid length to fit within the MHC groove (27-30). Next, chaperones such as calnexin, calreticulin, ERp57, and tapasin aid the loading of the trimmed peptide into the MHC groove. These MHC-peptide complexes then migrate to the cell surface and become available for the recognition by CD8 T cells (21, 30).

Apart from this classical pathway, extracellular antigens can also be presented through MHC class I pathway using a specialized pathway called cross-presentation (21, 31). *In vitro*, various APCs have shown to bear a capacity to cross-present extracellular antigens; however, *in vivo*, the main mediators of crosspresentation are DCs (32). There are two main pathways through



FIGURE 1 |The three signals necessary for the stimulation of antigen-specific T cell. The priming of antigen-specific T cell requires three signals: antigen, co-stimulation, and cytokines. Antigenic proteins undergo antigen processing and then the peptides are presented through MHC class I or II molecules for CD8 and CD4 T cells, respectively. The second signal in the form of co-stimulation is provided by molecules such as B7 family member proteins such as B7.1 (CD86) and B7.2 (CD80) expressed on APCs. These B7 proteins interact with their receptors such as CD28 on interacting T cells. Inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- α/β , IL-12, and IL-1 constitute the third signal.

which cross-presentation can happen: cytosolic and vacuolar. In the cytosolic pathway, first antigen processing occurs in cytosol and then proteasome-generated peptides are fed in MHC class I molecules. On the other hand, for vacuolar pathway, lysosomal proteolysis contributes toward peptide generation, and antigen processing and peptide loading occurs in endocytic compartments. Together, both these pathways facilitate the presentation of extracellular antigens, e.g., antigens from the pathogens that do not infect DCs or self-antigens, to CD8 T cells (33–35).

The expression of MHC class II is more tightly regulated than MHC class I and is primarily found on the surface of professional APCs, such as DCs and macrophages (21). MHC class II antigen processing primarily uses a lysosomal pathway that degrades proteins taken up by endocytosis (extracellular antigens) or autophagy (intracellular antigens). The newly synthesized MHC class II molecules assemble with a protein known as an invariant chain (li). The liprotein prevents the premature binding of endogenous peptides or misfolded proteins in the MHC class II groove, and also directs delivery of MHC molecules to endosomal vesicles where the loading of the appropriate peptide happens. Once inside the endosomal vesicle, the li is cleaved off, leaving a short class IIassociated invariant chain peptide (CLIP) fragment still bound in the MHC groove. Finally, the release of the CLIP fragment and the loading of the appropriate peptide are facilitated by HLA-DM (H-2M in mouse) molecules (36). The MHC class II molecule displays the appropriate peptide and then travels to the surface to be available for CD4 T-cell recognition (21, 34, 37, 38).

The second signal in the form of co-stimulation is induced when molecules such as B7.1 (CD80) or B7.2 (CD86) expressed on the same MHC–peptide bearing APC interact with its cognate receptor such as CD28 on the interacting T cell (39–42). Other similar co-stimulatory molecule–receptor interactions include the dialogs between CD40L and 4-1BB (CD137) on T cells and CD40 and 4-1BB ligand (4-1BBL) on APCs, respectively. On the other hand, molecules like CTLA-4 on T cells can also bind to B7 molecules and induce inhibitory signals that are especially important in preventing unchecked, sustained proliferation following the initiation of T-cell response. Indeed, mice lacking *CTLA-4* gene display massive proliferation of lymphocytes which becomes fatal overtime (41). Together, the balanced actions of these co-stimulatory and co-inhibitory molecules dictate the fate of T-cell activation.

In recent times, the third signal in the form of inflammatory cytokines has been recognized for the activation of both CD4 and CD8 T cells (43, 44). Cumulative evidence demonstrates that IFN- α/β and IL-12 are required as the third signal for the functional activation of CD8 T cells (43, 45, 46), and that the absence of these cytokines results in the development of defective CD8 T primary and memory responses (47). For CD4 T cells, this third signal is provided by IL-1 (43, 48).

When naïve CD8 or CD4 T cells interact with APCs expressing both the necessary signals, they undergo clonal expansion and differentiate into effector cells. Activated CD8 cells can kill target cells through perforin, granzyme, or FasL-mediated mechanisms or can produce cytotoxic cytokines such as IFN- γ or tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α). On the other hand, activated CD4 cells can also kill target cells or further provide "help" for the activation of other immune cells including macrophages and (T and B) lymphocytes through the action of cytokines such as TNF- α , IFN- γ , granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), CD40L, IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β). Most importantly, a fraction of primed T cells further evolves into a memory phenotype that establishes protection against the same immunogen in the future (23, 26, 49, 50).

TUMOR-ASSOCIATED IMPAIRMENT OF ANTIGEN PRESENTATION

Tumors have developed various immune evasion mechanisms that specifically target different aspects of signal 1, 2 or 3, and thus prevent the initiation of functional tumor-specific T-cell response (51, 52). More importantly, such defects in antigen presentation and co-stimulation processes, alone or in combination with each other, have been correlated with poor cancer outcomes (17, 30, 37). These defects, which can occur on tumors themselves or on the tumor-associated APCs, have been observed at the transcriptional and/or post-transcriptional levels, and are affected by genetic and environmental factors. For example, completely absent or aberrant expression of MHC class I as well as its constituent protein β 2 microglobulin (β 2M) has been reported in patients with breast, ovarian, cervical, skin, esophageal, and colorectal cancers (30, 52, 53). Furthermore, other components of the APM such as transporter proteins TAP1 and TAP2, ER enzymes (ERAP1 and ERAP2), proteasome subunits (LMP2, LMP7, and LMP10), and chaperone proteins have been found to be defective in various cancers (4, 5, 30, 51, 54). Unlike MHC class I, the clinical significance of MHC class II expression on tumor cells is still not clear (36). Many tumor cells display constitutive or inducible levels of MHC class II (3, 4, 38). Breast and colorectal carcinomas express MHC class II molecules on the surface; however, they often display the defects in the expression of MHC class II pathway-associated components (55). In contrast to healthy cells, melanoma cells do not upregulate the expression of MHC class II following IFN-y stimulation. Recently, defects in MHC class II transactivator (CIITA) synthesis was associated with impaired MHC class II expression in head and neck cancer cells and some lymphomas (55-58). Similarly, the impaired levels and functional attributes of HLA-DM and HLA-DO are known to influence the presentation of tumor antigens through MHC class II pathway (36, 55). In the context of such aberrant MHC expression, both CD4 and CD8 cells cannot identify tumors as targets.

Tumor-associated APCs also demonstrate defects in their antigen presentation capacities and could directly contribute toward the establishment of dysfunctional anti-tumor immune response (52). Of note, tumor cells as well as their microenvironment promote an immunosuppressive environment that prohibits the generation of one or more of the three signals of antigen presentation on APCs (52, 54). For example, intra-tumoral DCs obtained from cancer patients or cancer-bearing experimental animals display lower expression of MHC class I and II as well as CD80 and CD86 molecules (51, 52, 54, 59). Similar aberrant expression of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules can be induced on the DCs isolated from healthy, non-cancer-bearing hosts when incubated in the presence of cancer cells and supernatant from cancer cell cultures (17). Additionally, tumor-associated DCs also express various inhibitory molecules, such as programed death ligand-1 (PDL-1) and CTLA-4, which further contribute toward the silencing of anti-tumor T-cell response (41, 42). Finally, tumor microenvironment also recruits many suppressive cells [e.g., regulatory T cells (Tregs) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs)] and cytokines (e.g., TGF- β , PGE-2) which further affect the antigen presentation function of APCs (51, 52).

CONTRIBUTION OF VIRUS-DRIVEN IMMUNE RESPONSE IN THE ANTIGEN PRESENTATION PROCESS

Viruses are strong immunogens, and bear a capacity to induce all three signals, i.e., antigen, co-stimulation and inflammatory cytokines, necessary for the activation of antigen-specific T-cell response (60). Following exposure to a virus, the immune system recognize the virus as a "foreign" entity through conserved receptors of the innate immune system known as pattern recognition receptors (PRRs, e.g., toll-like receptors, TLRs). These receptors on APCs can identify molecular motifs known as pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and virus-associated DNA and single- or double-stranded RNA of genomic or replicative intermediate origin. Additionally, replicating viruses are also recognized through intracellular helicases (60, 61). The recognition of viral PAMPs through PRRs drives the immediate innate immune response that constitutes the production of type I interferons, including multiple forms of IFN- α and - β (62–64). These Type I interferons enhance the expression of MHC class I and II, CD40, CD80, CD83, and CD86 on the surface of DCs (46, 65, 66). Such IFN- α/β response further stimulates the production of cytokines (e.g., IL-1β, IL-6, IL-12, TNF-α) and chemokines [e.g., IL-8, monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1)], and amplifies the initial innate response when these cytokines act through autocrine and paracrine fashion (67). This cytokine-driven pro-inflammatory response is critical in driving the expression of MHC as well as co-stimulatory molecules involved in antigen presentation. Of note, IFN-α has been shown to enhance the proliferative capacity of naïve CD8 T cells, and thus is considered as a "signal 3" necessary for successful T-cell activation (44). Additionally, this innate response is also known to promote the cross-presentation of antigens (3, 68). The APCs primed in this fashion travel to the lymphoid organs wherein they interact with naïve T cells and prime an antigen-specific adaptive immune response (34).

OV-MEDIATED REVERSAL OF TUMOR-ASSOCIATED IMPAIRED ANTIGEN PRESENTATION

The immune responses that accompany oncolytic virotherapy warrant a special consideration as the circumstances under which these responses occur are very unique to this system. It should always be remembered that OV-driven immune responses are strong, whereas cancers usually persist in suppressive environments. The combination of these two contrasting entities most likely produces the immunological consequences that are uncharacteristic of either the tumor- or virus-driven immune response on their own (14). Interestingly, OVs preferentially target cancer cells for their replication, and hence attract the anti-viral immune response in a cancer microenvironment (14, 69, 70).

The strong immune responses initiated by viruses have the potential to over-turn the suppressive effects of tumor-associated immune evasion mechanisms (**Figure 2**), including those involved



in antigen processing and presentation pathway (71-74). Exposure of immune as well as cancer cells to OVs induces the expression of type I interferons (75). Similarly, animals injected with the OV gain elevated IFN-α mRNA and protein levels immediately following the administration of the virus. Furthermore, DCs cultured in the presence of reovirus produce IL-1a, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-12p40/70, IL-17, CD30L, eotaxin, GM-CSF, MCP-1, MCP-2, MCP-5, macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF), monokine induced by gamma interferon (MIG), macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP-1α), RANTES, TNF-α, vascular cell adhesion protein-1 (VCAM-1), etc., and show enhanced expression of CD80, CD86, and CD40 (71). Similar phenotype is also observed in DCs exposed to other OVs including HSV, vaccinia, and measles (72, 76-78). Most importantly, APCs isolated from the spleens of the tumor-bearing mice injected with a therapeutic regimen of OVs also display higher expression of co-stimulatory molecules as compared with those isolated from the untreated or PBS-injected tumor-bearing animals (71, 79). It should be noted that DCs isolated from tumor-bearing mice have lower expression of co-stimulatory molecules as compared with their healthy counterparts. However, this lowered expression is over-turned following OV administration (17, 71).

Most OVs are potent inducers of MHC class I pathway-related molecules (13, 14, 18, 19, 80). Exposure of tumor cells to OVs *in vitro* enhances the expression of MHC class I molecules as compared with that observed in untreated cells (17). For example, when mouse ovarian tumor cells (ID8), which show complete absence of MHC class I protein on its surface under native conditions, manifest significantly higher MHC class I expression upon exposure to reovirus for 24 h in vitro (17). Furthermore, ID8 tumors collected from reovirus-treated C57BL/6 immuno-competent mice also displayed significantly higher expression of mRNA transcripts encoding MHC class I, β 2M and TAP1/TAP2, molecules as compared with that of tumors from untreated animals (17).

From a functional point of view, OVs are known to directly enhance the antigen presentation capacity of DCs (71). When DCs are incubated in the presence of OV-infected ova-expressing tumor cells, they can efficiently process and present a tumorassociated antigen (TAA) to antigen-specific CD8 T cells. This was shown in a cancer model wherein an ovalbumin (ova) is employed as a surrogate tumor antigen. In this model, when bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) are incubated with reovirus-infected ova-expressing mouse melanoma (B16-ova) or lung carcinoma (Lewis lung carcinoma, LLC-ova) cells, they display the ova-specific immune-dominant epitope in the context of MHC class I molecules on their surface. Such display of surrogate TAA is non-existent when BMDCs are incubated with B16-ova or LLC-ova in the presence of inactivated virus or medium alone. Most importantly, OV-induced TAA presentation on the BMDC surface further stimulates the activation of TAA-specific CD8 T cells (71). These observations conclusively demonstrate that OVs can (1) promote the antigen presentation of TAAs on APCs and (2) endow APCs with a functional capacity to stimulate TAAspecific CD8 T cells. Of note, the use of ova as a surrogate TAA should be cautiously considered as it could potentially undergo

differential antigen processing and presentation than that for endogenous TAA.

The over-turning of the tumor-associated impaired antigen presentation, however, is only observed following exposure to live, but not inactivated, OVs (71, 72, 81), and is thought to be directly associated with the process of oncolysis. It is believed that OVs expose otherwise inaccessible tumor antigens through oncolysis and make them available to APCs. Simultaneously, OVdriven inflammatory response also promotes the expression of costimulatory signals on these APCs that are now armed with tumor antigen. Thus, oncolytic activities of OV coupled with virus-driven immunological events induce the signals necessary for the activation of tumor-specific T cells and aid in the development of anti-tumor adaptive immunity.

Nevertheless, not all OVs aid in the antigen presentation process. Thus far, VSV has been shown to downregulate the costimulatory and antigen presentation functions, along with the survival of DCs (82). This observation bears special significance especially in the context of the capacity of various other viruses to subvert and manipulate antigen presentation pathways (53, 68, 83, 84). Hence, it is imperative that candidate OVs be tested extensively for their respective beneficial or detrimental immunological capacities related to the process of tumor antigen presentation.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

As outlined in this perspective, OVs bear a comprehensive capacity to over-turn TAA presentation evasion mechanisms and to promote a functional anti-tumor T-cell response. However, available information on this phenomenon is still limited and warrants a detailed exploration on various molecular and functional aspects of OV-driven antigen presentation. Especially, the effect of OVs on the processing and presentation of endogenous tumor antigens in the context of various molecular components of MHC class I and II pathway, and in relation with resultant anti-tumor immune response, must be thoroughly explored. It should also be noted that OV-induced antigen presentation also promotes the development of the anti-viral adaptive immune response that is known to prematurely curtail the spread of OV in cancer cells. Only in recent years, the importance of OV-driven immunological events has been acknowledged and given appropriate attention. However, one thing is now clear: OV-induced immune response dictates the efficacy of OV-based oncotherapy. In the future, appropriate immune interventions that promote a fine balance between anti-tumor and anti-viral immune responses will ensure the maximum anti-cancer benefits of OV-based oncotherapies.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by research grants from the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR), Terry Fox New Frontiers Program in Cancer Research and Nova Scotia Research Foundation (NSHRF) to Patrick W. K. Lee and Shashi A. Gujar. Shashi A. Gujar is currently funded by a CIHR Postdoctoral Fellowship, and was funded through Cancer Research Training Program (CRTP) of Beatrice Hunter Cancer Research Institute (BHCRI) in the past.

REFERENCES

- Restifo NP, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T cell response. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12:269–81. doi:10.1038/nri3191
- 2. McKee MD, Fichera A, Nishimura MI. T cell immunotherapy. *Front Biosci* (2007) 12:919–32. doi:10.2741/2114
- Coulie PG, Van den Eynde BJ, van der Bruggen P, Boon T. Tumour antigens recognized by T lymphocytes: at the core of cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2014) 14:135–46. doi:10.1038/nrc3670
- Kalos M, June CH. Adoptive T cell transfer for cancer immunotherapy in the era of synthetic biology. *Immunity* (2013) 39:49–60. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013. 07.002
- Hanada K, Restifo NP. Double or nothing on cancer immunotherapy. Nat Biotechnol (2013) 31:33–4. doi:10.1038/nbt.2471
- Couzin-Frankel J. The dizzying journey to a new cancer arsenal. *Science* (2013) 340:1514–8. doi:10.1126/science.340.6140.1514
- Kershaw MH, Westwood JA, Darcy PK. Gene-engineered T cells for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2013) 13:525–41. doi:10.1038/nrc3565
- Miest TS, Cattaneo R. New viruses for cancer therapy: meeting clinical needs. Nat Rev Microbiol (2014) 12:23–34. doi:10.1038/nrmicro3140
- Patel MR, Kratzke RA. Oncolytic virus therapy for cancer: the first wave of translational clinical trials. *Transl Res* (2013) 161:355–64. doi:10.1016/j.trsl. 2012.12.010
- Hiss DC, Fielding BC. Optimization and preclinical design of genetically engineered viruses for human oncolytic therapy. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2012) 12:1427–47. doi:10.1517/14712598.2012.707183
- Zeyaullah M, Patro M, Ahmad I, Ibraheem K, Sultan P, Nehal M, et al. Oncolytic viruses in the treatment of cancer: a review of current strategies. *Pathol Oncol Res* (2012) 18:771–81. doi:10.1007/s12253-012-9548-2
- Donnelly OG, Errington-Mais F, Prestwich R, Harrington K, Pandha H, Vile R, et al. Recent clinical experience with oncolytic viruses. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* (2012) 13:1834–41. doi:10.2174/138920112800958904
- Cerullo V, Koski A, Vaha-Koskela M, Hemminki A. Chapter eight oncolytic adenoviruses for cancer immunotherapy: data from mice, hamsters, and humans. *Adv Cancer Res* (2012) 115:265–318. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-398342-8.00008-2
- Melcher A, Parato K, Rooney CM, Bell JC. Thunder and lightning: immunotherapy and oncolytic viruses collide. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19:1008–16. doi:10.1038/mt. 2011.65
- Bridle BW, Hanson S, Lichty BD. Combining oncolytic virotherapy and tumour vaccination. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2010) 21:143–8. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr. 2010.02.009
- Galivo F, Diaz RM, Thanarajasingam U, Jevremovic D, Wongthida P, Thompson J, et al. Interference of CD40L-mediated tumor immunotherapy by oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus. *Hum Gene Ther* (2010) 21:439–50. doi:10.1089/hum. 2009.143
- Gujar S, Dielschneider R, Clements D, Helson E, Shmulevitz M, Marcato P, et al. Multifaceted therapeutic targeting of ovarian peritoneal carcinomatosis through virus-induced immunomodulation. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:338–47. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.228
- Todo T. Active immunotherapy: oncolytic virus therapy using HSV-1. Adv Exp Med Biol (2012) 746:178–86. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-3146-6_14
- Zhao L, Liu H. Newcastle disease virus: a promising agent for tumour immunotherapy. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2012) **39**:725–30. doi:10.1111/ j.1440-1681.2011.05662.x
- Prestwich RJ, Errington F, Diaz RM, Pandha HS, Harrington KJ, Melcher AA, et al. The case of oncolytic viruses versus the immune system: waiting on the judgment of Solomon. *Hum Gene Ther* (2009) 20:1119–32. doi:10.1089/hum. 2009.135
- Janeway C, Travers P, Walport M, Shlomchick M. Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease. New York, NY: Garland Publishing (2001).
- Varga SM, Braciale TJ. The adaptive immune response to respiratory syncytial virus. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2013) **372**:155–71. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-38919-1_8
- Wiesel M, Oxenius A. From crucial to negligible: functional CD8(+) T-cell responses and their dependence on CD4(+) T-cell help. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42:1080–8. doi:10.1002/eji.201142205
- Swain SL, McKinstry KK, Strutt TM. Expanding roles for CD4(+) T cells in immunity to viruses. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12:136–48. doi:10.1038/nri3152

- Sant AJ, McMichael A. Revealing the role of CD4(+) T cells in viral immunity. J Exp Med (2012) 209:1391–5. doi:10.1084/jem.20121517
- Whitmire JK. Induction and function of virus-specific CD4+ T cell responses. Virology (2011) 411:216–28. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2010.12.015
- Brouwenstijn N, Serwold T, Shastri N. MHC class I molecules can direct proteolytic cleavage of antigenic precursors in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Immunity* (2001) 15:95–104. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00174-1
- Reits E, Griekspoor A, Neijssen J, Groothuis T, Jalink K, van Veelen P, et al. Peptide diffusion, protection, and degradation in nuclear and cytoplasmic compartments before antigen presentation by MHC class I. *Immunity* (2003) 18:97–108. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00511-3
- Yaneva R, Schneeweiss C, Zacharias M, Springer S. Peptide binding to MHC class I and II proteins: new avenues from new methods. *Mol Immunol* (2010) 47:649–57. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2009.10.008
- Leone P, Shin EC, Perosa F, Vacca A, Dammacco F, Racanelli V. MHC class I antigen processing and presenting machinery: organization, function, and defects in tumor cells. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2013) 105:1172–87. doi:10.1093/jnci/ djt184
- Murphy K, Janeway C, Travers P, Walport M, Mowat A, Weaver C. Janeway's Immunobiology. New York, NY: Garland Science, Taylor and Francis group, LLC (2011).
- 32. Jung S, Unutmaz D, Wong P, Sano G, De los Santos K, Sparwasser T, et al. In vivo depletion of CD11c+ dendritic cells abrogates priming of CD8+ T cells by exogenous cell-associated antigens. *Immunity* (2002) 17:211–20. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00365-5
- Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12:557–69. doi:10.1038/nri3254
- Heath WR, Carbone FR. Cross-presentation in viral immunity and selftolerance. Nat Rev Immunol (2001) 1:126–34. doi:10.1038/35100512
- 35. Heath WR, Belz GT, Behrens GMN, Smith CM, Forehan SP, Parish IA, et al. Cross-presentation, dendritic cell subsets, and the generation of immunity to cellular antigens. *mmunol Rev* (2004) 199:9–26. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004. 00142.x
- 36. Walter W, Lingnau K, Schmitt E, Loos M, Maeurer MJ. MHC class II antigen presentation pathway in murine tumours: tumour evasion from immunosurveillance? Br J Cancer (2000) 83:1192–201. doi:10.1054/bjoc.2000.1415
- Braciale TJ, Morrison LA, Sweetser MT, Sambrook J, Gething MJ, Braciale VL. Antigen presentation pathways to class I and class II MHC-restricted T lymphocytes. *Immunol Rev* (1987) 98:95–114. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1987. tb00521.x
- Gannage M, Munz C. MHC presentation via autophagy and how viruses escape from it. Semin Immunopathol (2010) 32:373–81. doi:10.1007/s00281-010-0227-7
- Bour-Jordan H, Esensten JH, Martinez-Llordella M, Penaranda C, Stumpf M, Bluestone JA. Intrinsic and extrinsic control of peripheral T-cell tolerance by costimulatory molecules of the CD28/B7 family. *Immunol Rev* (2011) 241:180–205. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01011.x
- Nurieva RI, Liu X, Dong C. Yin-Yang of costimulation: crucial controls of immune tolerance and function. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 229:88–100. doi:10.1111/ j.1600-065X.2009.00769.x
- Sharpe AH, Freeman GJ. The B7-CD28 superfamily. Nat Rev Immunol (2002) 2:116–26. doi:10.1038/nri727
- Sharpe AH. Mechanisms of costimulation. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 229:5–11. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00784.x
- Curtsinger JM, Mescher MF. Inflammatory cytokines as a third signal for T cell activation. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22:333–40. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010. 02.013
- 44. Hervas-Stubbs S, Riezu-Boj JI, Gonzalez I, Mancheno U, Dubrot J, Azpilicueta A, et al. Effects of IFN-alpha as a signal-3 cytokine on human naive and antigen-experienced CD8(+) T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40:3389–402. doi:10.1002/eji.201040664
- 45. Gerner MY, Heltemes-Harris LM, Fife BT, Mescher MF. Cutting edge: IL-12 and type I IFN differentially program CD8 T cells for programmed death 1 re-expression levels and tumor control. J Immunol (2013) 191:1011–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300652
- Hervas-Stubbs S, Perez-Gracia JL, Rouzaut A, Sanmamed MF, Le Bon A, Melero I. Direct effects of type I interferons on cells of the immune system. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:2619–27. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1114

- Xiao Z, Casey KA, Jameson SC, Curtsinger JM, Mescher MF. Programming for CD8 T cell memory development requires IL-12 or type I IFN. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:2786–94. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803484
- Ben-Sasson SZ, Hu-Li J, Quiel J, Cauchetaux S, Ratner M, Shapira I, et al. IL-1 acts directly on CD4 T cells to enhance their antigen-driven expansion and differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106:7119–24. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0902745106
- MacLeod MK, Kappler JW, Marrack P. Memory CD4 T cells: generation, reactivation and re-assignment. *Immunology* (2010) 130:10–5. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03260.x
- Hikono H, Kohlmeier JE, Ely KH, Scott I, Roberts AD, Blackman MA, et al. Tcell memory and recall responses to respiratory virus infections. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 211:119–32. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00385.x
- Motz GT, Coukos G. Deciphering and reversing tumor immune suppression. *Immunity* (2013) 39:61–73. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.005
- 52. Hargadon KM. Tumor-altered dendritic cell function: implications for antitumor immunity. *Front Immunol* (2013) **4**:192. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00192
- Horst D, Verweij MC, Davison AJ, Ressing ME, Wiertz EJ. Viral evasion of T cell immunity: ancient mechanisms offering new applications. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2011) 23:96–103. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.11.005
- Charbonneau B, Goode EL, Kalli KR, Knutson KL, Derycke MS. The immune system in the pathogenesis of ovarian cancer. *Crit Rev Immunol* (2013) 33:137–64. doi:10.1615/CritRevImmunol.2013006813
- 55. Thibodeau J, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC, Lapointe R. Targeting the MHC class II antigen presentation pathway in cancer immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:908–16. doi:10.4161/onci.21205
- Michel S, Linnebacher M, Alcaniz J, Voss M, Wagner R, Dippold W, et al. Lack of HLA class II antigen expression in microsatellite unstable colorectal carcinomas is caused by mutations in HLA class II regulatory genes. *Int J Cancer* (2010) 127:889–98. doi:10.1002/ijc.25106
- 57. Meissner M, Whiteside TL, van Kuik-Romein P, Valesky EM, van den Elsen PJ, Kaufmann R, et al. Loss of interferon-gamma inducibility of the MHC class II antigen processing pathway in head and neck cancer: evidence for post-transcriptional as well as epigenetic regulation. *Br J Dermatol* (2008) 158:930–40. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08465.x
- Ting JP, Trowsdale J. Genetic control of MHC class II expression. *Cell* (2002) 109(Suppl):S21–33. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00696-7
- Martin-Orozco N, Dong C. Inhibitory costimulation and anti-tumor immunity. Semin Cancer Biol (2007) 17:288–98. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2007.06.003
- Kumar H, Kawai T, Akira S. Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. Int Rev Immunol (2011) 30:16–34. doi:10.3109/08830185.2010.529976
- Akira S, Saitoh T, Kawai T. Nucleic acids recognition by innate immunity. Uirusu (2012) 62:39–45. doi:10.2222/jsv.62.39
- Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on toll-like receptors. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:373–84. doi:10.1038/ni. 1863
- Kawai T, Akira S. Toll-like receptors and their crosstalk with other innate receptors in infection and immunity. *Immunity* (2011) 34:637–50. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2011.05.006
- Kawai T, Akira S. The roles of TLRs, RLRs and NLRs in pathogen recognition. Int Immunol (2009) 21:317–37. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxp017
- Montoya M, Schiavoni G, Mattei F, Gresser I, Belardelli F, Borrow P, et al. Type I interferons produced by dendritic cells promote their phenotypic and functional activation. *Blood* (2002) 99:3263–71. doi:10.1182/blood.V99.9.3263
- Rudd BD, Luker GD, Luker KE, Peebles RS, Lukacs NW. Type I interferon regulates respiratory virus infected dendritic cell maturation and cytokine production. Viral Immunol (2007) 20:531–40. doi:10.1089/vim.2007.0057
- Kawai T, Akira S. Innate immune recognition of viral infection. Nat Immunol (2006) 7:131–7. doi:10.1038/ni1303
- Rock KL, Shen L. Cross-presentation: underlying mechanisms and role in immune surveillance. *Immunol Rev* (2005) 207:166–83. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00301.x
- Boisgerault N, Tangy F, Gregoire M. New perspectives in cancer virotherapy: bringing the immune system into play. *Immunotherapy* (2010) 2:185–99. doi:10.2217/imt.10.6
- Prestwich RJ, Harrington KJ, Pandha HS, Vile RG, Melcher AA, Errington F. Oncolytic viruses: a novel form of immunotherapy. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* (2008) 8:1581–8. doi:10.1586/14737140.8.10.1581

- Gujar SA, Marcato P, Pan D, Lee PW. Reovirus virotherapy overrides tumor antigen presentation evasion and promotes protective antitumor immunity. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2010) 9:2924–33. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-10-0590
- Guillerme JB, Boisgerault N, Roulois D, Menager J, Combredet C, Tangy F, et al. Measles virus vaccine-infected tumor cells induce tumor antigen crosspresentation by human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:1147–58. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2733
- 73. Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Pulido C, Rommelfanger D, Galivo F, Kaluza K, et al. Activating systemic T-cell immunity against self tumor antigens to support oncolytic virotherapy with vesicular stomatitis virus. *Hum Gene Ther* (2011) 22:1343–53. doi:10.1089/hum.2010.216
- Lindenmann J, Klein PA. Viral oncolysis: increased immunogenicity of host cell antigen associated with influenza virus. J Exp Med (1967) 126:93–108. doi:10.1084/jem.126.1.93
- Shmulevitz M, Lee PW. Exploring host factors that impact reovirus replication, dissemination, and reovirus-induced cell death in cancer versus normal cells in culture. *Methods Mol Biol* (2012) **797**:163–76. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-340-0_12
- Fonteneau JF, Guillerme JB, Tangy F, Gregoire M. Attenuated measles virus used as an oncolytic virus activates myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e24212. doi:10.4161/onci.24212
- Benencia F, Courreges MC, Fraser NW, Coukos G. Herpes virus oncolytic therapy reverses tumor immune dysfunction and facilitates tumor antigen presentation. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2008) 7:1194–205. doi:10.4161/cbt.7.8.6216
- 78. Greiner S, Humrich JY, Thuman P, Sauter B, Schuler G, Jenne L. The highly attenuated vaccinia virus strain modified virus Ankara induces apoptosis in melanoma cells and allows bystander dendritic cells to generate a potent antitumoral immunity. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2006) **146**:344–53. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03177.x
- Frrington F, Steele L, Prestwich R, Harrington KJ, Pandha HS, Vidal L, et al. Reovirus activates human dendritic cells to promote innate antitumor immunity. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:6018–26.

- Todo T, Martuza RL, Rabkin SD, Johnson PA. Oncolytic herpes simplex virus vector with enhanced MHC class I presentation and tumor cell killing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98:6396–401. doi:10.1073/pnas.101136398
- Schierer S, Hesse A, Knippertz I, Kaempgen E, Baur AS, Schuler G, et al. Human dendritic cells efficiently phagocytose adenoviral oncolysate but require additional stimulation to mature. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 130:1682–94. doi:10.1002/ijc. 26176
- Leveille S, Goulet ML, Lichty BD, Hiscott J. Vesicular stomatitis virus oncolytic treatment interferes with tumor-associated dendritic cell functions and abrogates tumor antigen presentation. J Virol (2011) 85:12160–9. doi:10.1128/JVI. 05703-11
- Hansen TH, Bouvier M. MHC class I antigen presentation: learning from viral evasion strategies. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:503–13. doi:10.1038/nri2575
- Ressing ME, Luteijn RD, Horst D, Wiertz EJ. Viral interference with antigen presentation: trapping TAP. *Mol Immunol* (2013) 55:139–42. doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2012.10.009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 February 2014; accepted: 27 March 2014; published online: 10 April 2014. Citation: Gujar SA and Lee PWK (2014) Oncolytic virus-mediated reversal of impaired tumor antigen presentation. Front. Oncol. **4**:77. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00077

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Gujar and Lee. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Oncolytic viruses as anticancer vaccines

Norman Woller[†], Engin Gürlevik[†], Cristina-Ileana Ureche, Anja Schumacher and Florian Kühnel^{*}

Clinic for Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Endocrinology, Medical School Hannover, Hannover, Germany

Edited by:

Philippe Fournier, German Cancer Research Center, Germany

Reviewed by:

Volker Schirrmacher, German Cancer Research Center, Germany Zong Sheng Guo, Harvard University, USA

*Correspondence:

Florian Kühnel, Clinic for Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Endocrinology, Medical School Hannover, Carl Neuberg Street 1, Hannover 30625, Germany e-mail: kuehnel.florian@mhhannover.de

⁺Norman Woller and Engin Gürlevik have contributed equally to this work. Oncolytic virotherapy has shown impressive results in preclinical studies and first promising therapeutic outcomes in clinical trials as well. Since viruses are known for a long time as excellent vaccination agents, oncolytic viruses are now designed as novel anticancer agents combining the aspect of lysis-dependent cytoreductive activity with concomitant induction of antitumoral immune responses. Antitumoral immune activation by oncolytic virus infection of tumor tissue comprises both, immediate effects of innate immunity and also adaptive responses for long lasting antitumoral activity, which is regarded as the most prominent challenge in clinical oncology. To date, the complex effects of a viral tumor infection on the tumor microenvironment and the consequences for the tumor-infiltrating immune cell compartment are poorly understood. However, there is more and more evidence that a tumor infection by an oncolytic virus opens up a number of options for further immunomodulating interventions such as systemic chemotherapy, generic immunostimulating strategies, dendritic cell-based vaccines, and antigenic libraries to further support clinical efficacy of oncolytic virotherapy.

Keywords: oncolytic virotherapy, oncolytic virus, antitumor immunity, antitumor immune response, oncolytic agents

INTRODUCTION

Oncolytic viruses are novel antitumor agents with the ability to selectively replicate and lyse tumor cells while sparing healthy tissue. This intriguing characteristic is either an inherent feature of certain virus species or a result of targeted genetic engineering, which harnesses tumor-specific molecular alterations for virus replication and tumor cell lysis (1). The ideal and intriguing concept has been that the oncolytic virus infection proceeds throughout the whole tumor, thereby leading to effective tumor cell lysis until the rim of malignant tissue is being reached and further infection is kept in check. Although numerous oncolytic viruses have been generated according to this concept, first clinical trials did not meet the high expectations that have been raised by promising preclinical developments (2). Though clinical benefit by these first wave oncolytic agents, such as the mutated Adenovirus (Ad) Onyx-015 has been rather modest, these studies confirmed that oncolytic viruses can be safely administered in human patients and may also work synergistically with systemic radio- or chemotherapy (3). H101, a direct derivative of the E1B55k-deleted Onyx-015, was approved in China in 2006 being the first clinically applicable oncolytic virus (4). At the same time, many factors have been recognized, which severely impair therapeutic efficacy of oncolytic viruses such as virus neutralization by blood components, ineffective transduction of tumor tissue, intratumoral stromal barriers that inhibit virus spread, hypoxic conditions, interstitial pressure, and finally, the rapid immune-mediated elimination of the virus from the tumor tissue (5).

Apart from the cytoreductive aspect, oncolytic viruses have been initially developed for, it has become increasingly clear during the recent years that virotherapy exerts multiple antitumoral activities. These include direct effects by cytotoxic cytokines

released upon infection by tumor-resident or infiltrating immune cells (6, 7). Also, effects on the tumor vasculature have been demonstrated (8, 9). In contrast to the notion that the host's immune system limits the efficacy of virotherapy by rapid clearance of infection, it has been perceived that collateral induction of innate and adaptive immune responses against the tumor essentially contributes to the rapeutic efficacy of virotherapy (10). Oncolytic virus-mediated destruction of tumor tissue activates innate immune receptors once the immunogenic cell debris is taken up and cross-presented by antigen-presenting cells. Antigenpresenting cells are additionally activated by signals coming from innate cells and the damaged tissue. The local inflammation of tumor tissue during oncolytic virus infection therefore provides suitable conditions for the triggering of tumor-directed immune responses (11, 12). Oncolytic viruses that are currently most advanced in clinical development have been designed to amplify the *in situ* vaccinative and immunostimulatory effect of virus infection. The GM-CSF-expressing oncolytic vaccinia virus JX-594 has shown promising results in phase I/II clinical studies in hepatocellular carcinoma (13). In advanced melanoma, the GM-CSF-expressing herpes virus T-Vec led to a significant number of durable responses and improved survival in a phase III trial in human patients, thus demonstrating clinical efficacy of virotherapy in human cancer patients (14).

There has been evidence that virotherapy may profit from general immunosuppression by increased intratumoral virus spread and by delayed virus clearance (15). Apart from safety aspects, the increased immediate tumor response due to oncolysis would be in this case achieved at the cost of losing effective tumorantigen cross priming and the perspective of long-term antitumoral efficacy. In this review, we want to deliver a closer look on how oncolytic viruses induce and shape tumor-antigen directed immune responses. First, we want to address the origin of antitumoral immune responses on the level of the infected tumor cell by discussing the role of viral oncolysis for induction of immunogenic cell death (ICD). The aspect of ICD has also been recently reviewed in depth by Bartlett et al. providing complementary information on how armed viruses and combination strategies work to enhance antitumor immunity (16). In the second part of our review, we want to shed light on the role of several immune cells populations that contribute to the tumor microenvironment. Finally, we want to highlight some current trends and developments exploiting the immunostimulatory and vaccinative potential of oncolytic virotherapy to raise T cell responses against the tumor mutanome.

ONCOLYTIC VIRUS-MEDIATED CELL DEATH MECHANISMS

Viruses, mainly DNA viruses, need time after cell entry to complete the viral life cycle and have consequently developed elaborate strategies to hide from being detected by the host's immune system (17). The requirement of effective "stealth" mechanisms illustrates that virus-mediated cell killing can be a highly immunogenic way for cells to die. This perception has been exploited in vaccinations for a long time since vaccines can be more potent when delivered and expressed by viral vectors (18). Due to the fundamental relevance in multiple physiological processes, enormous efforts have been made to understand the immunological consequences of different kinds of cell death, which have been classified into three major kinds: apoptosis, necrosis, and autophagy (19). Apoptosis is mainly characterized by defined morphological changes such as formation of apoptotic bodies and biochemical signaling such as caspase activation and loss of mitochondrial membrane integrity. Flipping of phosphatidylserines to the outer membrane surface during apoptosis facilitates silent removal of apoptotic bodies by phagocytes. This process is usually accompanied by release of antiinflammatory cytokines to minimize immune-mediated collateral damage (20). The coordinated cell demise by apoptosis is essential for normal development and tissue homeostasis and has been therefore regarded for long time as a non-immunogenic or even a tolerogenic event. A second cell death type, necrosis, appears to be a less coordinated process and the biochemical pathways have been much less intensively studied. Necrosis is characterized by swelling of organelles and cytoplasm followed by rupture of the plasma membrane with release of cytoplasmic contents. Since necrosis is frequently accompanied by release of proinflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (21), and other immune activating mediators, necrosis has been more or less regarded as being immunogenic. However, the traditional perspective of nonimmunogenic/tolerogenic apoptosis and immunogenic necrosis has been challenged by the finding of "immunogenic" apoptosis in tumor cells, which can be induced by specific chemotherapies such as anthracyclines and oxaliplatin (22, 23). When mice were treated with tumor cells that have been killed by these "ICD" inducers, long-term immunity against a challenge with the same tumor could be observed whereas other chemotherapeutic agents failed to induce antitumoral immunity. Since then, several other systemically applicable ICD inducers have been described (24).

Oncolytic virus-mediated cell death does not exactly follow the classical schemes of apoptosis or necrosis but rather displays specific features of both cell death modalities with some variation between different oncolytic virus types. Accordingly, terms like programed apoptosis, necroptosis, pyroptosis, or necrosis-like programed cell death have been used to describe cell death by different oncolytic virus species, trying to describe the coordinated manner in which cells are rearranged in the course of the viral infection cycle, and the membrane disruptive and inflammatory release of viral progeny and cytoplasmic/nucleic contents during lysis. Necrosis-like programed cell death has been observed using oncolytic Ads (25). Though activity of caspases could be observed, p53 activity and mitochondrial pathways were effectively blocked whereby execution of cell death was essentially independent of caspase activation. Likewise, programed necrosis was also observed in cells infected with an oncolytic vaccinia virus. Though some limited features of apoptosis and autophagy were detectable such as phosphatidylserine exposure and LC3 lipidation, necrotic morphology predominated and the necrotic process was also identified as causative cell death modality (26).

Recently, receptor-interacting protein kinases RIP1 and RIP3 have emerged as a decisive switch from immunologically silent apoptosis to necrotic inflammation (27). Once caspase-8 activity, located in a receptor-associated complex called necrosome, is suppressed, e.g., by a pathogen-encoded inhibitor, RIP1 is stabilized, then attracting and phosphorylating RIP3 (28). RIP3 activation phosphorylates the major downstream target mixed lineage kinase domain-like (MLKL) by phosporylation and trimerization that translocates to the plasma membrane to mediate Ca²⁺ influx and initializing membrane rupture (29). RIP1/RIP3dependent necroptosis therefore appears to function like a backup mechanism allowing the elimination of pathogen-infected cells that cannot undergo apoptosis (30). Necrotic features of RIP3dependent cell death are necessary for induction of inflammation, improved antigen presentation and effective defense against the pathogen. It has been demonstrated that the highly specific caspase-8 inhibitor vICA, encoded by cytomegalovirus, predisposes to RIP3-dependent necrosis (31). Additionally, CrmA related apoptosis inhibitors activate TNFR-dependent necroptosis in vaccinia virus infections in mice augmenting clearance of the virus (32). Interestingly, cytomegalovirus also express a RIP3 inhibitor, vIRA, which blocks this "backup" cell death pathway to reduce inflammatory responses (33). A downstream target of the RIP1-RIP3-necrosome in necroptosis is JNK-1 and its substrate c-Jun with a final impact on the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (34). We could show that oncolytic Ad infection in human tumor cells strongly induced JNK-1 activation, downstream phosphorylation of c-Jun, and activation of other stress-activated kinases (35). It has further been shown that programed necrosis by oncolytic vaccinia virus infection involved formation of a RIP1/Caspase-8 complex (26). In this study, the relevance of RIP1 in vaccinia virus-induced programed necrosis was demonstrated by pharmacological inhibition of both RIP1 and downstream targets including MLKL, which significantly attenuated necrotic cell death. Using an oncolytic influenza viruses, armed with the antitumoral cytokine IL-24, it has been shown that IL-24 turned cell death, mediated by a TLR3-associated, RIP-1 containing signaling complex, into a pure apoptotic phenotype by unleashing caspase-8 activity (36). Though enhanced tumor cell killing was observed *in vitro*, the consequences of this approach on immunogenicity and antitumoral immune responses *in vivo* are unclear.

In summary, the RIP1/RIP3 necrosome plays a central role in induction of inflammation and virus-mediated ICD and is therefore an interesting target for more detailed investigations, and targeted modulation in oncolytic virotherapy. Again, it has to be considered that enhanced immunogenicity of oncolytic virus-mediated cell death will probably affect viral spread.

THE ROLE OF AUTOPHAGY IN ONCOLYTIC VIRUS-MEDIATED ICD

Another cell death type, autophagy, is a process that leads to self-digestion of organelles after inclusion in cytosolic lysosomes (autophagolysosomes). Since signs of autophagy also occur as a reversible process in the context of nutrient starvation, it is not completely clear whether autophagy is causative for cell death or is an epiphenomenon of other cell death triggers. However, autophagy plays a definitive role in triggering immune responses. Autophagic mechanisms are involved in the clearance of intracellular microbial or viral pathogens not only by intracellular digestion but also by improved processing of microbial/viral antigens for antigen presentation on MHC I as known for herpes simplex virus infections (37). Autophagy can be a part of a cellular reaction to infection by oncolytic viruses, which has been observed first in glioma treatment with oncolytic Ads (38, 39). Induction of autophagy has also been demonstrated for Newcastle disease virus (NDV) (40). In both cases, investigations using the autophagy inducer rapamycin suggested that autophagy augments viral replication and propagation and may lead to improved antitumor responses (41, 42). An interesting subtype of autophagy, called mitophagy, has been reported recently (43). The authors have shown that attenuated measles viruses of the Edmonton strain exploit selective reduction of mitochondria via SQSTM1/p62-mediated mitophagy for enhanced viral replication. Mitophagy resulted in decreased mitochondrion-bound mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein (MAVS) thus weakening the innate immune response mediated by RIG-I-like receptors. In summary, cell death by oncolytic viruses displays signs of apoptosis, autophagy, and necrosis to a variable extent. What all oncolytic viruses have in common is the immunogenic nature of virus-induced cell death (see also Figure 1 for an overview). The determinants characterizing ICD are summarized in the next chapter.

INDUCERS AND MEDIATORS OF IMMUNOGENIC CELL DEATH: DAMPs AND PAMPs

Antigen-presenting cells such as dendritic cells (DC) fulfill a central role in triggering effective T cell responses in case of a pathogenic threat. Antigen-presenting cells are activated when encountering pathogen-derived structures, called PAMPs (pathogenassociated molecular patterns), which reflect conserved components of microbes and viruses. Classical PAMPs are microbial DNA with unmethylated CpG, defective viral genomes that occur during viral lysis, double stranded RNA, single stranded RNA, 5'triphospate RNA, lipoproteins, surface glycoproteins, and bacterial membrane components such as LPS. PAMPs are recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) present on innate immune cells, antigen-presenting cells, and also on epithelial cells. PRR include toll-like receptors, retinoid acid inducible gene I (RIG-I)like receptors (RLRs), AIM like receptors (ALRs), and nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) (44). In 1994, the "danger" hypothesis by Polly Matzinger (45) brought up the idea that, besides the classical feature to distinguish between self and non-self, the immune system must be able to adequately respond to tissue distress, and that this additional competence requires molecular signaling coming from affected tissue. According to this hypothesis, molecular danger signaling immediately alerts innate immune cells and facilitates their attraction to the site where ICD occurred. Furthermore, danger signaling must activate DCs to provide for the stimulation needed to activate antigen-specific T cells. A number of molecular factors called danger-associated molecular patterns or DAMPs have been described functioning as such danger signals to orchestrate attraction of innate immune cells, phagocytosis of immunogenic cell debris, and to activate effective T cell priming. Some DAMPs are immune activating cytokines such as TNFs or type I interferons that can be immediately emitted in response to threat. Other factors are metabolites that create a chemotactic gradient for innate immune cells corresponding to a "find me" signal. Further, DAMPs already reflect signs of structural damage caused by the infection process. Externalized proteins, more or less linked to the membrane of the infected cell can provide an "eat me" signal to attracted phagocytes. When cells undergo immunogenic apoptosis, the release of ATP is a known "find me" signal to promote phagocytic clearance of those cells at a very early time point (46, 47). ATP is released by Pannexin channels and sensed by P2Y (2) purinergic receptors on monocytes to facilitate their attraction to the site of apoptotic cell death. Additionally, ATP acts on P2X (7) purinergic receptors on DCs, thus activating the NLRP3 inflammasome (48). ATP has also been described being released by cells infected by oncolytic viruses (49, 50). In induction of ICD, ATP can also act synergistically with another DAMP, cell surface exposed calreticulin or ecto-CRT (51). Calreticulin is under physiological conditions located in the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). However, dying cells externalize and present calreticulin on their surface where it serves as a potent "eat me" signal to phagocytes (52). It has been shown that calreticulin is exposed on the cell surface of lung adenocarcinoma cells after treatment with an oncolytic coxsackievirus B3 (50). Ecto-CRT has also been observed with several oncolvtic Ads (49, 53).

When cells succumb to necrosis, they also externalize and release the high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein into the cellular environment, which is known for its proinflammatory properties (54). The relevance of HMGB1, Ecto-CRT, and ATP in characterizing ICD has facilitated reliable high throughput screens for ICD-inducing agents (55). HMGB1 release has been observed with multiple oncolytic viruses, e.g., Ad, Vv, and Mv (26, 53, 56, 57).

Further, important DAMPs are released heat shock proteins, such as HSP70 and HSP90, and uric acid. Heat shock protein release has been demonstrated to play a role in induction of tumor-specific immune responses by the oncolytic parvovirus H1 (58).



Uric acid is a product of nucleic acid catabolism and constitutively present in the cytosol of normal cells in high concentrations that can even rise in stress situations due to increased DNA/RNA degradation. Even the debris of dead cells is able to continue production and release of uric acid providing a sustained danger signal (59). It is believed that a chemical phase change to urate microcrystals at supersaturated loci is the actual immune activating event. Using the oncolytic Ad Telomelysin, it has been shown that infected tumor cells produced uric acid, which in turn stimulated IFN-y and IL-12 secretion by DC and supported the induction of cytotoxic T cells (60). The DAMPs described so far represent potent immune activators in case of immunogenic apoptosis or necrosis. However, also cell-intrinsic inhibitors of DAMPs exist. Recent results showed that the cellular peptidases dipeptidylpeptidase 3 (DPP-3) and thimet oligopeptidase 1 (TOP-1) present in and released by necrotic cells were able to provide a non-immunogenic signal and inhib antigen cross presentation (61). Since inhibition of the peptidases restored immunogenicity and antigen-specific Tcell priming, interfering with these mechanisms in oncolytic

virus-mediated cell death could be a promising option to enhance immunogenicity.

THE ROLE OF ER-STRESS IN ONCOLYTIC VIRUS-MEDIATED ICD

A further important mechanism that provides dying cells with an immunogenic signature is ER-stress. The ER is a central production site for proteins and membrane components involved in the secretory pathway. The ER is also an important sensor for ERstress, a physiological reaction to dysbalanced protein synthesis, e.g., in the context of viral infections. Under homeostatic conditions, the luminal ER-stress sensors IRE1 α , ATF6, and PERK are bound and silenced by the molecular chaperone Grp78/BiP. Once unfolded proteins accumulate in the ER due to an unphysiologic increase in protein synthesis, Grp78/BiP is competitively displaced from the ER-stress sensors leading to their subsequent activation for downstream induction of an unfolded protein response (UPR) (55). Whereas activation of IRE1 α and ATF6 leads to expression of compensatory acting genes, PERK/ATF activation facilitates phosphorylation of eIF2a to induce a general stop of translation until ER-stress has been released. eIF2a-dependent shutdown of translation is also an intrinsic defense reaction to prevent that intracellular pathogens from occupying the protein synthesis machinery for their own purposes. Consistent with this function, ER-stress can confer a significant immunogenic signal to dying cells, which has been demonstrated using chemotherapeutics that are able to directly induce ER-stress (55). According to the relevance of ER-stress as pathogen sensor, many viruses have evolved elaborate ways to circumvent or to adopt ER-stress pathways to their benefit and interfere with ER-stress pathways and UPR (17). ER-stress pathways are also an interesting target to modulate the outcome of oncolytic virutherapy and to increase ICD. Genome-wide RNAi-screens for host factors that modulate viral oncolysis showed that ER-stress and UPR are highly important modulators of viral oncolysis by rhabdovirus (62). To confirm the screening results, the authors showed that inhibition of IRE1a dramatically improved rhabdovirus-mediated oncolysis. Accordingly, ER-stress has been a promising mechanism for pharmacological interference to support viral oncolysis. Bortezomib is a clinically approved inhibitor of the 26S proteasome and leads to collateral ER-stress and ICD with both apoptotic and necrotic features. We showed that low-dose bortezomib enhanced immunogenic tumor cell killing and antitumoral T cell responses in hepatocellular carcinoma models in mice (35). Another study showed that Reovirus and bortezomib synergistically induced apoptosis in multiple myeloma (63). In case of oncolytic herpes simplex virus (oHSV), it could be recently demonstrated that bortezomibinduced UPR even increased virus replication thus leading to enhanced, synergistic tumor effects (64).

ONCOLYTIC VIRUS INFECTION DISRUPTS THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

Immunogenic cell death is basically the first aspect in innate and adaptive immune effects that have been recognized as a central mode of action in virotherapy (65). The tumor microenvironment also essentially contributes to the triggering of antitumoral immunity. Tumors not only consist of tumor cells but also of stromal fibroblasts, endothelial cells and resistant leukocytes which together with the extracellular matrix constitute the tumor microenvironment. Intratumoral infection by an oncolytic virus is not only a dramatic impact for tumor cells but is also disruptive for tissue architecture and immune homeostasis within the tumor microenvironment. The effect of the tumor stroma to oncolysis is a most enigmatic and barely understood phenomenon since fibroblasts are relatively resistant to virus infection and generate important intratumoral barriers that inhibit virus distribution. To address these barriers, it has been tried to interfere with stroma integrity by oncolytic viruses expressing collagenase and matrix-modifying enzymes (66, 67). The activation of the innate immune system following intratumoral virus infection represents the first defense wave of the host reaction to tumor lysis. Tumor-resident innate immune cells become modulated by inflammatory cytokines that are immediately released upon contact of macrophages with viral structures (68, 69). Further innate immune cells invade the damaged tumor tissue and induce an acute inflammation to fight the viral infection. Neutrophils invade

the oncolytic tumor and contribute to immediate antitumoral cytotoxic effects (9, 70). Additional neutrophil-activating signals have been used to increase this effect of oncolytic virotherapy (71). Interestingly, in case of measles virus, it has been shown that attenuated, oncolvtic viruses can be even better neutrophil activators compared to their wild-type counterparts (72). Results of several studies suggested that the innate immune response should be suppressed to enhance oncolytic virus propagation and intratumoral spread (73-76). It has also been shown with measles virus that innate immune cytokines can confer resistance to tumor cells against virus-mediated lysis (77). However, the innate immune response is an essential interface for triggering of adaptive immune response including long-term antitumoral T cell responses. It could be rather promising to selectively address suppressive innate immune cell subpopulations in oncolytic virotherapy (6). Since the oncolysis-mediated modulation of the tumor microenvironment decisively governs the priming of adaptive immune responses, the individual immune cell types that contribute to the tumor microenvironment and the immediate reaction to viral oncolysis need a more detailed description.

MYELOID CELLS

Aside of neutrophils, macrophages and monocytes belong to the initial defense response by the innate immunity against pathogens. These populations are highly activated after viral infections, are capable of phagocytosis, support the professional antigenpresenting cells, and contribute to adaptive immunity. Within an intact tumor, secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines determines the phenotypic differentiation of these innate immune cells to adopt an immunosuppressive status to promote tumor progression and metastases (78). Consequently, the immunosuppressive phenotype of these cells can interfere with therapeutic antitumor immune activities. Macrophages residing in the tumor microenvironment have been designated as tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) and can be divided into two groups, one showing an inflammatory M1 phenotype and the other showing, an immune suppressive M2 phenotype, the latter being overrepresented within the tumor microenvironment (79). It is known that viral inflammation can polarize macrophages toward an M1 phenotype (80). This population promotes inflammatory conditions and supports the triggering of antigen-specific immune response. It has been shown that TAM depletion by chlodronate liposomes prevent intratumoral virus clearance resulting in increased replication and virus spread resulting in improved antitumoral effects (81). Like macrophages, tumor-associated neutrophils can be either assigned to an inflammatory N1 phenotype or an immune suppressive N2 phenotype, respectively (82). Though invading neutrophils belong to the first infiltrating immune populations at the site of inflammation (9), the role of neutrophil polarization in oncolytic virotherapies has not yet been addressed.

In recent years, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) population has been described as one of the most important immunosuppressive within the tumor microenvironment. These cells have been observed in primary tumors as well as in metastases of patients (83, 84). Myeloid suppressor cells are attractive targets for therapeutic investigations (85). Related to oncolytic virotherapy, it was shown that the combination with gemcitabine, which is a chemotherapeutic agent depleting MDSC populations, increases antitumoral immune responses (86, 87).

VIROTHERAPY IS A POTENT NK CELL ACTIVATOR

Among the cells of the innate immune system, NK cells play a crucial role in clearing viral infection and in fighting malignant cells. Trying to escape from adaptive immune responses by downregulation of MHC, virus-infected cells, and tumor cells become a natural target of NK cells. In line with a role of NK cells in immunoediting of tumors, tumor-infiltrating NK cells correlate with a favorable prognosis in humans (88). NK cells belong to the first immune cell populations that are activated by a virus-mediated inflammation in order to identify and directly kill virus-infected cells (89). This suggests that NK cell inhibition will significantly support intratumoral spread of oncolytic viruses and effective tumor lysis. A study using oncolytic VSV showed that the replication of the virus could be enhanced by NK cell depletion resulting in more effective tumor killing (74). The supportive effect of NK cell inhibition was confirmed by the same group by application of a virus encoding for UL141, which blocks CD155 on infected cells thereby interfering with NK cell recruitment and activation (90). Furthermore, it was shown that the NK cell natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCR) NKp30 and NKp46 were highly activated during oHSV resulting in effective killing of oHSV infected cells thus impeding viral spread and oncolytic therapy (75).

On the other hand, several studies showed an antitumoral effect of NK cells after oncolvtic viral treatment. Depletion studies with VSV in the B16 melanoma model revealed an NK cell and T cell dependent tumor regression (91). Furthermore, the remodeling of the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment of prostate cancer by the infection with oncolytic reovirus demonstrated a strong NK cell involvement in antitumoral immune response (92). It was also observed that the antitumoral effect of an oncolytic parapoxvirus ovis (ORFV) was mainly NK cell-mediated (93). Using an adenovirus expressing IFNB for systemic NK cell activation, Suzuki et al. could show that intratumoral virus treatment in a pancreatic cancer model resulted in strong NK cell-mediated antitumoral cytotoxicity, when MDSC were eliminated by gemcitabine (86). These data illustrate that other immunosuppressive populations within tumor microenvironment play an important role in the establishment of antitumoral immunity, which must be considered for the role of NK cells in oncolytic virotherapy. Promising reports come from observations on the application as adjuvant to surgical tumor removal. This is of particular clinical relevance since surgery is still the most frequent therapeutic option with curative intention. In a first therapeutic approach using virotherapy as perioperative agent in a surgical stress model, Tai et al. showed that virotherapy by vaccinia virus or ORFV can release NK cell suppression during surgical intervention (94, 95). Virus-mediated NK cell activation effectively inhibited the engraftment of metastatic cells. This finding suggests that NK cells seem to be in particular efficient to protect against tumorigenic cells when an established immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment is lacking. These observations are supported by the increased antitumoral NK cell efficacy, when it is used with chemotherapeutic approaches like gemcitabine or cyclophosphamide, which are well known immunomodulatory agents with selective depletion effects

on immunosuppressive populations like MDSCs or regulatory T cells (Treg), respectively (86, 96, 97). It was also demonstrated that a novel oncolytic rhabdovirus (Maraba MG1) was able to boost NK cell activity for the reduction of postoperative metastases (98). Intriguingly, the authors revealed that the effect of NK cell activation was mediated via virus infection of conventional DC. This interaction refers to the important function of DC as functional interface to innate immune effector cells for triggering adaptive immune responses. It is known from patients treated with cetuximab that NK cells are involved in antibody-dependent cytotoxicity of tumor cells and assist DCs in priming of antitumoral T cell responses by an NK:DC crosstalk (99). This aspect could be relevant in oncolytic virotherapy since antibody-mediated cell killing of tumor cells has already been shown to play a yet underestimated role in human patients who have been treated with an oncolytic vaccinia virus (100).

TREGS AND TREG DEPLETION DURING ONCOLYSIS: GOOD OR BAD?

Regulatory CD4 T cells (Tregs) are an immunosuppressive cell population that has frequently been discussed as a critical contributor to the tumor microenvironment. It has been shown that the ratio of intratumoral cytotoxic T cells and Tregs is a prognostic factor for the patient's outcome and studies using antibodies blocking CTLA-4 (which is expressed on Tregs) for increased immune activation have shown that Tregs can be interesting targets for immunotherapeutic approaches (101, 102). The impact of viral infections on Tregs has been mostly studied in persistent or chronic virus infection, such as HCV or HBV whereas the role of Tregs during acute viral inflammations such as oncolytic virus infections is much less investigated. Studies showed that the number of Tregs significantly drops during acute viral inflammation to facilitate an effective antiviral immune response (103, 104).

To elicit enhanced immune stimulation, Treg depletion has therefore been considered a supportive measure during oncolytic virotherapy. Studies have shown that tumor preconditioning with IL-2 and Treg depletion using a depleting antibody or low-dose cyclophosphamide led to increased intratumoral uptake of systemically delivered reovirus or vesicular stomatitis virus. IL-2 in combination with Treg depletion generated "hyperactivated" NK cells with enhanced antitumoral activity and secreting factors that facilitated oncolytic virus spread throughout the tumor by disrupting the tumor architecture (105, 106). Survival benefit by this combination therapy was compromised when NK cells were depleted. Additionally, Cheema et al. could reduce regulatory T cell population in the tumor by arming an oHSV with the cytokine IL12 leading to increased survival in a murine glioblastome stem cell model. Survival benefit by additional expression of IL-12 was absent in athymic mouse indicating that antitumoral efficacy was T cell dependent (107). In contrast Treg depletion was demonstrated to have even a negative therapeutic effect on VSV therapy by relieving Treg-mediated suppression of antiviral immunity resulting in rapid clearance of the therapeutic vector (91).

However, the consequences of Treg depletion on long-term antitumoral T cell responses that can be induced by oncolytic virotherapy are not clear. Observations in classical infection models have shown that migratory activity of Tregs plays a central role in eliciting a protective immunity to viral infection (108). Consistent with a positive function of Tregs in shaping antigenspecific immune responses, we have observed that Treg depletion abrogated the effective antitumoral T cell induction by an oncolysis-assisted, antitumoral DC-vaccine (109). We could also show that immunosuppressive MDSC expand in Treg-depleted tumors, which may explain the failure of antitumoral T cell priming. Supporting an important role of Tregs in the priming of antigen-specific T cells, it has been described that Tregs can undergo a conversion under acute inflammatory conditions to adopt a T helper phenotype (110). Converted Tregs express proinflammatory cytokines and activate additional functions to provide effective help for triggering T cell responses against new antigens. These findings described above indicate that Tregs can essentially modulate the course of tumor therapy with oncolytic viruses. A supportive role of Treg depletion on virus spread and therapeutic efficacy of oncolysis is still unclear and possible consequences on induction of sustainable tumor-directed T cell responses require further investigations.

HARNESSING ONCOLYTIC VIROTHERAPY AS IMMUNOTHERAPY

Observations in immunocompromised xenografts have tempted to overestimate the cytolytic effects that are achievable in human patients. The situation in the immunocompetent host is completely different with positive and negative consequences for the therapeutic efficacy of virotherapy. Since it is known that T cell responses against cross-presented cellular antigens upon viral infections trigger innate immune receptor pathways such as TLRs and MyD88 (11, 12), investigations on corresponding antitumoral immunity have been intensively pursued in oncolytic virus applications in immunocompetent models. The use of oncolytic VSV in the B16-Ova model strikingly demonstrated that antitumoral effects completely depended on Type I IFN responses, which mediate both antiviral protection and antitumor therapy, whereas VSV-mediated therapy was abolished in MyD88^{-/-} mice (111). The relevance of both innate immune activation and subsequent triggering of adaptive responses was shown in experimental models with T cell depletion studies (10). Interesting observation have been reported using herpes simplex virus variants with different replicative properties. oHSV vectors that were more rapidly cleared from the tumor but induced higher levels of DAMPs resulted in best survival. This strongly indicates that replicative potency is not the dominating factor as believed before but emphasizes the impact of the initial immune induction (112), which needs to be considered in the rational designs of novel approaches aiming at increased antitumor immunity. DC are known to play a crucial role in the generation of tumor-directed T cell responses (113). First strategies on utilizing oncolytic virotherapy to engage intrinsic activity of DC were performed with an ICP34.5 deleted herpes simplex virus coding for GM-CSF (114). Tumor infection with this oncolytic virus led to regression and protected the mice against rechallenge with tumor cells. GM-CSF-expressing HSV then entered clinical development as OncoVexGM-CSF or T-Vec (14, 115). Furthermore, virus-encoded GM-CSF not only affected DCs, but also neutrophils which were shown to contribute to antitumor effects by a GM-CSF-expressing oncolytic measles

virus in CD46 transgenic mice (70). The therapeutic benefit of engaging dendritic cell activity in virotherapeutic applications was confirmed using different cytokine setups. In a preclinical breast cancer model, systemic, and intratumoral delivery of a TRAIL-/E1A-expressing oncolytic adenovirus increased plasma levels of TNF α , IFN γ , and MCP-1, proinflammatory cytokines acting as maturation signals for DCs. Inclusion of FLT3L or GM-CSFexpressing adenovirus for expansion of DCs established systemic antitumor immunity and resulted in tumor elimination (116). We obtained consistent results in a mouse model of lung cancer using intratumoral delivery of an oncolytic Ad combined with vectors encoding FLT3L and MIP-1a. Tumor-directed T cells were significantly increased and improved tumor responses were obtained. However, adaptive immune responses against the viral vector were also strongly enhanced suggesting that the balance between tumor- and virus-directed immunity remains unaltered instead of generating a favorable tumor-directed response (117). Oncolytic viruses expressing cytokines for enhanced antigen cross presentation illustrate that virotherapy can be used as a tool for a generic in situ vaccination without the need for detailed information about specific tumor-specific antigens. However, the approach has limitations in shifting the predominant antiviral responses in favor of antitumoral responses.

ONCOLYTIC VIROTHERAPY IN DC-VACCINATIONS AND HETEROLOGOUS PRIME-BOOST SETTINGS

For focusing the immune system during virotherapy on the tumor requires the incorporation of tumor-specific antigen targeting approaches into the therapeutic scheme. We have investigated this aspect by combining viral oncolysis and a tumor-directed DC-vaccine (117). In another study, it has been shown that a CCL5 (RANTES) expressing oncolytic vaccinia virus significantly improved the therapeutic efficacy of a tumor-directed DC-vaccine (118). In a further study, it was demonstrated that the application of a replicating adenovirus allowed for highly effective DC-vaccination, when the vaccine is administered exactly at the time of apparent virus-induced tumor inflammation (109). This approach induced potent cytotoxic T cell responses leading to significant tumor regression and complete eradication of lung colonies in an aggressive tumor model that was otherwise resistant to the DC-vaccine. A further promising direction is the development of oncolytic virus-based prime-boost strategies that express the tumor-antigen. In a heterologous treatment sequence with an adenoviral TAA-endoding vaccine and an oncolytic VSV tumor expressing the same antigen significantly enhanced tumor-directed CD8 T cell immune responses compared to single treatments. Heterologous priming worked in both directions (119, 120). This approach shifted the immune responses from viral antigens to tumor-antigens and reduced viral replication in healthy tissues thereby improving efficacy and safety. Interestingly, the magnitude of tumor-specific responses after combination therapy was even higher in tumor-bearing hosts compared to tumor-free mice indicating the need of infected tumor tissue for priming antitumoral T cell reponses (120). The same group could also demonstrate that heterologous boosting not only resulted in higher numbers but also in functionally superior T cells (121). A further interesting variation of prime-boost vaccinations
comes from Brinkhoff and colleagues who elicited highest antitumoral responses when the boost step by an antigen-expressing infectious agent was preceded by a non-pathogenic prime using antigen-loaded PLGA-microspheres (122).

TARGETING THE TUMOR ANTIGENOME AND MUTANOME BY ONCOLYTIC VIROTHERAPY

The use of complete antigen libraries encoded by an oncolytic virus offers a promising approach to circumvent the limitations of antigen-specific vaccinations. In a preclinical study in prostate cancer, VSV-based cDNA libraries from xenogeneic healthy prostrate tissue were used for treatment of TC2 prostrate tumors. Application of VSVs coding for such a cDNA library [Altered Selfantigen and Epitope Library (ASEL)] cured established tumors after repetitive intravenous injections. The use of ASEL conferred significantly better protection against TC2 cells than a self-antigen library from normal mouse prostate tissue. Upon application of ASEL, a T_H17 response was detectable and TC2 rejection was dependent on CD4 cells, but not on CD8 T cells or NK cells (123). A subsequent study from this group demonstrated that an approach of virus-encoded melanoma cDNA libraries can be used to identify tumor-associated antigens that have the ability to cure melanoma (124). Virus-expressed cDNA libraries were effective against melanoma thereby inducing only mild signs of autoimmunity. The xenogenic, altered self-source is a precondition for successful tumor treatment due to additional adjuvant effects compared to a library from an autologous self-source. Again, the antitumoral effect was correlated with a tumor-specific IL-17 response, which was in turn utilized to screen for cDNA-viruses that induced IL-17 memory for identification of tumor rejection antigens. After validation of IL-17 inducing clones, three VSV-encoded tumorantigens were tested to treat established B16 tumors. Intriguingly, injection of a single VSV-clone or a pool of two VSV-clones did not show a therapeutic response, only the combination of all three VSV-clones cured melanoma tumors to a similar extent as the whole melanoma-library did. Although, it remains unclear why only all three different TAA-coding VSVs contribute to therapeutic effects, this finding suggest that applications targeting multiple antigens at the same time should be preferred in immunotherapeutic strategies. These studies establish a rational approach to identify novel tumor-targets for immunotherapy and establish an effective generic virus-based ASEL-vaccine for defined tumor entities.

To date, identification of novel tumor-antigens that can be addressed by targeted therapeutics appears to be a crucial step toward the establishment of clinically effective immunotherapies and toward induction of sustained adaptive T cell responses. In the past, antitumoral vaccine research has focused on finding non-mutated, tumor-associated antigens such as telomerase or MAGE, which can be found either in a relevant numbers of patients and/or across several entities to promise broad applicability. Disappointingly, corresponding vaccination approaches have so far delivered insufficient effects in the clinic (125). A limiting factor is that non-mutated tumor-antigens may not reflect essential molecular functions required for tumor cell survival promoting the generation of escape variants (126). Furthermore, T cell precursors against this type of antigens are subject to thymus

selection and self-tolerance mechanisms thus limiting the number of required high-affinity T cell precursors that are essential for effective antitumoral T cell responses. In this regard, triggering T cells that recognize immunogenic neoepitopes reflecting tumor-associated mutated proteins could be a more promising alternative. Data from melanoma patients indicate that autologous T cell responses to tumors are predominantly directed to neoantigens (127). In murine models as well, tumor rejection responses were also primarily induced by altered-self antigens (128, 129). However, this would require individualized (personalized) molecular diagnosis and therapy. Individual (solid) human cancers usually harbor about 30 to more than hundred of proteinencoded mutations referred to as mutanome (129-131), which can be nowadays rapidly and cost-effectively analyzed by Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) technology. Using this method, non-synonymous single nucleotide variants (SNV) can be identified, representing promising candidates for immunotherapies, since single amino acid variations in corresponding epitopes can be processed and presented by MHC to T cells.

In a pioneering study targeting the mutanome by vaccinations, NGS was used for immunoepitope identification in B16F10 melanoma cells. Selected from 563 non-synonymous SNV candidates, the immunogenicity of 50 validated mutations was determined using corresponding peptide immunizations in mice. The authors showed that immune responses could be raised against 60% of these epitopes and the vaccinations against these predicted and validated epitopes successfully raised antitumoral adaptive immune responses and significantly slowed tumor-growth (132). This illustrates the great potential of this method in identification of neoepitopes. However, the observation is also astonishing since those epitopes should be per definition of low immunogenic nature. In clinically manifest tumors, the remaining epitope spectrum is the result of a dynamic process termed cancer immunoediting, which acts on nascent tumors via different immune cell types to protect against cancer development and shapes the tumor at the same time toward decreased immunogenicity (129). In the study by Castle and colleagues, the key for successful induction of immune responses to immunoedited tumor-epitopes by DCvaccination is most likely attributable to the use of adjuvants, i.e., poly(I:C) in the B16F10 model. Oncolytic virotherapy is likewise a potent trigger of innate immune receptors and inflammation and could be an interesting tool that enables identification of inflammation induced neoepitope-directed T cell responses and to cooperate with tailored neoepitope-directed DC-vaccines. However, it will be a challenging task to identify neoepitope-specific T cell reactivities that are involved in tumor responses induced by oncolytic virotherapy.

ONCOLYTIC VIROTHERAPY AND IMMUNE CHECKPOINT BLOCKADE

The recent clinical success of immune checkpoint blockade (133) has confirmed the curative potential of tumor immunotherapies. Checkpoint blockade using ipilimumab, a CTLA-4-blocking monoclonal antibody, has shown promising results in a phase III study (134). Remarkably, responses seemed to include even complete cures, but only a small proportion of patients benefited from therapy. In a case study which described a patient with



advanced melanoma experiencing tumor response under ipilimumab, neoepitope analysis by NGS and epitope prediction led to identification of a single ipilimumab-responsive neoepitopespecific CD8 T cell that increased fivefold under therapy and remained stable for a 10-month period (135). The fact, that only one epitope was triggered in a tumor displaying 448 potential T cell neoepitopes is remarkable but reflects that natural and thus immunoedited tumors are low immunogenic despite harboring a high number of mutations and may also explain why only small subgroups of patients respond to certain immunotherapies. Oncolytic viruses can serve as an ideal tool to augment tumor immunogenicity and could be ideally combined with immune checkpoint blockade. Gao and colleagues have investigated the application of a Her2/neu targeted oncolytic VSV in combination with a CTLA-4 antibody in mice bearing Her2/neu transgenic murine mammary tumors. This combination achieved cure in the majority of mice whereas the virotherapy alone only prolonged survival (136). Additionally, it has been tried to include an expression cassette for a CTLA-4-specific antibody into the backbone of an oncolytic Ad to enhance local concentrations and to avoid adverse events by systemic CTLA-4 inhibition (137). Recently, it has been reported that injection of oncolytic NDV in a preclinical model of B16 melanoma under CTLA-4 antibody treatment induces an inflammatory response in tumor tissue, leading to lymphocytic infiltration and antitumor effect in distant, non-virally injected tumors (138). Effective treatment induced activated CD4 and CD8 T cell infiltration in distant tumors and was dependent on CD8⁺ cells, natural killer cells, and type I IFNs. Overcoming systemic resistance to immune checkpoint blockade by oncolytic virotherapy moreover led to protection from tumor rechallenge in poorly immunogenic tumors, even in a cell line refractory to NDVmediated lysis. An alternative to checkpoint blockade is the direct activation of costimulation using oncolytic viruses expressing the costimulatory CD40L (53). Further approaches used oncolytic vaccinia viruses expressing the ligand for the costimulatory receptor 4-1BB (CD137) that achieved maximum antitumoral efficacy in lymphodepleted hosts (139). Strong antitumoral immune responses were also elicited by combining oncolytic vaccinia virus with systemic application of a 4-1BB agonistic antibody (140). An interesting immune checkpoint that has not yet been investigated

with virotherapy is PD-1/PD-L1. PD-1/PD-L1-blocking antibodies are in a very promising clinical development (141). PD-1/PD-L1 inhibition primarily activates antigen-experienced T cell responses in the periphery, thus providing a mechanism that could be promising to combine with virotherapeutic treatments.

PERSPECTIVE: ONCOLYTIC VIROTHERAPY IN MULTIMODALE THERAPIES

There is increasing evidence that oncolytic virotherapy shows antitumoral efficacy in clinical application even as monotherapy. However, most preclinical data suggest that virotherapy can be ideally combined with other treatment options to raise significant therapeutic synergies on several levels (see also an overview in Figure 2). First of all, oncolytic virus treatment needs to be integrated in combined tumor-treatments leading to optimized induction of ICD. Excellent reviews already exist on this aspect (16, 142, 143). Next step should be additional measures that amplify, and prolong antitumoral immune responses. First data obtained in humans and in murine melanoma models suggest significant synergies when systemic immunotherapies, such as ipilimumab and virotherapy are combined in a well-coordinated manner (138, 144). A very promising but clinically challenging point will be the combination of viral oncolysis with surgical removal of the tumor. Finally, it still needs further investigations to establish follow-up therapies that work like classical boost strategies and may also pick up personalized approaches such as NGS of tumors, epitope prediction and and immunoanalysis in treated patients. Multimodal therapy schemes will be a clue to establish virotherapy in the clinic.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work and the experimental work in our Laboratory we referred to was supported by funding from the Wilhelm-Sander-Stiftung, the Deutsche Krebshilfe e.V. and the German Research Council (DFG, SFB/TRR77)

REFERENCES

- Russell SJ, Peng KW, Bell JC. Oncolytic virotherapy. Nat Biotechnol (2012) 30:658–70. doi:10.1038/nbt.2287
- Aghi M, Martuza RL. Oncolytic viral therapies the clinical experience. Oncogene (2005) 24:7802–16. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209037

- Heise C, Sampson-Johannes A, Williams A, McCormick F, Von Hoff DD, Kirn DH. ONYX-015, an E1B gene-attenuated adenovirus, causes tumorspecific cytolysis and antitumoral efficacy that can be augmented by standard chemotherapeutic agents. *Nat Med* (1997) 3:639–45. doi:10.1038/nm0697-639
- Garber K. China approves world's first oncolytic virus therapy for cancer treatment. J Natl Cancer Inst (2006) 98:298–300. doi:10.1093/jnci/djj111
- Smith E, Breznik J, Lichty BD. Strategies to enhance viral penetration of solid tumors. *Hum Gene Ther* (2011) 22:1053–60. doi:10.1089/hum.2010.227
- Prestwich RJ, Errington F, Diaz RM, Pandha HS, Harrington KJ, Melcher AA, et al. The case of oncolytic viruses versus the immune system: waiting on the judgment of Solomon. *Hum Gene Ther* (2009) 20:1119–32. doi:10.1089/hum.2009.135
- Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Galivo F, Kottke T, Thompson J, Pulido J, et al. Type III IFN interleukin-28 mediates the antitumor efficacy of oncolytic virus VSV in immune-competent mouse models of cancer. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**:4539–49. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4658
- Breitbach CJ, Arulanandam R, De SN, Thorne SH, Patt R, Daneshmand M, et al. Oncolytic vaccinia virus disrupts tumor-associated vasculature in humans. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:1265–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2687
- Breitbach CJ, Paterson JM, Lemay CG, Falls TJ, McGuire A, Parato KA, et al. Targeted inflammation during oncolytic virus therapy severely compromises tumor blood flow. *Mol Ther* (2007) 15:1686–93. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300215
- Sobol PT, Boudreau JE, Stephenson K, Wan Y, Lichty BD, Mossman KL. Adaptive antiviral immunity is a determinant of the therapeutic success of oncolytic virotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19:335–44. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.264
- Palliser D, Ploegh H, Boes M. Myeloid differentiation factor 88 is required for cross-priming in vivo. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:3415–21. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 172.6.3415
- Schulz O, Diebold SS, Chen M, Naslund TI, Nolte MA, Alexopoulou L, et al. Toll-like receptor 3 promotes cross-priming to virus-infected cells. *Nature* (2005) 433:887–92. doi:10.1038/nature03326
- Park BH, Hwang T, Liu TC, Sze DY, Kim JS, Kwon HC, et al. Use of a targeted oncolytic poxvirus, JX-594, in patients with refractory primary or metastatic liver cancer: a phase I trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2008) 9:533–42. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70107-4
- Kaufman HL, Bines SD. OPTIM trial: a Phase III trial of an oncolytic herpes virus encoding GM-CSF for unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. *Future* Oncol (2010) 6:941–9. doi:10.2217/fon.10.66
- Thomas MA, Spencer JF, Toth K, Sagartz JE, Phillips NJ, Wold WS. Immunosuppression enhances oncolytic adenovirus replication and antitumor efficacy in the Syrian hamster model. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:1665–73. doi:10.1038/mt. 2008.162
- Bartlett DL, Liu Z, Sathaiah M, Ravindranathan R, Guo Z, He Y, et al. Oncolytic viruses as therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Mol Cancer* (2013) 12:103. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-12-103
- Kepp O, Senovilla L, Galluzzi L, Panaretakis T, Tesniere A, Schlemmer F, et al. Viral subversion of immunogenic cell death. *Cell Cycle* (2009) 8:860–9. doi:10.4161/cc.8.6.7939
- Lousberg EL, Diener KR, Brown MP, Hayball JD. Innate immune recognition of poxviral vaccine vectors. *Expert Rev Vaccines* (2011) 10:1435–49. doi:10.1586/erv.11.121
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Vandenabeele P, Abrams J, Alnemri ES, Baehrecke EH, et al. Classification of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2009. *Cell Death Differ* (2009) 16:3–11. doi:10.1038/cdd.2008.150
- Fadok VA, Bratton DL, Konowal A, Freed PW, Westcott JY, Henson PM. Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J Clin Invest (1998) 101:890–8. doi:10.1172/JCI1112
- Fadok VA, Bratton DL, Guthrie L, Henson PM. Differential effects of apoptotic versus lysed cells on macrophage production of cytokines: role of proteases. J Immunol (2001) 166:6847–54. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.11.6847
- Tesniere A, Schlemmer F, Boige V, Kepp O, Martins I, Ghiringhelli F, et al. Immunogenic death of colon cancer cells treated with oxaliplatin. *Oncogene* (2010) 29:482–91. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.356
- Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, et al. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202:1691–701. doi:10.1084/jem.20050915

- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:51–72. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100008
- 25. Abou E, Hassan MA, van Meulen-Muileman I, Abbas S, Kruyt FA. Conditionally replicating adenoviruses kill tumor cells via a basic apoptotic machineryindependent mechanism that resembles necrosis-like programmed cell death. *J Virol* (2004) 78:12243–51. doi:10.1128/JVI.78.22.12243-12251.2004
- Whilding LM, Archibald KM, Kulbe H, Balkwill FR, Oberg D, McNeish IA. Vaccinia virus induces programmed necrosis in ovarian cancer cells. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:2074–86. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.195
- Vandenabeele P, Galluzzi L, Vanden Berghe T, Kroemer G. Molecular mechanisms of necroptosis: an ordered cellular explosion. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2010) 11:700–14. doi:10.1038/nrm2970
- Oberst A, Dillon CP, Weinlich R, McCormick LL, Fitzgerald P, Pop C, et al. Catalytic activity of the caspase-8-FLIP(L) complex inhibits RIPK3-dependent necrosis. *Nature* (2011) 471:363–7. doi:10.1038/nature09852
- Cai Z, Jitkaew S, Zhao J, Chiang HC, Choksi S, Liu J, et al. Plasma membrane translocation of trimerized MLKL protein is required for TNF-induced necroptosis. *Nat Cell Biol* (2014) 16:55–65. doi:10.1038/ncb2883
- Mocarski ES, Kaiser WJ, Livingston-Rosanoff D, Upton JW, Daley-Bauer LP. True grit: programmed necrosis in antiviral host defense, inflammation, and immunogenicity. *J Immunol* (2014) **192**:2019–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1302426
- Kaiser WJ, Upton JW, Long AB, Livingston-Rosanoff D, Daley-Bauer LP, Hakem R, et al. RIP3 mediates the embryonic lethality of caspase-8-deficient mice. *Nature* (2011) 471:368–72. doi:10.1038/nature09857
- 32. Cho YS, Challa S, Moquin D, Genga R, Ray TD, Guildford M, et al. Phosphorylation-driven assembly of the RIP1-RIP3 complex regulates programmed necrosis and virus-induced inflammation. *Cell* (2009) 137:1112–23. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.037
- Upton JW, Kaiser WJ, Mocarski ES. Virus inhibition of RIP3-dependent necrosis. Cell Host Microbe (2010) 7:302–13. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2010.03.006
- McNamara CR, Ahuja R, Osafo-Addo AD, Barrows D, Kettenbach A, Skidan I, et al. Akt Regulates TNFalpha synthesis downstream of RIP1 kinase activation during necroptosis. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e56576. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0056576
- Boozari B, Mundt B, Woller N, Struver N, Gurlevik E, Schache P, et al. Antitumoural immunity by virus-mediated immunogenic apoptosis inhibits metastatic growth of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gut* (2010) 59:1416–26. doi:10.1136/ gut.2009.196519
- Weiss R, Sachet M, Zinngrebe J, Aschacher T, Krainer M, Hegedus B, et al. IL-24 sensitizes tumor cells to TLR3-mediated apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* (2013) 20:823–33. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.15
- 37. English L, Chemali M, Duron J, Rondeau C, Laplante A, Gingras D, et al. Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:480–7. doi:10.1038/ni.1720
- Ito H, Aoki H, Kuhnel F, Kondo Y, Kubicka S, Wirth T, et al. Autophagic cell death of malignant glioma cells induced by a conditionally replicating adenovirus. J Natl Cancer Inst (2006) 98:625–36. doi:10.1093/jnci/ djj161
- 39. Jiang H, Gomez-Manzano C, Aoki H, Alonso MM, Kondo S, McCormick F, et al. Examination of the therapeutic potential of Delta-24-RGD in brain tumor stem cells: role of autophagic cell death. J Natl Cancer Inst (2007) 99:1410–4. doi:10.1093/jnci/djm102
- Meng C, Zhou Z, Jiang K, Yu S, Jia L, Wu Y, et al. Newcastle disease virus triggers autophagy in U251 glioma cells to enhance virus replication. *Arch Virol* (2012) 157:1011–8. doi:10.1007/s00705-012-1270-6
- Sun Y, Yu S, Ding N, Meng C, Meng S, Zhang S, et al. Autophagy benefits the replication of Newcastle disease virus in chicken cells and tissues. *J Virol* (2014) 88:525–37. doi:10.1128/JVI.01849-13
- Yokoyama T, Iwado E, Kondo Y, Aoki H, Hayashi Y, Georgescu MM, et al. Autophagy-inducing agents augment the antitumor effect of telerase-selve oncolytic adenovirus OBP-405 on glioblastoma cells. *Gene Ther* (2008) 15:1233–9. doi:10.1038/gt.2008.98
- Xia M, Gonzalez P, Li C, Meng G, Jiang A, Wang H, et al. Mitophagy enhances oncolytic measles virus replication by mitigating DDX58/RIG-I-like receptor signaling. J Virol (2014) 88:5152–64. doi:10.1128/JVI.03851-13

- 44. Tang D, Kang R, Coyne CB, Zeh HJ, Lotze MT. PAMPs and DAMPs: signal 0s that spur autophagy and immunity. *Immunol Rev* (2012) **249**:158–75. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01146.x
- Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol (1994) 12:991–1045. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.12.1.991
- 46. Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, et al. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature* (2009) 461:282–6. doi:10.1038/nature08296
- Chekeni FB, Elliott MR, Sandilos JK, Walk SF, Kinchen JM, Lazarowski ER, et al. Pannexin 1 channels mediate 'find-me' signal release and membrane permeability during apoptosis. *Nature* (2010) 467:863–7. doi:10.1038/nature09413
- Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1betadependent adaptive immunity against tumors. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028
- Liikanen I, Ahtiainen L, Hirvinen ML, Bramante S, Cerullo V, Nokisalmi P, et al. Oncolytic adenovirus with temozolomide induces autophagy and antitumor immune responses in cancer patients. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:1212–23. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.51
- 50. Miyamoto S, Inoue H, Nakamura T, Yamada M, Sakamoto C, Urata Y, et al. Coxsackievirus B3 is an oncolytic virus with immunostimulatory properties that is active against lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:2609–21. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3185
- Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, et al. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. *EMBO J* (2012) **31**:1062–79. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011. 497
- 52. Obeid M, Tesniere A, Panaretakis T, Tufi R, Joza N, van Endert P, et al. Ectocalreticulin in immunogenic chemotherapy. *Immunol Rev* (2007) **220**:22–34. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00567.x
- 53. Diaconu I, Cerullo V, Hirvinen ML, Escutenaire S, Ugolini M, Pesonen SK, et al. Immune response is an important aspect of the antitumor effect produced by a CD40L-encoding oncolytic adenovirus. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:2327–38. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2975
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. *Nature* (2002) 418:191–5. doi:10.1038/ nature00858
- 55. Kepp O, Menger L, Vacchelli E, Locher C, Adjemian S, Yamazaki T, et al. Crosstalk between ER stress and immunogenic cell death. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2013) 24:311–8. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.05.001
- Donnelly OG, Errington-Mais F, Steele L, Hadac E, Jennings V, Scott K, et al. Measles virus causes immunogenic cell death in human melanoma. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20:7–15. doi:10.1038/gt.2011.205
- 57. Guo ZS, Naik A, O'Malley ME, Popovic P, Demarco R, Hu Y, et al. The enhanced tumor selectivity of an oncolytic vaccinia lacking the host range and antiapoptosis genes SPI-1 and SPI-2. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:9991–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1630
- Moehler M, Zeidler M, Schede J, Rommelaere J, Galle PR, Cornelis JJ, et al. Oncolytic parvovirus H1 induces release of heat-shock protein HSP72 in susceptible human tumor cells but may not affect primary immune cells. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2003) 10:477–80. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700591
- Kono H, Chen CJ, Ontiveros F, Rock KL. Uric acid promotes an acute inflammatory response to sterile cell death in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120:1939–49. doi:10.1172/JCI40124
- Endo Y, Sakai R, Ouchi M, Onimatsu H, Hioki M, Kagawa S, et al. Virus-mediated oncolysis induces danger signal and stimulates cytotoxic Tlymphocyte activity via proteasome activator upregulation. *Oncogene* (2008) 27:2375–81. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210884
- Gamrekelashvili J, Kapanadze T, Han M, Wissing J, Ma C, Jaensch L, et al. Peptidases released by necrotic cells control CD8+ T cell cross-priming. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123:4755–68. doi:10.1172/JCI65698
- Mahoney DJ, Lefebvre C, Allan K, Brun J, Sanaei CA, Baird S, et al. Virustumor interactome screen reveals ER stress response can reprogram resistant cancers for oncolytic virus-triggered caspase-2 cell death. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 20:443–56. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.09.005
- 63. Kelly KR, Espitia CM, Mahalingam D, Oyajobi BO, Coffey M, Giles FJ, et al. Reovirus therapy stimulates endoplasmic reticular stress, NOXA induction, and augments bortezomib-mediated apoptosis in multiple myeloma. *Oncogene* (2012) **31**:3023–38. doi:10.1038/onc.2011.478

- 64. Yoo JY, Hurwitz BS, Bolyard C, Yu JG, Zhang J, Selvendiran K, et al. Bortezomibinduced unfolded protein response increases oncolytic HSV-1 replication resulting in synergistic, anti-tumor effects. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014). doi:10. 1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0553
- Prestwich RJ, Errington F, Ilett EJ, Morgan RS, Scott KJ, Kottke T, et al. Tumor infection by oncolytic reovirus primes adaptive antitumor immunity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:7358–66. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0831
- 66. McKee TD, Grandi P, Mok W, Alexandrakis G, Insin N, Zimmer JP, et al. Degradation of fibrillar collagen in a human melanoma xenograft improves the efficacy of an oncolytic herpes simplex virus vector. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:2509–13. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2242
- Mok W, Boucher Y, Jain RK. Matrix metalloproteinases-1 and -8 improve the distribution and efficacy of an oncolytic virus. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:10664–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-3107
- 68. Di Paolo NC, Miao EA, Iwakura Y, Murali-Krishna K, Aderem A, Flavell RA, et al. Virus binding to a plasma membrane receptor triggers interleukin-1 alpha-mediated proinflammatory macrophage response in vivo. *Immunity* (2009) **31**:110–21. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.04.015
- 69. Di Paolo NC, Doronin K, Baldwin LK, Papayannopoulou T, Shayakhmetov DM. The transcription factor IRF3 triggers "defensive suicide" necrosis in response to viral and bacterial pathogens. *Cell Rep* (2013) 3:1840–6. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.05.025
- Grote D, Cattaneo R, Fielding AK. Neutrophils contribute to the measles virusinduced antitumor effect: enhancement by granulocyte macrophage colonystimulating factor expression. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:6463–8.
- Iankov ID, Allen C, Federspiel MJ, Myers RM, Peng KW, Ingle JN, et al. Expression of immunomodulatory neutrophil-activating protein of Helicobacter pylori enhances the antitumor activity of oncolytic measles virus. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20:1139–47. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.4
- 72. Zhang Y, Patel B, Dey A, Ghorani E, Rai L, Elham M, et al. Attenuated, oncolytic, but not wild-type measles virus infection has pleiotropic effects on human neutrophil function. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:1002–10. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1102262
- 73. Ikeda K, Ichikawa T, Wakimoto H, Silver JS, Deisboeck TS, Finkelstein D, et al. Oncolytic virus therapy of multiple tumors in the brain requires suppression of innate and elicited antiviral responses. *Nat Med* (1999) 5:881–7. doi:10.1038/11320
- Altomonte J, Wu L, Chen L, Meseck M, Ebert O, Garcia-Sastre A, et al. Exponential enhancement of oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus potency by vectormediated suppression of inflammatory responses in vivo. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:146–53. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300343
- 75. Alvarez-Breckenridge CA, Yu J, Price R, Wojton J, Pradarelli J, Mao H, et al. NK cells impede glioblastoma virotherapy through NKp30 and NKp46 natural cytotoxicity receptors. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:1827–34. doi:10.1038/nm. 3013
- Fulci G, Breymann L, Gianni D, Kurozomi K, Rhee SS, Yu J, et al. Cyclophosphamide enhances glioma virotherapy by inhibiting innate immune responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:12873–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0605496103
- 77. Berchtold S, Lampe J, Weiland T, Smirnow I, Schleicher S, Handgretinger R, et al. Innate immune defense defines susceptibility of sarcoma cells to measles vaccine virus-based oncolysis. J Virol (2013) 87:3484–501. doi:10.1128/JVI. 02106-12
- Motz GT, Coukos G. Deciphering and reversing tumor immune suppression. *Immunity* (2013) 39:61–73. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.005
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:889–96. doi:10.1038/ni.1937
- Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J Clin Invest (2012) 122:787–95. doi:10.1172/JCI59643
- Fulci G, Dmitrieva N, Gianni D, Fontana EJ, Pan X, Lu Y, et al. Depletion of peripheral macrophages and brain microglia increases brain tumor titers of oncolytic viruses. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:9398–406. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-07-1063
- Fridlender ZG, Sun J, Kim S, Kapoor V, Cheng G, Ling L, et al. Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil phenotype by TGF-beta: "N1" versus "N2" TAN. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 16:183–94. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2009.06.017
- 83. Diaz-Montero CM, Salem ML, Nishimura MI, Garrett-Mayer E, Cole DJ, Montero AJ. Increased circulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells correlate with clinical cancer stage, metastatic tumor burden, and

doxorubicin-cyclophosphamide chemotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) **58**:49–59. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0523-4

- 84. Pedroza-Gonzalez A, Verhoef C, Ijzermans JN, Peppelenbosch MP, Kwekkeboom J, Verheij J, et al. Activated tumor-infiltrating CD4+ regulatory T cells restrain antitumor immunity in patients with primary or metastatic liver cancer. *Hepatology* (2013) 57:183–94. doi:10.1002/hep.26013
- Zou W. Immunosuppressive networks in the tumour environment and their therapeutic relevance. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2005) 5:263–74. doi:10.1038/nrc1586
- Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11:6713–21. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0883
- Esaki S, Goshima F, Kimura H, Murakami S, Nishiyama Y. Enhanced antitumoral activity of oncolytic herpes simplex virus with gemcitabine using colorectal tumor models. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 132:1592–601. doi:10.1002/ijc.27823
- 88. Coca S, Perez-Piqueras J, Martinez D, Colmenarejo A, Saez MA, Vallejo C, et al. The prognostic significance of intratumoral natural killer cells in patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer* (1997) **79**:2320–8. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19970615)79:12<3C2320::AID-CNCR5>3E3.0.CO;2-P
- Biron CA, Nguyen KB, Pien GC, Cousens LP, Salazar-Mather TP. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1999) 17:189–220. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.189
- Altomonte J, Wu L, Meseck M, Chen L, Ebert O, Garcia-Sastre A, et al. Enhanced oncolytic potency of vesicular stomatitis virus through vectormediated inhibition of NK and NKT cells. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2009) 16:266–78. doi:10.1038/cgt.2008.74
- Diaz RM, Galivo F, Kottke T, Wongthida P, Qiao J, Thompson J, et al. Oncolytic immunovirotherapy for melanoma using vesicular stomatitis virus. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:2840–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3974
- Gujar SA, Pan DA, Marcato P, Garant KA, Lee PW. Oncolytic virus-initiated protective immunity against prostate cancer. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19:797–804. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.297
- Rintoul JL, Lemay CG, Tai LH, Stanford MM, Falls TJ, de Souza CT, et al. ORFV: a novel oncolytic and immune stimulating parapoxvirus therapeutic. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20:1148–57. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.301
- 94. Tai LH, de Souza CT, Belanger S, Ly L, Alkayyal AA, Zhang J, et al. Preventing postoperative metastatic disease by inhibiting surgery-induced dysfunction in natural killer cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**:97–107. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1993
- 95. Tai LH, Zhang J, Scott KJ, de Souza CT, Alkayyal AA, Ananth AA, et al. Perioperative influenza vaccination reduces postoperative metastatic disease by reversing surgery-induced dysfunction in natural killer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:5104–15. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0246
- 96. Li H, Zeng Z, Fu X, Zhang X. Coadministration of a herpes simplex virus-2 based oncolytic virus and cyclophosphamide produces a synergistic antitumor effect and enhances tumor-specific immune responses. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67:7850–5. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1087
- Myers RM, Greiner SM, Harvey ME, Griesmann G, Kuffel MJ, Buhrow SA, et al. Preclinical pharmacology and toxicology of intravenous MV-NIS, an oncolytic measles virus administered with or without cyclophosphamide. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* (2007) 82:700–10. doi:10.1038/sj.clpt.6100409
- Zhang J, Tai LH, Ilkow CS, Alkayyal AA, Ananth AA, de Souza CT, et al. Maraba MG1 virus enhances natural killer cell function via conventional dendritic cells to reduce postoperative metastatic disease. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22:1320–32. doi:10.1038/mt.2014.60
- 99. Srivastava RM, Lee SC, Andrade Filho PA, Lord CA, Jie HB, Davidson HC, et al. Cetuximab-activated natural killer and dendritic cells collaborate to trigger tumor antigen-specific T-cell immunity in head and neck cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:1858–72. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2426
- 100. Kim MK, Breitbach CJ, Moon A, Heo J, Lee YK, Cho M, et al. Oncolytic and immunotherapeutic vaccinia induces antibody-mediated complementdependent cancer cell lysis in humans. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5:185ra63. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3005361
- 101. Gao Q, Qiu SJ, Fan J, Zhou J, Wang XY, Xiao YS, et al. Intratumoral balance of regulatory and cytotoxic T cells is associated with prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma after resection. J Clin Oncol (2007) 25:2586–93. doi:10.1200/JCO.2006.09.4565
- Walker LS. Treg and CTLA-4: two intertwining pathways to immune tolerance. J Autoimmun (2013) 45:49–57. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.06.006

- 103. Lanteri MC, O'Brien KM, Purtha WE, Cameron MJ, Lund JM, Owen RE, et al. Tregs control the development of symptomatic West Nile virus infection in humans and mice. J Clin Invest (2009) 119:3266–77. doi:10.1172/ JCI39387
- 104. Oldenhove G, Bouladoux N, Wohlfert EA, Hall JA, Chou D, Dos SL, et al. Decrease of Foxp3+ Treg cell number and acquisition of effector cell phenotype during lethal infection. *Immunity* (2009) **31**:772–86. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2009.10.001
- 105. Kottke T, Galivo F, Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Thompson J, Jevremovic D, et al. Treg depletion-enhanced IL-2 treatment facilitates therapy of established tumors using systemically delivered oncolytic virus. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:1217–26. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.83
- 106. Kottke T, Thompson J, Diaz RM, Pulido J, Willmon C, Coffey M, et al. Improved systemic delivery of oncolytic reovirus to established tumors using preconditioning with cyclophosphamide-mediated Treg modulation and interleukin-2. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:561–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1688
- 107. Cheema TA, Wakimoto H, Fecci PE, Ning J, Kuroda T, Jeyaretna DS, et al. Multifaceted oncolytic virus therapy for glioblastoma in an immunocompetent cancer stem cell model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**:12006–11. doi:10.1073/pnas.1307935110
- Lund JM, Hsing L, Pham TT, Rudensky AY. Coordination of early protective immunity to viral infection by regulatory T cells. *Science* (2008) **320**:1220–4. doi:10.1126/science.1155209
- 109. Woller N, Knocke S, Mundt B, Gurlevik E, Struver N, Kloos A, et al. Virusinduced tumor inflammation facilitates effective DC cancer immunotherapy in a Treg-dependent manner in mice. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:2570–82. doi:10.1172/JCI45585
- 110. Sharma MD, Hou DY, Baban B, Koni PA, He Y, Chandler PR, et al. Reprogrammed foxp3(+) regulatory T cells provide essential help to support cross-presentation and CD8(+) T cell priming in naive mice. *Immunity* (2010) 33:942–54. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.11.022
- 111. Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Galivo F, Kottke T, Thompson J, Melcher A, et al. VSV oncolytic virotherapy in the B16 model depends upon intact MyD88 signaling. *Mol Ther* (2011) **19**:150–8. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.225
- 112. Workenhe ST, Simmons G, Pol JG, Lichty BD, Halford WP, Mossman KL. Immunogenic HSV-mediated oncolysis shapes the antitumor immune response and contributes to therapeutic efficacy. *Mol Ther* (2014) **22**:123–31. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.238
- 113. Melief CJ. Cancer immunotherapy by dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2008) 29:372–83. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.08.004
- 114. Liu BL, Robinson M, Han ZQ, Branston RH, English C, Reay P, et al. ICP34.5 deleted herpes simplex virus with enhanced oncolytic, immune stimulating, and anti-tumour properties. *Gene Ther* (2003) 10:292–303. doi:10.1038/sj.gt. 3301885
- 115. Hu JC, Coffin RS, Davis CJ, Graham NJ, Groves N, Guest PJ, et al. A phase I study of OncoVEXGM-CSF, a second-generation oncolytic herpes simplex virus expressing granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12:6737–47. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0759
- 116. Bernt KM, Ni S, Tieu AT, Lieber A. Assessment of a combined, adenovirusmediated oncolytic and immunostimulatory tumor therapy. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:4343–52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3527
- 117. Edukulla R, Woller N, Mundt B, Knocke S, Gurlevik E, Saborowski M, et al. Antitumoral immune response by recruitment and expansion of dendritic cells in tumors infected with telomerase-dependent oncolytic viruses. *Cancer Res* (2009) **69**:1448–58. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1160
- 118. Li J, O'Malley M, Urban J, Sampath P, Guo ZS, Kalinski P, et al. Chemokine expression from oncolytic vaccinia virus enhances vaccine therapies of cancer. *Mol Ther* (2011) **19**:650–7. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.312
- 119. Bridle BW, Boudreau JE, Lichty BD, Brunelliere J, Stephenson K, Koshy S, et al. Vesicular stomatitis virus as a novel cancer vaccine vector to prime antitumor immunity amenable to rapid boosting with adenovirus. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17:1814–21. doi:10.1038/mt.2009.154
- 120. Bridle BW, Stephenson KB, Boudreau JE, Koshy S, Kazdhan N, Pullenayegum E, et al. Potentiating cancer immunotherapy using an oncolytic virus. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:1430–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.98
- 121. Bridle BW, Clouthier D, Zhang L, Pol J, Chen L, Lichty BD, et al. Oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus quantitatively and qualitatively improves primary CD8 T-cell responses to anticancer vaccines. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e26013. doi:10.4161/onci.26013

- 122. Brinkhoff B, Ostroumov D, Heemcke J, Woller N, Gurlevik E, Manns MP, et al. Microsphere priming facilitates induction of potent therapeutic T-cell immune responses against autochthonous liver cancers. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:1213–24. doi:10.1002/eji.201343794
- 123. Kottke T, Errington F, Pulido J, Galivo F, Thompson J, Wongthida P, et al. Broad antigenic coverage induced by vaccination with virus-based cDNA libraries cures established tumors. *Nat Med* (2011) 17:854–9. doi:10.1038/nm.2390
- 124. Pulido J, Kottke T, Thompson J, Galivo F, Wongthida P, Diaz RM, et al. Using virally expressed melanoma cDNA libraries to identify tumor-associated antigens that cure melanoma. *Nat Biotechnol* (2012) **30**:337–43. doi:10.1038/nbt. 2157
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Dendritic-cell-based therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Immunity* (2013) 39:38–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.004
- 126. Taube JM, Anders RA, Young GD, Xu H, Sharma R, McMiller TL, et al. Colocalization of inflammatory response with B7-h1 expression in human melanocytic lesions supports an adaptive resistance mechanism of immune escape. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) **4**:127ra37. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003689
- 127. Lennerz V, Fatho M, Gentilini C, Frye RA, Lifke A, Ferel D, et al. The response of autologous T cells to a human melanoma is dominated by mutated neoantigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) **102**:16013–8. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0500090102
- 128. Srivastava PK, Old LJ. Individually distinct transplantation antigens of chemically induced mouse tumors. *Immunol Today* (1988) 9:78–83. doi:10.1016/ 0167-5699(88)91269-8
- 129. Matsushita H, Vesely MD, Koboldt DC, Rickert CG, Uppaluri R, Magrini VJ, et al. Cancer exome analysis reveals a T-cell-dependent mechanism of cancer immunoediting. *Nature* (2012) 482:400–4. doi:10.1038/nature10755
- Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA Jr., Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes. *Science* (2013) **339**:1546–58. doi:10.1126/science. 1235122
- Heemskerk B, Kvistborg P, Schumacher TN. The cancer antigenome. EMBO J (2013) 32:194–203. doi:10.1038/emboj.2012.333
- 132. Castle JC, Kreiter S, Diekmann J, Lower M, van de Roemer N, de GJ, et al. Exploiting the mutanome for tumor vaccination. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72:1081–91. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3722
- 133. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363:711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- 134. Wolchok JD, Hodi FS, Weber JS, Allison JP, Urba WJ, Robert C, et al. Development of ipilimumab: a novel immunotherapeutic approach for the treatment of advanced melanoma. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2013) **1291**:1–13. doi:10.1111/nyas.12180
- 135. van RN, van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific T-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. J Clin Oncol (2013) 31:e439–42. doi:10. 1200/JCO.2012.47.7521
- 136. Gao Y, Whitaker-Dowling P, Griffin JA, Barmada MA, Bergman I. Recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus targeted to Her2/neu combined with anti-CTLA4

antibody eliminates implanted mammary tumors. Cancer Gene Ther (2009) 16:44-52. doi:10.1038/cgt.2008.55

- 137. Dias JD, Hemminki O, Diaconu I, Hirvinen M, Bonetti A, Guse K, et al. Targeted cancer immunotherapy with oncolytic adenovirus coding for a fully human monoclonal antibody specific for CTLA-4. *Gene Ther* (2012) 19:988–98. doi:10.1038/gt.2011.176
- 138. Zamarin D, Holmgaard RB, Subudhi SK, Park JS, Mansour M, Palese P, et al. Localized oncolytic virotherapy overcomes systemic tumor resistance to immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:226ra32. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008095
- 139. Kim HS, Kim-Schulze S, Kim DW, Kaufman HL. Host lymphodepletion enhances the therapeutic activity of an oncolytic vaccinia virus expressing 4-1BB ligand. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:8516–25. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2522
- 140. John LB, Howland LJ, Flynn JK, West AC, Devaud C, Duong CP, et al. Oncolytic virus and anti-4-1BB combination therapy elicits strong antitumor immunity against established cancer. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**:1651–60. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2788
- 141. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, Activity, and Immune Correlates of Anti-PD-1 Antibody in Cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- 142. Workenhe ST, Mossman KL. Oncolytic virotherapy and immunogenic cancer cell death: sharpening the sword for improved cancer treatment strategies. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22:251–6. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.220
- 143. Guo ZS, Liu Z, Bartlett DL. Oncolytic immunotherapy: dying the right way is a key to eliciting potent antitumor immunity. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:74. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00074
- 144. Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369:122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 June 2014; paper pending published: 26 June 2014; accepted: 06 July 2014; published online: 21 July 2014.

Citation: Woller N, Gürlevik E, Ureche C-I, Schumacher A and Kühnel F (2014) Oncolytic viruses as anticancer vaccines. Front. Oncol. 4:188. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00188

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Woller, Gürlevik, Ureche, Schumacher and Kühnel. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Oncolytic virotherapy as emerging immunotherapeutic modality: potential of parvovirus H-1

Markus Moehler^{1*†}, Katrin Goepfert^{1†}, Bernd Heinrich¹, Caroline J. Breitbach², Maike Delic¹, Peter Robert Galle¹ and Jean Rommelaere³

¹ 1st Department of Internal Medicine, University Medical Center of the Johannes Gutenberg, University of Mainz, Mainz, Germany

² Jennerex Biotherapeutics, Inc., San Francisco, CA, USA

³ Division of Tumor Virology, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Heidelberg, Germany

Edited by:

Philippe Fournier, DKFZ, Germany

Reviewed by:

Valery Grdzelishvili, University of North Carolina at Charlotte, USA Volker Schirrmacher, DKFZ, Germany Yong Lu, Cleveland Clinic Foundation, USA

William L. Redmond, Earle A. Chiles Research Institute, USA

*Correspondence:

Markus Moehler, 1st Department of Internal Medicine, University Medical Center of the Johannes Gutenberg, University of Mainz, Building 601, Langenbeckstrasse 1, Mainz 55131, Germany e-mail: markus.moehler@

unimedizin-mainz.de

⁺Markus Moehler and Katrin Goepfert have contributed equally to this work.

Human tumors develop multiple strategies to evade recognition and efficient suppression by the immune system. Therefore, a variety of immunotherapeutic strategies have been developed to reactivate and reorganize the human immune system. The recent development of new antibodies against immune check points may help to overcome the immune silencing induced by human tumors. Some of these antibodies have already been approved for treatment of various solid tumor entities. Interestingly, targeting antibodies may be combined with standard chemotherapy or radiation protocols. Furthermore, recent evidence indicates that intratumoral or intravenous injections of replicative oncolytic viruses such as herpes simplex-, pox-, parvo-, or adenoviruses may also reactivate the human immune system. By generating tumor cell lysates in situ, oncolytic viruses overcome cellular tumor resistance mechanisms and induce immunogenic tumor cell death resulting in the recognition of newly released tumor antigens. This is in particular the case of the oncolytic parvovirus H-1 (H-1PV), which is able to kill human tumor cells and stimulate an anti-tumor immune response through increased presentation of tumor-associated antigens, maturation of dendritic cells, and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Current research and clinical studies aim to assess the potential of oncolytic virotherapy and its combination with immunotherapeutic agents or conventional treatments to further induce effective antitumoral immune responses.

Keywords: immunotherapy, autonomous parvovirus, H-1PV, talimogene laherparepvec, T-VEC, JX-594, dendritic cells, CTLA-4

INTRODUCTION

Human tumors develop complex strategies to circumvent the human immune system and to become resistant to classical therapies like radiotherapy or chemotherapy (1). Besides the low immunogenicity of tumors, tumor-induced dysregulation of the immune response leads to loss of effective immune defense and uncontrolled tumor growth. Even though many classical chemotherapy or radiation strategies induce some extent of tumor surveillance (1), new approaches should be tested to overcome early tumor resistance and recurrence. Thus, the basic challenge of molecular immune targeting is to conquer local regulatory mechanisms in order to re-introduce tumor immune recognition and promote tumor cell apoptosis and immunogenic cell death (ICD) (2). Recently, loss of immune defense has been shown to be caused by expression of different immune suppressive receptors also called immune checkpoint pathways, such as cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) (3). Its ligation is crucial to preventing immune overreaction by inhibiting T-cell activation (4). The inhibitory CTLA-4 antibody ipilimumab [Yervoy, Bristol Myers Squibb (BMS)], approved for the treatment of metastatic melanoma patients, blocks this negative immune stimulatory receptor, thereby preventing downregulation of T-cell activation (5).

Oncolytic virotherapy represents an emerging therapeutic modality that has achieved tumor regression in several pre-clinical models and in clinical trials (6). Preferential depletion of cancer cells by oncolytic viruses (OV) is based on the fact that more aggressive tumor cells show both impaired antiviral responses and higher permissiveness for virus replication. Therefore, these agents open up new horizons for the treatment of cancer types that commonly display poor prognosis (7, 8). Cancer virotherapy is an old concept that arose from observations of unexpected tumor regressions coinciding with virus infections. This can be exemplified by a report on Newcastle disease virus (NDV) in gastric cancer dating back to 1971 (9). It should be stated that viruses with natural or engineered effects on the immune system are highly potent candidates for cancer therapy (Table 1). Herein, oncolytic viruses can be engineered to deliver therapeutic transgenes to cancer cells, causing additional anti-tumor effects through cytokine secretion and induction of anti-tumor immune responses (10–14). For example, the oncolytic vaccinia virus pexastimogene devacirepvec (Jennerex, Inc., and Transgene SA; Pexa-Vec, JX-594) and herpes simplex virus (HSV) talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC, Amgen) were "armed" with GM-CSF-expressing genes (15, 16) to initiate local and systemic immune responses. Recently a randomized, Phase III trial of talimogene laherparepvec or GM-CSF in patients (pts)

with unresectable melanoma with regional or distant metastases (OPTiM) met its primary endpoint by improving durable response rates versus GM-CSF alone, and showed a tolerable safety profile (17). A Phase II study of Pexa-Vec in primarily first-line liver cancer (HCC) patients demonstrated survival improvement in patients receiving intratumoral (it) injections of high-dose Pexa-Vec (18). The following randomized Phase IIb study in second-line HCC patients did not meet its primary endpoint of survival improvement for Pexa-Vec compared to best supportive care (BSC) (19). However, this trial was comprised primarily of patients with endstage disease and significant comorbidities such as liver cirrhosis, therefore likely not the optimal population for successful OV therapy. Therefore, further studies of Pexa-Vec in a less advanced HCC population as well as other indications are warranted. Besides above-mentioned agents, various other viruses were shown to have oncolytic and/or immunostimulating properties, and are presently used in clinical trials. These include Parvovirus, Adenovirus, Vesicular Stomatitis Virus, Reovirus, NDV, Measles Virus, Seneca Valley Virus, Poliovirus, and Coxsackie Virus (Table 1).

The aim of this article is to provide an overview of upcoming oncolytic viruses and their potential immunogenic therapeutic effects. A first insight into this issue is provided through our pioneer studies showing that infection with the autonomous parvovirus H-1 (H-1PV) generated immunogenic tumor cell lysates (TCLs) (14). H-1PV-infected TCLS proved able to induce maturation of dendritic cells (DCs), release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, tumor-associated antigens (TAA) cross-presentation, and T-cell stimulation in an *ex vivo* human melanoma model (see **Figures 1** and **2**) (7, 14, 55, 56). On the basis of these observations, we present the prospects of H-1PV and other OVs activating the human immune system either alone or in combination with immunomodulators, such as antibodies blocking immune suppressive receptors.

METHODS

The human *ex vivo* melanoma model (**Figure 2**) represents a system that mimics the *in vivo* situation (14). Thus, it was used to investigate effects of H-1PV-infected or tremelimumab-treated tumor cells on immune activation. The human melanoma cells MZ7-Mel, SK29-Mel-1, and SK29-Mel-1.22 used were a gift from T. Woelfel (Mainz, Germany) (57). The SK29-Mel-1.22 cell line (A2⁻) is an *in vitro* selected HLA-A2-loss variant of HLA-A2-positive SK29-Mel-1 (A2⁺) line (58, 59). The cytotoxic T-cell clones CTL2/9 and CTL IVSB recognize different antigens of SK29-Mel-1 cells in association with HLA-A2 (57, 58), lyse SK29-Mel cells, and release interferon γ (IFN γ) upon specific recognition of SK29-Mel-specific TAA (58).

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were derived from buffy coats of healthy blood donors. Monocytes were isolated via adherence, and differentiation into immature DCs (iDCs) was achieved by stimulation with GM-CSF and interleukin-4. Matured DCs (mDCs) were generated by stimulation with a cytokine cocktail for 2 days (60). For coculture experiments, melanoma cells were kept in FCS-free medium. For induction of maturation and phagocytosis, tumor cells were co-cultured with iDCs at a ratio of 1:3 for 2 days. CTL-Coculture with DC was performed at 1:10 ratio (60).

RESULTS: ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES ARE ABLE NOT ONLY TO KILL HUMAN TUMOR CELLS BUT ALSO TO STIMULATE ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNE RESPONSES: THE CASE OF PARVOVIRUS H-1PV

Over the last years, OV therapy has shown promising results in both pre-clinical and clinical studies against various solid tumors (61). It is worth noting that besides their own anti-tumor efficiency, OVs can resensitize resistant tumors to chemotherapeutics, thereby highlighting the potential of OVs in multimodal treatments (12, 13). We were particularly interested in the oncolytic parvovirus H-1PV [for reviews, see Ref. (20, 62)]. The mode of action of H-1PV involves both direct oncolvtic and immunemediated components, making this virus an attractive candidate for inclusion in the cancer immunotherapy armamentarium (60). H-1PV is a small nuclear-replicating DNA virus, which preferentially multiplies in oncogene-transformed and tumor-derived cells (7). This oncotropism results at least in part from the dependence of H-1PV on proliferation and differentiation factors that are dysregulated in neoplastic cells (20). In consequence, H-1PV exerts oncolvtic effects, which were documented in human cells from various tumor entities including melanoma, pancreatic (PDAC), hepatocellular (HCC), colorectal or gastric carcinomas, sarcoma, glioma, and other neuroectodermal tumors (7, 20, 21, 62–64). Most interestingly, the death mechanisms activated by parvoviruses allow them to overcome resistance of tumor cells to conventional cytotoxic agents (22, 65). Another intriguing aspect of H-1PV-mediated OV lies in the possibility of combining H-1PV with conventional cytotoxic drugs to achieve synergistic tumor cell killing effects, as demonstrated for instance in the PDAC system (13, 21, 22, 66).

Though not or poorly infectious for humans under natural conditions, H-1PV can be administered experimentally to patients, resulting in viremia and seroconversion (67). Infections with H-1PV appear to be clinically silent (68). It should also be stated that recombinant parvoviruses can be constructed, for example to transduce immunostimulatory cytokines (62). This arming strategy was found to increase the anti-tumor effects of parvoviruses in certain models (69–71).

BRINGING H-1PV FROM THE BENCH TO THE BEDSIDE

Recent work using an immunocompetent rat glioma model showed that H-1PV was able to efficiently cure gliomas, while raising an anti-tumor memory immune response. This oncosuppressive effect appears to rely on both the direct oncolytic activity of H-1PV and its handover to the host immune system (23). These pre-clinical data led to the current clinical evaluation of H-1PV it and intravenous (iv) administration to patients with recurrent resectable GBM progressing in spite of conventional therapies (27).

H-1PV-INDUCED TUMOR CELL LYSATES TRIGGER MATURATION OF iDCs AND EXERT IMMUNOSTIMULATING EFFECTS

H-1PV had little direct killing activity on human immune cells *in vitro*, in particular APCs and CTLs. Interestingly, the analysis of infected PBMCs revealed the induction of markers of both macrophage and Th1cell activation (**Table 2**). This Th1 bias is indicative of a possible direct immunostimulating capacity

Table 1 | Oncolytic viruses.

| Oncolytic virus | Family | Pre-clinical data | Clinical trial | Selected reference |
|-------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Parvovirus H-1 | Parvoviridae ss DNA Icosahedral capsid | Oncotoxicity of the viral protein NS1 Virus replication-associated cytopathic/lytic effects Activation of immune responses Transgene expression (cyto/chemokines) Inhibition of neo-angiogenesis Ref. (12–14, 20–26) | Phase I/IIa glioblastoma multiforme (ParvOryx01) | Clinical: NCT01301430 (27) |
| Vaccinia/poxvirus | Poxviridae ds DNA Enveloped Pexastimogene devacirepvec (Pexa-Vec; JX-594): engineered from Wyeth vaccine strain GLV-1h68 (GL-ONC1): engineered from vaccinia virus Lister strain | Cell lysis caused by viral replication Thymidine kinase (TK) gene-inactivated, selective replication Transgene expression (GM-CSF) (28) Disruption of tumor-associated vasculature (29) Induction of antibody-mediated complement-dependent cancer cell | Phase IIB, hepatocellular carcinoma, Pexa-Vec Phase II, colorectal cancer, Pexa-Vec Phase II renal cell carcinoma, Pexa-Vec Phase I and II, malignant pleural effusion, peritoneal carcinomatosis (GL-ONC1) | Clinical: NCT01387555; NCT01394939; NCT01766739; NCT01443260 |
| HSV-1 | Herpesviridae ds DNA Icosahedral capsid Enveloped Talimogene laherparepvec: engineered from JS1 strain | lysis (30) Cell lysis caused by viral replication ICP34.5 functional deletion (neurovirulence factor) ICP47 deletion Activation of anti-tumor immunity Transgene expression (GM-CSF) (31) | Phase III complete, malignant melanoma (talimogene laherparepvec) | Clinical: NCT00769704 (32, 33) |
| Adenovirus | Adenoviridae ds DNA Oncorine based on H101-virus | Cell lysis caused by viral replication Activation of anti-tumor immunity Cytotoxicity by viral proteins (E4ORF4) (34) Transgene expression (GM-CSF by CG0070) (35, 36) | Phase II and III, bladder cancer (CG0070) Approved therapeutic (China), head and neck cancer (Oncorine) | Clinical: NCT01438112 (37, 38) |
| Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSIV, often VSV) | Rhabdoviridae ss RNA | Expression of IFN-β (39, 40) | Phase I, liver cancer (IFN-β expressing VSV) | Clinical: NCT01628640 |
| Reovirus | Reoviridae ds RNA Icosahedral capsid | Cytopathic effect Activation of immune response (41) | Phase I-III, several entities, e.g., head and neck cancer, non-small cell lung cancer, prostate cancer, colorectal cancer (Reolysin) | Clinical: NCT01166542; NCT01708993; NCT01619813; NCT01622543 |
| Newcastle disease virus | Paramyxoviridae ssRNA | Activation of anti-tumor immunity (42–47) | Phase I and II study in glioblastoma, sarcoma and neuroblastoma | Clinical: NCT01174537 |

(Continued)

Table 1 | Continued

| Oncolytic virus | Family | Pre-clinical data | Clinical trial | Selected reference |
|-------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Measles virus | Paramyxoviridae ss RNA | Cytopathic effect (48) Anti-tumor activity (49) | Phase I study in malignant solid tumor, breast cancer, malignant tumor of colon, GIST, ovarian cancer Phase I study in multiple myeloma and plasma cell neoplasm Phase I study in metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck cancer Phase I in malignant pleural mesothelioma Phase I in brain and central nervous system tumors Phase I in ovarian cancer, peritoneal cavity cancer Phase I and II study in recurrent ovarian cancer | Clinical: NCT01376505; NCT00450814; NCT01846091; NCT01503177; NCT00390299; NCT02068794 (50–52) |
| Seneca valley virus | Picornaviridae ss RNA | Antineoplastic activity (53) | Phase I safety study, solid tumors with neuroendocrine features Phase II after chemotherapy in small cell lung cancer Phase II with cyclophosphamide in neuroblastoma, rhabdomyosarcoma | Clinical: NCT00314925; NCT01017601; NCT01048892 (54) |
| Cavatak virus (Coxsackie virus A21) | Picomaviridae ss RNA Capsid | | Phase I study in non-small cell lung cancer, castrate resistant prostate cancer, and melanoma and bladder cancer Phase I study in melanoma, breast, and prostate cancer Phase I study in melanoma Phase I study in head and neck cancer Phase II study, malignant melanoma | Clinical: NCT02043665, NCT00636558; NCT00438009; NCT00832559; NCT01227551; NCT01636882 |

Oncolytic viruses in clinical trials (ds, double stranded; ss, single stranded).

of the parvovirus. Nevertheless, a major impact of H-1PV on the immune system appears to be indirect, i.e., mediated by infected tumor cells, as discussed in the following sections. H-1PV caused the death of human melanoma cells in culture, including the above-mentioned SK29-Mel-1 and SK29-Mel-1.22 lines. The extent of cell killing varied between tested lines, was dependent on the multiplicity of infection (MOI) and correlated with expression of the replicative viral non-structural protein NS1. In this system, H-1PV induced an apoptotic cell death, which was accompanied with the release of immunogenic HSP72 (63).

In further experiments it was shown that H-1PV-infected melanoma TCLs were phagocytosed by iDCs and induced their maturation, in particular the secretion of pro-inflammatory





cytokines such as TNF α and IL-6 (13, 63). Lysates of infected SK29-Mel-1.22 and MZ7-Mel cells were both competent for inducing DC maturation, although the former were more potent than the latter in this regard (13, 14). Primary immune cells were not permissive for H-1PV infection. Little direct killing effect, no

apoptosis, and no progeny virus production could be detected in infected lymphocytes, monocytes, immature, and mature DCs (**Table 2**) (63).

We also demonstrated that human DCs coincubated with H-1PV-induced melanoma TCLs showed enhanced expression

Table 2 | Direct immunostimulating effects of parvovirus H-1PV

| C | Outcomes of infection of activated human peripheral blood mononuclear cells with parvovirus H-1PV | | | |
|---|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| • | Abortive infection | no progeny virus production viral RF DNA and transcripts detectable in T cells and macrophages | | |
| ٠ | Cytotoxic effects | indirect (TNF-α Ab protection) | | |
| • | Macrophage early activation | induction of $\frac{1}{\text{TNF}-\alpha}$ release \downarrow ? | | |
| ٠ | CD4 ⁺ Th cell late activation | enhanced CD69, CD30 activation marker expression induction of Th1 and Th2 cytokine secretion (\uparrow IFN- $\gamma \rightarrow$ Th1 bias?) | | |
| ٠ | CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁺ Treg cell inhibition | inhibition of suppressive activity (MLR test) | | |
| • | Stimulation of antiviral defense | induction of type-I interferons through TLR9-mediated sensing | | |
| | | Moehler et al. Cancer Gene Ther, 2003 Grekova et al. Cancer Biol Ther, 2011 Moralès et al. PLOS ONE, 2012 Raykov et al. PLOS ONE, 2013 | | |

of TLR3, TLR9, and other maturation markers. This suggested that virus-induced TCLs contained molecular patterns triggering TLR signaling in DCs, as further evidenced by increased NF- κ B levels and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (12). Some of these immunostimulating patterns may consist of viral constituents, given the known ability of TLR3 and TLR9 for sensing viral determinants.

Combination of the oncolytic virus with cytostatic (cisplatin, vincristine) or targeted (sunitinib) drugs resulted in a further increase in melanoma cell apoptosis but failed to strengthen maturation of DCs. It was verified that the cytotoxic or targeted drug regimen used did not interfere with H-1PV infection (13). Interestingly, the interleukin profile of DCs was altered upon exposure to H-1PV plus sunitinib-cotreated TCLs. It therefore appears that H-1PV combination with this antiangiogenic drug may reinforce its capacity not only for jeopardizing tumor cell survival but also for modulating the immune system.

H-1PV INDUCE ACTIVATION OF ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC CYTOTOXIC T-CELLS AND OTHER ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNE EFFECTORS

To further assess whether phagocytosis of H-1-infected TCLs by DCs induces cross-presentation of TAAs to antigen-specific CTLs in an HLA-class I-restricted manner, the above-mentioned human melanoma *in vitro* model was used (58, 72). Both melanoma-specific CTL clones tested were found to release increased levels of IFN γ after being co-cultured with DCs preincubated with H-1PV-infected SK29-Mel-1 or HLA-negative SK29-Mel-1.22 cells (14). Thus, H-1PV-induced TCLs stimulated cross-presentation of TAAs by DCs. This effect may contribute to reinforce the anti-tumor immune response by generating tumor-specific CTLs (14). In addition, several H-1PV-infected

tumor cells were recently found to acquire an enhanced capacity for activating NK cells and getting killed by these cells (73, 74). The adjuvant effect of H-1PV was also evidenced *in vivo* by the virus-enhanced efficacy of an autologous tumor cell vaccine (24) and the adoptive transfer of anti-tumor immune cells from animals undergoing oncolytic H-1PV therapy (75).

ONCOLYTIC H-1PV VIROTHERAPY CAN BE COMBINED WITH IMMUNOTHERAPEUTIC AGENTS TO ENHANCE TREATMENT EFFICACY

Recent evidence for the expression of the immunosuppressing molecule CTLA-4 on regulatory T-cells (Tregs) and tumors generated widespread interest in the role of CTLA-4 in tumor escape and peripheral tolerance (3, 58). In particular, the human colon adenocarcinoma line SW480 was found to express CTLA-4 on the cell surface. This prompted us to extend the analysis of H-1PV anti-tumor effects to the SW480 system in combination with the anti-CTLA-4 antibody tremelimumab. When applied alone, this antibody had no detectable effect on SW480 cell viability and DC maturation. On the other hand, H-1PV alone was able to kill SW480 cells in a MOI-dependent manner. H-1PV-induced SW480 TCLs triggered iDC maturation in coculture experiments, as revealed in particular by increased release of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFNy, TNFa, and IL-6 (64). The secretion of IFNy was stimulated to a low extent by treatment of the coculture with tremelimumab, recommend the use of the H-1PV/tremelimumab combination treatment to enhance tumor immunogenicity through both DC activation and CTLA-4 masking. It should also be stated that other (immuno)modulators, namely IFNy (75) and HDAC inhibitors (76), were recently reported to cooperate with H-1PV for tumor suppression in human carcinoma animal models.

CLINICAL EVIDENCE OF OV-MEDIATED ACTIVATION OF IMMUNE RESPONSES IN HUMANS

Extensive analyses were performed to evaluate mechanisms-ofaction of the oncolytic and immunotherapeutic vaccinia virus Pexa-Vec in patients. These include oncolysis (15, 77, 78), acute vascular disruption (29) as well as anti-tumor immune response induction. Pexa-Vec was engineered to express GM-CSF to stimulate white blood cell production and activate DCs. Detectable concentrations of GM-CSF in plasma were measured 4-15 days after treatment and associated with increased neutrophil, monocyte, and eosinophil production in patients receiving iv or it iPexa-Vec (77, 78). Inflammatory cell recruitment to tumors was confirmed on biopsy following Pexa-Vec administration in patients with melanoma (79, 80). Furthermore, functional anti-cancer immunity of Pexa-Vec treatment was demonstrated in patients by measuring induction of antibody-mediated complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) utilizing a panel of tumor cell lines of different histologies (30). Low concentrations of serum ex vivo incubated with tumor cells resulted in a dramatic reduction in tumor cell viability; when normal cells did not exhibit decreased viability. This activity was shown to be dependent on both active complement as well as IgG antibody. Reproducible CDC activity was also observed in a Phase II study in HCC patient (18). Furthermore, T-cell responses to β -galactosidase peptides were detected in HCC patients treated with Pexa-Vec, as shown by ELISPOT analysis. In that way, the proof-of-concept provides that T-cell responses can be induced to transgenes encoded by oncolytic vaccinia viruses (18).

Talimogene laherparepvec is an oncolytic immunotherapy comprising a modified HSV type 1 engineered to selectively replicate in tumor cells and to express the immune-stimulating cytokine GM-CSF, while retaining sensitivity to antiherpetic agents (16). Local effects after intralesional injection include selective lysis of tumor cells and subsequent release of tumor antigen, as well as secretion of GM-CSF into the local environment, which results in the stimulation and maturation of DCs (32, 81). Antigen presentation by stimulated DCs to CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells may induce an adaptive systemic immune response (16, 82, 83). Recently a randomized, Phase III trial of talimogene laherparepvec in patients (pts) with unresected melanoma with regional or distant metastases (OPTiM) met its primary endpoint, demonstrating a significant improvement in durable response rate (defined as partial or complete responses that were maintained for ≥ 6 months starting within 12 months) versus GM-CSF alone (16 versus 2%, p < 0.0001) (17). Overall response rate was also higher in the talimogene laherparepvec arm (26.4 versus 5.7%, p < 0.0001). Subjects treated with talimogene laherparepvec showed a tolerable safety profile with the only grade 3/4 adverse event that occurred in >2% of patients being cellulitis (2.1%). A trend toward improved overall survival was seen based on a planned interim analysis (17). The primary overall survival results are pending. Evidence of durable responses together with the safety profile of talimogene laherparepvec supports evaluation of combinations with other immunotherapies, such as high-dose IL-2 or immune checkpoint blockade and with radiation therapy, chemotherapy, and/or targeted therapies that might amplify the anti-tumor response generated by talimogene laherparepvec (32).

DISCUSSION: POTENTIAL OF THE IMMUNOVIROTHERAPY CONCEPT

Despite recent improvements in surgical, locoregional, and systemic therapies, the prognosis of patients with gastrointestinal, hepatobiliary, and pancreatic cancers remains dismal, and treatment is limited to palliation in the majority of patients. These limitations indicate an urgent need for novel therapeutic strategies (13, 64, 66, 84). Combinations of oncolytic viruses with new targeted therapies draw much attention. It is however necessary to proceed with caution, as these therapies may interfere with pathways, which are needed for replication of genetically modified viruses. It was demonstrated that by interacting with the EGFR/RAS/RAF pathway, sorafenib inhibits replication of Pexa-Vec in liver cancer, when applied in combination. This is not surprising as Pexa-Vec replication is in part dependent on the EGFR/RAS/RAF pathway (85). Nevertheless, sequential therapy with Pexa-Vec followed by sorafenib resulted in decreased tumor perfusion and was associated with objective tumor responses for HCC (85). It is noteworthy that some oncolytic viruses such as parvovirus H-1PV also have potential to inhibit neo-angiogenesis. Therefore, OV-based combination treatments targeting both tumor cell proliferation and tumor angiogenesis represent a promising strategy for impeding the growth of various cancers (25).

Besides their low expression of TAA and low immunogenicity, tumors can induce an immune tolerance milieu by releasing anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 or TGF-B or recruiting Tregs to their microenvironment (86). T-cell activation relies on both, recognition of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules by the T-cell receptor (TCR), and on costimulatory signals. Depending on the type of costimulatory receptor, T-cells can be activated or become anergic. For example, T-cell activation was prevented by engagement of CTLA-4 receptors with CD80 or CD86. In contrast, engagement of CD80 or CD86 with CD28 induced T-cell activation, often with a low affinity (87). Thus, a promising therapeutic option to achieve strong anti-tumor immune responses is the use of monoclonal antibodies against CTLA-4 and PD-1 alone or in combination. Herein, the constitutive expression of CTLA-4 and PD-1 on Tregs may play a crucial role in inhibiting anti-tumor T-cell responses. Tregs are often found in the peripheral blood of cancer patients and in the tumor microenvironment. These cells suppress an optimal anti-tumor immune response by preventing infiltrating CD8⁺ T-cells from proliferating and producing cytolytic granules (88). BMS developed an anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody named ipilimumab and an anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody named nivolumab. Both antibodies were already tested in Phase III trials and found to achieve clinically significant benefits in median overall survival (89, 90). First pre-clinical studies of the combination of these antibodies to achieve blockade of both CTLA-4 and PD-1 showed increased tumor infiltration by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells, enhanced IFNγ and TNFα production, and reduced amounts of Tregs (91). A Phase I study of nivolumab and ipilimumab combination in advanced melanoma patients showed an outstanding activity in 65% of patients with an objective response rate of 40% (92). As part of their further development and mechanistic understanding, these antibodies against immune check points would certainly deserve to be combined with OV in order to optimize anti-tumor immune responses. Preliminary data from a Phase Ib trial combining talimogene laherparepvec with ipilimumab indicated that the combination was tolerable and devoid of unexpected toxicities (93). Exploiting these combinations represents a promising strategy to bring oncolytic viruses from bench to bedside and to establish oncolytic virotherapy as a new effective immunotherapeutic approach.

KEY CONCEPTS

- **Key concept**₁: There is a consistent need for immunotherapies in the treatment of human cancer.
- Key concept₂: Oncolytic viruses reduce tumor burden and show first clinical results in humans.
- **Key concept₃**: Oncolytic viruses, such as parvovirus H-1PV, induce effective anti-tumor immune responses.
- **Key concept**₄: Combinations of oncolytic viruses with immunotherapeutics are likely to achieve enhanced immune activation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Christiane Dinsart from the DKFZ for her support. Eduard Gasal (Amgen Inc., Thousand Oaks, CA, USA) provided the text relating to talimogene laherparepvec clinical development and data.

REFERENCES

- Duffy AG, Greten TF. Immunological off-target effects of standard treatments in gastrointestinal cancers. Ann Oncol (2014) 25(1):24–32. doi:10.1093/annonc/ mdt349
- Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini J-L, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(1):54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523
- 3. Contardi E, Palmisano GL, Tazzari PL, Martelli AM, Fala F, Fabbi M, et al. CTLA-4 is constitutively expressed on tumor cells and can trigger apoptosis upon ligand interaction. *Int J Cancer* (2005) **117**(4):538–50. doi:10.1002/ijc.21155
- Duraiswamy J, Kaluza KM, Freeman GJ, Coukos G. Dual blockade of PD-1 and CTLA-4 combined with tumor vaccine effectively restores T-cell rejection function in tumors. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**(12):3591–603. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-12-4100
- Weber JS, Amin A, Minor D, Siegel J, Berman D, O'Day SJ. Safety and clinical activity of ipilimumab in melanoma patients with brain metastases: retrospective analysis of data from a phase 2 trial. *Melanoma Res* (2011) 21(6):530–4. doi:10.1097/CMR.0b013e32834d3d88
- Carpenter SG, Carson J, Fong Y. Regional liver therapy using oncolytic virus to target hepatic colorectal metastases. *Semin Oncol* (2010) 37(2):160–9. doi:10.1053/j.seminoncol.2010.03.001
- 7. Moehler M, Blechacz B, Weiskopf N, Zeidler M, Stremmel W, Rommelaere J, et al. Effective infection, apoptotic cell killing and gene transfer of human hepatoma cells but not primary hepatocytes by parvovirus H1 and derived vectors. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2001) **8**(3):158–67. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700288
- Donnelly O, Harrington K, Melcher A, Pandha H. Live viruses to treat cancer. J R Soc Med (2013) 106(8):310–4. doi:10.1177/0141076813494196
- Csatary L. Viruses in the treatment of cancer. Lancet (1971) 298(7728):825. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(71)92788-7
- Bourke MG, Salwa S, Harrington KJ, Kucharczyk MJ, Forde PF, de Kruijf M, et al. The emerging role of viruses in the treatment of solid tumours. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2011) 37(8):618–32. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2010.12.003
- 11. Russell SJ, Peng KW, Bell JC. Oncolytic virotherapy. *Nat Biotechnol* (2012) **30**(7):658–70. doi:10.1038/nbt.2287
- Sieben M, Schafer P, Dinsart C, Galle PR, Moehler M. Activation of the human immune system via toll-like receptors by the oncolytic parvovirus H-1. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 132(11):2548–56. doi:10.1002/ijc.27938
- Moehler M, Sieben M, Roth S, Springsguth F, Leuchs B, Zeidler M, et al. Activation of the human immune system by chemotherapeutic or targeted agents

combined with the oncolytic parvovirus H-1. BMC Cancer (2011) 11:464. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-11-464

- Moehler MH, Zeidler M, Wilsberg V, Cornelis JJ, Woelfel T, Rommelaere J, et al. Parvovirus H-1-induced tumor cell death enhances human immune response in vitro via increased phagocytosis, maturation, and cross-presentation by dendritic cells. *Hum Gene Ther* (2005) 16(8):996–1005. doi:10.1089/hum.2005.16. 996
- Kim JH, Oh JY, Park BH, Lee DE, Kim JS, Park HE, et al. Systemic armed oncolytic and immunologic therapy for cancer with JX-594, a targeted poxvirus expressing GM-CSF. *Mol Ther* (2006) 14(3):361–70. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2006.05.008
- Liu BL, Robinson M, Han ZQ, Branston RH, English C, Reay P, et al. ICP34.5 deleted herpes simplex virus with enhanced oncolytic, immune stimulating, and anti-tumour properties. *Gene Ther* (2003) 10(4):292–303. doi:10.1038/sj. gt.3301885
- 17. Andtbacka RHI, Collichio FA, Amatruda T, Senzer NN, Chesney J, Delman KA, et al. OPTiM: a randomized phase III trial of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) versus subcutaneous (SC) granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) for the treatment (tx) of unresected stage IIIB/C and IV melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) **31**(suppl; abstr LBA9008).
- Heo J, Reid T, Ruo L, Breitbach CJ, Rose S, Bloomston M, et al. Randomized dose-finding clinical trial of oncolytic immunotherapeutic vaccinia JX-594 in liver cancer. *Nat Med* (2013) 19(3):329–36. doi:10.1038/nm.3089
- Transgene Announces that its Phase 2 Study of Pexa-Vec in Second-line Advanced Liver Cancer did not Meet its Primary Endpoint (2013). Available from: http://www.transgene.fr/index.php?option=com_press_release&task= download&id=236&l=en
- Nuesch JP, Lacroix J, Marchini A, Rommelaere J. Molecular pathways: rodent parvoviruses – mechanisms of oncolysis and prospects for clinical cancer treatment. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(13):3516–23. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2325
- Sieben M, Herzer K, Zeidler M, Heinrichs V, Leuchs B, Schuler M, et al. Killing of p53-deficient hepatoma cells by parvovirus H-1 and chemotherapeutics requires promyelocytic leukemia protein. *World J Gastroenterol* (2008) 14(24):3819–28. doi:10.3748/wjg.14.3819
- 22. Angelova AL, Aprahamian M, Grekova SP, Hajri A, Leuchs B, Giese NA, et al. Improvement of gemcitabine-based therapy of pancreatic carcinoma by means of oncolytic parvovirus H-1PV. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(2):511–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1088
- Geletneky K, Kiprianova I, Ayache A, Koch R, Herrero YCM, Deleu L, et al. Regression of advanced rat and human gliomas by local or systemic treatment with oncolytic parvovirus H-1 in rat models. *Neuro Oncol* (2010) 12(8):804–14. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noq023
- Raykov Z, Grekova S, Leuchs B, Aprahamian M, Rommelaere J. Arming parvoviruses with CpG motifs to improve their oncosuppressive capacity. *Int J Cancer* (2008) 122(12):2880–4. doi:10.1002/ijc.23472
- Lavie M, Struyf S, Stroh-Dege A, Rommelaere J, Van Damme J, Dinsart C. Capacity of wild-type and chemokine-armed parvovirus H-1PV for inhibiting neo-angiogenesis. *Virology* (2013) 447(1–2):221–32. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2013. 09.019
- 26. Enderlin M, Kleinmann EV, Struyf S, Buracchi C, Vecchi A, Kinscherf R, et al. TNF-alpha and the IFN-gamma-inducible protein 10 (IP-10/CXCL-10) delivered by parvoviral vectors act in synergy to induce antitumor effects in mouse glioblastoma. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2009) 16(2):149–60. doi:10.1038/cgt. 2008.62
- 27. Geletneky K, Huesing J, Rommelaere J, Schlehofer JR, Leuchs B, Dahm M, et al. Phase I/IIa study of intratumoral/intracerebral or intravenous/intracerebral administration of parvovirus H-1 (ParvOryx) in patients with progressive primary or recurrent glioblastoma multiforme: ParvOryx01 protocol. *BMC Cancer* (2012) 12:99. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-12-99
- Parato KA, Breitbach CJ, Le Boeuf F, Wang J, Storbeck C, Ilkow C, et al. The oncolytic poxvirus JX-594 selectively replicates in and destroys cancer cells driven by genetic pathways commonly activated in cancers. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20(4):749–58. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.276
- 29. Breitbach CJ, Arulanandam R, De Silva N, Thorne SH, Patt R, Daneshmand M, et al. Oncolytic vaccinia virus disrupts tumor-associated vasculature in humans. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**(4):1265–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2687
- 30. Kim MK, Breitbach CJ, Moon A, Heo J, Lee YK, Cho M, et al. Oncolytic and immunotherapeutic vaccinia induces antibody-mediated complementdependent cancer cell lysis in humans. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5(185):185ra63. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3005361

- Carson J, Haddad D, Bressman M, Fong Y. Oncolytic herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) vectors: increasing treatment efficacy and range through strategic virus design. *Drugs Future* (2010) 35(3):183–95. doi:10.1358/dof.2010.35.3.1470166
- Kaufman HL, Bines SD. OPTIM trial: a phase III trial of an oncolytic herpes virus encoding GM-CSF for unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. *Future Oncol* (2010) 6(6):941–9. doi:10.2217/fon.10.66
- 33. Kaufman H, Harrington K, Collichio F, Amatruda T, Senzer N, Chesney J, et al. Secondary Endpoints from OPTiM: A Multicenter, Randomized Phase 3 Trial of Talimogene Laherparepvec vs GM-CSF for the Treatment of Unresected Stage IIIB/C and IV Melanoma. The European Cancer Congress (2013). Available from: http://eccamsterdam2013.ecco-org.eu/Scientific-Programme/ Abstract-search.aspx?abstractid=7021
- 34. Li S, Szymborski A, Miron MJ, Marcellus R, Binda O, Lavoie JN, et al. The adenovirus E4orf4 protein induces growth arrest and mitotic catastrophe in H1299 human lung carcinoma cells. *Oncogene* (2009) 28(3):390–400. doi:10.1038/onc.2008.393
- 35. Fang L, Cheng Q, Bai J, Qi YD, Liu JJ, Li LT, et al. An oncolytic adenovirus expressing interleukin-24 enhances antitumor activities in combination with paclitaxel in breast cancer cells. *Mol Med Rep* (2013) 8(5):1416–24. doi:10.3892/mmr.2013.1680
- Ramesh N, Ge Y, Ennist DL, Zhu M, Mina M, Ganesh S, et al. CG0070, a conditionally replicating granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor – armed oncolytic adenovirus for the treatment of bladder cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12(1):305–13. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1059
- Garber K. China approves world's first oncolytic virus therapy for cancer treatment. J Natl Cancer Inst (2006) 98(5):298–300. doi:10.1093/jnci/djj111
- Liang M. Clinical development of oncolytic viruses in China. Curr Pharm Biotechnol (2012) 13(9):1852–7. doi:10.2174/138920112800958760
- D'Agostino PM, Amenta JJ, Reiss CS. IFN-beta-induced alteration of VSV protein phosphorylation in neuronal cells. *Viral Immunol* (2009) 22(6):353–69. doi:10.1089/vim.2009.0057
- 40. Saloura V, Wang LC, Fridlender ZG, Sun J, Cheng G, Kapoor V, et al. Evaluation of an attenuated vesicular stomatitis virus vector expressing interferonbeta for use in malignant pleural mesothelioma: heterogeneity in interferon responsiveness defines potential efficacy. *Hum Gene Ther* (2010) 21(1):51–64. doi:10.1089/hum.2009.088
- Steele L, Errington F, Prestwich R, Ilett E, Harrington K, Pandha H, et al. Proinflammatory cytokine/chemokine production by reovirus treated melanoma cells is PKR/NF-kappaB mediated and supports innate and adaptive antitumour immune priming. *Mol Cancer* (2011) 10:20. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-10-20
- 42. Ni J, Galani IE, Cerwenka A, Schirrmacher V, Fournier P. Antitumor vaccination by Newcastle disease virus hemagglutinin-neuraminidase plasmid DNA application: changes in tumor microenvironment and activation of innate anti-tumor immunity. *Vaccine* (2011) **29**(6):1185–93. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine. 2010.12.005
- Jarahian M, Watzl C, Fournier P, Arnold A, Djandji D, Zahedi S, et al. Activation of natural killer cells by Newcastle disease virus hemagglutinin-neuraminidase. *J Virol* (2009) 83(16):8108–21. doi:10.1128/JVI.00211-09
- Fournier P, Bian H, Szeberenyi J, Schirrmacher V. Analysis of three properties of Newcastle disease virus for fighting cancer: tumor-selective replication, antitumor cytotoxicity, and immunostimulation. *Methods Mol Biol* (2012) 797:177–204. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-340-0_13
- Fournier P, Schirrmacher V. Tumor antigen-dependent and tumor antigenindependent activation of antitumor activity in T cells by a bispecific antibodymodified tumor vaccine. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2010) **2010**:84. doi:10.1155/2010/ 423781
- Schirrmacher V, Fournier P. Newcastle disease virus: a promising vector for viral therapy, immune therapy, and gene therapy of cancer. *Methods Mol Biol* (2009) 542:565–605. doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-561-9_30
- Fournier P, Arnold A, Wilden H, Schirrmacher V. Newcastle disease virus induces pro-inflammatory conditions and type I interferon for counter-acting Treg activity. *Int J Oncol* (2012) 40(3):840–50. doi:10.3892/ijo.2011.1265
- Msaouel P, Iankov ID, Dispenzieri A, Galanis E. Attenuated oncolytic measles virus strains as cancer therapeutics. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* (2012) 13(9):1732–41. doi:10.2174/138920112800958896
- Russell SJ, Peng KW. Measles virus for cancer therapy. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol (2009) 330:213–41.

- Heinzerling L, Kunzi V, Oberholzer PA, Kundig T, Naim H, Dummer R. Oncolytic measles virus in cutaneous T-cell lymphomas mounts antitumor immune responses in vivo and targets interferon-resistant tumor cells. *Blood* (2005) 106(7):2287–94. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-11-4558
- 51. Galanis E, Hartmann LC, Cliby WA, Long HJ, Peethambaram PP, Barrette BA, et al. Phase I trial of intraperitoneal administration of an oncolytic measles virus strain engineered to express carcinoembryonic antigen for recurrent ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(3):875–82. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2762
- 52. Mader EK, Butler G, Dowdy SC, Mariani A, Knutson KL, Federspiel MJ, et al. Optimizing patient derived mesenchymal stem cells as virus carriers for a phase I clinical trial in ovarian cancer. *J Transl Med* (2013) **11**:20. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-11-20
- 53. Reddy PS, Burroughs KD, Hales LM, Ganesh S, Jones BH, Idamakanti N, et al. Seneca valley virus, a systemically deliverable oncolytic picornavirus, and the treatment of neuroendocrine cancers. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2007) **99**(21):1623–33. doi:10.1093/jnci/djm198
- Rudin CM, Poirier JT, Senzer NN, Stephenson J Jr, Loesch D, Burroughs KD, et al. Phase I clinical study of seneca valley virus (SVV-001), a replication-competent picornavirus, in advanced solid tumors with neuroendocrine features. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(4):888–95. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1706
- Kirn D, Martuza RL, Zwiebel J. Replication-selective virotherapy for cancer: biological principles, risk management and future directions. *Nat Med* (2001) 7(7):781–7. doi:10.1038/89901
- Cawood R, Hills T, Wong SL, Alamoudi AA, Beadle S, Fisher KD, et al. Recombinant viral vaccines for cancer. *Trends Mol Med* (2012) 18(9):564–74. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2012.07.007
- Wolfel T, Van Pel A, Brichard V, Schneider J, Seliger B. Meyer zum Buschenfelde KH, et al. Two tyrosinase nonapeptides recognized on HLA-A2 melanomas by autologous cytolytic T lymphocytes. *Eur J Immunol* (1994) 24(3):759–64. doi:10.1002/eji.1830240340
- Wolfel T, Klehmann E, Muller C, Schutt KH, Meyer zum Buschenfelde KH, Knuth A. Lysis of human melanoma cells by autologous cytolytic T cell clones. Identification of human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen A2 as a restriction element for three different antigens. *J Exp Med* (1989) **170**(3):797–810. doi:10.1084/jem.170.3.797
- Wang Z, Seliger B, Mike N, Momburg F, Knuth A, Ferrone S. Molecular analysis of the HLA-A2 antigen loss by melanoma cells SK-MEL-29.1.22 and SK-MEL-29.1.29. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58(10):2149–57.
- 60. Jonuleit H, Kuhn U, Muller G, Steinbrink K, Paragnik L, Schmitt E, et al. Pro-inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandins induce maturation of potent immunostimulatory dendritic cells under fetal calf serum-free conditions. *Eur J Immunol* (1997) 27(12):3135–42. doi:10.1002/eji.1830271209
- Miest TS, Cattaneo R. New viruses for cancer therapy: meeting clinical needs. Nat Rev Microbiol (2014) 12(1):23–34. doi:10.1038/nrmicro3140
- Rommelaere J, Geletneky K, Angelova AL, Daeffler L, Dinsart C, Kiprianova I, et al. Oncolytic parvoviruses as cancer therapeutics. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2010) 21(2–3):185–95. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.02.011
- Moehler M, Zeidler M, Schede J, Rommelaere J, Galle PR, Cornelis JJ, et al. Oncolytic parvovirus H1 induces release of heat-shock protein HSP72 in susceptible human tumor cells but may not affect primary immune cells. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2003) 10(6):477–80. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700591
- 64. Heinrich B, Goepfert K, Delic M, Galle PR, Moehler M. Influence of the oncolytic parvovirus H-1, CTLA-4 antibody tremelimumab and cytostatic drugs on the human immune system in a human in vitro model of colorectal cancer cells. *Onco Targets Ther* (2013) **6**:1119–27. doi:10.2147/OTT.S49371
- 65. Di Piazza M, Mader C, Geletneky K, Herrero YCM, Weber E, Schlehofer J, et al. Cytosolic activation of cathepsins mediates parvovirus H-1-induced killing of cisplatin and TRAIL-resistant glioma cells. J Virol (2007) 81(8):4186–98. doi:10.1128/JVI.02601-06
- 66. Wittwer C, Boeck S, Heinemann V, Haas M, Stieber P, Nagel D, et al. Circulating nucleosomes and immunogenic cell death markers HMGB1, sRAGE and DNAse in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer undergoing chemotherapy. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133(11):2619–30. doi:10.1002/ijc.28294
- 67. Siegl G. Molecular biology and pathogenicity of human and animal parvoviruses. *Behring Inst Mitt* (1990) **85**:6–13.
- Guglielmino S, Tempera G, Pappalardo G, Castro A. H-1 and X14 parvovirus antibodies in women with abortions or still-births. *Acta Virol* (1978) 22(5):426–8.

- 69. Haag A, Menten P, Van Damme J, Dinsart C, Rommelaere J, Cornelis JJ. Highly efficient transduction and expression of cytokine genes in human tumor cells by means of autonomous parvovirus vectors; generation of antitumor responses in recipient mice. *Hum Gene Ther* (2000) 11(4):597–609. doi:10.1089/10430340050015789
- Wetzel K, Menten P, Opdenakker G, Van Damme J, Grone HJ, Giese N, et al. Transduction of human MCP-3 by a parvoviral vector induces leukocyte infiltration and reduces growth of human cervical carcinoma cell xenografts. *J Gene Med* (2001) 3(4):326–37. doi:10.1002/jgm.191
- Giese NA, Raykov Z, DeMartino L, Vecchi A, Sozzani S, Dinsart C, et al. Suppression of metastatic hemangiosarcoma by a parvovirus MVMp vector transducing the IP-10 chemokine into immunocompetent mice. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2002) 9(5):432–42. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700457
- 72. Arienti F, Sule-Suso J, Belli F, Mascheroni L, Rivoltini L, Melani C, et al. Limited antitumor T cell response in melanoma patients vaccinated with interleukin-2 gene-transduced allogeneic melanoma cells. *Hum Gene Ther* (1996) 7(16):1955–63. doi:10.1089/hum.1996.7.16-1955
- 73. Bhat R, Rommelaere J. NK-cell-dependent killing of colon carcinoma cells is mediated by natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs) and stimulated by parvovirus infection of target cells. *BMC Cancer* (2013) 13:367. doi:10.1186/ 1471-2407-13-367
- Bhat R, Dempe S, Dinsart C, Rommelaere J. Enhancement of NK cell antitumor responses using an oncolytic parvovirus. *Int J Cancer* (2011) 128(4):908–19. doi:10.1002/ijc.25415
- 75. Grekova S, Aprahamian M, Giese N, Schmitt S, Giese T, Falk CS, et al. Immune cells participate in the oncosuppressive activity of parvovirus H-1PV and are activated as a result of their abortive infection with this agent. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2011) 10(12):1280–9. doi:10.4161/cbt.10.12.13455
- 76. Li J, Bonifati S, Hristov G, Marttila T, Valmary-Degano S, Stanzel S, et al. Synergistic combination of valproic acid and oncolytic parvovirus H-1PV as a potential therapy against cervical and pancreatic carcinomas. *EMBO Mol Med* (2013) 5(10):1537–55. doi:10.1002/emmm.201302796
- 77. Park BH, Hwang T, Liu TC, Sze DY, Kim JS, Kwon HC, et al. Use of a targeted oncolytic poxvirus, JX-594, in patients with refractory primary or metastatic liver cancer: a phase I trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2008) 9(6):533–42. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70107-4
- Breitbach CJ, Burke J, Jonker D, Stephenson J, Haas AR, Chow LQ, et al. Intravenous delivery of a multi-mechanistic cancer-targeted oncolytic poxvirus in humans. *Nature* (2011) 477(7362):99–102. doi:10.1038/nature10358
- Mastrangelo MJ, Maguire HC Jr, Eisenlohr LC, Laughlin CE, Monken CE, McCue PA, et al. Intratumoral recombinant GM-CSF-encoding virus as gene therapy in patients with cutaneous melanoma. *Cancer Gene Ther* (1999) 6(5):409–22. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700066
- Hwang TH, Moon A, Burke J, Ribas A, Stephenson J, Breitbach CJ, et al. A mechanistic proof-of-concept clinical trial with JX-594, a targeted multi-mechanistic oncolytic poxvirus, in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(10):1913–22. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.132
- Eager R, Nemunaitis J. GM-CSF gene-transduced tumor vaccines. *Mol Ther* (2005) 12(1):18–27. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.02.012
- Hu JC, Coffin RS, Davis CJ, Graham NJ, Groves N, Guest PJ, et al. A phase I study of OncoVEXGM-CSF, a second-generation oncolytic herpes simplex virus expressing granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12(22):6737–47. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0759
- 83. Senzer NN, Kaufman HL, Amatruda T, Nemunaitis M, Reid T, Daniels G, et al. Phase II clinical trial of a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating

factor-encoding, second-generation oncolytic herpesvirus in patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) **27**(34):5763–71. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2009.24.3675

- Forner A, Llovet JM, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet (2012) 379(9822):1245–55. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61347-0
- Heo J, Breitbach CJ, Moon A, Kim CW, Patt R, Kim MK, et al. Sequential therapy with JX-594, a targeted oncolytic poxvirus, followed by sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma: preclinical and clinical demonstration of combination efficacy. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(6):1170–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.39
- Zou W. Regulatory T cells, tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(4):295–307. doi:10.1038/nri1806
- Perez N, Karumuthil-Melethil S, Li R, Prabhakar BS, Holterman MJ, Vasu C. Preferential costimulation by CD80 results in IL-10-dependent TGF-beta1(+) -adaptive regulatory T cell generation. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(10):6566–76.
- Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. Cell (2010) 140(6):883–99. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.025
- Weber JS, O'Day S, Urba W, Powderly J, Nichol G, Yellin M, et al. Phase I/II study of ipilimumab for patients with metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2008) 26(36):5950–6. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.16.1927
- Weber JS, Kudchadkar RR, Yu B, Gallenstein D, Horak CE, Inzunza HD, et al. Safety, efficacy, and biomarkers of nivolumab with vaccine in ipilimumabrefractory or -naive melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31(34):4311–8. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2013.51.4802
- Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP. PD-1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**(9):4275–80. doi:10.1073/pnas.0915174107
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369(2):122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- 93. Puzanov I, Milhem M, Andtbacka R, Minor D, Hamid O, Li A, et al. Phase 1 results of a phase 1b/2, multicenter, open-label trial to evaluate safety and efficacy of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) and ipilimumab (ipi) vs ipi alone in previously untreated, unresected stage IIIB-IV melanoma. *J Immunother Cancer* (2013) 1(Suppl 1):84. doi:10.1186/2051-1426-1-S1-P84

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 19 February 2014; accepted: 14 April 2014; published online: 01 May 2014. Citation: Moehler M, Goepfert K, Heinrich B, Breitbach CJ, Delic M, Galle PR and Rommelaere J (2014) Oncolytic virotherapy as emerging immunotherapeutic modality: potential of parvovirus H-1. Front. Oncol. 4:92. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00092

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Moehler, Goepfert, Heinrich, Breitbach, Delic, Galle and Rommelaere. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



How informative is the immune response against surrogate tumor antigens to assess antitumor immunity?

Valérie Janelle^{1,2} and Alain Lamarre^{1,2}*

¹ Immunovirology Laboratory, Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique, INRS-Institut Armand-Frappier, Laval, QC, Canada

² Department of Biology, Biomed Research Center, Université du Québec à Montréal, Montréal, QC, Canada

*Correspondence: alain.lamarre@iaf.inrs.ca

Edited by:

Philippe Fournier, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Germany

Reviewed by:

Volker Schirrmacher, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Germany John Cameron Bell, Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Canada

Keywords: oncolytic viruses, tumor antigens, CD8-positive T-lymphocytes, B16F10, VSV

A commentary on

The strength of the T cell response against a surrogate tumor antigen (TA) induced by oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) therapy does not correlate with tumor control

by Janelle V, Langlois M-P, Lapierre P, Charpentier T, Poliquin L, Lamarre A. Mol Ther (2014). doi: 10.1038/mt.2014.34

The last decade has seen the development of numerous antitumor therapeutic approaches. Concomitantly, the interest for using oncolytic viruses (OV) against cancer has grown tremendously and a number of promising candidates are now in preclinical and clinical studies. Tumor regression in vivo following viral infection has been shown to be a multifactorial process (1). The reductionist view of viruses simply causing direct lysis of infected cancer cells has now been replaced by a view including the complex interplay between viruses and the tumor environment. The important role of the immune response in either limiting or enhancing OV therapy is also now well recognized (2, 3). The prototypic Rhabdoviridae VSV has generated encouraging results in various experimental tumor models and is now used in a phase I clinical trial in patients with liver cancer (www.clinicaltrials.gov; #NCT01628640). VSV possesses intrinsic oncolytic properties as it replicates more efficiently in type-I interferon (IFN)-defective cells, a pathway frequently impaired during tumorigenesis (4). Cancer therapy using VSV has been shown to generate a variety of immune responses including tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells that are induced following the release of TA by infected cells (5). However, the tumor-specific immune response generated following VSV treatment is usually weak and often only leads to transient tumor control. Experimental tumor models expressing various surrogate nonself-TA have been developed over the years to more easily assess the magnitude and quality of immune responses generated against tumors. However, whether these responses are always representative of physiological antitumor immune responses is unclear.

Recently, our group characterized various VSV glycoprotein (G) mutants capable of interfering with host cell metabolism by inhibiting cellular transcription and translation in a kinetic similar to WT VSV as opposed to the prototypic matrix (M) mutant (M_{M51R}) that is slightly attenuated in vitro (6). Furthermore, VSV G mutants proved to be more cytolytic for B16 melanoma cells in vitro than the M mutant. To analyze their oncolytic potential in vivo, we used an immunocompetent mouse model implanted with B16 tumors transfected with a DNA minigene encoding the immunodominant CD8⁺ T cell epitope of the lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (glycoprotein aa 33-41) (7) as a surrogate non-self-TA (B16gp33) (8). Mice were injected subcutaneously into the flank with B16gp33 cells and when tumors reached a palpable size (day 7), animals were treated intratumorally every second day with three doses (days 7, 9, and 11) of WT VSV or of the G or M mutants. Tetramer

and intracellular cytokine staining analysis revealed that CD8⁺ T cells harvested from mice treated with WT VSV or the G mutants developed a polyfunctional gp33specific immune response. Surprisingly however, the strength of the gp33-specific immune response generated did not correlate with the ability of a particular strain of VSV to slow down parental B16 growth and improve mice survival. Treatment with WT VSV was the poorest at controlling B16 tumor progression even though it induced a strong CTL response against gp33. On the other hand, M_{M51R} was more efficient than WT VSV at slowing down B16 growth despite the fact that this virus induced the lowest gp33-specific T cell response. We therefore determined whether CD8⁺ T cell responses directed against endogenous self-TA were involved in limiting tumor progression. CTL responses against self-TA, such as TRP-1 and gp100, were barely detectable ex vivo when analyzed separately. However, adoptive transfer of purified CD8⁺ T cells harvested from M_{M51R}treated B16gp33 melanoma-bearing mice into naive mice provided better protection against parental B16 tumor implantation compared to CTLs taken from WT or G mutant-treated mice. These results suggest that the M mutant, despite being the weakest at inducing a T cell response against the surrogate non-self-TA gp33, induces the broadest antitumoral CTL response.

B16 melanoma is a highly aggressive tumor model in part because major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) surface expression is very low on these



cells. Strikingly, B16 infection with VSV M mutant induced the upregulation of surface MHC-I both in vitro and in vivo, a phenomenon that was not observed for WT VSV of the G mutants (8). The matrix protein of VSV was previously shown to alter trafficking of a molecule structurally similar to MHC-I, namely CD1d (9, 10). This leads to inhibition of antigen presentation to natural killer T (NKT) cells (11). Thus, VSV matrix protein could participate in the retention of MHC-I molecules within infected cells while the mutated protein in M_{M51R} may lack this ability. Thus, surface MHC-I upregulation following MM51R treatment likely explains the significantly improved CD8⁺ T cell-dependent survival despite the poor gp33-specific CTL response induced by this mutant. This may subsequently lead to presentation of a broader pool of B16 TA proportionally reducing the response against gp33 (see Figure 1 for model).

In a recent study, Pedersen et al. compared vaccine-induced CD8⁺ T cell responses directed against self and nonself-TA and showed that vaccination with adenoviral vectors encoding endogenous TA had little or no effect on the growth of B16 melanomas whereas vaccination with a similar vector construct expressing a surrogate non-self-TA induced efficient tumor control (12). Although vaccination against both self and non-self-TA induced comparable CD8⁺ T cell responses in terms of cell numbers and effector functions, CTLs directed against self-TA were of lower functional avidity. These results are in agreement with our study and provide a potential mechanism explaining why T cell responses against self and nonself-TA are different and might not be induced at proportional levels during OV therapy.

Taken together, these results highlight a considerable limitation of many experimental systems used to assess antitumor immunity and warrant caution when extrapolating responses against surrogate TA to the overall antitumoral immune response. This may prove critical for the development of novel or improved OV, which may be biased by incorrectly estimating immune response correlates using such experimental systems. Therefore, great efforts will need to be made to develop improved methods for analyzing the antitumoral immune response induced by OVs against a broader array of TA in order to better appreciate their full therapeutic potential.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and by the J.-Louis Lévesque Foundation.

REFERENCES

- Wojton J, Kaur B. Impact of tumor microenvironment on oncolytic viral therapy. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2010) 21(2–3):127–34. doi:10.1016/j. cytogfr.2010.02.014
- Galivo F, Diaz RM, Wongthida P, Thompson J, Kottke T, Barber G, et al. Single-cycle viral gene expression, rather than progressive replication and oncolysis, is required for VSV therapy of B16 melanoma. *Gene Ther* (2010) 17(2):158–70. doi:10.1038/gt. 2009.161
- Prestwich RJ, Errington F, Diaz RM, Pandha HS, Harrington KJ, Melcher AA, et al. The case of oncolytic viruses versus the immune system: waiting on the judgment of Solomon. *Hum Gene Ther* (2009) **20**(10):1119–32. doi:10.1089/hum. 2009.135
- 4. Naik S, Russell SJ. Engineering oncolytic viruses to exploit tumor specific defects in innate immune

signaling pathways. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2009) 9(9):1163–76. doi:10.1517/14712590903170653

- Diaz RM, Galivo F, Kottke T, Wongthida P, Qiao J, Thompson J, et al. Oncolytic immunovirotherapy for melanoma using vesicular stomatitis virus. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(6):2840–8. doi:10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-06-3974
- Janelle V, Brassard F, Lapierre P, Lamarre A, Poliquin L. Mutations in the glycoprotein of vesicular stomatitis virus affect cytopathogenicity: potential for oncolytic virotherapy. *J Virol* (2011) 85(13):6513–20. doi:10.1128/JVI.02484-10
- Prevost-Blondel A, Zimmermann C, Stemmer C, Kulmburg P, Rosenthal FM, Pircher H. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes exhibiting high ex vivo cytolytic activity fail to prevent murine melanoma tumor growth in vivo. *J Immunol* (1998) 161(5):2187–94.
- Janelle V, Langlois M-P, Lapierre P, Charpentier T, Poliquin L, Lamarre A. The strength of the T cell response against a surrogate tumor antigen induced by oncolytic VSV therapy does not

correlate with tumor control. *Mol Ther* (2014). doi:10.1038/mt.2014.34

- Calabi F, Bradbury A. The CD1 system. *Tissue Anti*gens (1991) **37**(1):1–9. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0039. 1991.tb01836.x
- Brutkiewicz RR, Bennink JR, Yewdell JW, Bendelac A. TAP-independent, beta 2-microglobulindependent surface expression of functional mouse CD1.1. J Exp Med (1995) 182(6):1913–9. doi:10. 1084/jem.182.6.1913
- Renukaradhya GJ, Khan MA, Shaji D, Brutkiewicz RR. Vesicular stomatitis virus matrix protein impairs CD1d-mediated antigen presentation through activation of the p38 MAPK pathway. *J Virol* (2008) 82(24):12535–42. doi:10.1128/JVI. 00881-08
- Pedersen SR, Sørensen MR, Buus S, Christensen JP, Thomsen AR. Comparison of vaccine-induced effector CD8 T cell responses directed against self- and non-self-tumor antigens: implications for cancer immunotherapy. J Immunol (2013) 191(7):3955–67. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300555

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 13 March 2014; accepted: 21 May 2014; published online: 04 June 2014.

Citation: Janelle V and Lamarre A (2014) How informative is the immune response against surrogate tumor antigens to assess antitumor immunity? Front. Oncol. 4:135. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00135

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Janelle and Lamarre. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Armed therapeutic viruses - a disruptive therapy on the horizon of cancer immunotherapy

Maxine Bauzon and Terry Hermiston*

Bayer HealthCare, US Innovation Center, Biologics Research, San Francisco, CA, USA

Edited by:

Volker Schirrmacher, German Cancer Research Center, Germany

Reviewed by:

Can Peng, Tongji University, China Yong Lu, Cleveland Clinic Foundation, USA

*Correspondence:

Terry Hermiston, Bayer HealthCare, US Innovation Center, Biologics Research, 455 Mission Bay Blvd. South, San Francisco, CA 94158, USA e-mail: terry.hermiston@bayer.com

For the past 150 years cancer immunotherapy has been largely a theoretical hope that recently has begun to show potential as a highly impactful treatment for various cancers. In particular, the identification and targeting of immune checkpoints have given rise to exciting data suggesting that this strategy has the potential to activate sustained antitumor immunity. It is likely that this approach, like other anti-cancer strategies before it, will benefit from co-administration with an additional therapeutic and that it is this combination therapy that may generate the greatest clinical outcome for the patient. In this regard, oncolytic viruses are a therapeutic moiety that is well suited to deliver and augment these immune-modulating therapies in a highly targeted and economically advantageous way over current treatment. In this review, we discuss the blockade of immune checkpoints, how oncolytic viruses complement and extend these therapies, and speculate on how this combination will uniquely impact the future of cancer immunotherapy.

Keywords: oncolytic virus, cancer immunotherapy, immune-checkpoint inhibitors, CTLA-4, PD1, PDL1, PDL2, blockade of checkpoint inhibitors

INTRODUCTION

Tumors are difficult to treat and in many instances lethal. The treatment challenge is not surprising as they are genetically unstable and complex biological systems with an ability to adapt to and thrive in often harsh and changing environments. Furthermore, this plasticity increases the probability that subpopulations will acquire resistance to any one therapy. Thus one could argue that a disease with such a complex etiology must be met with an equally complex therapeutic approach. Appropriately, oncologists have for some time combined chemotherapy, radiation and surgery and complemented these strategies with more targeted approaches such as tumor selective antibodies and/or small molecule kinase inhibitors (1). More recently, two alternative therapeutic approaches, cancer immunotherapy and oncolytic viruses, have begun to show promise that should further complement the oncologist's repertoire of anti-cancer agents.

The area of cancer immunotherapy has had a long and complex history (2, 3). The idea that a patient's own immune system could remove a tumor in much the same way it so efficiently removes invading microbes has been around for more than a century. Through the years, however, this concept of immunosurveillance has fallen in and out of favor perhaps appropriately given the complex and dynamic role, it is now believed to play in cancer, acting anywhere from anti to pro-tumorigenic (4-6). Research is beginning to elucidate the mechanisms by which tumors evade the immune system and in some instances how tumors use it to their advantage. From this research several promising immunecheckpoint inhibitor targets that are now translating into exciting clinical trial results have emerged (7–9).

Like cancer immunotherapy, the concept of oncolytic viruses is not new dating back to at least the beginning of the twentieth century when it was observed that on occasion tumor

regression would follow a viral infection (10, 11). Although over 100 years have passed since these initial observations, the idea of using a replicating virus to selectively infect and kill tumor cells remains understandably appealing. Theoretically, either naturally or through genetic engineering, such an agent would spare normal neighboring cells while killing cancer cells by viral lysis. Furthermore, the progeny released from the lysed cancer cells would result in a self-perpetuating and amplifying therapy. Adding to their appeal is the ability of such agents to deliver exogenous genetic material whose product or products could augment the oncolytic viral treatment (12-14). Despite their theoretical promise, the reality is that oncolytic viruses have had limited clinical success as monotherapies perhaps due to an imbalanced focus on safety over potency. Recently however, there are several late-stage clinical trials showing promise which may eventually lead to clinical acceptance (15, 16).

Here, we suggest merging immune-checkpoint blockers with oncolytic viruses. We will discuss not only how these approaches could complement one another biologically for increased therapeutic benefit, but also how they may represent a unique opportunity to employ alternative biological formats not normally utilized commercially (e.g., Fabs, scFv) to increase both the safety and therapeutic profile of these agents. Finally we will touch upon how, together, these attributes might translate into a more economically appealing and clinically active therapy resulting in a truly new and disruptive treatment for malignancies.

CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY-BLOCKADE OF IMMUNE CHECKPOINTS

Immunotherapy works to direct the extensive repertoire of the host immune system to fight cancer. This approach strives to stimulate tumor suppression by (a) boosting the patient's immune system, (b) decreasing the cancer-induced immunosuppression, and/or (c) increasing the immunogenicity of the tumor itself. If the immune system's ability to rapidly respond to and clear invading microorganisms could be extended to malignant cells then a powerful therapeutic may be realized. Such an approach may hold greater potential than current treatment approaches as it may prove to be more potent, benefit many more cancer types, offer long-lasting protection against the disease, and come with fewer off-target effects. Advances in cellular and molecular immunology have provided enormous insight into the inter-play between tumors and immune cells and from this research have come strategies by which the immune system might be harnessed to fight cancer (7).

The blockade of immune checkpoints is a more recent approach taken to decrease cancer-induced immunosuppression. Immune checkpoints refer to a number of inhibitory pathways that play crucial roles in maintaining self-tolerance and immune homeostasis. Their function is to down-regulate T-cell signaling in order to prevent uncontrolled T-cell proliferation thereby protecting tissues from auto-immune damage while maintaining tolerance to self-antigens. It is becoming increasingly clear that tumors commandeer certain immune-checkpoint pathways particularly against T cells that are specific for tumor antigens. Preclinical and clinical data have demonstrated that this is a major mechanism utilized by the tumor to evade the immune system. If this could be reversed, the resulting amplification of T cells and their activity would be highly beneficial to the patient given the central role T cells play in cell-mediated immunity. The immune checkpoints are controlled by ligand-receptor interactions, which can be readily blocked by antibodies or disrupted by recombinant forms of ligands or receptors making them appealing therapeutic targets. For a list of immune-checkpoint targeting antibodies that are currently in clinical trial see Table 1.

The inhibitory receptor, Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4), was the first checkpoint receptor to be extensively and successfully pursued as an anti-cancer target (32). The primary function of CTLA-4 is to regulate the magnitude of Tcell activation. It is expressed solely on T cells where it offsets the actions of CD28, a T-cell co-stimulatory receptor. Because CTLA-4 has a higher affinity for the CD28 ligands B7.1 and B7.2 it, in effect, out-competes CD28 for ligand binding resulting in an attenuated T-cell response (33-37). The lethal systemic immune hyperactivation phenotype of Ctla4-knockout mice clearly shows the importance of CTLA-4 and the need to keep T cells in check (38, 39). In 2011, an antibody against CTLA-4 (ipilimumab) was given FDA approval for the treatment of metastatic melanoma (20, 40-42). In a pivotal phase III randomized three-arm clinical trial, melanoma patients were treated with a glycoprotein 100 (gp100) peptide vaccine alone, ipilimumab alone, or the gp100 peptide and ipilimumab. Both ipilimumab groups demonstrated an increased survival of 3.5 months compared with the group receiving the gp100 peptide alone. Moreover, long-term survival was greatly increased with 18% of patients receiving ipilimumab surviving for greater than 2 years as compared with only 5% for the gp100 peptide alone cohort (17). Although ipilimumab treatment was relatively brief, spanning only 3 months, the finding of long-term progression-free survival supports the idea that immune-based

 Table 1 | The most advanced clinically evaluated immune-checkpoint blocking antibodies.

| Target | Antibody in development | Current clinical status | Reference |
|--------|-----------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------|
| CTLA-4 | lpilimumab (MDX-010) | Approved for melanoma 2012. Multiple cancers (phase I, II, III) | (17–19) |
| | Tremelimumab (CP-675,206) | Multiple cancers (phase I, II) | (20–22) |
| PD1 | Nivolumab (BMS-936558 or MDX1106) | Multiple cancers (phase I, II) Melanoma (recruiting phase III) | (23–25) |
| | CT-011 | Multiple cancers (phase I, II) | (26, 27) |
| | MK-3475 | Multiple cancers (phase I, II, III) | (28, 29) |
| PDL1 | MDX-1105 (BMS-936559) | Multiple cancers (phase I) | (29) |
| | MPDL3280A MSB0010718C | Multiple cancers (phase I, II) Multiple cancers (phase I) | (30) |
| PDL2 | rHlgM12B7 | Melanoma (phase I) | |
| B7-H3 | MGA271 | Multiple cancers (phase I) Melanoma (phase I) | (31) |
| LAG3 | BMS-986016 | Multiple cancers (phase I) | |

Above trial information from ClinicalTrials.gov.

therapies may actually result in a reprogramed immune system which can confer long-term antitumor immunity. Clinical trials are on-going evaluating the use of anti CTLA-4 antibodies in other cancer indications including lung, colorectal, renal, and ovarian (43).

The immune-checkpoint receptor, programed cell death 1 (PD1) and its ligands PDL1 and PLD2, are also emerging as promising targets. PD1 like CTLA-4 plays a role in regulating and maintaining the balance between T-cell activation and tolerance (44, 45). However, unlike CTLA-4, PD1 is more broadly expressed and can be found on other activated non-T-lymphocyte subsets including B cells and natural killer (NK) cells. Additionally while CTLA-4 primarily regulates T-cell activation, PD1 principally controls T-cell activity (46). The ligands PDL1 and PDL2 are commonly upregulated on the surface of many different human tumors with PDL1 being the predominant PD1 ligand on solid tumors. High expression levels of PDL1 have been shown on melanoma, lung, ovarian, and other human cancers (47, 48). PDL1 is also expressed on myeloid cells in the tumor microenvironment. Pdl, Pdl1, and Pdl2-knockout mice demonstrate a milder auto-immune phenotype than Ctla4-knockout mice (49-52). Preclinical studies have shown that blocking PD1 or its ligand PDL1 enhances immunity in vitro and mediates antitumor activity in preclinical models (53-55). Although the development of PD1 targeting antibodies is not as mature as that of CTLA-4 antibodies, preliminary clinical results look encouraging. In phase I trials of an anti-PD1 antibody (nivolumab), objective responses (complete or partial responses) were observed in those with non-small-cell lung cancer, melanoma, or renal-cell cancer with cumulative response rates ranging from 18 to 28%. Responses were durable with 20 of 31 responses lasting 1 year or more (56). In a separate phase I trial of patients with various advanced cancers, an anti-PDL1 antibody (MDX-1105) also induced durable tumor regression (objective response rate, 6–17%) and prolonged stabilization of disease (12–41% at 24 week) (57).

Beyond CTLA-4 and PD1, molecular immunology has begun to reveal additional receptors and ligands that serve an inhibitory immune function. These include B and T-lymphocyte attenuator (BTLA), T-cell membrane protein 3 (TIM3), Lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG3), adenosine A2a receptor (A2aR), and the B7 family of inhibitory ligands (58-66). Each has been associated with the inhibition of lymphocyte activity in preclinical models and consequently antibodies against a number of these targets are being actively pursued (58-66). Additionally, because multiple inhibitory ligands and receptors contribute to the tumor's evasion of the immune system and appear to be non-redundant, there remains the possibility of further enhancing antitumor immunity by blocking multiple immune checkpoints. Currently several preclinical and clinical studies are on-going testing the effects of blocking a combination of immune checkpoints (Table 2) (67-73). In fact, a recently published phase I study in patients with melanoma that combined anti-CTLA-4 (ipilimumab) and anti-PD1(nivolumab) mAbs resulted in a rapid and deep tumor regression in a substantial proportion of patients (53% of patients had an objective response, all with tumor reduction of 80% or more) (74). These objective response rates exceeded the previously reported results with either mAb alone (17, 56).

ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES AS (IMMUNO)THERAPIES

Oncolytic viruses can be RNA or DNA based and derived from human (e.g., herpes simplex virus, adenovirus, measles virus) or animal [e.g., vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), Newcastle disease virus, myxoma virus] viruses. By definition they selectively replicate in, and kill cancer cells. This selectivity can be a natural property of the virus or an engineered trait (75–81). Oncolytic viruses can also be genetically armed to improve or generate more tumor selective cell killing. For example, cell death can be induced by delivering tumor-suppressors (e.g., p53, p16), pro-apoptotic proteins (e.g., TRAIL, IL-24), or small hairpin RNA targeting cell survival or proliferation factors (e.g., hTERT, survivin) (82–87). Arming can also sensitize the tumor to chemo or radiotherapy (Prodrug enzymes, NIS) (88–90).

Although direct oncolysis was envisioned as the primary desired outcome of this therapeutic approach, research and clinical data is supporting the assertion that these productive tumor-specific infections can elicit additional antitumor effects. For example there is evidence that oncolytic viral therapy can induce tumor vasculature shutdown resulting in tumor necrosis (91, 92). Data also suggests that because oncolytic viruses result in highly proinflammatory and immunogenic events (tumor cell death and the release of tumor-specific antigens) (93–95) they can elicit a tumorspecific immune response (96). Additionally, viruses encode products that can be recognized by immune and non-immune cells as Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and can also cause the release of Damage-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs) (97). PAMPs are structural motifs which serve

| Table 2 The current clinical development of combined | |
|--------------------------------------------------------|--|
| immune-checkpoint targeting agents. | |

| Stage of clinical development | Targets | Antibodies in development | Target disease |
|----------------------------------|-------------|------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Phase III | CTLA-4/PD-1 | lpilimumab + Nivolumab | Metastatic melanoma |
| Phase II | CTLA-4/PD-1 | lpilimumab + Nivolumab | Metastatic melanoma |
| Phase I | CTLA-4/PD-1 | lpilimumab + Nivolumab | Metastatic renal-cell carcinoma |
| | CTLA-4/PD-1 | lpilimumab + Nivolumab | Malignant melanoma |
| | CTLA-4/PD-1 | lpilimumab + Nivolumab | Non-small-cell lung cancer |
| | LAG3/PD-1 | BMS-986016 + Nivolumab | Multiple cancers |

Above trial information from ClinicalTrials.gov.

as "danger" signals to the host indicating the presence of virus that trigger host defenses. These danger signals can be structural proteins and glycolipids but are mainly nucleic acids including double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), viral single-stranded RNA, and CpG DNA (98, 99). DAMPs are host nuclear or cytosolic proteins with defined intracellular function that activate effector cells from the innate immune system when they are released outside the cell (100). Virus-induced changes such as an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, a decrease in immunosuppressive cytokines, and the release of PAMPs and DAMPs at the site of the tumor may diminish or reverse the established immunosuppressive microenvironment and initiate antitumor immunity.

Several oncolytic virus classes are currently in late-stage clinical trials (Table 3). The most advance of these, Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC, formerly OncoVex or JS1/ICP34.5-/ICP47-/GM-CSF; an HSV isolate selected for its potency over laboratory strains, it is deleted in both the ICP34.5 and ICP47 genes to further increase viral replication and tumor cell killing, it also expresses human GM-CSF for immune stimulation) has demonstrated some very promising clinical data. From recently announced results of a phase III trial in unresectable stage IIIB-IV melanoma receiving either T-VEC injected into the lesion or GM-CSF administered subcutaneously, the overall durable response rate (DRR) was 16.3% for T-VEC treated patients as compared to 2.1% for GM-CSF treated individuals (101). The objective overall response rate (ORR) was 26.4% for the T-VEC group (including 10.8% complete responders) compared to an ORR of 5.7% and a complete response rate of 0.7% in the GM-CSF alone group (101). Importantly, in a phase II trial, tumor shrinkage was noted in non-injected lesions, demonstrating that systemic immunity was induced (102). In addition, and across a number of viruses, studies have shown that both innate and adaptive immune responses are generated following viral tumor lysis (92, 103–111). This antitumor immunity is an important outcome of oncolytic viral therapy as it would lead to the destruction of tumor cells that escaped the initial viral lysis.

| Virus | Name | Cancer type | Reference |
|----------------|-------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------|
| Adenovirus | ONYX-015 H101 | SCCHN Glioma Ovarian | (112–114) |
| | CGTG-102 CG0070 ICOVIR-5 ColoAd1 | Solid tumors Bladder Solid tumors Colorectal | (115) (116, 117) (118–120) (121) |
| Vaccinia virus | GL-ONC1 JX-594 | Solid tumors Liver tumors Solid tumors IV | (122–124) (125, 126) |
| Herpesvirus | G207 NV1020 T-Vec | Glioma Liver tumors IA Breast SCCHN Melanoma IT Liver tumors | (127–129) (130, 131) (132, 133) |
| Reovirus | Reolysin | SCCHN IT Solid tumors IV | (134–136) |
| Measles virus | MV-CEA MV-NIS | Ovarian IP Ovarian IP Glioma IT Myeloma IV Mesothelioma | (137, 138) (139–141) |
| NDV | PV701 | Solid tumors | (142, 143) |

Above trial information from ClinicalTrials.gov.

MERGING ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES AND IMMUNE-CHECKPOINT BLOCKING

The realization that oncolytic viral therapy can itself be an immunotherapy has in many ways reinvigorated the field and expanded the possible approaches that can be taken to treat cancer. Similarly, the discovery and targeting of immune checkpoints has opened a new immuotherapeutic avenue generating very promising clinical results. The potential to combine oncolytic viruses with a blockade of immune checkpoints is a very exciting strategy that may be beneficial on many levels and help overcome current shortcomings associated with either approach alone. To date, there have been only a few preclinical studies combining oncolytic viruses and immune-checkpoint blockers (anti-CTLA-4 mAb) (144, 145). However, results have been promising with one study showing that replication competent VSV in combination with anti-CTLA-4 mAb resulted in the elimination of macroscopic tumor implants in the majority of test animals, an outcome that could not be achieved by either treatment alone (145). The study went on to show that the response was CD4 and CD8 T-cell mediated (145). When combining these two approaches, the exact virus/checkpoint combination will likely need to be determined empirically with many factors including indication and immune status of patient playing a role. However, in general an argument can be made that the greatest synergies between these strategies would be realized by delivering

Table 4 |The benefits of using an oncolytic virus to deliver immune-checkpoint blockers.

| Viral attribute | Benefit | | |
|------------------------------------|---------|---------|----------|
| | Safety | Potency | Economic |
| Immuno-stimulatory | | х | |
| Targeted delivery | х | х | х |
| Delivery of alternative Ab formats | х | х | х |
| Multi-gene delivery | х | х | х |

the immune-checkpoint therapy directly from the oncolytic virus (**Table 4**).

INCREASED PRIMING AND GREATER IMMUNE POTENCY

Preclinical studies have shown that in mice bearing partially immunogenic tumors, treatment with CTLA-4 antibodies could elicit significant antitumor responses whereas poorly immunogenic tumors were refractory to anti-CTLA-4 administration (32, 146). However, these refractory tumors could be made more responsive by administering granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) in combination with the anti-CTLA-4 (146). These findings suggested that a CTLA-4 blockade enhances an already existing endogenous antitumor response resulting in tumor regression. But when the tumor is poorly immunogenic and does not induce a robust enough immune response the anti-immune checkpoint is not as efficacious. Similar results have been found in the clinic where analysis of pre-treatment tumors indicated that patients with high baseline expression levels of immune-related genes were more likely to respond favorably to ipilimumab (147). Just as the GM-CSF is used to help boost the initial innate immune response, oncolytic viruses could have a similar effect as it is clear that the oncolytic viral infection has pro-inflammatory properties, eliciting both an innate and adaptive immune response.

ENHANCED SAFETY AND EFFICACY BY EXPRESSING IMMUNE-CHECKPOINT BLOCKERS FROM THE ONCOLYTIC VIRUS

The oncolytic virus and the immune-checkpoint blocker could be administered as two separate therapeutics but one of the most appealing aspects of the oncolytic viral approach is that it is localized to the tumor. This localization confers several advantages for both safety and potency. Clinical and preclinical data strongly suggest that a blockade of immune checkpoints is a very potent antitumor therapy. However, there are, in some cases, unwanted side effects. Given the importance of the immune checkpoints in maintaining immune homeostasis there is concern that a blockade of these receptors and/or ligands could lead to a break in immune self-tolerance resulting in autoimmune/autoinflammatory side effects (148). Blocking CTLA-4 as a therapy was initially questioned given its crucial role in the regulation of T-cell amplification. The phenotype of Ctla4-knockout mice also hinted at the possibility of a high number of unwanted immune-related effects. In the pivotal phase III trial of ipilimumab, Grade 3 or Grade 4 immune-related adverse events (including rash, colitis, hepatitis, and endocrinopathies) occurred in 10-15% of patients

treated with the anti-CTLA-4 antibody as compared to 3% of those treated with gp100 alone. During this trial, there were 14 deaths related to ipilimumab (2.1%), 7 of which were due to immune-related adverse events (17). Delivering the immune-checkpoint blocker (Ab, Ab derivative or modified ligand or receptor) from the oncolytic virus would localize the treatment and mitigate the risks inherent in systemic delivery. In preclinical studies of a replication competent adenovirus armed with the coding region of a full length CTLA-4 antibody a 43-fold higher antibody concentration in the tumor as compared to the plasma was noted (144). Moreover, plasma levels in treated mice remained below the reported human safety threshold (144).

It is also possible to make expression of these immunecheckpoint blockers contingent upon a productive viral infection (i.e., selective replication that is restricted to the tumor cell) further increasing the safety of the therapeutic. This can be done by utilizing endogenous late viral promoters that are dependent upon the uptake and replication within the target tumor cell to express exogenous genes and has been described for human adenovirus (12, 13, 149). In the normal cell, this expression would be blocked as replication would not be achieved consequently confining expression to target cancer cells. Potency, like safety also benefits from this localized delivery, concentrating the therapeutic to the tumor and its microenvironment. Accumulation of virally delivered transgenes (including reporter genes, prodrug converting enzyme, anti-angiogenic factors, immunostimulatory factors) at the site of the infected tumor has been shown in numerous studies (97, 115, 132, 150–153). For example, PET imaging experiments have dramatically demonstrated the tumor localized expression of thymide kinase following infection with an oncolytic virus armed with the enzyme (154, 155). This accumulation was translated into efficacy upon administration of the prodrug Ganciclovir (154). Additionally, the self-perpetuating nature of an oncolytic infection results in sustained transgene expression (156) that will continue until tumor regression is complete and the virus is eliminated from the tumor site by the immune system (157). Therefore the amount of material produced would be directly related, in theory, to the tumor load, personalizing the respective dose to the individual and their tumor burden. It is also appealing to consider that this may eliminate peaks and valleys associated with the intravenous administration of the therapeutic as the virus expressed molecule would be generated on a more constant basis that might also benefit the patient.

ENABLEMENT OF ALTERNATIVE THERAPEUTICS

Although viruses can be used to deliver an intact IgG, their focused delivery to the tumor site and their self-perpetuating nature allow for the use of alternative antibody formats such as diabodies, Fabs, and scFvs (144, 158). This could have a profound impact on any mAb-based antitumor therapeutic particulary immune-checkpoint blockers. From a safety standpoint, the use of these alternative Ab formats could be beneficial because IgGs, due to their size (150 kDa), have prolonged serum half-lives (>10 days) and are therefore more likely to have associated toxicities. If these alternative formats were to escape the tumor site their faster clear-ance reduces the risk for off-target events. For immune-checkpoint blockers, this could help to decrease the immune-related adverse

events that have been associated with this therapeutic approach (148, 159). Additionally, smaller formats would potentially penetrate the tumor to a greater extent than a full length antibody. Studies have shown that an intact IgG molecule takes 54 h to move 1 mm into a solid tumor, whereas a Fab fragment travels the same distance in only 16 h (160). This enhanced penetration could increase overall efficacy. The diabodies in particular have been shown to provide rapid tissue penetration, high target retention, and rapid blood clearance presumably as a result of their multi-valent nature and intermediate size (55 kDa) (161). The use of alternative antibody formats also opens up the possibility of delivering multiple therapies from one oncolvtic virus. This may have broad implications for the blockade of immune-checkpoint approach as studies are beginning to show that targeting multiple checkpoints may be more efficacious (67-71, 74). Without localized delivery, the use of these alternative formats would likely not be feasible as they would clear too rapidly (on the order of a few hours or minutes dependent upon the format) (162). This may necessitate the need for higher input doses or multiple injections of the Ab, which could potentially be cost prohibitive. Having localized delivery via the virus would avoid the need for full length Abs and make the smaller, faster-clearing formats viable therapies that are still capable of efficacious outcomes.

ECONOMICALLY ADVANTAGEOUS

Expression of immune-checkpoint blockers from an Oncolytic virus is economically appealing. If one assumes that the initial promising results seen with combination checkpoint blockers are maintained in larger phase II and III trials, the delivery of a combination of blockers from a virus would eliminate the need to commercially manufacture the molecules separately. This approach utilizes a single entity (the virus) to exploit the natural machinery of the virus and the tumor cell to continuously produce the therapeutic agents so long as the tumor cells continue to exist. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that multiple exogenous proteins can be delivered from a single virus (149). Due to their tumor selective localization, as mentioned previously, they would not need to express a full length antibody, making this approach potentially attractive and novel for delivering multiple-checkpoint inhibitors to the site. In addition, this therapy would have the potential added benefit of increased immunogenicity and/or direct tumor cell lysis offered by the oncolytic virus. Thus expressing a single biological agent with the ability to deliver multiple-checkpoint inhibitors that itself has anti-cancer activity is an interesting possibility. However, it should be kept in mind that the commercial manufacture of oncolytic viruses is behind that of antibodies and thus may be only a true economic advantage in the future with additional optimization.

CONCLUSION

In the fight against cancer, no single magic bullet has emerged. Despite several improvements in diagnostics and therapies nearly 7 million cancer-related deaths still occur every year worldwide (163). One reason is that cancer is complex and can evolve to thrive under harsh conditions and to evade the body's natural defenses. Two promising therapeutic strategies have emerged; the blockade of immune checkpoints and oncolytic viruses and we

| Therapeutic approach | Pros | Cons |
|-----------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|
| Oncolytic virus | Selective for cancer cells | Selectivity is potentially cancer-type dependent |
| | Self-amplifying therapy | Suboptimal potency as a monotherapy |
| | Tumor burden dependent | Pro-inflammatory/immunogenic |
| | Pro-inflammatory/immunogenic | Manufacturing challenges |
| | Endogenous gene delivery | |
| Immune-checkpoint inhibitor | Potential to be non-cancer-type specific | Potential for adverse immunological events |
| | Potent/lasting tumor immunity | Dependent on immune status of patient |
| | Amendable to current biologics (antibodies, | |
| | recombinant ligands, receptors) | |
| Oncolytic virus + immune-checkpoint inhibitor | Selective for cancer cells | Selectivity is potentially cancer-type dependent |
| | Self-amplifying therapy | Manufacturing challenges |
| | Tumor burden dependent | |
| | Pro-inflammatory/immunogenic | |
| | Endogenous gene delivery | |
| | Potent/lasting tumor immunity | |

believe that an argument can be made that the greatest potential for both of these therapies lies in the synergies that would be realized by delivering the immune-checkpoint therapy directly from the oncolytic virus (**Table 5**). We look forward to the continued evolution of these agents and to the exciting years ahead as we begin to see these agents come forward pre-clinically and clinically.

REFERENCES

- Al-Lazikani B, Banerji U, Workman P. Combinatorial drug therapy for cancer in the post-genomic era. *Nat Biotechnol* (2012) **30**(7):679–92. doi:10.1038/nbt. 2284
- 2. Parish CR. Cancer immunotherapy: the past, the present and the future. Immunol Cell Biol (2003) 81(2):106–13. doi:10.1046/j.0818-9641.2003.01151.x
- 3. Waldmann TA. Immunotherapy: past, present and future. *Nat Med* (2003) **9**(3):269–77. doi:10.1038/nm0303-269
- de Visser KE, Eichten A, Coussens LM. Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2006) 6(1):24–37. doi:10.1038/ nrc1782
- Finn OJ. Cancer immunology. N Engl J Med (2008) 358(25):2704–15. doi:10. 1056/NEJMra072739
- Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:235–71. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-031210-101324
- Davis ID, Jefford M, Parente P, Cebon J. Rational approaches to human cancer immunotherapy. J Leukoc Biol (2003) 73(1):3–29. doi:10.1189/jlb.0502261
- Pardoll DM. Spinning molecular immunology into successful immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol (2002) 2(4):227–38. doi:10.1038/nri774
- 9. Topalian SL, Weiner GJ, Pardoll DM. Cancer immunotherapy comes of age. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) **29**(36):4828–36. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.38.0899
- Kelly E, Russell SJ. History of oncolytic viruses: genesis to genetic engineering. Mol Ther (2007) 15(4):651–9. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300108
- Moore AE. The destructive effect of the virus of Russian Far East encephalitis on the transplantable mouse sarcoma 180. *Cancer* (1949) 2(3):525–34. doi:10. 1002/1097-0142(194905)2:3<525::AID-CNCR2820020317>3.0.CO;2-O
- Hermiston T. Gene delivery from replication-selective viruses: arming guided missiles in the war against cancer. J Clin Invest (2000) 105(9):1169–72. doi:10.1172/JCI9973
- 13. Hermiston T. Fighting fire with fire: attacking the complexity of human tumors with armed therapeutic viruses. *Curr Opin Mol Ther* (2002) **4**(4):334–42.
- 14. Jeyaretna DS, Kuroda T. Recent advances in the development of oncolytic HSV-1 vectors: 'arming' of HSV-1 vectors and application of bacterial artificial

chromosome technology for their construction. Curr Opin Mol Ther (2007) $\mathbf{9}(5)$:447–66.

- Patel MR, Kratzke RA. Oncolytic virus therapy for cancer: the first wave of translational clinical trials. *Transl Res* (2013) 161(4):355–64. doi:10.1016/j.trsl. 2012.12.010
- Rowan K. Oncolytic viruses move forward in clinical trials. J Natl Cancer Inst (2010) 102(9):590–5. doi:10.1093/jnci/djq165
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Acharya UH, Jeter JM. Use of ipilimumab in the treatment of melanoma. *Clin Pharmacol* (2013) 5(Suppl 1):21–7.
- McDermott D, Haanen J, Chen TT, Lorigan P, O'Day S. Efficacy and safety of ipilimumab in metastatic melanoma patients surviving more than 2 years following treatment in a phase III trial (MDX010-20). *Ann Oncol* (2013) 24(10):2694–8. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdt291
- Ribas A. Clinical development of the anti-CTLA-4 antibody tremelimumab. Semin Oncol (2010) 37(5):450–4. doi:10.1053/j.seminoncol.2010.09.010
- 21. Calabro L, Morra A, Fonsatti E, Cutaia O, Amato G, Giannarelli D, et al. Tremelimumab for patients with chemotherapy-resistant advanced malignant mesothelioma: an open-label, single-arm, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2013) 14(11):1104–11. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70381-4
- 22. Tarhini AA. Tremelimumab: a review of development to date in solid tumors. *Immunotherapy* (2013) 5(3):215–29. doi:10.2217/imt.13.9
- McDermott DF, Atkins MB. PD-1 as a potential target in cancer therapy. *Cancer Med* (2013) 2(5):662–73.
- Robert C, Soria JC, Eggermont AM. Drug of the year: programmed death-1 receptor/programmed death-1 ligand-1 receptor monoclonal antibodies. *Eur J Cancer* (2013) 49(14):2968–71. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2013.07.001
- Weber JS, Kudchadkar RR, Yu B, Gallenstein D, Horak CE, Inzunza HD, et al. Safety, efficacy, and biomarkers of nivolumab with vaccine in ipilimumabrefractory or -naive melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) **31**(34):4311–8. doi:10. 1200/JCO.2013.51.4802
- 26. Benson DM Jr, Bakan CE, Mishra A, Hofmeister CC, Efebera Y, Becknell B, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis modulates the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect: a therapeutic target for CT-011, a novel monoclonal anti-PD-1 antibody. *Blood* (2010) **116**(13):2286–94. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-02-271874
- Rosenblatt J, Glotzbecker B, Mills H, Vasir B, Tzachanis D, Levine JD, et al. PD-1 blockade by CT-011, anti-PD-1 antibody, enhances ex vivo T-cell responses to autologous dendritic cell/myeloma fusion vaccine. *J Immunother* (2011) 34(5):409–18. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e31821ca6ce
- Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu WJ, Kefford R, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369(2):134–44. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1305133

- Tang PA, Heng DY. Programmed death 1 pathway inhibition in metastatic renal cell cancer and prostate cancer. *Curr Oncol Rep* (2013) 15(2):98–104. doi:10.1007/s11912-012-0284-2
- Forde PM, Reiss KA, Zeidan AM, Brahmer JR. What lies within: novel strategies in immunotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncologist* (2013) 18(11):1203–13. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2013-0171
- Loo D, Alderson RF, Chen FZ, Huang L, Zhang W, Gorlatov S, et al. Development of an Fc-enhanced anti-B7-H3 monoclonal antibody with potent antitumor activity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(14):3834–45. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-12-0715
- Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. *Science* (1996) 271(5256):1734–6. doi:10.1126/science.271. 5256.1734
- Azuma M, Ito D, Yagita H, Okumura K, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, et al. B70 antigen is a second ligand for CTLA-4 and CD28. *Nature* (1993) 366(6450):76–9. doi:10.1038/366076a0
- 34. Freeman GJ, Gribben JG, Boussiotis VA, Ng JW, Restivo VA Jr, Lombard LA, et al. Cloning of B7-2: a CTLA-4 counter-receptor that costimulates human T cell proliferation. *Science* (1993) 262(5135):909–11. doi:10.1126/science. 7694363
- 35. Linsley PS, Brady W, Urnes M, Grosmaire LS, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. *J Exp Med* (1991) 174(3):561–9. doi:10.1084/jem.174.3.561
- 36. Linsley PS, Greene JL, Brady W, Bajorath J, Ledbetter JA, Peach R. Human B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) bind with similar avidities but distinct kinetics to CD28 and CTLA-4 receptors. *Immunity* (1994) 1(9):793–801. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(94)80021-9
- Schneider H, Downey J, Smith A, Zinselmeyer BH, Rush C, Brewer JM, et al. Reversal of the TCR stop signal by CTLA-4. *Science* (2006) 313(5795):1972–5. doi:10.1126/science.1131078
- Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. *Immunity* (1995) 3(5):541–7. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90125-6
- Waterhouse P, Penninger JM, Timms E, Wakeham A, Shahinian A, Lee KP, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. *Science* (1995) 270(5238):985–8. doi:10.1126/science.270.5238.985
- Hodi FS, Mihm MC, Soiffer RJ, Haluska FG, Butler M, Seiden MV, et al. Biologic activity of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 antibody blockade in previously vaccinated metastatic melanoma and ovarian carcinoma patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) **100**(8):4712–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0830997100
- 41. Phan GQ, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Hwu P, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) **100**(14):8372–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1533209100
- 42. Ribas A, Camacho LH, Lopez-Berestein G, Pavlov D, Bulanhagui CA, Millham R, et al. Antitumor activity in melanoma and anti-self responses in a phase I trial with the anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 monoclonal antibody CP-675,206. *J Clin Oncol* (2005) **23**(35):8968–77. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.01.109
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239
- 44. Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med (2000) 192(7):1027–34. doi:10.1084/jem.192.7.1027
- Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2008) 26:677–704. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.26.021607.090331
- Parry RV, Chemnitz JM, Frauwirth KA, Lanfranco AR, Braunstein I, Kobayashi SV, et al. CTLA-4 and PD-1 receptors inhibit T-cell activation by distinct mechanisms. *Mol Cell Biol* (2005) 25(21):9543–53. doi:10.1128/MCB.25.21.9543-9553.2005
- Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumorassociated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. *Nat Med* (2002) 8(8):793–800. doi:10.1038/nm0902-1039c

- Parsa AT, Waldron JS, Panner A, Crane CA, Parney IF, Barry JJ, et al. Loss of tumor suppressor PTEN function increases B7-H1 expression and immunoresistance in glioma. Nat Med (2007) 13(1):84–8. doi:10.1038/nm1517
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupuslike autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity* (1999) 11(2):141–51. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80089-8
- Nishimura H, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Nakatani K, Hara M, Matsumori A, et al. Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. *Science* (2001) 291(5502):319–22. doi:10.1126/science.291.5502.319
- 51. Latchman YE, Liang SC, Wu Y, Chernova T, Sobel RA, Klemm M, et al. PD-L1-deficient mice show that PD-L1 on T cells, antigen-presenting cells, and host tissues negatively regulates T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(29):10691–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0307252101
- Zhang Y, Chung Y, Bishop C, Daugherty B, Chute H, Holst P, et al. Regulation of T cell activation and tolerance by PDL2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103(31):11695–700. doi:10.1073/pnas.0601347103
- 53. Fife BT, Pauken KE, Eagar TN, Obu T, Wu J, Tang Q, et al. Interactions between PD-1 and PD-L1 promote tolerance by blocking the TCR-induced stop signal. *Nat Immunol* (2009) **10**(11):1185–92. doi:10.1038/ni.1790
- Francisco LM, Salinas VH, Brown KE, Vanguri VK, Freeman GJ, Kuchroo VK, et al. PD-L1 regulates the development, maintenance, and function of induced regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(13):3015–29. doi:10.1084/jem.20090847
- Zhang L, Gajewski TF, Kline J. PD-1/PD-L1 interactions inhibit antitumor immune responses in a murine acute myeloid leukemia model. *Blood* (2009) 114(8):1545–52. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-03-206672
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366(26):2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(26):2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- Goldberg MV, Drake CG. LAG-3 in cancer immunotherapy. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol (2011) 344:269–78. doi:10.1007/82_2010_114
- He C, Qiao H, Jiang H, Sun X. The inhibitory role of b7-h4 in antitumor immunity: association with cancer progression and survival. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2011) 2011:695834. doi:10.1155/2011/695834
- Huang CT, Workman CJ, Flies D, Pan X, Marson AL, Zhou G, et al. Role of LAG-3 in regulatory T cells. *Immunity* (2004) 21(4):503–13. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2004.08.010
- Ngiow SF, von Scheidt B, Akiba H, Yagita H, Teng MW, Smyth MJ. Anti-TIM3 antibody promotes T cell IFN-gamma-mediated antitumor immunity and suppresses established tumors. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(10):3540–51. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0096
- Waickman AT, Alme A, Senaldi L, Zarek PE, Horton M, Powell JD. Enhancement of tumor immunotherapy by deletion of the A2A adenosine receptor. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61(6):917–26. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1155-7
- Watanabe N, Gavrieli M, Sedy JR, Yang J, Fallarino F, Loftin SK, et al. BTLA is a lymphocyte inhibitory receptor with similarities to CTLA-4 and PD-1. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(7):670–9. doi:10.1038/ni944
- Yi KH, Chen L. Fine tuning the immune response through B7-H3 and B7-H4. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 229(1):145–51. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00768.x
- 65. Zarek PE, Huang CT, Lutz ER, Kowalski J, Horton MR, Linden J, et al. A2A receptor signaling promotes peripheral tolerance by inducing T-cell anergy and the generation of adaptive regulatory T cells. *Blood* (2008) 111(1):251–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-081646
- 66. Zhu C, Anderson AC, Schubart A, Xiong H, Imitola J, Khoury SJ, et al. The Tim-3 ligand galectin-9 negatively regulates T helper type 1 immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(12):1245–52. doi:10.1038/ni1271
- Fourcade J, Sun Z, Benallaoua M, Guillaume P, Luescher IF, Sander C, et al. Upregulation of Tim-3 and PD-1 expression is associated with tumor antigenspecific CD8+ T cell dysfunction in melanoma patients. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(10):2175–86. doi:10.1084/jem.20100637
- 68. Fourcade J, Sun Z, Pagliano O, Guillaume P, Luescher IF, Sander C, et al. CD8(+) T cells specific for tumor antigens can be rendered dysfunctional by the tumor

microenvironment through upregulation of the inhibitory receptors BTLA and PD-1. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**(4):887–96. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2637

- Grosso JF, Goldberg MV, Getnet D, Bruno TC, Yen HR, Pyle KJ, et al. Functionally distinct LAG-3 and PD-1 subsets on activated and chronically stimulated CD8 T cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(11):6659–69. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0804211
- Sakuishi K, Apetoh L, Sullivan JM, Blazar BR, Kuchroo VK, Anderson AC. Targeting Tim-3 and PD-1 pathways to reverse T cell exhaustion and restore anti-tumor immunity. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(10):2187–94. doi:10.1084/jem. 20100643
- Woo SR, Turnis ME, Goldberg MV, Bankoti J, Selby M, Nirschl CJ, et al. Immune inhibitory molecules LAG-3 and PD-1 synergistically regulate T-cell function to promote tumoral immune escape. *Cancer Res* (2012) **72**(4):917–27. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1620
- 72. Baitsch L, Legat A, Barba L, Fuertes Marraco SA, Rivals JP, Baumgaertner P, et al. Extended co-expression of inhibitory receptors by human CD8 T-cells depending on differentiation, antigen-specificity and anatomical localization. *PLoS One* (2012) **7**(2):e30852. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0030852
- Nirschl CJ, Drake CG. Molecular pathways: co-expression of immune checkpoint molecules: signaling pathways and implications for cancer immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:4917–24. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1972
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369(2):122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- Grandi P, Fernandez J, Szentirmai O, Carter R, Gianni D, Sena-Esteves M, et al. Targeting HSV-1 virions for specific binding to epidermal growth factor receptor-vIII-bearing tumor cells. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2010) 17(9):655–63. doi:10.1038/cgt.2010.22
- Kelly K, Nawrocki S, Mita A, Coffey M, Giles FJ, Mita M. Reovirus-based therapy for cancer. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2009) 9(7):817–30. doi:10.1517/ 14712590903002039
- 77. Kinoh H, Inoue M, Komaru A, Ueda Y, Hasegawa M, Yonemitsu Y. Generation of optimized and urokinase-targeted oncolytic Sendai virus vectors applicable for various human malignancies. *Gene Ther* (2009) 16(3):392–403. doi:10.1038/gt.2008.167
- Kolodkin-Gal D, Zamir G, Edden Y, Pikarsky E, Pikarsky A, Haim H, et al. Herpes simplex virus type 1 preferentially targets human colon carcinoma: role of extracellular matrix. *J Virol* (2008) 82(2):999–1010. doi:10.1128/JVI.01769-07
- Mansour M, Palese P, Zamarin D. Oncolytic specificity of Newcastle disease virus is mediated by selectivity for apoptosis-resistant cells. *J Virol* (2011) 85(12):6015–23. doi:10.1128/JVI.01537-10
- Menotti L, Nicoletti G, Gatta V, Croci S, Landuzzi L, De Giovanni C, et al. Inhibition of human tumor growth in mice by an oncolytic herpes simplex virus designed to target solely HER-2-positive cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(22):9039–44. doi:10.1073/pnas.0812268106
- Stanford MM, McFadden G. Myxoma virus and oncolytic virotherapy: a new biologic weapon in the war against cancer. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2007) 7(9):1415–25. doi:10.1517/14712598.7.9.1415
- Chen L, Chen D, Gong M, Na M, Li L, Wu H, et al. Concomitant use of Ad5/35 chimeric oncolytic adenovirus with TRAIL gene and taxol produces synergistic cytotoxicity in gastric cancer cells. *Cancer Lett* (2009) 284(2):141–8. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2009.04.026
- 83. Ma J, He X, Wang W, Huang Y, Chen L, Cong W, et al. E2F promoterregulated oncolytic adenovirus with p16 gene induces cell apoptosis and exerts antitumor effect on gastric cancer. *Dig Dis Sci* (2009) 54(7):1425–31. doi:10.1007/s10620-008-0543-0
- 84. Shen W, Wang CY, Wang XH, Fu ZX. Oncolytic adenovirus mediated Survivin knockdown by RNA interference suppresses human colorectal carcinoma growth in vitro and in vivo. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2009) 28:81. doi:10.1186/1756-9966-28-81
- van Beusechem VW, van den Doel PB, Grill J, Pinedo HM, Gerritsen WR. Conditionally replicative adenovirus expressing p53 exhibits enhanced oncolytic potency. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62(21):6165–71.
- Zhao L, Dong A, Gu J, Liu Z, Zhang Y, Zhang W, et al. The antitumor activity of TRAIL and IL-24 with replicating oncolytic adenovirus in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2006) 13(11):1011–22. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700969
- 87. Zheng JN, Pei DS, Sun FH, Zhang BF, Liu XY, Gu JF, et al. Inhibition of renal cancer cell growth by oncolytic adenovirus armed short hairpin RNA

targeting hTERT gene. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2009) **8**(1):84–91. doi:10.4161/cbt.8. 1.7204

- Dingli D, Bergert ER, Bajzer Z, O'Connor MK, Russell SJ, Morris JC. Dynamic iodide trapping by tumor cells expressing the thyroidal sodium iodide symporter. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2004) 325(1):157–66. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2004.09.219
- Dingli D, Peng KW, Harvey ME, Greipp PR, O'Connor MK, Cattaneo R, et al. Image-guided radiovirotherapy for multiple myeloma using a recombinant measles virus expressing the thyroidal sodium iodide symporter. *Blood* (2004) 103(5):1641–6. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-07-2233
- Zheng FQ, Xu Y, Yang RJ, Wu B, Tan XH, Qin YD, et al. Combination effect of oncolytic adenovirus therapy and herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase/ganciclovir in hepatic carcinoma animal models. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* (2009) 30(5):617–27. doi:10.1038/aps.2009.33
- Breitbach CJ, Arulanandam R, De Silva N, Thorne SH, Patt R, Daneshmand M, et al. Oncolytic vaccinia virus disrupts tumor-associated vasculature in humans. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(4):1265–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2687
- 92. Liu TC, Hwang T, Park BH, Bell J, Kirn DH. The targeted oncolytic poxvirus JX-594 demonstrates antitumoral, antivascular, and anti-HBV activities in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Mol Ther* (2008) **16**(9):1637–42. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.143
- Benencia F, Courreges MC, Conejo-Garcia JR, Mohamed-Hadley A, Zhang L, Buckanovich RJ, et al. HSV oncolytic therapy upregulates interferon-inducible chemokines and recruits immune effector cells in ovarian cancer. *Mol Ther* (2005) 12(5):789–802. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.03.026
- 94. Endo Y, Sakai R, Ouchi M, Onimatsu H, Hioki M, Kagawa S, et al. Virus-mediated oncolysis induces danger signal and stimulates cytotoxic Tlymphocyte activity via proteasome activator upregulation. Oncogene (2008) 27(17):2375–81. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210884
- 95. Steele L, Errington F, Prestwich R, Ilett E, Harrington K, Pandha H, et al. Proinflammatory cytokine/chemokine production by reovirus treated melanoma cells is PKR/NF-kappaB mediated and supports innate and adaptive antitumour immune priming. *Mol Cancer* (2011) 10:20. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-10-20
- Tong AW, Senzer N, Cerullo V, Templeton NS, Hemminki A, Nemunaitis J. Oncolytic viruses for induction of anti-tumor immunity. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* (2012) 13(9):1750–60. doi:10.2174/138920112800958913
- Kirn DH, Thorne SH. Targeted and armed oncolytic poxviruses: a novel multimechanistic therapeutic class for cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2009) 9(1):64–71. doi:10.1038/nrc2545
- Prestwich RJ, Errington F, Diaz RM, Pandha HS, Harrington KJ, Melcher AA, et al. The case of oncolytic viruses versus the immune system: waiting on the judgment of Solomon. *Hum Gene Ther* (2009) 20(10):1119–32. doi:10.1089/hum.2009.135
- Thompson AJ, Locarnini SA. Toll-like receptors, RIG-I-like RNA helicases and the antiviral innate immune response. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2007) 85(6):435–45. doi:10.1038/sj.icb.7100100
- 100. Rubartelli A, Lotze MT. Inside, outside, upside down: damage-associated molecular-pattern molecules (DAMPs) and redox. *Trends Immunol* (2007) 28(10):429–36. doi:10.1016/j.it.2007.08.004
- 101. Bartlett DL, Liu Z, Sathaiah M, Ravindranathan R, Guo Z, He Y, et al. Oncolytic viruses as therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Mol Cancer* (2013) 12(1):103. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-12-103
- 102. Senzer NN, Kaufman HL, Amatruda T, Nemunaitis M, Reid T, Daniels G, et al. Phase II clinical trial of a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-encoding, second-generation oncolytic herpesvirus in patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27(34):5763–71. doi:10.1200/JCO.2009.24.3675
- Bhat R, Dempe S, Dinsart C, Rommelaere J. Enhancement of NK cell antitumor responses using an oncolytic parvovirus. *Int J Cancer* (2011) **128**(4):908–19. doi:10.1002/ijc.25415
- 104. Errington F, Steele L, Prestwich R, Harrington KJ, Pandha HS, Vidal L, et al. Reovirus activates human dendritic cells to promote innate antitumor immunity. J Immunol (2008) 180(9):6018–26.
- 105. Errington F, White CL, Twigger KR, Rose A, Scott K, Steele L, et al. Inflammatory tumour cell killing by oncolytic reovirus for the treatment of melanoma. *Gene Ther* (2008) 15(18):1257–70. doi:10.1038/gt.2008.58

- 106. Li H, Dutuor A, Fu X, Zhang X. Induction of strong antitumor immunity by an HSV-2-based oncolytic virus in a murine mammary tumor model. J Gene Med (2007) 9(3):161–9. doi:10.1002/jgm.1005
- 107. Nakamori M, Fu X, Rousseau R, Chen SY, Zhang X. Destruction of nonimmunogenic mammary tumor cells by a fusogenic oncolytic herpes simplex virus induces potent antitumor immunity. *Mol Ther* (2004) 9(5):658–65. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2004.02.019
- Prestwich RJ, Errington F, Ilett EJ, Morgan RS, Scott KJ, Kottke T, et al. Tumor infection by oncolytic reovirus primes adaptive antitumor immunity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(22):7358–66. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0831
- Prestwich RJ, Harrington KJ, Vile RG, Melcher AA. Immunotherapeutic potential of oncolytic virotherapy. *Lancet Oncol* (2008) 9(7):610–2. doi:10.1016/ S1470-2045(08)70163-3
- 110. Prestwich RJ, Ilett EJ, Steele L, Errington F. The importance of the immune system in reovirus therapy. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* (2008) **20**(10):769. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2008.08.004
- 111. Sobol PT, Boudreau JE, Stephenson K, Wan Y, Lichty BD, Mossman KL. Adaptive antiviral immunity is a determinant of the therapeutic success of oncolytic virotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2011) **19**(2):335–44. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.264
- 112. Bischoff JR, Kirn DH, Williams A, Heise C, Horn S, Muna M, et al. An adenovirus mutant that replicates selectively in p53-deficient human tumor cells. *Science* (1996) **274**(5286):373–6. doi:10.1126/science.274.5286.373
- 113. Cassel WA, Murray DR, Phillips HS. A phase II study on the postsurgical management of stage II malignant melanoma with a Newcastle disease virus oncolysate. *Cancer* (1983) 52(5):856–60. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19830901) 52:5<856::AID-CNCR2820520519>3.0.CO;2-4
- 114. Wallack MK, Sivanandham M, Balch CM, Urist MM, Bland KI, Murray D, et al. Surgical adjuvant active specific immunotherapy for patients with stage III melanoma: the final analysis of data from a phase III, randomized, double-blind, multicenter vaccinia melanoma oncolysate trial. *J Am Coll Surg* (1998) 187(1):69–77. doi:10.1016/S1072-7515(98)00097-0 discussion 9,
- 115. Kanerva A, Nokisalmi P, Diaconu I, Koski A, Cerullo V, Liikanen I, et al. Antiviral and antitumor T-cell immunity in patients treated with GM-CSF-coding oncolytic adenovirus. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) **19**(10):2734–44. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2546
- 116. Burke JM, Lamm DL, Meng MV, Nemunaitis JJ, Stephenson JJ, Arseneau JC, et al. A first in human phase 1 study of CG0070, a GM-CSF expressing oncolytic adenovirus, for the treatment of nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer. J Urol (2012) 188(6):2391–7. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2012.07.097
- 117. Ramesh N, Ge Y, Ennist DL, Zhu M, Mina M, Ganesh S, et al. CG0070, a conditionally replicating granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor – armed oncolytic adenovirus for the treatment of bladder cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12(1):305–13. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1059
- 118. Alonso MM, Cascallo M, Gomez-Manzano C, Jiang H, Bekele BN, Perez-Gimenez A, et al. ICOVIR-5 shows E2F1 addiction and potent antiglioma effect in vivo. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(17):8255–63. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4675
- 119. Alonso MM, Gomez-Manzano C, Jiang H, Bekele NB, Piao Y, Yung WK, et al. Combination of the oncolytic adenovirus ICOVIR-5 with chemotherapy provides enhanced anti-glioma effect in vivo. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2007) 14(8):756–61. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7701067
- 120. Cascallo M, Alonso MM, Rojas JJ, Perez-Gimenez A, Fueyo J, Alemany R. Systemic toxicity-efficacy profile of ICOVIR-5, a potent and selective oncolytic adenovirus based on the pRB pathway. *Mol Ther* (2007) 15(9):1607–15. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300239
- 121. Kuhn I, Harden P, Bauzon M, Chartier C, Nye J, Thorne S, et al. Directed evolution generates a novel oncolytic adenovirus for the treatment of colon cancer. *PLoS One* (2008) 3(6):e2409. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002409
- 122. Ascierto ML, Worschech A, Yu Z, Adams S, Reinboth J, Chen NG, et al. Permissivity of the NCI-60 cancer cell lines to oncolytic Vaccinia Virus GLV-1h68. BMC Cancer (2011) 11:451. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-11-451
- 123. Chen NG, Yu YA, Zhang Q, Szalay AA. Replication efficiency of oncolytic vaccinia virus in cell cultures prognosticates the virulence and antitumor efficacy in mice. J Transl Med (2011) 9:164. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-164
- 124. Ehrig K, Kilinc MO, Chen NG, Stritzker J, Buckel L, Zhang Q, et al. Growth inhibition of different human colorectal cancer xenografts after a single intravenous injection of oncolytic vaccinia virus GLV-1h68. *J Transl Med* (2013) 11:79. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-11-79

- 125. Heo J, Reid T, Ruo L, Breitbach CJ, Rose S, Bloomston M, et al. Randomized dose-finding clinical trial of oncolytic immunotherapeutic vaccinia JX-594 in liver cancer. *Nat Med* (2013) **19**(3):329–36. doi:10.1038/nm.3089
- 126. Kim JH, Oh JY, Park BH, Lee DE, Kim JS, Park HE, et al. Systemic armed oncolytic and immunologic therapy for cancer with JX-594, a targeted poxvirus expressing GM-CSF. *Mol Ther* (2006) 14(3):361–70. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2006. 05.008
- 127. Aghi MK, Chiocca EA. Phase Ib trial of oncolytic herpes virus G207 shows safety of multiple injections and documents viral replication. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17(1):8–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.275
- 128. Markert JM, Medlock MD, Rabkin SD, Gillespie GY, Todo T, Hunter WD, et al. Conditionally replicating herpes simplex virus mutant, G207 for the treatment of malignant glioma: results of a phase I trial. *Gene Ther* (2000) 7(10):867–74. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3301205
- 129. Mineta T, Rabkin SD, Yazaki T, Hunter WD, Martuza RL. Attenuated multimutated herpes simplex virus-1 for the treatment of malignant gliomas. *Nat Med* (1995) 1(9):938–43. doi:10.1038/nm0995-938
- 130. Geevarghese SK, Geller DA, de Haan HA, Horer M, Knoll AE, Mescheder A, et al. Phase I/II study of oncolytic herpes simplex virus NV1020 in patients with extensively pretreated refractory colorectal cancer metastatic to the liver. *Hum Gene Ther* (2010) **21**(9):1119–28. doi:10.1089/hum.2010.020
- 131. Kelly KJ, Wong J, Fong Y. Herpes simplex virus NV1020 as a novel and promising therapy for hepatic malignancy. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* (2008) 17(7):1105–13. doi:10.1517/13543784.17.7.1105
- 132. Kaufman HL, Bines SD. OPTIM trial: a Phase III trial of an oncolytic herpes virus encoding GM-CSF for unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. *Future* Oncol (2010) 6(6):941–9. doi:10.2217/fon.10.66
- 133. Sivendran S, Pan M, Kaufman HL, Saenger Y. Herpes simplex virus oncolytic vaccine therapy in melanoma. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2010) 10(7):1145–53. doi:10.1517/14712598.2010.495383
- 134. Galanis E, Markovic SN, Suman VJ, Nuovo GJ, Vile RG, Kottke TJ, et al. Phase II trial of intravenous administration of Reolysin(®) (Reovirus Serotype-3-dearing Strain) in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20(10):1998–2003. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.146
- 135. Morris DG, Feng X, DiFrancesco LM, Fonseca K, Forsyth PA, Paterson AH, et al. REO-001: a phase I trial of percutaneous intralesional administration of reovirus type 3 dearing (Reolysin®) in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Invest New Drugs* (2013) **31**(3):696–706. doi:10.1007/s10637-012-9865-z
- 136. Stoeckel J, Hay JG. Drug evaluation: reolysin wild-type reovirus as a cancer therapeutic. *Curr Opin Mol Ther* (2006) 8(3):249–60.
- 137. Galanis E, Hartmann LC, Cliby WA, Long HJ, Peethambaram PP, Barrette BA, et al. Phase I trial of intraperitoneal administration of an oncolytic measles virus strain engineered to express carcinoembryonic antigen for recurrent ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(3):875–82. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2762
- Msaouel P, Dispenzieri A, Galanis E. Clinical testing of engineered oncolytic measles virus strains in the treatment of cancer: an overview. *Curr Opin Mol Ther* (2009) 11(1):43–53.
- 139. Allen C, Opyrchal M, Aderca I, Schroeder MA, Sarkaria JN, Domingo E, et al. Oncolytic measles virus strains have significant antitumor activity against glioma stem cells. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20(4):444–9. doi:10.1038/gt.2012.62
- 140. Li H, Peng KW, Russell SJ. Oncolytic measles virus encoding thyroidal sodium iodide symporter for squamous cell cancer of the head and neck radiovirotherapy. *Hum Gene Ther* (2012) 23(3):295–301. doi:10.1089/hum.2011.128
- 141. Touchefeu Y, Khan AA, Borst G, Zaidi SH, McLaughlin M, Roulstone V, et al. Optimising measles virus-guided radiovirotherapy with external beam radiotherapy and specific checkpoint kinase 1 inhibition. *Radiother Oncol* (2013) 108(1):24–31. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2013.05.036
- 142. Hotte SJ, Lorence RM, Hirte HW, Polawski SR, Bamat MK, O'Neil JD, et al. An optimized clinical regimen for the oncolytic virus PV701. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(3):977–85. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1817
- 143. Lorence RM, Roberts MS, O'Neil JD, Groene WS, Miller JA, Mueller SN, et al. Phase 1 clinical experience using intravenous administration of PV701, an oncolytic Newcastle disease virus. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* (2007) 7(2):157–67. doi:10.2174/156800907780058853
- 144. Dias JD, Hemminki O, Diaconu I, Hirvinen M, Bonetti A, Guse K, et al. Targeted cancer immunotherapy with oncolytic adenovirus coding for a fully human

monoclonal antibody specific for CTLA-4. *Gene Ther* (2012) **19**(10):988–98. doi:10.1038/gt.2011.176

- 145. Gao Y, Whitaker-Dowling P, Griffin JA, Barmada MA, Bergman I. Recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus targeted to Her2/neu combined with anti-CTLA4 antibody eliminates implanted mammary tumors. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2009) 16(1):44–52. doi:10.1038/cgt.2008.55
- 146. van Elsas A, Hurwitz AA, Allison JP. Combination immunotherapy of B16 melanoma using anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)-producing vaccines induces rejection of subcutaneous and metastatic tumors accompanied by autoimmune depigmentation. J Exp Med (1999) 190(3):355–66.
- 147. Ji RR, Chasalow SD, Wang L, Hamid O, Schmidt H, Cogswell J, et al. An immune-active tumor microenvironment favors clinical response to ipilimumab. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) **61**(7):1019–31. doi:10.1007/ s00262-011-1172-6
- 148. Corsello SM, Barnabei A, Marchetti P, De Vecchis L, Salvatori R, Torino F. Endocrine side effects induced by immune checkpoint inhibitors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(4):1361–75. doi:10.1210/jc.2012-4075
- 149. Bauzon M, Castro D, Karr M, Hawkins LK, Hermiston TW. Multigene expression from a replicating adenovirus using native viral promoters. *Mol Ther* (2003) 7(4):526–34. doi:10.1016/S1525-0016(03)00023-6
- 150. Lampe J, Bossow S, Weiland T, Smirnow I, Lehmann R, Neubert W, et al. An armed oncolytic measles vaccine virus eliminates human hepatoma cells independently of apoptosis. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20:1033–41. doi:10.1038/gt.2013.28
- 151. Lee JH, Roh MS, Lee YK, Kim MK, Han JY, Park BH, et al. Oncolytic and immunostimulatory efficacy of a targeted oncolytic poxvirus expressing human GM-CSF following intravenous administration in a rabbit tumor model. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2010) 17(2):73–9. doi:10.1038/cgt.2009.50
- 152. Todo T. "Armed" oncolytic herpes simplex viruses for brain tumor therapy. Cell Adh Migr (2008) 2(3):208–13. doi:10.4161/cam.2.3.6353
- 153. Tysome JR, Lemoine NR, Wang Y. Update on oncolytic viral therapy targeting angiogenesis. Onco Targets Ther (2013) 6:1031–40. doi:10.2147/OTT.S46974
- 154. Abate-Daga D, Andreu N, Camacho-Sanchez J, Alemany R, Herance R, Millan O, et al. Oncolytic adenoviruses armed with thymidine kinase can be traced by PET imaging and show potent antitumoural effects by ganciclovir dosing. *PLoS One* (2011) **6**(10):e26142. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0026142
- 155. Jacobs A, Tjuvajev JG, Dubrovin M, Akhurst T, Balatoni J, Beattie B, et al. Positron emission tomography-based imaging of transgene expression mediated by replication-conditional, oncolytic herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant vectors in vivo. *Cancer Res* (2001) **61**(7):2983–95.
- 156. Ichikawa T, Chiocca EA. Comparative analyses of transgene delivery and expression in tumors inoculated with a replication-conditional or -defective viral vector. *Cancer Res* (2001) **61**(14):5336–9.

- 157. Zhang Q, Yu YA, Wang E, Chen N, Danner RL, Munson PJ, et al. Eradication of solid human breast tumors in nude mice with an intravenously injected light-emitting oncolytic vaccinia virus. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(20):10038–46. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0146
- 158. Frentzen A, Yu YA, Chen N, Zhang Q, Weibel S, Raab V, et al. Anti-VEGF single-chain antibody GLAF-1 encoded by oncolytic vaccinia virus significantly enhances antitumor therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(31):12915–20. doi:10.1073/pnas.0900660106
- 159. Beck KE, Blansfield JA, Tran KQ, Feldman AL, Hughes MS, Royal RE, et al. Enterocolitis in patients with cancer after antibody blockade of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4. J Clin Oncol (2006) 24(15):2283–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.04.5716
- 160. Jain RK, Baxter LT. Mechanisms of heterogeneous distribution of monoclonal antibodies and other macromolecules in tumors: significance of elevated interstitial pressure. *Cancer Res* (1988) 48(24 Pt 1):7022–32.
- 161. Robinson MK, Doss M, Shaller C, Narayanan D, Marks JD, Adler LP, et al. Quantitative immuno-positron emission tomography imaging of HER2-positive tumor xenografts with an iodine-124 labeled anti-HER2 diabody. *Cancer Res* (2005) **65**(4):1471–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2008
- Holliger P, Hudson PJ. Engineered antibody fragments and the rise of single domains. Nat Biotechnol (2005) 23(9):1126–36. doi:10.1038/nbt1142
- 163. Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P. Global cancer statistics, 2002. CA Cancer J Clin (2005) 55(2):74–108. doi:10.3322/canjclin.55.2.74

Conflict of Interest Statement: Dr. Terry Hermiston serves on the following boards: Scientific Advisory Board for Psioxus Therapeutics and Board of Directors for Jennerex Biotherapeutics. The other co-author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 13 December 2013; paper pending published: 25 January 2014; accepted: 11 February 2014; published online: 24 February 2014.

Citation: Bauzon M and Hermiston T (2014) Armed therapeutic viruses – a disruptive therapy on the horizon of cancer immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 5:74. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00074

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Bauzon and Hermiston. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

PERSPECTIVE ARTICLE published: 11 September 2014 doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00224



Multimodal cancer therapy involving oncolytic Newcastle disease virus, autologous immune cells, and bi-specific antibodies

Volker Schirrmacher¹* and Philippe Fournier²

¹ Immunologisches Onkologisches Zentrum Köln, Cologne, Germany ² German Cancer Research Institute, Heidelberg, Germany

Edited by:

Giovanna Schiavoni, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Italy

Reviewed by:

Antonella Sistigu, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Italy

Haiyan Liu, Soochow University, China

*Correspondence: Volker Schirrmacher, IOZK, Hohenstaufenring 30-32, D-50674 Cologne, Germany e-mail: v.schirrmacher@web.de This paper focuses on oncolytic Newcastle disease virus (NDV). This paper summarizes (i) the peculiarities of this virus as an anti-cancer and immune stimulatory agent and (ii) the approaches to further harness this virus as a vector to combat cancer. Special emphasis is given on combining virus therapy with cell therapy and on improving tumor targeting. The review will include some of the authors work on NDV, bi-specific antibodies, and cell therapy as building blocks for a new perspective of multimodal cancer therapy. The broad anti-tumor immune reactivation includes innate and adaptive, tumor antigen (TA) specific and TA independent activities

Keywords: Newcastle disease virus, T-cells, dendritic cells, bi-specific antibodies, tumor targeting, cellular therapy, hyperthermia

INTRODUCTION

Paramyxoviruses are a family of viruses that infect a diverse range of hosts. Animal pathogens, such as Newcastle disease virus (NDV), SV-5, and Sendai virus (SV), have been major subjects for basic research by virologists, immunologists, and molecular biologists. Previously, genetic manipulation of paramyxoviruses was not possible because the genome is not infectious alone and RNA recombination is essentially non-existent. During the last 15 years, methods of producing infectious paramyxoviruses from c-DNA clones (reverse genetics) have been developed. This review will focus on NDV, an avian paramyxovirus, because this has a number of very interesting anti-neoplastic and immune stimulating properties in mammalian cells, including human being, because it has a high safety profile for clinical application and because it can be harnessed by therapeutic transgenes.

NEWCASTLE DISEASE VIRUS, TRANSGENES, AND BI-SPECIFIC ANTIBODIES

ONCOLYTIC PROPERTIES OF NATURAL STRAINS OF NDV

Vaccine strains of paramyxoviruses such as mumps virus (MuV), measles virus (MV), and NDV efficiently infect and kill cancer cells and are consequently being investigated as novel cancer therapies (oncolytic virotherapy) (1). NDV wildtype (wt NDV) virus shows naturally tumor selective replication behavior (2). An abortive replication cycle by lentogenic strains leads eventually to tumor cell death. A lytic replication cycle by mesogenic or velogenic strains leads to fast tumor cell death (oncolysis) and further spread of the virus in the tumor tissue. The strong interferon (IFN) response of normal cells (2) prevents virus replication and cell death thus explaining the high safety record of NDV in cancer patients (3).

There are additional properties that make NDV a particularly interesting anti-neoplastic agent. It replicates and destroys in particular cancer cells that are resistant to certain types of chemotherapy (4-6) and apoptosis-resistant tumor cells from hypoxic tumor

tissue (7). The oncogenic protein Rac1 was reported as a link between tumorigenesis and sensitivity of cells to oncolytic NDV (8). Furthermore, NDV triggers autophagy in glioma cells (9) and promotes Bax redistribution to mitochondria and cell death in HeLa cells (10). A time-course analysis revealed that NDV-induced apoptosis involved an early extrinsic pathway with TRAIL expression (peak at 24 h *p.i.*) and a later intrinsic mitochondrial pathway (peak at 48 h *p.i.*) (11).

NDV was reported to repress the activation of human hepatic stellate cells and reverse the development of hepatic fibrosis in mice (12). Liver fibrosis is a major health problem and the 12th most common cause of death in the United States (13).

HARNESSING NDV BY TRANSGENES AND BI-SPECIFIC ANTIBODIES

Recombinant NDV strains (rNDV) could be harnessed by transgenes to show enhanced oncolytic potential. This was achieved by F gene mutations (14, 15) or by addition of the NS1 (16) or Apoptin (17) gene. It could also be harnessed by genes coding for cytokines, such as IL-2 (18), GM-CSF (19), IL-15 (20), or IFN- γ (21) to express enhanced immune stimulatory properties. Other transgenes conferred resistance to complement (22). NDV was also capable of incorporating two transgenes, one coding for the light chain and the other for the heavy chain of a monoclonal antibody interacting with angiogenesis (23). The transfer of a gene coding for a tumor antigen (TA) created a vector with which the immune response could be targeted to a specific TA in order to compete with the usually stronger response to viral antigens (VA) (24). A recombinant oncolytic MV (MV-AC133) could be targeted to CD133+ cancer-initiating cells causing their specific elimination (25).

To augment the immune stimulatory properties of NDV infected tumor cells, another elegant approach was successful. It consists of the attachment of single-chain variable fragment (scFv) bi-specific antibodies (bsAbs). These attach with one arm to a VA and with the other arm to a target on immune cells. In case of

T-cells, such targets were CD3 (26), CD25 (27), and CD28 (28). The VAs of NDV were either HN or F. These served as universal anchor molecules through which T-cell co-stimulatory molecules could be attached to any type of tumor cell infectable by NDV (29).

In the following paragraph, we will present a perspective how such bsAbs can be further used in a multimodal approach for improvements of cancer therapy.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVE: COMBINING NDV WITH bsAbs AND WITH ADOPTIVE CELLULAR THERAPY

TUMOR TARGETING OF NDV

A major problem with the clinical application of oncolytic viruses is a proper targeting of tumor tissue. This can be achieved by intratumoral application (30) but metastases are often not accessible by this approach. Nevertheless, localized oncolytic virotherapy was reported to overcome systemic tumor resistance to immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy (31).

Locoregional application (e.g., via the hepatic vain) was reported to be superior to systemic tail vain inoculation (32). Locoregional virotherapy was effective even against oncolysisresistant tumor cells, thus suggesting that the anti-tumor effect was host mediated (32). Inhalation is another way of locoregional application. Inhalation of oncolytic NDV was applied to 33 advanced chemorefractory patients in a Phase II clinical study in Hungary as a means to affect their lung metastases (33). Virus inoculation into body cavities in case of tumor ascites is another way of locoregional application. For instance, intraperitoneal NDV virotherapy was effective against peritoneal carcinomatosis from human gastric cancer in a xenograft model (34) and intrapleural NDV virotherapy induced sustained remission of malignant pleural mesothelioma in an orthotopic model (14).

Upon systemic administration of NDV, its binding to normal cells could prevent it from reaching the tumor tissue and could cause undesired side effects. Since efficient distribution at the tumor site may be a very critical parameter for tumor selective gene delivery and for anti-tumor efficacy of oncolytic virotherapy (35), we have developed adaptor molecules that redirect the virus to tumor tissue (36). The targeting molecule used, anti-HN-IL-2, contains a scFv antibody cloned from a neutralizing HN specific hybridoma linked to the human gene for the cytokine IL-2. Selective virus entry was observed in vitro in a mixture of IL-2 receptor positive and negative human tumor cells (37). Retargeted virus infection of tumor cells required specific binding via the bi-specific fusion protein and membrane fusion via the viral F-protein. After systemic virus inoculation into tumor-bearing mice, the modification of NDV by the adaptor protein did not compromise the efficiency of gene delivery into target positive tumors but greatly reduced viral gene expression in target negative tumors and in normal tissues thereby reducing side effects (38).

UNIVERSAL ACTIVATION OF CANCER PATIENTS T-CELLS (NAÏVE AND MEMORY) VIA TUMOR CELL-BOUND BI-SPECIFIC ANTIBODIES

Infection of tumor cells by NDV leads to increase in tumor cell immunogenicity (39). A prospective, randomized, controlled clinical study of post-operative immunization with the autologous tumor vaccine ATV-NDV revealed evidence for clinical effectivity and long-term survival for colon cancer patients (40). Further augmentation of T-cell stimulatory capacity of the ATV-NDV vaccine was achieved by attachment of specifically designed bsAbs binding to viral HN or F on the infected tumor cells and to CD3 or CD28 on T-cells (41). The optimized vaccine ATV-NDV/bsHNxCD3/bsHNxCD28 appeared to be able to revert unresponsiveness of partially anergized TAspecific T-cells (42). It was also capable of *de novo* activation of anti-tumor activity from naïve T-cells, independent of TA recognition (**Figure 1A**) (42). The strongest potentiation of the T-cell stimulatory capacity of the ATV-NDV vaccine was observed upon attachment of a suboptimal amount of bsHNCD3 together



FIGURE 1 | Activation of naïve human T-cells by co-incubation with NDV infected irradiated tumor cells modified with bi-specific or tri-specific antibodies. (A) Time course of the induction of T-cell activation and proliferation by a stimulatory cell (NDV infected and y-irradiated tumor cells) optimized for co-stimulation by attachment of the bi-specific fusion proteins anti-CD3 (anti-HNxanti-CD3) and anti-CD28 (anti-HNxantiCD28). Purified and CFSE-labeled naïve human T-cells were cocultivated for 5 or 7 days with the stimulatory cells. The CFSE signal intensities were compared with unstimulated cells by FACS analysis. We also followed by the FACS analysis the expression of the IL-2 receptor α chain (CD25) and of the memory marker CD45RO. (B) Diagram of the components of a tumor vaccine infected by NDV and modified by a bi-specific antibody (anti-HNxanti-CD3, suboptimal amount for signal 1) and a tri-specific immunocytokine (anti-HNxIL-2xanti-CD28, for delivery of two T-cell co-stimulatory signals via CD28 and CD25). with the tri-specific (ts) fusion protein tsHNxIL-2xCD28. The latter delivers two co-stimulatory signals to T-cells, one via CD28 and the other via CD25 (26). **Figure 1B** illustrates the modular concept of the tumor vaccine infected by NDV and modified by bsAbs.

We suggest to use T-cell activation one universal GMP tumor cell line for patients. This will be modified by infection with NDV and by attachment of the above bsAbs and tsAbs. This universal T-cell stimulatory cell can be applied for non-specific activation of anti-tumor activity of T-cells from any type of cancer patient and is independent from a TA.

PROGRAMING OF CANCER PATIENTS DENDRITIC CELLS TOWARD DC1 VIA INFECTION BY NDV

We reported on polarization of human monocyte-derived DCs to DC1 by in vitro stimulation with NDV (43). Also, murine DCs upon infection by NDV differentiate into the immunogenic phenotype DC1 characterized by secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, in particular IL-12 and IFN- α and - β (44). Two receptorinitiated signaling cascades were involved: the first one is induced by triggering and upregulation of the intra-cellular cytoplasmic receptor RIG-1 upon recognition of viral non-capped RNA as ligand (45). The second signal cascade involves cell-surface expressed type I IFN receptor (IFNAR), which initiates a feedback loop cell activation upon interaction with extra-cellular type I IFN as ligand (31, 44). RIG-1/RNA ligand interaction not only activates type I IFN, but also induces inflammasome activation for IL-1β production (46). Type I IFN and IL-12 are critical mediators of cross-priming and Th1 polarization of CD8 T-cell responses (47) while IL-1ß is critical for Th1 polarization of CD4 T-cells (48).

DCs can also be pulsed with NDV oncolysate. Such cells were superior in stimulating patients T-cells in ELISPOT assays compared to DCs pulsed with tumor lysate without NDV (49).

GRAFTING OF AUTOLOGOUS ACTIVATED T-CELLS AND DC1 BACK TO THE PATIENT

Our proposal for a multimodal cancer therapy involves the transfer of immune T-cells and of DC1 as professional antigen-presenting cells back to the patient. Activation of the tumor microenvironment by low dose irradiation (LDI) (50) or by local hyperthermia (LHT) (51) should improve tumor targeting of virus, T-cells, and DCs (52). Tumor destruction by the activated T-cells should release TAs, which would be taken up by co-injected DC1 to be then cross-presented to naïve or memory T-cells.

HITCHHIKING OF NDV ON ACTIVATED T-CELLS: COMBINING CELL THERAPY WITH VIRUS THERAPY

One way of further enhancement of the efficacy of this multimodal therapy concept consists in the loading of the activated T-cells with oncolytic NDV before grafting the cells back to the patient. In a tumor neutralization assay *in vitro*, monolayers of human tumor cells could be completely and effectively destroyed by the addition of polyclonally activated human T-cells loaded with oncolytic NDV (53). In this process, synergistic effects between cytotoxic T-cells and oncolytic virus in the tumor contact zone were apparent (53).

If activated T-cells are not available, a multimodal therapy could also consist of the combination of LHT, systemic application of oncolytic NDV and of DC1. Such approach resulted in long-term remission of metastatic prostate cancer (52).

TARGETING AN INTRODUCED VIRAL ANTIGEN IN TUMOR TISSUE BY GRAFTED T-CELLS AND DCs VIA CELL-BOUND TRI-SPECIFIC ANTIBODIES

Table 1 summarizes five steps that are essential for a new adoptive cellular cancer therapy strategy. Oncolytic NDV can be introduced into tumor tissue of the patient by various means as discussed before. The patients T-cells and DCs would be activated and polarized also as discussed before. The tsAbs have three different binding sites, each of which is only monovalent. To increase the avidity and stability of the cell surface attached ts fusion protein, we propose that two of the binding sites should bind to well-defined targets on T-cells or DCs. The addendum of the table lists some of the potential targets.

This approach is only meant as a perspective for the future and has not been tested experimentally or clinically. There should be a proper timing between virus-pretargeting of tumor tissue (including metastases) and the cell therapy. We envisage that 24– 48 h after virus inoculation should be a good time period for grafting the cells for a VA targeted therapy. Excessive virus should

Table 1 | Adoptive cellular cancer therapy: targeting a viral antigen (e.g., HN) by grafted T-cells and DCs via cell-bound tri-specific antibodies.

| Step 1 | Pre-conditioning of the tumor microenvironment in the patient |
|--------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Step 2 | Local or systemic application of oncolytic NDV for introduction of the viral target antigen HN within the tumor tissue |
| Step 3 | Universal activation ex vivo of the patients T-cells and loading with tri-specific antibodies thus exposing multiple anti-HN binding sites |
| Step 4 | Generation of polarized DCs from the patient via infection by NDV or pulsing with NDV oncolysate; loading of the DC1 with tri-specific antibodies thus exposing multiple anti-HN binding sites |
| Step 5 | Grafting the T-cells and/or DCs to the pre-conditioned patient |

Addendum: The tri-specific single-chain antibodies should bind with two arms to targets on T cells or targets on DCs and expose the third arm anti-HN

| Potential T-cell targets | Potential DC targets |
|--------------------------|----------------------|
| CD3 | CD11c |
| CD28 | CD205 |
| CD25 | CD40 |
| CD2 | CD80 |
| CD44 | CD16a |
| CD45 | CD83 |
| CD69 | CD116 |
| CXCR4 | IFNAR |
| CD107a | CD119 |

be cleared by then and the tumor tissue should be infected and expressing cell-bound VAs.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

We propose a multimodal approach for effective cancer therapy because previous monomodal approaches of chemo- or radiotherapy faced problems of tumor resistance mechanisms. Specific immunotherapies targeted to specific TA faced similar problems of tumor escape and resistance mechanism. There may be a long way to get a multimodal therapy such as the one proposed and established but we believe it is important to propose a viable perspective for future orientation. Oncolytic viruses, T-cells, dendritic cells, and bi-specific antibodies are all promising biologics whose intelligent combination holds a lot of promise for future cancer therapy.

REFERENCES

- Lech PJ, Russell SJ. Use of attenuated paramyxoviruses for cancer therapy. Expert Rev Vaccines (2010) 9(11):1275–302. doi:10.1586/erv.10.124
- Wilden H, Fournier P, Zawatzky R, Schirrmacher V. Expression of RIG-I, IRF3, IFN-ß and IRF7 determines resistance or susceptibility of cells to infection by Newcastle disease virus. *Int J Oncol* (2009) 34(4):971–82. doi:10.3892/ijo_ 00000223
- Fournier P, Schirrmacher V. Oncolytic Newcastle disease virus as cutting edge between tumor and host. *Biology* (2013) 2:1–41. doi:10.3390/biology20x000x
- Lazar I, Yaacov B, Shiloach T, Eliahoo E, Kadouri L, Lotem M, et al. The oncolytic activity of Newcastle disease virus NDV-HUJ on chemoresistant primary melanoma cells is dependent on the proapoptotic activity of the inhibitor of apoptosis protein Livin. J Virol (2010) 84(1):639–46. doi:10.1128/JVI.00401-09
- Mansour M, Palese P, Zamarin D. Oncolytic specificity of Newcastle disease virus is mediated by selectivity for apoptosis-resistant cells. *J Virol* (2011) 85(12):6015–23. doi:10.1128/JVI.01537-10
- Meng S, Zhou Z, Chen F, Kong X, Liu H, Jiang K, et al. Newcastle disease virus induces apoptosis in cisplatin-resistant human lung adenocarcinoma A549 cells in vitro and in vivo. *Cancer Lett* (2012) 317(1):56–64. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2011.11.008
- Ch'ng WC, Stanbridge EJ, Yusoff K, Shafee N. The oncolytic activity of Newcastle disease virus in clear cell renal carcinoma cells in normal and hypoxic conditions: the interplay between von Hippel-Lindau and interferon-ß signaling. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2013) 33(7):346–54. doi:10.1089/jir.2012.0095
- Puhlmann J, Puehler F, Mumberg D, Boukamp P, Beier R. Rac1 is required for oncolytic NDV replication in human cancer cells and establishes a link between tumorigeneis and sensitivity to oncolytic virus. *Oncogene* (2010) 29:2205–16. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.507
- Meng C, Zhou Z, Jiang K, Yu S, Jia L, Wu Y, et al. Newcastle disease virus triggers autophagy in U251 glioma cells to enhance virus replication. *Arch Virol* (2012) 157(6):1011. doi:10.1007/s00705-012-1270-6
- Molouki A, Hsu YT, Jahanshiri F, Rosli R, Yusoff K. Newcastle disease virus infection promotes Bax redistribution to mitochondria and cell death in HeLa cells. *Intervirology* (2010) 53(2):87–94. doi:10.1159/000264198
- Ravindra PV, Tiwari AK, Ratta B, Bais MV, Chaturvedi U, Palia SK, et al. Time course of Newcastle disease virus-induced apoptotic pathways. *Virus Res* (2009) 144:350–4. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2009.05.012
- 12. Li YL, Wu J, Wei D, Zhang DW, Feng H, Chen ZN, et al. Newcastle disease virus represses the activation of human hepatic stellate cells and reverses the development of hepatic fibrosis in mice. *Liver Int* (2009) **29**(4):593–602. doi:10.1111/j.1478-3231.2009.01971.x
- 13. Bataller R, Brenner DA. Liver fibrosis. J Clin Invest (2005) 115:209–18. doi:10. 1172/JCI200524282
- Silberhumer GR, Brader P, Wong J, Serganova IS, Gönen M, Gonzalez SJ, et al. Genetically engineered oncolytic Newcastle disease virus effectively induces sustained remission of malignant pleural mesothelioma. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2010) 9(10):2761–9. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-10-0090
- Altomonte J, Marozin S, Schmid RM, Ebert O. Engineered Newcastle disease virus as an improved oncolytic agent against hepatocellular carcinoma. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(2):275–84. doi:10.1038/mt.2009.231

- Zamarin D, Martínez-Sobrido L, Kelly K, Mansour M, Sheng G, Vigil A, et al. Enhancement of oncolytic properties of recombinant Newcastle disease virus through antagonism of cellular innate immune responses. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17(4):697–706. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.286
- Wu Y, Zhang X, Wang X, Wang L, Hu S, Liu X, et al. Apoptin enhances the oncolytic properties of Newcastle disease virus. *Intervirology* (2012) 55(4):276–86. doi:10.1159/000328325
- Janke M, Peeters B, Zhao H, de Leeuw O, Moorman R, Arnold A, et al. Activation of human T cells by a tumor vaccine infected with recombinant Newcastle disease virus producing IL-2. *Int J Oncol* (2008) 33(4):823–32. doi:10.3892/ijo_00000070
- Janke M, Peeters B, de LeeuwO, Moorman R, Arnold A, Fournier P, et al. Recombinant Newcastle disease virus (NDV) with inserted gene coding for GM-CSF as a new vector for cancer immunogene therapy. *Gene Ther* (2007) 14(23):1639–49. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3303026
- Niu Z, Bai F, Sun T, Tian H, Yu D, Yin J, et al. Recombinant newcastle disease virus expressing IL-15 demonstrates promising antitumor efficiency in melanoma model. *Technol Cancer Res Treat* (2014). doi:10.7785/tcrt.2012.500414
- Susta L, Cornax I, Diel DG, Garcia SC, Miller PJ, Liu X, et al. Expression of interferon gamma by a highly virulent strain of Newcastle disease virus decreases its pathogenicity in chickens. *Microb Pathog* (2013) 6(1–62):73–83. doi:10.1016/j.micpath.2013.05.009
- Biswas M, Johnson JB, Kumar SR, Parks GD, Elankumarana S. Incorporation of host complement regulatory protein into Newcastle disease virus enhances complement evasion. J Virol (2012) 86(23):12708–16. doi:10.1128/JVI.00886-12
- 23. Pühler F, Willuda J, Puhlmann J, Mumberg D, Römer-Oberdörfer A, Beier R. Generation of a recombinant oncolytic Newcastle disease virus and expression of a full IgG antibody from two transgenes. *Gene Ther* (2008) **15**(5):371–83. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3303095
- Shobana R, Samal SK, Elankumaran S. Prostate-specific antigen-retargeted recombinant Newcastle disease virus for prostate cancer virotherapy. J Virol (2013) 87(7):3792–800. doi:10.1128/JVI.02394-12
- Bach P, Abel T, Hoffmann C, Gal Z, Braun G, Voelker I, et al. Specific elimination of CD133+ tumor cells with targeted oncolytic measles virus. *Cancer Res* (2013) 15:865–74. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2221
- Aigner M, Janke M, Lulei M, Beckhove P, Fournier P, Schirrmacher V. An effective tumor vaccine optimized for costimulation via bispecific and trispecific fusion proteins. *Int J Oncol* (2008) 32(4):777–89. doi:10.3892/ijo.32.4.777
- Fournier P, Aigner M, Schirrmacher V. Optimization studies for the coupling of bispecific antibodies to viral anchor molecules of a tumor vaccine. *Int J Oncol* (2010) 37(5):1203–17. doi:10.3892/ijo.00000772
- Fournier P, Aigner M, Schirrmacher V. Transcriptome analysis and cytokine profiling of naïve T cells stimulated by a tumor vaccine via CD3 and CD25. *Int J Oncol* (2010) 37(6):1439–52. doi:10.3892/ijo.00000796
- Fournier P, Schirrmacher V. Bispecific antibodies and trispecific immunocytokines for targeting the immune system against cancer: preparing for the future. *BioDrugs* (2013) 27(1):35–53. doi:10.1007/s40259-012-0008-z
- Lorence RM, Reichard KW, Katubig BB, Reyes HM, Phuangsab A, Mitchell BR, et al. Complete regression of human neuroblastoma xenografts in athymic mice after local Newcastle disease virus therapy. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (1994) 86:1228–33. doi:10.1093/jnci/86.16.1228
- 31. Zamarin D, Holmgaard RB, Subudhi SK, Park JS, Mansour M, Palese P, et al. Localized oncolytic virotherapy overcomes systemic tumor resistance to immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(226):1–12. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008095
- Apostolidis L, Schirrmacher V, Fournier P. Host mediated anti-tumor effect of oncolytic Newcastle disease virus after locoregional application. *Int J Oncol* (2007) 31(5):1009–19. doi:10.3892/ijo.31.5.1009
- Csatary LK, Eckhardt S, Bukosza I, Czegledi F, Fenyvesi C, Gergely P, et al. Attenuated veterinary virus vaccine for the treatment of cancer. *Cancer Detect Prev* (1993) 17:619–27.
- Song KY, Wong J, Gonzales L, Sheng G, Zamarin D, Fong Y. Antitumor efficacy of viral therapy using genetically engineered Newcastle disease virus [NDV(F3aa)-GFP] for peritoneally disseminated gastric cancer. J Mol Med (Berlin). (2010) 88(6):589–96. doi:10.1007/s00109-010-0605-6
- Demers GW, Johnson DE, Tsai V, Wen SF, Quijano E, Machemer T, et al. Pharmacologic indicators of antitumor efficacy of oncolytic virotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:4003–8.

- Bian H, Fournier P, Moormann R, Peeters B, Schirrmacher V. Selective gene transfer in vitro to tumor cells via recombinant Newcastle disease virus. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2005) 12:295–303. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700774
- Bian H, Fournier P, Moormann R, Peeters B, Schirrmacher V. Selective gene transfer to tumor cells by recombinant Newcastle disease virus via a bispecific fusion protein. *Int J Oncol* (2005) 26:431–9. doi:10.3892/ijo.26.2.431
- Bian H, Wilden H, Fournier P, Peeters B, Schirrmacher V. In vivo efficacy of systemic tumor targeting of a viral RNA vector with oncolytic properties using a bispecific adapter protein. *Int J Oncol* (2006) 29(6):1359–69. doi:10.3892/ijo.29.6.1359
- 39. Schirrmacher V, Haas C, Bonifer R, Ahlert T, Gerhards R, Ertel C. Human tumor cell modification by virus infection: an efficient and safe way to produce cancer vaccine with pleiotropic immune stimulatory properties when using Newcastle disease virus. *Gene Ther* (1999) 6(1):63–73. doi:10.1038/sj.gt. 3300787
- 40. Schulze T, Kemmner W, Weitz J, Wernecke KD, Schirrmacher V, Schlag PM. Efficiency of adjuvant active-specific immunization with Newcastle disease virus modified tumor cells in colorectal cancer patients following resection of liver metastases: results of a prospective randomized trial. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58(1):61–9. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0526-1
- Haas C, Lulei M, Fournier P, Arnold A, Schirrmacher V. A tumor vaccine containing anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 bispecific antibodies triggers strong and durable antitumor activity in human lymphocytes. *Int J Cancer* (2006) 118(3):658–67. doi:10.1002/ijc.21390
- Fournier P, Schirrmacher V. Tumor antigen-dependent and tumor antigenindependent activation of antitumor activity in T cells by a bispecific antibodymodified vaccine. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2010) **2010**:423781. doi:10.1155/2010/ 423781
- Fournier P, Arnold A, Schirrmacher V. Polarization of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells to DC1 by in vitro stimulation with Newcastle disease virus. *J BUON* (2009) 2009(14 Suppl 1):S111–22.
- 44. Fournier P, Arnold A, Wilden H, Schirrmacher V. Newcastle disease virus induces pro-inflammatory conditions and type I interferon for counter-acting Treg activity. *Int J Oncol* (2012) **40**(3):840–50. doi:10.3892/ijo.2011.1265
- 45. Hornung V, Ellegast J, Kim S, Brzózka K, Jung A, Kato H, et al. Triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-1. *Science* (2006) **314**:994–7. doi:10.1126/science. 1132505
- Poeck H, Bscheider M, Gross O, Finger K, Roth S, Rebsamen M, et al. Recognition of RNA virus by RIG-1 results in activation of CARD9 and inflammasome signaling for interfeulin 1 beta production. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:63–9. doi:10.1038/ni.1824

- Xiao Z, Casey KA, Jameson SC, Curtsinger JM, Mescher MF. Programming for CD8 T cell memory development requires IL-12 or type I IFN. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:2786–94. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803484
- Santarlasci V, Cosmi L, Maggi L, Liotta F, Annunziato F. IL-1 and T helper immune responses. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:182. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013. 00182
- Bai L, Koopmann J, Fiola C, Fournier P, Schirrmacher V. Dendritic cells pulsed with viral oncolysate potently stimulate autologous T cells from cancer patients. *Int J Oncol* (2002) 21(4):685–94. doi:10.3892/ijo.21.4.685
- Klug F, Prakash H, Huber PE, Seibel T, Bender N, Halama N, et al. Low-dose irradiation programs macrophage differentiation to an iNOS+/M1 phenotype that orchestrates effective T cell immunotherapy. *Cancer Cell* (2013) 24(5):589–602. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2013.09.014
- Knippertz I, Stein MF, Dörrie J, Schaft N, Müller I, Deinzer A, et al. Mild hyperthermia enhances human monocyte-derived dendritic cell functions and offers potential for applications in vaccination strategies. *Int J Hyperthermia* (2011) 27(6):591–603. doi:10.3109/02656736.2011.589234
- Schirrmacher V, Bihar AS, Stuecker W, Sprenger T. Long-term remission of prostate cancer with extensive bone metastases upon immune- and virotherapy: a case report. *Cancer Lett* (2014).
- Pfirschke C, Schirrmacher V. Cross-infection of tumor cells by contact with T lymphocytes loaded with Newcastle disease virus. *Int J Oncol* (2009) 34:951–62. doi:10.3892/ijo.00000221

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 June 2014; paper pending published: 03 July 2014; accepted: 05 August 2014; published online: 11 September 2014.

Citation: Schirrmacher V and Fournier P (2014) Multimodal cancer therapy involving oncolytic Newcastle disease virus, autologous immune cells, and bi-specific antibodies. Front. Oncol. 4:224. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00224

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Schirrmacher and Fournier. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Attacking postoperative metastases using perioperative oncolytic viruses and viral vaccines

Lee-Hwa Tai¹ and Rebecca Auer^{1,2}*

¹ Centre for Innovative Cancer Research, Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa, ON, Canada

² Department of Surgery, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Edited by:

Philippe Fournier, DKFZ, Germany

Reviewed by:

Volker Schirrmacher, DKFZ, Germany Zong Sheng Guo, Harvard University, USA

*Correspondence:

Rebecca Auer, Ottawa General Hospital, 1617 CCW, Box#134, 501 Smyth Road, Ottawa, ON K1H8L6, Canada

e-mail: rauer@ottawahospital.on.ca

Surgical resection of solid primary malignancies is a mainstay of therapy for cancer patients. Despite being the most effective treatment for these tumors, cancer surgery has been associated with impaired metastatic clearance due to immunosuppression. In preclinical surgery models and human cancer patients, we and others have demonstrated a profound suppression of both natural killer (NK) and T cell function in the postoperative period and this plays a major role in the enhanced development of metastases following surgery. Oncolytic viruses (OV) were originally designed to selectively infect and replicate in tumors, with the primary objective of directly lysing cancer cells. It is becoming increasingly clear, however, that OV infection results in a profound inflammatory reaction within the tumor, initiating innate and adaptive immune responses against it that is critical for its therapeutic benefit. This anti-tumor immunity appears to be mediated predominantly by NK and cytotoxic T cells. In preclinical models, we found that preoperative OV prevents postoperative NK cell dysfunction and attenuates tumor dissemination. Due to theoretical safety concerns of administering live virus prior to surgery in cancer patients, we characterized safe, attenuated versions of OV, and viral vaccines that could stimulate NK cells and reduce metastases when administered in the perioperative period. In cancer patients, we observed that in vivo infusion with oncolytic vaccinia virus and ex vivo stimulation with viral vaccines promote NK cell activation. These preclinical studies provide a novel and clinically relevant setting for OV therapy. Our challenge is to identify safe and promising OV therapies that will activate NK and T cells in the perioperative period preventing the establishment of micrometastatic disease in cancer patients.

Keywords: metastasis, postoperative period, oncolytic viruses, viral vaccines, cancer, perioperative immunostimulation, natural killer cells, surgical stress

SURGICAL STRESS PROMOTES THE FORMATION **OF METASTASES**

Surgical resection is the mainstay of therapy for most solid malignancies but, even with complete resection, many patients harbor microscopic residual disease and ultimately die of a recurrence (1). Our group (2, 3) and others have clearly demonstrated, using different animal and tumor models, that surgery promotes the formation of metastatic disease (4-11) and the number of metastatic deposits is directly proportional to the magnitude of surgical stress (6, 12). In clinical studies, a complicated postoperative course correlates with inferior cancer survival and increased incidence of metastases (13, 14). A number of perioperative changes have been proposed to explain the promotion of metastases formation following surgery including (1) dissemination of tumor cells during the surgical procedure (15-20), (2) local and systemic release of growth factors, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (21, 22), and (3) cellular immune suppression. The cellular immune suppression following major surgery appears to peak at 3 days (23) following surgery but may persist for weeks (7, 23-25). It is hypothesized to be mediated by secretion of stress hormones, such as glucocorticoids (26, 27), catecholamines (27-29), and prostaglandins (26). It is characterized by both plasma cytokine changes [a decrease in IL-2 (30), IL-12 (31) and an

increase IL-6 (27, 30, 32, 33), IL-10 (34)] and a decrease in the number and function of circulating lymphocytes [cytotoxic T cells (35), dendritic cells (DC) (36) and natural killer (NK) cells (2, 3, 37)].

The postoperative stress response represents a diverse set of physiological changes that have evolved to ensure that the host can heal following major tissue trauma. These changes, however, involve pathways and mediators that can be exploited by cancer cells to facilitate metastatic spread. While a number of correlative studies have demonstrated an association between some of these changes and the enhanced formation of metastases following surgery, few mechanistic studies have been undertaken to understand it. This review will focus on the importance of both innate and adaptive postoperative cellular immune suppression, specifically NK and cytotoxic T cell postoperative dysfunction and make the case for the use of preoperative oncolytic viruses (OV) and viral vaccines to prevent the promotion of cancer metastases following surgery.

SURGICAL STRESS INHIBITS NK CELL FUNCTION AND **ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC CD8+ T CELL FUNCTION**

Both the innate and adaptive immune system play a significant role in anti-tumor immunity. As integral members of the innate immune system, NK cells are involved in the direct killing of cells displaying abnormalities linked to infection, malignancy, or transplantation (38, 39). Immunosurveillance of the host by NK cells for malignant cells results in direct cytotoxicity and the production of cytokines to enhance the immune response (39).

Natural killer cell dysfunction following surgery, as measured in a standard [51-Cr]-release assay, has been documented in both human patients (3, 25, 40–42) and animal models (3, 5, 7, 40, 41, 43). Postoperative NK cell suppression correlates with increased metastases in animal models of spontaneous (3, 9) and implanted (3, 10, 11) metastases, while in human studies low NK activity during the perioperative period is associated with a higher rate of cancer recurrence and mortality in a number of different cancer types (44–46). Despite the large number of studies that have documented postoperative NK cell dysfunction, very few studies have thoroughly characterized and directly explored the mechanism of this suppression (9, 11, 47). Our laboratory has clearly defined a role for NK cells in the development of postoperative metastases (2). Using several reproducible mouse models of surgical stress, including B16 melanoma, CT26 colon cancer and 4T1 breast cancer, our laboratory has demonstrated a consistent and significant (two- to fourfold) increase in the formation of experimental and spontaneous pulmonary metastases following surgery. In these experimental models, surgery markedly reduced NK cell total numbers in the spleen and affected NK cell migration. Further, ex vivo and in vivo tumor cell killing by NK cells were significantly reduced in surgically stressed mice. To establish that NK cells play the crucial mediating role in clearing tumor metastases following surgery, we transferred surgically stressed NK cells into NK-deficient mice (IL-2yR-knock out) and observed enhanced lung metastases in tumor-bearing mice compared to mice who received untreated NK cells (3). Transfer of NK cells labeled with the NK specific marker DX5 from surgically stressed and no surgery control donors into naive recipient mice represents the first in vivo evidence that links surgery to the spread of cancers via NK cells (3). In human studies, we have also confirmed that postoperative cancer surgery patients had markedly reduced NK cell cytotoxicity (3).

The adaptive immune system and more specifically $CD8^+$ T cells responses have received the majority of the attention from the cancer immunity field. Of recent interest in our lab is the impact of surgical stress on the development and maintenance of an acquired T cell-mediated anti-tumor immune response. A global reduction in T cell numbers and function post-surgery has been documented in preclinical studies and cancer patients (35). However, the effects of tumor-associated antigen (TAA)-specific T cells have not been evaluated and represent a current focus of research interest in our lab.

POSTOPERATIVE CELLULAR IMMUNE SUPPRESSION IS REVERSIBLE

Fortunately postoperative immune suppression is reversible, so while the postoperative period provides a window of opportunity for cancer cells to metastasize and grow, it also provides a window of opportunity to intervene, by supporting or further stimulating the immune system, and, in doing so, attenuate the development of cancer recurrences (48, 49). Based on promising preclinical results (8, 50, 51), clinical trials of preoperative non-specific immune

stimulation with low-dose recombinant IFNa (52) or IL-2 (53-58) have demonstrated less NK and T cell suppression following surgery. In two randomized studies of patients undergoing resection of colorectal cancer (CRC) primary tumors (58) and hepatic metastases (57), preoperative low-dose subcutaneous (s.c.) IL-2 was associated with an improved prognosis. In the first study, 86 CRC patients with stage II or III disease were randomized to receive low-dose IL-2 twice a day for 3 consecutive days prior to surgery or no preoperative treatment. At a median follow-up of 54 months, there were significantly few recurrences in the IL-2 group (21.4 vs. 43.1%, p = 0.03) and a trend toward improved overall survival (OS). In the second study, 50 CRC patients with Stage IV disease, undergoing curative or palliative surgery, were randomized to the same two treatment arms. The median progression-free survival (PFS) and OS were significantly longer in the preoperative IL-2 group. While these studies were not designed to evaluate cancer outcomes, a Phase II trial in 120 patients undergoing resection for renal-cell carcinoma has demonstrated a significant improvement in 5-year PFS with preoperative IL-2 (74 vs. 62%, p = 0.02) (54). Moreover, in all of these studies, preoperative IL-2 was safe and well tolerated with adverse events limited to pyrexia (Grade I-III). A few other non-conventional immunomodulators have been evaluated for their ability to boost cellular immunity in the perioperative period including cimetidine (59, 60), mistletoe extract (61, 62), and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (GMCSF) (63). Despite the paucity, the data are promising and perioperative treatment strategies, aimed at stimulating the cellular immune system warrants further study. As outlined in the remainder of this review, OV are an attractive agent to reverse perioperative immune suppression.

WHY USE PERIOPERATIVE ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES FOR IMMUNE STIMULATION? A MULTIPRONGED APPROACH FOR A MULTIFACTORIAL PROBLEM

Oncolytic viruses are not considered a "traditional" immunotherapy but their multiple mechanisms of action provide several advantages over traditional cytokine immune stimulants in the complex postoperative period. First, the immune stimulation provided by an OV is a more "physiological" immune stimulus, engaging and maturing DC, which in turn activates NK and T cells. The multitude of cytokines and chemokines, stimulate the appropriate picomolar concentration, by a systemic virus infection would be impossible to replicate even with the most carefully designed cytokine cocktail. Second, the OV will selectively replicate in and kill residual cancer cells, providing a direct cytolytic effect to remaining micrometastases, but also delivering the immune response to the tumor selectively. Finally, there is strong rationale to hypothesize that OV could infect and replicate better in the postoperative state because of the surge of growth factors such as VEGF, providing a therapeutic advantage for OV in postoperative cancer patients.

PRECLINICAL EVIDENCE FOR NK CELL ACTIVATION WITH PERIOPERATIVE ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES

Viruses, in general, are known to activate NK cells (64, 65) and OV are no exception. One of the first reports to support the anti-tumor activation of NK cells in response to OV therapy was
reported by Diaz et al. in which depletion experiments were performed to demonstrate that B16 melanoma tumor regression was achieved in a CD8⁺ T and NK cell-dependent manner following vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) intratumoral (i.t.) injection (66). Supporting these findings, oncolytic Reovirus treatment of prostate cancer produced an anti-tumor CD8⁺ T cell response along with prominent NK cell infiltration (67, 68). Miller et al. also observed that i.t. therapy with oncolytic herpes simplex virus (HSV) for B16 melanoma was abrogated in syngeneic models lacking NK and T cell subsets (69). In mechanistic studies with oncolytic new castle disease virus (NDV), Jarahian et al. demonstrated enhanced NK cytotoxicity against human tumor cell lines infected with NDV. Further, soluble receptor binding and blocking assays suggest that NKp44 and NKp46 recognition of viral ligand hemagglutinin-neuraminidase on NDV infected tumor cells mediated NK anti-tumor activity (70). We have demonstrated that oncolytic ORF virus (ORFV) has a profound effect on NK cells following i.v. delivery and that this NK cell activation is the main mechanism by which ORFV exerts its anti-tumor effect (71). It is very likely that stimulation of NK cells play an important role in the therapeutic effect of many OV, not only by enhancing NK cell-mediated killing of tumor target cells but also by triggering a robust, T cell-mediated, anti-tumor immune response (72).

Given that surgery suppresses NK cell activity and OV activate NK cells, we explored the ability of preoperative OV to prevent postoperative NK cell suppression, and in turn prevent the development of postoperative metastases. Using our established murine model of surgical stress, we demonstrated that perioperative administration of novel oncolytic ORF and vaccinia viruses can reverse NK cell suppression following surgery and this correlates with a reduction in the postoperative formation of metastases (3). Similar effects were observed in 4T1-tumor bearing surgically stressed mice treated with perioperative OV. When NK cells were depleted, the effect was no longer present, suggesting that suppression of tumor metastases in a surgical stress model is mainly mediated through OV activation of NK cells and subsequent NK cell-mediated tumor lysis (3).

We demonstrated a similar effect with the novel oncolytic rhabdovirus, Maraba (MG1) and used this model to explore the mechanism of NK cell activation further. MG1 is a double mutant rhabdovirus with deletion in the G and M proteins (73). It is a clinical candidate OV that is scheduled to begin a Phase I clinical trial in 2014. MG1 infection in immune competent mice resulted in an immediate (24 h) and intense activation of NK cells, as evidenced by significantly increased NK cell cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion. Moreover, preoperative i.v. administration of MG1 overcame surgery-induced NK suppression and attenuated the development of postoperative metastases in the B16lacZ model of implanted lung metastases, as well as in the breast 4T1 model of spontaneous lung metastases (74).

Mechanistically, we demonstrated that MG1 activates NK cells through conventional DC (cDC) (**Figure 1**). Using an *ex vivo* NK:DC co-culture system, we showed lack of NK infection, activation, and cytotoxicity in the absence of cDC. Further, in cDC ablated mice (CD11c-Diphtheria Toxin Receptor Transgenic mice), NK cell cytotoxicity was significantly reduced following MG1 administration (74). While we demonstrated that MG1 does not directly infect or activate NK cells, this is not the case for other OV. For instance, vaccinia virus has been shown to interact directly with NK cells through Toll-like-receptor-(TLR)-2 (75).

As the interplay between OV and immune cells in the perioperative period is critically important for the eradication of tumors, we further explored these interactions in our preclinical models of tumor and surgical stress. In both B16 melanoma and 4T1 breast tumor models, we observed postoperative expansion of myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSC) (3), which are known regulatory cells that have been shown to expand following various pathologies to suppress innate and adaptive immunity (76–80). The role of MDSC on surgery-induced dysfunction of NK cells and antigenspecific T cells and its potential interaction with OV is part of ongoing research in our lab (**Figure 1**).

PRECLINICAL EVIDENCE OF TAA-SPECIFIC T CELL ACTIVATION WITH PERIOPERATIVE ONCOLYTIC VACCINE

Oncolytic vaccines (OVax) are OV that express TAA that can direct the host immune response toward the TAA while simultaneously performing viral oncolysis and creating an inflammatory tumor microenvironment (81, 82). Dr. Brian Lichty has pioneered this prime-boost OVax platform and demonstrated remarkable efficacy in the B16 model (82-86). B16 cells express the TAA, dopachrome tautomerase (DCT), which is a protein involved in melanogenesis and is present in normal melanocytes and melanoma. As previous studies have demonstrated, Ad-DCT is able to prime a DCT specific T cell immune response and protect mice from a B16 tumor challenge or tumor re-growth (87, 88), but has limited efficacy in a therapeutic model of lung metastases (89). Dr. Lichty's group engineered MG1, to express DCT upon productive infection and used these two viruses in a prime-boost strategy in tumor-bearing animals. They found that when Ad-DCT was allowed to prime an immune response, followed 9 days later by an MG1-hDCT boost, the results were remarkable, leading to a significant reduction in lung metastases with durable cures in >20% of mice, something not seen when MG1 expressing an irrelevant transgene (MG1-GFP, green-fluorescent protein) was used. Strikingly, ~27% of CD8⁺ T cells were directed against DCT. Selective depletion of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) at the time of the boost abrogates the therapeutic efficacy, underscoring their central role. In the near and longer term, we will focus on using OVax, such as MG1-DCT in preclinical mouse tumor models of surgical stress to perioperative boost adaptive immune functions.

CLINICAL EXPERIENCE WITH PERIOPERATIVE OV IN CANCER SURGERY PATIENTS

The compelling preclinical and clinical data with oncolytic vaccinia virus, in particular the evidence that it can stimulate a potent anti-tumor immune response (90) led us to hypothesize that perioperative treatment with this OV could improve recurrence-free survival following surgical resection. We designed a single center Phase II clinical trial where patients with metastatic colorectal tumors within the liver were treated with a single i.v. dose of oncolytic vaccinia virus prior to surgical resection (91). This trial explored the mechanisms of action of oncolytic vaccinia virus through a series of correlative blood and tissue studies collected from patients pre- and post-OV treatment and surgery. In this



study, we confirmed that NK cell cytotoxicity improved in the setting of pre-operative oncolytic vaccinia virus compared to baseline control blood (3). Further, we detected genome copies of vaccinia virus in the tumors of patients following resection (unpublished data), which suggests that viral targeting of the tumor by i.v. injection may elicit an immune response in the tumor. These results demonstrated for the first time that oncolytic vaccinia virus markedly increases NK activity in cancer surgery patients.

In the same patient population of CRC, systemic delivery of oncolytic reovirus prior to planned surgical resection of liver metastases was undertaken by researchers in the UK (92) In this "window of opportunity" trial of 10 patients, Adair et al. was able to recover live reovirus from the blood cells, but not from plasma removed from these patients. In addition, reovirus protein was identified preferentially in resected tumor tissue, but not in normal liver tissue. Their results suggest that immune cells in the blood may protect virus from neutralizing antibodies, thus providing targeted delivery of OV to tumors. Importantly, preoperative treatment with oncolytic reovirus was well tolerated, with the most common side effects being flu-like symptoms and no reported grade 3 or 4 toxicities in any patients (92). In a study of perioperative oncolytic HSV delivery, virus was injected intratumorally preand post-surgical resection into patients with recurrent glioblastoma multiforme (93). Evidence of immune cell infiltration and viral replication in the resected tumors was reported by the authors. Notably, no patients developed HSV related encephalitis or required antiviral treatment (93). In a series of clinical trials using NDV-modified autologous tumor cell vaccine (NDV-ATV) for treatment of colorectal, renal cell, and glioblastoma cancer patients, researchers detected a significantly improved survival advantage compared to unvaccinated and historical controls. However, NDV-ATV was mostly administered postoperatively and not preoperatively to prevent surgery-induced immunosuppression, which might further improve upon the survival advantage. Similar to the above studies, NDV-ATV was well tolerated, with the most common side effects being mild-fever/headache and no associated autoimmunity (70, 94–99). These reports demonstrate the feasibility of perioperative OV administration into cancer surgery patients.

THE IMPORTANCE OF TIMING FOR OV ADMINISTRATION IN THE PERIOPERATIVE PERIOD

While the postoperative period provides a window of opportunity for cancer cells to metastasize and grow, it also provides a window of opportunity to intervene, by strengthening the immune system and reducing recurrence of cancer following surgery in cancer patients. In our preclinical perioperative vaccine studies, we hypothesized that neoadjuvant delivery of vaccine immediately prior to surgery will allow for maximal NK cell stimulation to counteract surgery-induced NK cell suppression (100, 101). Indeed, we observed that influenza vaccine administered on the same day, immediately prior to surgery, reduced metastases most effectively. The results from NK cells isolated from cancer surgery patients also confirm that the timing of influenza administration is critical for its effect. In four out of four cancer surgery patients, NK cells isolated prior to surgical resection demonstrated enhanced cytotoxicity and IFNy secretion following ex vivo pulsing with influenza vaccine, while in only one of these patients was similar activation demonstrated in NK cells isolated 1 day following surgery, suggesting that surgery-induced NK cell dysfunction can be prevented but not reversed by influenza. In humans receiving a flu shot as part of a vaccination campaign, NK cell activation peaked at 1-2 days following immunization (101). Based on this, it appears that a cancer vaccination strategy is probably best delivered the day before cancer surgery, in order to allow sufficient time to maximally activate NK cells prior to surgical stress.

Equally important for a replicating virus is the growth advantage that the postoperative state may provide, increasing oncolysis, viral replication, and spreading. Surgical stress results in a surge of VEGF with resulting angiogenesis to facilitate wound healing (21). Kottke et al. (102, 103) have previously demonstrated that a VEGF surge improved viral replication, viral cell lysis, and an innate immune mediated attack, in particular by NK cells, by allowing tumor-associated endothelial cells to transiently support viral replication during the VEGF surge. The sequential combination of oncolytic vaccinia virus and the small molecule B-raf and VEGF inhibitor, sorafenib, has also demonstrated efficacy in preclinical models and a few patients (104), further supporting the concept that OV and VEGF may act synergistically if the timing of viral administration is considered.

BARRIERS TO PERIOPERATIVE OV THERAPY AND STRATEGIES TO OVERCOME THEM

While these data are exciting, the perioperative use of OV is in preclinical and early stages of clinical investigation. In the design of our preoperative OV trial, we were confronted with multiple concerns associated with the use of a live virus immediately prior to surgery in cancer patients. In particular, concerns were raised about the potential for an overwhelming postoperative systemic inflammatory response, the risk of spread to members of the operating room team, and risk of meningitis with epidural analgesia. These safety concerns present real barriers to the development of perioperative OV. In their recent publication, Adair et al. demonstrated the feasibility and safety of perioperative live reovirus infusion prior to surgery in CRC patients. However, OV infusion was administered 6–28 days prior to surgery and not immediately before surgery. Further, three patients received fewer than their planned five doses of reovirus. In one patient, this was due to a decline in white blood cell count, while the remaining two patients opted to not receive their last doses of OV prior to surgery because of their own concerns that flu-like symptoms might interfere with the planned surgery, highlighting a strongly held belief that remains a theoretic barrier to immediate preoperative delivery of a replicating virus (92).

Given these very real concerns surrounding live perioperative delivery of OV, we subsequently focused on generating nonreplicating MG1 viruses to characterize their ability to activate NK cells and attenuate metastases in a model of experimental (B16) and spontaneous (4T1) metastases following surgical stress. To accomplish this, we constructed a replication incompetent MG1 -MG1-Gless-eGFP, that is only capable of one infectious life cycle, thus offering a safe in vivo profile. Next, we compared these variations of MG1: (1) live MG1-productive infection and replication; (2) a G-less version (MG1-Gless) - capable of a single-replication cycle of virus; (3) MG1 exposed to ultraviolet (UV) for 2 min to 2 h – replication incompetent confirmed by plaque assay. MG1, MG1-Gless, and MG1-UV^{2 min} exhibited significantly higher NK cell function compared to PBS control, and they effectively attenuated in vivo B16lacZ lung metastases to near identical levels at high viral doses $(1 \times 10^8 \text{ PFU})$. However, at all lower doses studied $(1 \times 10^{5-7} \text{ PFU})$, live MG1 demonstrated better efficacy than attenuated MG1. Furthermore, we characterized this panel of MG1 viruses in terms of virus morphological structure and cell associated interaction via Electron Microscopy, qRT-PCR, and western blot and found that MG1-UV^{2 min} remains an intact virus particle (virus proteins, genetic materials) with cell-associated interactions, corresponding to the highest NK cell activation and least lung metastases, among MG1-UV viruses. Importantly, we demonstrated that preoperative i.v. administration of equivalent high doses (1×10^8 PFU) of live and attenuated MG1 (MG1-Gless or MG1-UV2 min) overcame surgery-induced NK cell suppression and reduced the development of postoperative metastases in the B16lacZ implanted lung metastases, as well as in the breast 4T1 model of spontaneous lung metastases. Taken together, these results suggest that the intact viral particle and cellular recognition, along with viral proteins and genomic RNA are essential for NK cell-mediated anti-tumor responses. Non-replicating forms of MG1, including MG1-UV^{2 min}, are novel cancer therapies that can be safely used in the immediate preoperative period to prevent the formation of metastatic disease (74).

Parallel to our perioperative attenuated OV studies, we assessed a wide range of potential agents to provide perioperative non-specific immunostimulation including TLR ligands and inactivated vaccines against infectious disease. Firstly, we assessed a panel of routinely used immunizations, including vaccines against influenza, meningitis, measles/mumps/rubella, diphtheria/tetanus/pertussis/polio, pneumonia, and influenza for their ability to activate (CD69 expression) and enhance NK cell function (cytotoxicity and IFNy secretion). When directly compared, influenza was the most potent NK cell activator among the prophylactic vaccines, although, not unexpectedly, inoculating mice with live replicating viruses (such as vaccinia virus) induced higher levels of NK cell cytotoxicity. Using our mouse models of experimental (B16 melanoma) and spontaneous (4T1) metastases and surgical stress, we subsequently demonstrated that preoperative delivery of a single dose of influenza resulted in a dramatic reduction in lung metastases (101). In order to confirm that NK cells play a mediating role in preventing postoperative metastases following influenza treatment, we pharmacologically depleted NK cells and observed a complete abrogation of the therapeutic effect of influenza vaccination. Furthermore, we discovered that IFNα had the most dramatic increase following influenza vaccination after assessing a panel of serum cytokines following influenza administration. We also observed that low-dose preoperative IFNa was able to rescue surgery-induced NK cell dysfunction and metastases to the same degree as influenza vaccination. The central role for IFNa was underscored by demonstrating that influenza vaccination was not able to increase postoperative NK cell activity or attenuate postoperative metastases in IFNa receptor-deficient mice. In PBMC isolated from human donors, Type I IFN blocking antibody prevented influenza from activating NK cells (101). While our study did not explore the role of DC in the production of IFNa following influenza vaccination, it is very likely that they represent the primary source, resulting in secondary NK cell stimulation (see Figure 1).

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Surgical resection is the mainstay of therapy for patients with localized solid malignancies. Even with complete resection, many patients develop a metastatic recurrence and ultimately die of their disease. The immediate postoperative period provides an ideal environment for the formation of cancer metastases. Despite this, it remains a therapeutic window that is largely ignored. There are currently no standard perioperative anti-cancer therapies aimed at preventing postoperative metastases. We have demonstrated in preclinical models that perioperative OV therapy can activate both the innate and adaptive immune responses and attenuate metastatic disease. Early clinical trials confirm the feasibility of this strategy but these therapies must be rigorously characterized for safety and efficacy and then translated into thoughtfully designed clinical trials. This research supports the concept that neoadjuvant (preoperative) OV treatments can reverse postoperative immune dysfunction, while directly infecting and killing tumor cells and creating a favorable immune microenvironment. This treatment strategy has the potential to impact countless cancer patients who undergo surgical resection of their solid tumor every year.

REFERENCES

- 1. Saxe C. Unlocking the Mysteries of Metastases. (2013). Available from: http://www.cancer.org/cancer/news/expertvoices/post/2013/01/23/unlocking-the-mysteries-of-metastasis.aspx
- 2. Seth R, Tai LH, Falls T, de Souza CT, Bell JC, Carrier M, et al. Surgical stress promotes the development of cancer metastases by a coagulation-dependent

mechanism involving natural killer cells in a murine model. *Ann Surg* (2013) **258**(1):158–68. doi:10.1097/SLA.0b013e31826fcbdb

- Tai LH, de Souza CT, Belanger S, Ly L, Alkayyal AA, Zhang J, et al. Preventing postoperative metastatic disease by inhibiting surgery-induced dysfunction in natural killer cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**(1):97–107. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-12-1993
- Shiromizu A, Suematsu T, Yamaguchi K, Shiraishi N, Adachi Y, Kitano S. Effect of laparotomy and laparoscopy on the establishment of lung metastasis in a murine model. *Surgery* (2000) 128(5):799–805. doi:10.1067/msy.2000.108047
- Ben-Eliyahu S, Page GG, Yirmiya R, Shakhar G. Evidence that stress and surgical interventions promote tumor development by suppressing natural killer cell activity. *Int J Cancer* (1999) 80(6):880–8. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19990315)80:6<880::AID-IJC14>3.0.CO;2-Y
- Tsuchiya Y, Sawada S, Yoshioka I, Ohashi Y, Matsuo M, Harimaya Y, et al. Increased surgical stress promotes tumor metastasis. *Surgery* (2003) 133(5):547–55. doi:10.1067/msy.2003.141
- Da Costa ML, Redmond P, Bouchier-Hayes DJ. The effect of laparotomy and laparoscopy on the establishment of spontaneous tumor metastases. *Surgery* (1998) 124(3):516–25. doi:10.1016/S0039-6060(98)70098-4
- Colacchio TA, Yeager MP, Hildebrandt LW. Perioperative immunomodulation in cancer surgery. *Am J Surg* (1994) 167(1):174–9. doi:10.1016/0002-9610(94) 90070-1
- Glasner A, Avraham R, Rosenne E, Benish M, Zmora O, Shemer S, et al. Improving survival rates in two models of spontaneous postoperative metastasis in mice by combined administration of a beta-adrenergic antagonist and a cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(5):2449–57. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903301
- Benish M, Bartal I, Goldfarb Y, Levi B, Avraham R, Raz A, et al. Perioperative use of beta-blockers and COX-2 inhibitors may improve immune competence and reduce the risk of tumor metastasis. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2008) 15(7):2042–52. doi:10.1245/s10434-008-9890-5
- Goldfarb Y, Sorski L, Benish M, Levi B, Melamed R, Ben-Eliyahu S. Improving postoperative immune status and resistance to cancer metastasis: a combined perioperative approach of immunostimulation and prevention of excessive surgical stress responses. *Ann Surg* (2011) 253(4):798–810. doi:10.1097/SLA. 0b013e318211d7b5
- Southall JC, Lee SW, Allendorf JD, Bessler M, Whelan RL. Colon adenocarcinoma and B-16 melanoma grow larger following laparotomy vs. pneumoperitoneum in a murine model. *Dis Colon Rectum* (1998) 41(5):564–9. doi:10.1007/BF02235261
- Lerut T, Moons J, Coosemans W, Van Raemdonck D, De Leyn P, Decaluwe H, et al. Postoperative complications after transthoracic esophagectomy for cancer of the esophagus and gastroesophageal junction are correlated with early cancer recurrence: role of systematic grading of complications using the modified Clavien classification. *Ann Surg* (2009) 250(5):798–807. doi:10.1097/SLA. 0b013e3181bdd5a8
- Eberhardt JM, Kiran RP, Lavery IC. The impact of anastomotic leak and intra-abdominal abscess on cancer-related outcomes after resection for colorectal cancer: a case control study. *Dis Colon Rectum* (2009) 52(3):380–6. doi:10.1007/DCR.0b013e31819ad488
- 15. Sugarbaker EV, Ketcham AS. Mechanisms and prevention of cancer dissemination: an overview. *Semin Oncol* (1977) 4(1):19–32.
- Fortner JG. Inadvertent spread of cancer at surgery. J Surg Oncol (1993) 53(3):191–6. doi:10.1002/jso.2930530313
- Yamaguchi K, Takagi Y, Aoki S, Futamura M, Saji S. Significant detection of circulating cancer cells in the blood by reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction during colorectal cancer resection. *Ann Surg* (2000) 232(1):58–65. doi:10.1097/0000658-200007000-00009
- Roberts S, Long L, Jonasson O, Mc GR, Mc GE, Cole WH. The isolation of cancer cells from the blood stream during uterine curettage. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* (1960) 111:3–11.
- Foss OP, Brennhovd IO, Messelt OT, Efskind J, Liverud K. Invasion of tumor cells into the bloodstream caused by palpation or biopsy of the tumor. *Surgery* (1966) 59(5):691–5.
- Sales JP, Wind P, Douard R, Cugnenc PH, Loric S. Blood dissemination of colonic epithelial cells during no-touch surgery for rectosigmoid cancer. *Lancet* (1999) 354(9176):392. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(99)92164-5
- 21. Belizon A, Balik E, Feingold DL, Bessler M, Arnell TD, Forde KA, et al. Major abdominal surgery increases plasma levels of vascular endothelial growth

factor: open more so than minimally invasive methods. *Ann Surg* (2006) **244**(5):792–8. doi:10.1097/01.sla.0000225272.52313.e2

- Pera M, Nelson H, Rajkumar SV, Young-Fadok TM, Burgart LJ. Influence of postoperative acute-phase response on angiogenesis and tumor growth: open vs. laparoscopic-assisted surgery in mice. J Gastrointest Surg (2003) 7(6):783–90. doi:10.1016/S1091-255X(03)00111-2
- Coffey JC, Wang JH, Smith MJ, Bouchier-Hayes D, Cotter TG, Redmond HP. Excisional surgery for cancer cure: therapy at a cost. *Lancet Oncol* (2003) 4(12):760–8. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(03)01282-8
- Da Costa ML, Redmond HP, Finnegan N, Flynn M, Bouchier-Hayes D. Laparotomy and laparoscopy differentially accelerate experimental flank tumour growth. Br J Surg (1998) 85(10):1439–42. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2168.1998. 00853.x
- Espi A, Arenas J, Garcia-Granero E, Marti E, Lledo S. Relationship of curative surgery on natural killer cell activity in colorectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum* (1996) **39**(4):429–34. doi:10.1007/BF02054059
- Bessey PQ, Watters JM, Aoki TT, Wilmore DW. Combined hormonal infusion simulates the metabolic response to injury. *Ann Surg* (1984) 200(3):264–81. doi:10.1097/0000658-198409000-00004
- Ogawa K, Hirai M, Katsube T, Murayama M, Hamaguchi K, Shimakawa T, et al. Suppression of cellular immunity by surgical stress. *Surgery* (2000) 127(3):329–36. doi:10.1067/msy.2000.103498
- Elenkov IJ, Chrousos GP. Stress hormones, proinflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines, and autoimmunity. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2002) 966:290–303. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2002.tb04229.x
- Udelsman R, Goldstein DS, Loriaux DL, Chrousos GP. Catecholamineglucocorticoid interactions during surgical stress. J Surg Res (1987) 43(6):539–45. doi:10.1016/0022-4804(87)90128-4
- Baxevanis CN, Papilas K, Dedoussis GV, Pavlis T, Papamichail M. Abnormal cytokine serum levels correlate with impaired cellular immune responses after surgery. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* (1994) 71(1):82–8. doi:10.1006/ clin.1994.1055
- Ahlers O, Nachtigall I, Lenze J, Goldmann A, Schulte E, Hohne C, et al. Intraoperative thoracic epidural anaesthesia attenuates stress-induced immunosuppression in patients undergoing major abdominal surgery. *Br J Anaesth* (2008) 101(6):781–7. doi:10.1093/bja/aen287
- 32. Wlaszczyk A, Adamik B, Durek G, Kubler A, Zimecki M. Immunological status of patients subjected to cardiac surgery: serum levels of interleukin 6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha and the ability of peripheral blood mononuclear cells to proliferate and produce these cytokines in vitro. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp* (*Warsz*) (1996) **44**(4):225–34.
- 33. Nakazaki H. Preoperative and postoperative cytokines in patients with cancer. *Cancer* (1992) **70**(3):709–13. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19920801)70:3<709: :AID-CNCR2820700328>3.0.CO;2-O
- Whitson BA, D'Cunha J, Maddaus MA. Minimally invasive cancer surgery improves patient survival rates through less perioperative immunosuppression. *Med Hypotheses* (2007) 68(6):1328–32. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2006.09.063
- 35. Bartal I, Melamed R, Greenfeld K, Atzil S, Glasner A, Domankevich V, et al. Immune perturbations in patients along the perioperative period: alterations in cell surface markers and leukocyte subtypes before and after surgery. *Brain Behav Immun* (2010) 24(3):376–86. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2009.02.010
- Ho CS, Lopez JA, Vuckovic S, Pyke CM, Hockey RL, Hart DN. Surgical and physical stress increases circulating blood dendritic cell counts independently of monocyte counts. *Blood* (2001) 98(1):140–5. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.1.140
- 37. Greenfeld K, Avraham R, Benish M, Goldfarb Y, Rosenne E, Shapira Y, et al. Immune suppression while awaiting surgery and following it: dissociations between plasma cytokine levels, their induced production, and NK cell cytotoxicity. *Brain Behav Immun* (2007) 21(4):503–13. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2006.12.006
- Lanier LL. NK cell receptors. Annu Rev Immunol (1998) 16:359–93. doi:10. 1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.359
- 39. Lanier LL. NK cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol (2005) 23:225–74. doi:10. 1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115526
- Pollock RE, Lotzova E, Stanford SD. Mechanism of surgical stress impairment of human perioperative natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *Arch Surg* (1991) 126(3):338–42. doi:10.1001/archsurg.1991.01410270082013
- Pollock RE, Lotzova E, Stanford SD. Surgical stress impairs natural killer cell programming of tumor for lysis in patients with sarcomas and other solid tumors. *Cancer* (1992) **70**(8):2192–202. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19921015)70: 8<2192::AID-CNCR2820700830>3.0.CO;2-6

- 42. Lukomska B, Olszewski WL, Engeset A, Kolstad P. The effect of surgery and chemotherapy on blood NK cell activity in patients with ovarian cancer. *Cancer* (1983) **51**(3):465–9. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19830201)51:3<465: :AID-CNCR2820510318>3.0.CO;2-9
- Page GG, Blakely WP, Ben-Eliyahu S. Evidence that postoperative pain is a mediator of the tumor-promoting effects of surgery in rats. *Pain* (2001) **90**(1– 2):191–9. doi:10.1016/S0304-3959(00)00403-6
- 44. Tartter PI, Steinberg B, Barron DM, Martinelli G. The prognostic significance of natural killer cytotoxicity in patients with colorectal cancer. *Arch Surg* (1987) 122(11):1264–8. doi:10.1001/archsurg.1987.01400230050009
- Schantz SP, Brown BW, Lira E, Taylor DL, Beddingfield N. Evidence for the role of natural immunity in the control of metastatic spread of head and neck cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (1987) 25(2):141–8. doi:10.1007/ BF00199955
- 46. Fujisawa T, Yamaguchi Y. Autologous tumor killing activity as a prognostic factor in primary resected nonsmall cell carcinoma of the lung. *Cancer* (1997) **79**(3):474–81. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19970201)79:3<474: :AID-CNCR8>3.0.CO;2-I
- Carter CR, Hogan BV, Cole JY, Shenoy HG, Horgan KM, Hughes TA. The expression of activating natural killer cell receptors in patients with primary breast cancer. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(2 Suppl):5047. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0004503
- Coffey JC, Smith MJ, Wang JH, Bouchier-Hayes D, Cotter TG, Redmond HP. Cancer surgery: risks and opportunities. *Bioessays* (2006) 28(4):433–7. doi:10.1002/bies.20381
- 49. van der Bij GJ, Oosterling SJ, Beelen RH, Meijer S, Coffey JC, van Egmond M. The perioperative period is an underutilized window of therapeutic opportunity in patients with colorectal cancer. *Ann Surg* (2009) 249(5):727–34. doi:10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181a3ddbd
- 50. Iigo M, Sakurai M, Tamura T, Saijo N, Hoshi A. In vivo antitumor activity of multiple injections of recombinant interleukin 2, alone and in combination with three different types of recombinant interferon, on various syngeneic murine tumors. *Cancer Res* (1988) 48(2):260–4.
- Weese JL, Emoto SE, Sondel PM. Reduced incidence of hepatic metastases by perioperative treatment with recombinant human interleukin-2. *Dis Colon Rectum* (1987) 30(7):503–7. doi:10.1007/BF02554778
- Oosterling SJ, van der Bij GJ, Mels AK, Beelen RH, Meijer S, van Egmond M, et al. Perioperative IFN-alpha to avoid surgically induced immune suppression in colorectal cancer patients. *Histol Histopathol* (2006) 21(7):753–60.
- Nichols PH, Ramsden CW, Ward U, Trejdosiewicz LK, Ambrose NS, Primrose JN. Peri-operative modulation of cellular immunity in patients with colorectal cancer. *Clin Exp Immunol* (1993) 94(1):4–10. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.1993. tb05968.x
- Klatte T, Ittenson A, Rohl FW, Ecke M, Allhoff EP, Bohm M. Perioperative immunomodulation with interleukin-2 in patients with renal cell carcinoma: results of a controlled phase II trial. *Br J Cancer* (2006) **95**(9):1167–73. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6603391
- 55. Bohm M, Ittenson A, Schierbaum KF, Rohl FW, Ansorge S, Allhoff EP. Pretreatment with interleukin-2 modulates peri-operative immuno-dysfunction in patients with renal cell carcinoma. *Eur Urol* (2002) **41**(4):458–67; discussion 67–8. doi:10.1016/S0302-2838(02)00031-3
- Nichols PH, Ramsden CW, Ward U, Sedman PC, Primrose JN. Perioperative immunotherapy with recombinant interleukin 2 in patients undergoing surgery for colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* (1992) 52(20):5765–9.
- Brivio F, Lissoni P, Alderi G, Barni S, Lavorato F, Fumagalli L. Preoperative interleukin-2 subcutaneous immunotherapy may prolong the survival time in advanced colorectal cancer patients. *Oncology* (1996) 53(4):263–8. doi:10.1159/000227571
- Brivio F, Fumagalli L, Lissoni P, Nardone A, Nespoli L, Fattori L, et al. Pre-operative immunoprophylaxis with interleukin-2 may improve prognosis in radical surgery for colorectal cancer stage B-C. *Anticancer Res* (2006) 26(1B):599–603.
- 59. Lin CY, Bai DJ, Yuan HY, Wang K, Yang GL, Hu MB, et al. Perioperative cimetidine administration promotes peripheral blood lymphocytes and tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with gastrointestinal cancer: results of a randomized controlled clinical trial. *World J Gastroenterol* (2004) 10(1):136–42.
- 60. Li Y, Yang GL, Yuan HY, Bai DJ, Wang K, Lin CR, et al. Effects of perioperative cimetidine administration on peripheral blood lymphocytes and tumor

infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with gastrointestinal cancer: results of a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Hepatogastroenterology* (2005) **52**(62): 504–8.

- 61. Schink M, Troger W, Dabidian A, Goyert A, Scheuerecker H, Meyer J, et al. Mistletoe extract reduces the surgical suppression of natural killer cell activity in cancer patients. a randomized phase III trial. *Forsch Komplementmed* (2007) 14(1):9–17. doi:10.1159/000098135
- Enesel MB, Acalovschi I, Grosu V, Sbarcea A, Rusu C, Dobre A, et al. Perioperative application of the Viscum album extract Isorel in digestive tract cancer patients. *Anticancer Res* (2005) 25(6C):4583–90.
- 63. Mels AK, Statius Muller MG, van Leeuwen PA, von Blomberg BM, Scheper RJ, Cuesta MA, et al. Immune-stimulating effects of low-dose perioperative recombinant granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in patients operated on for primary colorectal carcinoma. *Br J Surg* (2001) **88**(4):539–44. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2168.2001.01722.x
- Dokun AO, Kim S, Smith HR, Kang HS, Chu DT, Yokoyama WM. Specific and nonspecific NK cell activation during virus infection. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2(10):951–6. doi:10.1038/ni714
- 65. Natuk RJ, Welsh RM. Accumulation and chemotaxis of natural killer/large granular lymphocytes at sites of virus replication. *J Immunol* (1987) **138**(3):877–83.
- Diaz RM, Galivo F, Kottke T, Wongthida P, Qiao J, Thompson J, et al. Oncolytic immunovirotherapy for melanoma using vesicular stomatitis virus. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(6):2840–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3974
- Drake CG. Prostate cancer as a model for tumour immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(8):580–93. doi:10.1038/nri2817
- Gujar SA, Pan DA, Marcato P, Garant KA, Lee PW. Oncolytic virus-initiated protective immunity against prostate cancer. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(4):797–804. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.297
- Miller CG, Fraser NW. Requirement of an integrated immune response for successful neuroattenuated HSV-1 therapy in an intracranial metastatic melanoma model. *Mol Ther* (2003) 7(6):741–7. doi:10.1016/S1525-0016(03)00120-5
- Jarahian M, Watzl C, Fournier P, Arnold A, Djandji D, Zahedi S, et al. Activation of natural killer cells by newcastle disease virus hemagglutinin-neuraminidase. *J Virol* (2009) 83(16):8108–21. doi:10.1128/JVI.00211-09
- Rintoul JL, Lemay CG, Tai LH, Stanford MM, Falls TJ, de Souza CT, et al. ORFV: a novel oncolytic and immune stimulating parapoxvirus therapeutic. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20(6):1148–57. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.301
- Krebs P, Barnes MJ, Lampe K, Whitley K, Bahjat KS, Beutler B, et al. NK-cellmediated killing of target cells triggers robust antigen-specific T-cell-mediated and humoral responses. *Blood* (2009) 113(26):6593–602. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-01-201467
- Brun J, McManus D, Lefebvre C, Hu K, Falls T, Atkins H, et al. Identification of genetically modified Maraba virus as an oncolytic rhabdovirus. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(8):1440–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.103
- 74. Zhang J, Tai LH, Ilkow CS, Alkayyal AA, Ananth AA, de Souza CT, et al. Maraba MG1 virus enhances natural killer cell function via conventional dendritic cells to reduce postoperative metastatic disease. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22(7):1320–32. doi:10.1038/mt.2014.60
- Martinez J, Huang X, Yang Y. Direct TLR2 signaling is critical for NK cell activation and function in response to vaccinia viral infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2010) 6(3):e1000811. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000811
- Liu C, Yu S, Kappes J, Wang J, Grizzle WE, Zinn KR, et al. Expansion of spleen myeloid suppressor cells represses NK cell cytotoxicity in tumor-bearing host. *Blood* (2007) 109(10):4336–42. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-09-046201
- 77. Cheng P, Corzo CA, Luetteke N, Yu B, Nagaraj S, Bui MM, et al. Inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation and accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer is regulated by S100A9 protein. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(10):2235–49. doi:10.1084/jem.20080132
- Mazzoni A, Bronte V, Visintin A, Spitzer JH, Apolloni E, Serafini P, et al. Myeloid suppressor lines inhibit T cell responses by an NO-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2002) 168(2):689–95. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.2.689
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(3):162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- Li H, Han Y, Guo Q, Zhang M, Cao X. Cancer-expanded myeloid-derived suppressor cells induce anergy of NK cells through membrane-bound TGF-beta 1. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(1):240–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.1.240

- Bridle BW, Hanson S, Lichty BD. Combining oncolytic virotherapy and tumour vaccination. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2010) 21(2–3):143–8. doi:10.1016/j. cytogfr.2010.02.009
- Bridle BW, Stephenson KB, Boudreau JE, Koshy S, Kazdhan N, Pullenayegum E, et al. Potentiating cancer immunotherapy using an oncolytic virus. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(8):1430–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.98
- Pol JG, Zhang L, Bridle BW, Stephenson KB, Resseguier J, Hanson S, et al. Maraba virus as a potent oncolytic vaccine vector. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22(2):420–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.249
- Bridle BW, Clouthier D, Zhang L, Pol J, Chen L, Lichty BD, et al. Oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus quantitatively and qualitatively improves primary CD8 T-cell responses to anticancer vaccines. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(8):e26013. doi:10.4161/onci.26013
- Bridle BW, Boudreau JE, Lichty BD, Brunelliere J, Stephenson K, Koshy S, et al. Vesicular stomatitis virus as a novel cancer vaccine vector to prime antitumor immunity amenable to rapid boosting with adenovirus. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17(10):1814–21. doi:10.1038/mt.2009.154
- 86. Zhang L, Bridle BW, Chen L, Pol J, Spaner D, Boudreau JE, et al. Delivery of viral-vectored vaccines by B cells represents a novel strategy to accelerate CD8(+) T-cell recall responses. *Blood* (2013) **121**(13):2432–9. doi:10.1182/ blood-2012-06-438481
- 87. Kianizad K, Marshall LA, Grinshtein N, Bernard D, Margl R, Cheng S, et al. Elevated frequencies of self-reactive CD8+ T cells following immunization with a xenoantigen are due to the presence of a heteroclitic CD4+ T-cell helper epitope. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(13):6459–67. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4336
- Lane C, Leitch J, Tan X, Hadjati J, Bramson JL, Wan Y. Vaccination-induced autoimmune vitiligo is a consequence of secondary trauma to the skin. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(4):1509–14. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3227
- Grinishtein N, Ventresca M, Margl R, Bernard D, Yang TC, Millar JB, et al. High-dose chemotherapy augments the efficacy of recombinant adenovirus vaccines and improves the therapeutic outcome. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2009) 16(4):338–50. doi:10.1038/cgt.2008.89
- Melcher A, Parato K, Rooney CM, Bell JC. Thunder and lightning: immunotherapy and oncolytic viruses collide. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(6):1008–16. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.65
- 91. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT01329809: A Phase IIa Study of Neoadjuvant JX-594 (Thymidine Kinase-Deactivated Vaccinia Virus Plus GM-CSF) Administered by Intravenous Infusion or Intratumoral Injection Followed by Surgical Resection in Patients With Metastatic Colorectal Tumors Within the Liver. National Institutes of Health.
- Adair RA, Roulstone V, Scott KJ, Morgan R, Nuovo GJ, Fuller M, et al. Cell carriage, delivery, and selective replication of an oncolytic virus in tumor in patients. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4(138):138ra77. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed. 3003578
- 93. Markert JM, Liechty PG, Wang W, Gaston S, Braz E, Karrasch M, et al. Phase Ib trial of mutant herpes simplex virus G207 inoculated pre-and post-tumor resection for recurrent GBM. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17(1):199–207. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.228
- 94. Bohle W, Schlag P, Liebrich W, Hohenberger P, Manasterski M, Moller P, et al. Postoperative active specific immunization in colorectal cancer patients with virus-modified autologous tumor-cell vaccine. First clinical results with tumor-cell vaccines modified with live but avirulent Newcastle disease virus. *Cancer* (1990) **66**(7):1517–23. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19901001)66:7<1517: :AID-CNCR2820660714>3.0.CO;2-I
- Lehner B, Schlag P, Liebrich W, Schirrmacher V. Postoperative active specific immunization in curatively resected colorectal cancer patients with a virusmodified autologous tumor cell vaccine. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (1990) 32(3):173–8. doi:10.1007/BF01771453
- 96. Liebrich W, Schlag P, Manasterski M, Lehner B, Stohr M, Moller P, et al. In vitro and clinical characterisation of a Newcastle disease virus-modified autologous tumour cell vaccine for treatment of colorectal cancer patients. *Eur J Cancer* (1991) 27(6):703–10. doi:10.1016/0277-5379(91)90170-1
- Ockert D, Schirrmacher V, Beck N, Stoelben E, Ahlert T, Flechtenmacher J, et al. Newcastle disease virus-infected intact autologous tumor cell vaccine for adjuvant active specific immunotherapy of resected colorectal carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (1996) 2(1):21–8.

- Pomer S, Schirrmacher V, Thiele R, Lohrke H, Brkovic D, Staehler G. Tumor response and 4 year survival-data of patients with advanced renal-cell carcinoma treated with autologous tumor vaccine and subcutaneous R-IL-2 and IFN-alpha(2b). *Int J Oncol* (1995) 6(5):947–54.
- Schirrmacher V. Clinical trials of antitumor vaccination with an autologous tumor cell vaccine modified by virus infection: improvement of patient survival based on improved antitumor immune memory. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2005) 54(6):587–98. doi:10.1007/s00262-004-0602-0
- 100. Tai LH, Zhang J, Auer RC. Preventing surgery-induced NK cell dysfunction and cancer metastases with influenza vaccination. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(11):e26618. doi:10.4161/onci.26618
- 101. Tai LH, Zhang J, Scott KJ, de Souza CT, Alkayyal AA, Ananth AA, et al. Perioperative influenza vaccination reduces postoperative metastatic disease by reversing surgery-induced dysfunction in natural killer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(18):5104–15. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0246
- 102. Kottke T, Chester J, Ilett E, Thompson J, Diaz R, Coffey M, et al. Precise scheduling of chemotherapy primes VEGF-producing tumors for successful systemic oncolytic virotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2011) **19**(10):1802–12. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.147
- 103. Kottke T, Hall G, Pulido J, Diaz RM, Thompson J, Chong H, et al. Antiangiogenic cancer therapy combined with oncolytic virotherapy leads to regression of established tumors in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2010) **120**(5):1551–60. doi:10. 1172/JCI41431

104. Heo J, Breitbach CJ, Moon A, Kim CW, Patt R, Kim MK, et al. Sequential therapy with JX-594, a targeted oncolytic poxvirus, followed by sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma: preclinical and clinical demonstration of combination efficacy. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(6):1170–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.39

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 16 June 2014; paper pending published: 07 July 2014; accepted: 30 July 2014; published online: 12 August 2014.

Citation: Tai L-H and Auer R (2014) Attacking postoperative metastases using perioperative oncolytic viruses and viral vaccines. Front. Oncol. 4:217. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00217

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Tai and Auer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Jennifer Altomonte and Oliver Ebert *

II. Medizinische Klinik und Poliklinik, Klinikum Rechts der Isar, Technische Universität München, München, Germany

Edited by:

Volker Schirrmacher, German Cancer Research Center, Germany

Reviewed by:

Viktor Umansky, German Cancer Research Center, Germany Nejat K. Egilmez, University of Louisville, USA

*Correspondence:

Oliver Ebert, Klinikum Rechts der Isar, Technische Universität München Ismaningerstr. 22, München D-81675, Germany

e-mail: oliver.ebert@lrz.tum.de

Oncolytic viral therapies have recently found their way into clinical application for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), a disease with limited treatment options and poor prognosis. Adding to the many intrinsic challenges of *in vivo* oncolytic viral therapy, is the complex microenvironment of the liver, which imposes unique limitations to the successful delivery and propagation of the virus. The normal liver milieu is characterized by an intricate network of hepatocytes and non-parenchymal cells including Kupffer cells, stellate cells, and sinusoidal endothelial cells, which can secrete anti-viral cytokines, provide a platform for non-specific uptake, and form a barrier to efficient viral spread. In addition, natural killer cells are greatly enriched in the liver, contributing to the innate defense against viruses. The situation is further complicated when HCC arises in the setting of underlying hepatitis virus infection and/or hepatic cirrhosis, which occurs in more than 90% of clinical cases. These conditions pose further inhibitory effects on oncolytic virus (OV) therapy due to the presence of chronic inflammation, constitutive cytokine expression, altered hepatic blood flow, and extracellular matrix deposition. In addition, OVs can modulate the hepatic microenvironment, resulting in a complex interplay between virus and host. The immune system undoubtedly plays a substantial role in the outcome of OV therapy, both as an inhibitor of viral replication, and as a potent mechanism of virus-mediated tumor cell killing. This review will discuss the particular challenges of oncolytic viral therapy for HCC, as well as some potential strategies for modulating the immune system and synergizing with the hepatic microenvironment to improve therapeutic outcome.

Keywords: oncolytic virus, hepatocellular carcinoma, liver microenvironment, immunotherapy, viral engineering

INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), representing over 90% of all cases of primary liver cancer, is the sixth most common form of cancer and the third leading cause of cancer-related mortality worldwide (1, 2). Due to the advanced stage at which most patients are diagnosed, only a small percentage are eligible for potentially curative resection, local ablation, or liver transplantation (3). HCC is highly refractory to chemotherapy and other systemic treatments, and local regional therapies such as transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) or selective internal radiation therapy (SIRT) are largely palliative. Recently, the multi-kinase inhibitor, sorafenib, was found to be effective in patients with advanced HCC and is currently the standard of care in these patients; however the prolongation of survival associated with sorafenib therapy is under 3 months (4), and the median survival for patients with advanced stage, unresectable HCC is less than 1 year (3). The lack of effective treatment options for HCC underlines the need for novel alternative therapies such as those employing oncolytic viruses (OVs).

We have previously demonstrated in a preclinical rat model that oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) and Newcastle disease virus (NDV) both replicate well and cause significant

tumor-specific cell lysis in orthotopic HCC, leading to substantial survival prolongation (5-7). Based on preclinical data such as these, OVs have been applied in various clinical trials in cancer patients. However, as more and more data are accumulated from clinical trials, it is becoming evident that the significant efficacy reported for OVs in preclinical animal models is not readily translatable to the clinic, due to the vast complexities of spontaneous malignant transformation in the immune-competent setting in patients.

Although these challenges are universal to OVs regardless of the tumor target, the dynamic setting of the liver presents a unique set of hurdles, which viruses must surpass in order to exert their therapeutic effects against HCC. The liver microenvironment consists of a complex network of hepatocytes, stromal cells, inflammatory cells, and extracellular matrix (ECM). HCC is an inflammationdriven cancer (8), and the chronic inflammatory state, characterized by the recruitment of inflammatory cells and high levels of cytokine expression, not only promotes tumorigenesis (9), but it also serves to provide a basis for innate immunity against OVs. Although it may seem contradictory that hepatotropic viruses manage to escape immune surveillance and establish chronic infections in the liver, this paradox can be attributed to intrinsic differences among viruses, whereby the hepatitis viruses are known to possess various mechanisms for evading or interfering with the immune system (10, 11). Whether or not the well-characterized feature of immune tolerance in the liver actually plays a role in promoting OV replication in liver tumors is not known; however, OVs are extremely sensitive to the anti-viral actions of type I interferon (IFN), and this is most likely the primary mechanism by which the replication of OVs is limited *in vivo*.

When HCC arises as a consequence of chronic hepatitis virus infection and in the setting of hepatic fibrosis, the liver milieu is distorted and provides a platform for dynamic interactions between OVs and the liver microenvironment. In Greek mythology, Pandora's box was actually a large and beautiful jar, which contained all the evils of the world. At first glance, the diseased liver can resemble a Pandora's box of sorts, filled with a variety of "evils" that present unique challenges to conventional therapies. As we learn more about the pathogenesis of liver disease, we can actually exploit the unique features of the local microenvironment to synergize with OV therapy and thereby transform Pandora's box from a vessel of evil into a platform of hope for new therapeutic targets. In this review, we will discuss the complex interactions between OVs and the liver milieu and present novel strategies for improving the therapeutic outcome.

THE COMPLEX LIVER MILIEU AND ITS IMPACT ON OV THERAPY OF HCC

The liver is arguably one of the most vital organs of the body, due to its diverse roles in metabolism, nutrient uptake, detoxification, and immune modulation. Because of the complexity of functions, the liver architecture is composed of an intricate network of cells and ECM to ensure that each task can be performed efficiently. Although this system is crucial for the proper functioning of the liver, it poses various barriers to the ability of OVs to infect and replicate well in hepatic tumors. In this section, the various aspects of the liver microenvironment, which challenge the fate of OVs in HCC therapy (summarized in **Figure 1**), as well as the unique interactions between OVs and the liver milieu, will be discussed.

THE HEALTHY LIVER SETTING

Although the majority of HCCs arise in the context of underlying chronic liver disease, a small percentage can develop in the absence of advanced hepatic fibrosis, or even in a healthy liver setting (12). Hepatocytes constitute the majority of the liver volume (approximately 80%), and they are protected from invading organisms in the bloodstream by non-parenchymal cells lining the liver sinusoids. The major sinusoidal components are Kupffer cells (KCs), liver sinusoidal endothelial cells (LSECs), hepatic stellate cells (HSCs), and natural killer (NK) cells. A unique microvasculature, including the fenestration of sinusoidal endothelial cells, acts as a filtration system to trap pathogens, waste products, and circulating tumor cells, making the liver a common site for tumor metastases. KCs are resident macrophages of the liver and are considered to be scavenger cells, playing a major role in removing foreign material from portal circulation (13). Together with NK cells and dendritic cells (DCs), KCs are important components of the innate immune system, providing a rapid first line of defense against invading pathogens and protecting the liver from bacterial and viral infections (14). Despite the crucial protective function of KCs in the liver, hepatic sequestration and destruction of viruses is a universal limitation to all systemically applied OVs, and they can pose a particular challenge to viral therapies targeting HCC cells, due to their close proximity. Following uptake, the KC, as well as engulfed viruses, are rapidly degraded, greatly reducing the bioavailability of the virus (15, 16). It is well established that therapeutic doses of adenovirus must first saturate the KC population before their effects can be seen in target cells (17, 18). To illustrate this point, it was demonstrated for adenovirus type 5 that up to 90% of injected viral particles are sequestered from the blood by KCs (19), and depletion of KCs via predosing with adenovirus or pretreatment with clodronate results in improved bioavailability and anti-tumor efficacy of adenovirus therapy (20, 21). In addition, activated KCs are potent producers of nitric oxide and cytokines such as IFN, TNF-a, IL-6, and IL-10 (13, 22, 23), all of which have potent anti-viral functions (24, 25) and likely contribute to the local control of OV replication in HCCs.

In addition to KCs, the LSECs, which are specialized endothelial cells lining the liver sinusoid, belong to the reticuloendothelial system and play a role in clearing materials from the bloodstream. They have been shown to be important in eliminating circulating adenovirus particles (15, 26) via scavenger receptors expressed on the cell surface (18). Although less information is available regarding the role of KCs and LSECs in the depletion of other OVs from the blood, it is speculated that the same mechanism identified for adenovirus applies to these viruses as well (27–29).

Natural killer or "pit cells," and NKT cells are enriched and constitutively activated in the sinusoid of normal, healthy livers, and are key players in innate immune surveillance (30, 31). These cells represent a distinct subset of the cytotoxic lymphocyte population and are crucial in the early defense against invading viruses (32), prior to the launch of adaptive immune responses (33-35). It is speculated that bone marrow-derived peripheral NK cells migrate to the liver (36), where they are stimulated by hepatic cells, such as KCs (37), causing them to differentiate and become activated and express DC markers (38). Liver-specific NK cells are immunologically, morphologically, and functionally different from peripheral NK cells, expressing higher levels of TRAIL, performin, and granzyme B, and having a higher percentage of activated populations, presumably contributing to the increased cytotoxicity of liver NK cells (30, 39). Upon activation, NK cells mediate the direct lysis of target cells by releasing copious amounts of cytokines and cytotoxic granules, or by induction of apoptosis (40, 41). As crucial components of the cellular response to viral infections, it is not surprising that NK cells also have an inhibitory effect on OVs. To illustrate this point, it was demonstrated in vitro that NK cells rapidly and specifically lyse tumor cells at an early stage of infection with herpes simplex type 1 or vaccinia virus and prevent viral propagation and spread to neighboring cells (35). We have observed a significant intratumoral accumulation of NK and NKT cells in orthotopic, syngeneic HCC in immune-competent rats within 24 h of treatment with oncolytic VSV and have demonstrated that these cells play a major role in the rapid clearance of the virus (42). We believe that this rapid innate response is at least partially mediated by the large number of resident NK and NKT cells which are present in the liver and can immediately infiltrate areas



of VSV infection to prevent productive replication and spread of the virus and thereby inhibit the therapeutic effect.

THE DISEASED LIVER

In nearly 90% of HCC patients, tumors arise as a consequence of chronic liver injury, which provides an ideal setting for carcinogenesis to occur (43, 44). Liver disease, caused by persistent viral, toxic, autoimmune, metabolic, or cholestatic impairments, results in a chronic inflammatory response marked by the secretion of a cocktail of cytokines and chemokines by infiltrating immune cells and the resident non-parenchymal cells. As a result, the hepatic architecture becomes disrupted, as evidenced by hepatocyte proliferation, the extensive deposition of ECM, nodule formation, and the increased risk of HCC.

When HCC occurs in the midst of a chronically injured liver, the already limited treatment options become even further restricted. Although the application of OVs is an attractive alternative to the palliative treatment options available to patients with advanced liver disease, the fate of therapeutic viruses administered in this complex setting is further challenged. Viral vectors targeting HCC

in a diseased liver face many unfavorable conditions, including accumulation of immune cells, constitutively activated cytokines, dense ECM, and altered blood flow.

During the fibrogenic wound-healing process, HSCs differentiate from the quiescent to the activated form with a myofibroblast phenotype, which is marked by the loss of intracellular vitamin A-rich fat droplets and expression of α -smooth muscle actin (α -SMA). These transdifferentiated HSCs promote ECM remodeling by deregulating the balance of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases (TIMPs) and resulting in the degradation of the normal basement membrane and replacement with interstitial collagen (primarily type I and III) and scar matrix. In addition, HSCs migrate and proliferate in response to a variety of cytokines and growth factors elicited during hepatic injury to further promote the progression of fibrosis, resulting in the distortion of the normal liver architecture and leading to decompensated liver function.

The implication of the presence of hepatic fibrosis on the outcome of OV therapy for HCC is complex, due to the multifaceted nature of the interactions between OVs and the microenvironment of the chronically injured liver. The presence of fibrotic tissue throughout the liver likely provides a physical barrier to trap OVs and prevent efficient delivery of viruses to tumor beds, and altered patterns of blood flow limit the ability of systemically applied viruses to reach their tumor targets. The aberrant microenvironment within HCC, consisting of activated HSCs, inflammatory cells, and extensive ECM deposition, not only further promotes HCC growth, invasion, and metastasis, but also challenges viral infection and spread among HCC cells. Although HCC is not conventionally considered to be a fibrotic cancer, evidence has shown a correlation between poor differentiation of HCC and degree of ECM remodeling (45). Furthermore, the predominant components of the ECM of HCC are the fibril-forming collagens type I and III (46, 47), which are also dominant in hepatic fibrosis tissue. Although we have not yet specifically investigated this issue, it is likely that this intratumoral deposition of collagen plays a role in containing viral spread and leading to the well-defined foci of VSV replication that we observe in HCC lesions (6).

The inflammatory milieu associated with chronic liver injury, most often induced by hepatitis B or C virus infection, not only contributes to the pathogenesis of fibrosis and HCC, but it also threatens the ability of OVs to replicate and destroy tumor cells. The acute response to liver injury involves the activation of resident liver immune cells, followed by the recruitment of non-resident immune cells to launch a potent cytokine response in the liver in an attempt to lyse the infected or injured cells (48, 49). Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection causes induction of NK cells and cytotoxic T-cells (CD8+), which then secrete anti-viral cytokines, such as IFN- γ and TNF- α (50, 51). Upon infection, the host recognizes the pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) of viral products via pathogen recognition receptor (PRR) proteins, such as toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2). Activation of PRRs by HBV leads to induction of transcription factors, such as NF-KB, and the release of pro-inflammatory and anti-viral cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-10 (51, 52), all of which can inhibit OV replication. Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection causes an immune response characterized by cytokines and non-specific lymphocyte recruitment, which can also have inhibitory effects on OVs.

In addition to the potentially limited efficacy of oncolytic viral therapy for HCC in the context of liver injury, there are valid safety concerns associated with such a therapeutic approach. The local cytokine induction following OV application in an already inflamed liver could potentially cause a highly toxic "cytokine storm" and hepatotoxicity, strongly contraindicating this strategy. Furthermore, due to a lack of appropriate rodent models, the interaction of an OV with an underlying hepatic viral infection remains unclear. However, recent findings indicate that administration of OVs could potentially provide a therapeutic benefit in decreasing HBV load (53-55). In studies using inactivated Parapoxvirus ovis (Orf virus), it was shown that viral therapy inhibited human HBV and HCV, as well as herpes simplex virus infection, without any signs of toxicity, in preclinical mouse models (53, 54). In these studies, it was demonstrated that inactivated Orf virus-mediated induction of IFN-y was a key mechanism in the anti-viral activity, and the absence of hepatotoxicity was associated with a down-regulation of antigen cross-presentation in LSECs. To further illustrate this phenomenon, it was recently demonstrated in a clinical trial in patients with HCC that, in addition to the antitumoral and anti-vascular activities of oncolytic poxvirus JX-594, virotherapy led to a suppression of underlying HBV replication and caused a transient decrease in viral load (55).

Along similar lines, an exciting new body of research has demonstrated antifibrotic effects mediated by OV therapy. It was first reported in 2009 that NDV replicates selectively in activated HSCs and causes reversal of hepatic fibrogenesis in mice (56). Our own work similarly demonstrated the antifibrotic properties of oncolytic VSV, via replication and subsequent apoptosis of activated HSCs, induction of NK cell infiltration, and gene modulation in favor of fibrotic regression (57). Furthermore, in addition to anti-viral activities, inactivated Orf virus has also been shown to elicit antifibrotic effects in two preclinical models of liver fibrosis (53, 58). These studies indicate that OV therapy in the context of underlying hepatic injury is not only safe, but also could provide additional therapeutic benefits to resolve liver disease.

Additionally, in light of these new findings, we may reevaluate our classical view of tumor stroma as being a barrier to OV therapy. Activated HSCs infiltrate the stroma of HCC and localize around tumor sinusoids, capsules, and fibrous septa (59), and increasing intratumoral density of activated HSCs is correlated with poor prognosis (60). Data demonstrating the ability of OVs to replicate specifically in activated HSCs imply that they may also replicate within HCC-infiltrated HSCs.

STRATEGIES TO IMPROVE OV THERAPY FOR HCC

Although the potential of OV therapy for HCC has been demonstrated, it is clear that novel strategies must be utilized in order to enhance viral replication and/or virus-mediated anti-tumor immune responses to improve therapeutic outcomes in the unique and complex setting of the liver. A prominent theme in OV development is the ongoing debate regarding the complex and contradictory roles of the immune system, which can be considered both inhibitory, in terms of the host's anti-viral immune responses, or complementary, with respect to anti-tumoral immune responses

 Table 1 | Barriers to intrahepatic OV therapy and potential strategies for overcoming them.

| Barrier Strategy | | Reference | |
|-----------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|----------------------------|--|
| Non-specific uptake by | Predosing with OV | (20) | |
| Kupffer cells | Kupffer cell depletion | (20, 21) | |
| | Viral shielding | (64–67) | |
| Innate anti-viral | Kupffer cell depletion | (20, 21) | |
| response | OV-mediated expression of vCKBP | (42, 68, 69) | |
| Poor viral replication and/or spread | Combination therapies OV as immunotherapeutic | (62, 63, 70–72) (73–86) | |
| Hepatic fibrosis | Utilization of antifibrotic OVs | (53, 56–58) | |
| Underlying hepatic viral infection | Utilization of anti-viral OVs | (53–55) | |

which are crucial in clearing uninfected tumor cells and challenging tumor relapse. Although it remains to be seen whether inhibition or augmentation of the immune response is the more powerful therapeutic strategy, the ideal approach would undoubtedly involve selective inhibition of anti-viral immune components, while simultaneously inducing a strong anti-tumoral immune response. A comprehensive discussion of the competing roles of the immune response in the efficacy of OV therapy, as well as strategies to modulate the immune system to synergize with OV therapy has been thoroughly reviewed elsewhere (61-63), and therefore will not be recapitulated here. In this section, we will review the general approaches for improving viral-mediated oncolysis and/or modulating the immune system for optimization of oncolytic viral therapy, with an emphasis on strategies that have been employed specifically for treatment of HCC. These strategies are summarized in Table 1.

COMBINATION THERAPIES

The rational design of combination therapies involving OVs and existing clinical agents is a valuable strategy for improving therapeutic outcomes by employing synergistic mechanisms. Success with several combination therapies for HCC has already been reported. In an in vitro study, it was demonstrated that treatment with parvovirus could sensitize p53-negative HCC cells to the cytotoxic effects of cisplatin, and combination therapy resulted in increased HCC cell death in comparison to either individual therapy (70). Similarly, combination of adenovirus with the DNAintercalating drug, doxorubicin, resulted in synergistic cytotoxic effects in vitro and significant inhibition of in vivo tumor growth in preclinical HCC models (71). These results were confirmed by an additional study in HCC, where it was shown that oncolytic adenovirus sensitizes tumors to chemotherapy, and combinations of adenovirus with 5-FU, doxorubicin, and paclitaxel all resulted in enhanced efficacy in killing of HCC cells (72). A telomerasedependent replicating adenovirus (hTert-Ad) was also extremely effective at sensitizing resistant HCC tumors to chemotherapy via down-regulation of Mcl-1 expression, resulting in substantial tumor responses in mice treated with virochemotherapy (87).

In another study using hTert-Ad, it was demonstrated that proteasome inhibition with bortezomib led to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress-induced apoptosis and improved anti-tumoral immunity, leading to improved oncolysis of HCC (88). It was further shown in this study that bortezomib inhibited antiviral immune responses in immunocompetent mice, allowing enhanced viral kinetics of hTert-Ad, and indicating a dual benefit of the combination therapy (88).

As an alternative to combination therapies involving chemotherapy, we investigated the potential of applying a clinical embolization agent together with oncolytic VSV to treat HCC in an orthotopic rat model (89). In this study, we demonstrated significantly enhanced tumor necrosis and prolongation of survival in HCC-bearing rats treated by transarterial viroembolization, as compared to monotherapy, and we attributed this therapeutic effect to multiple mechanisms, including apoptosis, anti-angiogenesis, and induction of anti-tumor immunity (89).

INHIBITION OR EVASION OF INFLAMMATORY RESPONSES

The direct cytopathic effect elicited by OVs is dependent on their ability to evade immune surveillance long enough to allow viral propagation to high titers and efficient spread of the vector throughout the tumor mass. Because of the numerous physiological and immunological barriers to oncolytic viral therapy in the liver, several attempts were made to selectively block aspects of the anti-viral response to improve and prolong viral replication prior to the launch of an adaptive immune response. Although systemic suppression of immune responses has been successful in promoting enhanced OV replication and intratumoral spread in various tumor models, there have been concerns associated with the safety of such approaches (62). By incorporating genes encoding anti-inflammatory proteins directly into the virus, we speculated that the suppression of immune responses would be limited to the local area of virus replication within the tumor, thereby dampening safety concerns. In nature, many viruses have adapted themselves in various ways to counteract or evade anti-viral immune responses to promote their own survival (68). One such mechanism involves the viral production of chemokine-binding proteins (CKBPs), which are secreted proteins that competitively bind to and/or inhibit the interactions of immunomodulatory chemokines with their cognate receptors, to block the chemotaxis of inflammatory cells (69). Based on our observation that host inflammatory responses to VSV infection play a detrimental role in suppression of intratumoral viral replication in HCC, we exploited several heterologously expressed vCKBPs in order to enhance the oncolytic potency of VSV for the treatment of HCC. Specifically, we engineered recombinant VSV vectors encoding for the equine herpes virus-1 glycoprotein G and the M3 gene from murine gammaherpesvirus-68, both of which are broad range and high affinity vCKBPs (42, 90). Both recombinant vectors mediated the suppression of anti-viral NK cell and neutrophil infiltration, which resulted in prolonged kinetics of intratumoral VSV replication and significant survival prolongation in immune-competent, orthotopic liver tumor-bearing rats. In order to specifically target the NK cell population, we incorporated the UL141 gene from human cytomegalovirus into VSV, which specifically inhibits the NK cell-activating ligand CD155,

resulting in enhanced virus propagation and tumor responses corresponding to inhibition of NK and NKT cell migration to infected tumor sites (91). Importantly, none of these recombinant vectors resulted in any observable signs of toxicity to the host, indicating that this strategy has potential for clinical translation in HCC patients.

BOOSTING ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNITY

Due to the resistance of HCC to chemotherapy, and indications that immune responses have a direct effect on the clinical course of the disease (92), HCC has become an attractive target for immunotherapy. A variety of immunotherapeutics have been tested in clinical trials for HCC patients, including cytokines, adoptive immune cells, and antibody-based therapies, and the resulting data have indicated that these therapies are safe, even in the context of underlying hepatic cirrhosis and HBV infection (93, 94). Recent studies showing promising results involve adoptive DC therapy, targeting of glypican-3, which is a tumor-associated antigen (TAA) expressed by a high percentage of HCCs, or breaking immune tolerance via antibody-mediated inhibition of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4) (95, 96).

In addition to the direct cytopathic effect on tumor cells that is induced by OVs, the stimulation of the host's immune system to launch an attack against cancer cells is a potent mechanism of action that can be exploited by OV therapy. Particularly in tumors where conditions are unfavorable to virus replication, due to factors such as IFN sensitivity, inflammation, or a high degree of stroma and ECM, the effect of OV therapy can be rescued by utilizing the vector as a cancer vaccine rather than as a direct oncolytic agent. Although tumor cells express a variety of TAAs, a multitude of mechanisms allow tumors to evade rejection from the host immune system. The liver is a highly tolerogenic organ, due to features of the microenvironment which induce immune tolerance against foreign antigens (73), as evidenced by its susceptibility to infection by hepatic viruses and to carcinogenesis and metastases. OVs can serve to break the tolerance and enhance the immunogenicity of the tumor microenvironment as a potent therapeutic mechanism. Viral oncolysis is associated with the local release of TAAs, which can then be taken up by DCs. In addition, the release of intrinsic cell factors, such as uric acid, can be recognized as a danger signal to activate DCs (97). DCs are important components of the innate immune response, and are key players in the generation of adaptive immune responses via antigen presentation and priming of T-cells. Virus-infected cells are highly effective in delivering antigens for cross-presentation and cross-priming of adaptive immune responses (98). Therefore, harnessing the inherent ability of OVs to stimulate anti-tumoral immune responses is a logical approach, and several such strategies have been employed for HCC therapy.

Granulocyte–macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) is a cytokine with strong immunostimulatory properties that is secreted by macrophages, T-cells, fibroblasts, mast cells, and endothelial cells. GM-CSF promotes progenitor cell differentiation into DCs and can generate tumor-reactive CTL (74). Gene transfer of GM-CSF to tumor cells augments tumor antigen presentation by recruited DCs and macrophages to mediate protective immunity against tumors (74, 75). To date, reports

of recombinant vaccinia virus, adenovirus, HSV, measles virus, and NDV engineered to express GM-CSF have demonstrated improved therapeutic outcomes due to enhanced anti-tumor immune responses (76–80). In the context of HCC therapy, JX-594, a thymidine kinase-deleted oncolytic vaccinia virus armed with GM-CSF, resulted in partial responses with evidence of efficacy in non-injected tumors, indicating that viral-mediated immune stimulation played a role, in a phase I trial for therapy of primary and secondary liver tumors (81). JX-594 was then applied to a phase II clinical trial in patients with advanced HCC, where a median survival of 14.1 months with high dose therapy compared to 6.7 months for the low dose, was reported, implicating JX-594 as a highly promising vector for HCC therapy (82).

Along the same lines, other cytokines, such as IL-12, IL-24, IL-2, and IFN-B (83-85, 99, 100) have been incorporated into OVs. It has been hypothesized that virus-mediated expression of IFN-β would improve tumor specificity by inhibiting viral replication in normal tissues while permitting propagation in tumors, which possess various defects in type I IFN signaling. In addition, IFN-β can provide antiangiogenic effects (86) and therapeutic immune modulation via the induction of tumor-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses (101). A recombinant VSV expressing IFN-β was shown to enhance inflammatory cytokine production and NK cell activation, leading to enhanced bystander killing of tumor cells (100). Based on these results, rVSV-IFNβ entered a phase I clinical trial for sorafenib-refractory HCC in 2012 (NCT01628640). In a preclinical study, a conditionally replicative adenovirus (CRAd) was engineered to express IFN-y, resulting in significant regression of HCC in mice through the combined effects of viral-mediated oncolysis, anti-angiogenesis, and anti-tumor immune responses (102).

Combination strategies involving the adoptive transfer of immune cells together with OVs are an exciting new approach which has shown striking efficacy in several models (103–105). Although this strategy has not been extensively explored for HCC, one study showed that a specific and strong immune response against HCC cells could be elicited *in vitro* via patient-derived DCs that were transduced with an adenoviral vector encoding α -fetoprotein, a TAA often expressed in HCC, and co-cultured with autologous cytokine-induced killer (CIK) cells (106). Strategies involving engineering OVs to express a TAA to prime T-cell responses have shown promise in other tumor models, such as an engineered VSV vector expressing a TAA that resulted in an antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell response in a murine melanoma model (107), and will likely be explored further for HCC therapy in the future.

OUTLOOK

Because of the rapid clearance of viruses in immune-competent hosts, the therapeutic window during which OVs have the opportunity to replicate and cause their cytopathic effect in tumor cells is relatively short. In the context of the liver microenvironment, where myriad other barriers to OV propagation exist, we believe that the immune system represents an essential tool, which must be harnessed in order to destroy the remaining tumor cells that have escaped viral infection. The combination of viral-mediated cytolysis with tumor-directed immune stimulation creates a potent arsenal against hepatic tumors. Although two immunotherapeutic OVs are already in clinical trials for HCC, there are many other strategies for utilizing OVs to break immune tolerance and/or stimulate anti-tumor immune responses, which have shown efficacy in other tumor models but have not yet been tested in the context of HCC.

One such strategy involves the exciting new concept of incorporating new molecules called "T-cell engagers" into oncolytic viral vectors (108). In this approach, a secretory bispecific Tcell engager, consisting of antibodies directed against CD3 and a tumor cell-specific antigen, EphA2, was expressed by an oncolytic vaccinia virus, and resulted in improved anti-tumor efficacy via activation of T-cells within tumors and bystander cell killing (109). Another innovative approach involves the systemic application of oncolytic NDV, followed by intradermal vaccinations with DCs pulsed with viral oncolysate, to prime naïve T-cells against the patient's TAAs and establish a long-lasting memory T-cell repertoire (110). These novel strategies, which combine oncolytic virotherapy with immunotherapy have the potential to produce potent anti-tumor responses.

Alternatively, a prime-boost approach has been investigated, in which two different recombinant OVs are sequentially administered, the first one priming the immune response through expression of a TAA, followed by a boosted secondary response produced by a subsequent TAA-encoding virus, leading to a robust tumorspecific immunity (64, 111). A cDNA library has also been utilized to present a broad range of TAAs by a recombinant VSV vector, resulting in dramatic tumor regressions (112). These TAA-based approaches lead to significant tumor responses via complementary cell death mechanisms induced by the direct viral-mediated oncolysis in combination with TAA-specific CD8+ T-cell-mediated killing, causing additional TAAs to be released and presented by DCs to T-cells and resulting in further activation of tumor-specific immune responses, thereby conferring a potent arsenal against systemic metastases.

A ubiquitous problem in the field of OV therapy is the relative inefficiency of systemic application, due to virus inactivation by blood components, non-specific uptake by off-target cells, and sequestration by the liver and spleen. To address this issue, various approaches using synthetic polymers or cell carrier systems for viral shielding have been investigated (113). The innate ability of immune cells to home to tumors is a convenient feature, which affords them the opportunity to serve as OV cell carriers for the dual benefit of virus delivery and stimulation of antitumor immune responses. To this end, VSV has been loaded onto antigen-specific T-cells to simultaneously enhance adoptive T-cell therapy, while providing a vehicle for OV delivery to the tumor site (114). In similar studies, it was demonstrated that Tcells, mature DCs, and CIK cells could efficiently deliver OVs to their tumor targets to improve viral-mediated tumor oncolysis and prime anti-tumor immune responses (65, 66). The application of these approaches to HCC therapy will likely produce similar benefits, and are undoubtedly already under investigation by several groups.

As an alternative to the cell carrier approach for virus delivery, strategies involving the surface modification of OVs using synthetic polymers have been developed to shield oncolytic vectors from inactivation and non-specific uptake. VSV shielding via covalent modification with polyethylene glycol (PEG) has resulted in increased circulation times and a reduction of neutralizing antibody responses (115). Polymer shielding of adenovirus has been demonstrated to allow immune escape and a reduction of liver sequestration by increasing the diameter above the size of the hepatic sinusoidal fenestrae and by lowering KC uptake (67, 116). PEGylation of Ad5 with high molecular weight PEG (20 kD) resulted in improved efficacy of intravenously applied therapy for HCC, with reduced transduction of hepatocytes and KCs and a reduction of hepatotoxicity (117), making this an attractive approach for improving the specificity of OV therapies targeted to liver tumors.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The complex liver milieu underlying HCC presents innumerable challenges to the development of effective therapeutic agents to produce significant tumor responses and prolongation of patient survival. However, by gaining a greater understanding of the dynamic roles of the hepatic microenvironment and the pathogenesis of liver disease and carcinogenesis, we can actually exploit the properties of the local liver setting to synergize with therapeutic agents. Because OVs exert their therapeutic effects via multiple mechanisms, including direct cytopathic effects, antiangiogenesis, and anti-tumor immune stimulation, they represent ideal agents for contending with the liver microenvironment. This is evidenced by recent reports, which demonstrate that OVs not only provide potent anti-tumor effects, but they also possess antifibrotic and anti-viral properties, allowing them to provide therapeutic benefits against the underlying liver injury. Therefore, by discerning the complexities of the liver microenvironment and their roles in the pathogenesis of HCC, Pandora's box of evil is converted to a vessel of hope, for which OVs will surely play an important role in providing synergistic therapeutic outcomes.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the SFB 824 subproject C7 (DFG Sonderforschungsbereich 824), German Research Foundation, Bonn, Germany.

REFERENCES

- Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM. Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. *Int J Cancer* (2010) 127(12):2893–917. doi:10.1002/ijc.25516
- 2. Forner A, Llovet JM, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. *Lancet* (2012) **379**(9822):1245–55. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61347-0
- El-Serag HB, Marrero JA, Rudolph L, Reddy KR. Diagnosis and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 134(6):1752–63. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.02.090
- Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V, Hilgard P, Gane E, Blanc JF, et al. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med (2008) 359(4):378–90. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0708857
- Ebert O, Shinozaki K, Huang TG, Savontaus MJ, Garcia-Sastre A, Woo SLC. Oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus for treatment of orthotopic hepatocellular carcinoma in immune-competent rats. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(13):3605–11.
- Shinozaki K, Ebert O, Kournioti C, Tai YS, Woo SL. Oncolysis of multifocal hepatocellular carcinoma in the rat liver by hepatic artery infusion of vesicular stomatitis virus. *Mol Ther* (2004) **9**(3):368–76. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2003. 12.004

- Shinozaki K, Ebert O, Woo SL. Eradication of advanced hepatocellular carcinoma in rats via repeated hepatic arterial infusions of recombinant VSV. *Hepatology* (2005) 41(1):196–203. doi:10.1002/hep.20536
- Berasain C, Castillo J, Perugorria MJ, Latasa MU, Prieto J, Avila MA. Inflammation and liver cancer: new molecular links. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2009) 1155:206–21. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.03704.x
- Nakamoto Y, Guidotti LG, Kuhlen CV, Fowler P, Chisari FV. Immune pathogenesis of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Exp Med (1998) 188(2):341–50. doi:10. 1084/jem.188.2.341
- Gale M Jr, Foy EM. Evasion of intracellular host defence by hepatitis C virus. Nature (2005) 436(7053):939–45. doi:10.1038/nature04078
- 11. Wieland SF, Chisari FV. Stealth and cunning: hepatitis B and hepatitis C viruses. *J Virol* (2005) **79**(15):9369–80. doi:10.1128/JVI.79.15.9369-9380.2005
- Paradis V. Histopathology of hepatocellular carcinoma. (Fortschritte der Krebsforschung Progres dans les recherches sur le cancer). Recent Results Cancer Res (2013) 190:21–32. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-16037-0_2
- Bilzer M, Roggel F, Gerbes AL. Role of Kupffer cells in host defense and liver disease. *Liver Int* (2006) 26(10):1175–86. doi:10.1111/j.1478-3231.2006. 01342.x
- 14. Parker GA, Picut CA. Liver immunobiology. *Toxicol Pathol* (2005) **33**(1):52–62. doi:10.1080/01926230590522365
- Khare R, Chen CY, Weaver EA, Barry MA. Advances and future challenges in adenoviral vector pharmacology and targeting. *Curr Gene Ther* (2011) 11(4):241–58. doi:10.2174/156652311796150363
- Manickan E, Smith JS, Tian J, Eggerman TL, Lozier JN, Muller J, et al. Rapid Kupffer cell death after intravenous injection of adenovirus vectors. *Mol Ther* (2006) 13(1):108–17. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.08.007
- Worgall S, Wolff G, Falck-Pedersen E, Crystal RG. Innate immune mechanisms dominate elimination of adenoviral vectors following in vivo administration. *Hum Gene Ther* (1997) 8(1):37–44. doi:10.1089/hum.1997.8.1-37
- Xu Z, Tian J, Smith JS, Byrnes AP. Clearance of adenovirus by Kupffer cells is mediated by scavenger receptors, natural antibodies, and complement. *J Virol* (2008) 82(23):11705–13. doi:10.1128/JVI.01320-08
- Alemany R, Suzuki K, Curiel DT. Blood clearance rates of adenovirus type 5 in mice. J Gen Virol (2000) 81(Pt 11):2605–9.
- Shashkova EV, Doronin K, Senac JS, Barry MA. Macrophage depletion combined with anticoagulant therapy increases therapeutic window of systemic treatment with oncolytic adenovirus. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68(14):5896–904. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0488
- Schiedner G, Hertel S, Johnston M, Dries V, van Rooijen N, Kochanek S. Selective depletion or blockade of Kupffer cells leads to enhanced and prolonged hepatic transgene expression using high-capacity adenoviral vectors. *Mol Ther* (2003) 7(1):35–43. doi:10.1016/S1525-0016(02)00017-5
- Kolios G, Valatas V, Kouroumalis E. Role of Kupffer cells in the pathogenesis of liver disease. World J Gastroenterol (2006) 12(46):7413–20. doi:10.3748/wjg. v12.i46.7413
- Decker K. Biologically active products of stimulated liver macrophages (Kupffer cells). *Eur J Biochem* (1990) **192**(2):245–61. doi:10.1111/j.1432-1033.1990. tb19222.x
- Guidotti LG, Chisari FV. Cytokine-mediated control of viral infections. Virology (2000) 273(2):221–7. doi:10.1006/viro.2000.0442
- Melchjorsen J. Learning from the messengers: innate sensing of viruses and cytokine regulation of immunity – clues for treatments and vaccines. *Viruses* (2013) 5(2):470–527. doi:10.3390/v5020470
- Zhang Z, Zhang X, Newman K, Liu X. MicroRNA regulation of oncolytic adenovirus 6 for selective treatment of castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2012) 11(11):2410–8. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0157
- Ferguson MS, Lemoine NR, Wang Y. Systemic delivery of oncolytic viruses: hopes and hurdles. *Adv Virol* (2012) 2012:805629. doi:10.1155/2012/805629
- Russell SJ, Peng KW, Bell JC. Oncolytic virotherapy. Nat Biotechnol (2012) 30(7):658–70. doi:10.1038/nbt.2287
- Prestwich RJ, Errington F, Harrington KJ, Pandha HS, Selby P, Melcher A. Oncolytic viruses: do they have a role in anti-cancer therapy? *Clin Med Oncol* (2008) 2:83–96.
- Vanderkerken K, Bouwens L, Wisse E. Characterization of a phenotypically and functionally distinct subset of large granular lymphocytes (pit cells) in rat liver sinusoids. *Hepatology* (1990) 12(1):70–5. doi:10.1002/hep.1840120112

- Vermijlen D, Luo D, Froelich CJ, Medema JP, Kummer JA, Willems E, et al. Hepatic natural killer cells exclusively kill splenic/blood natural killerresistant tumor cells by the perforin/granzyme pathway. *J Leukoc Biol* (2002) 72(4):668–76.
- Trinchieri G. Biology of natural killer cells. Adv Immunol (1989) 47:187. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(08)60664-1
- 33. Welsh RM. Regulation of virus infections by natural killer cells. *Nat Immun* (1986) **5**:169–99.
- 34. Brutkiewicz RR, Welsh RM. Major histocompatibility complex class I antigens and the control of viral infections by natural killer cells. *J Virol* (1995) **69**:3967–71.
- Baraz L, Khazanov E, Condiotti R, Kotler M, Nagler A. Natural killer (NK) cells prevent virus production in cell culture. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (1999) 24:179–89. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1701825
- 36. Vanderkerken K, Bouwens L, De Neve W, Van den Berg K, Baekeland M, Delens N, et al. Origin and differentiation of hepatic natural killer cells (pit cells). *Hepatology* (1993) 18(4):919–25. doi:10.1002/hep.1840180425
- Vanderkerken K, Bouwens L, van Rooijen N, van den Berg K, Baekeland M, Wisse E. The role of Kupffer cells in the differentiation process of hepatic natural killer cells. *Hepatology* (1995) 22(1):283–90. doi:10.1002/hep.1840220139
- Gao B, Radaeva S, Park O. Liver natural killer and natural killer T cells: immunobiology and emerging roles in liver diseases. J Leukoc Biol (2009) 86(3):513–28. doi:10.1189/JLB.0309135
- 39. Ishiyama K, Ohdan H, Ohira M, Mitsuta H, Arihiro K, Asahara T. Difference in cytotoxicity against hepatocellular carcinoma between liver and periphery natural killer cells in humans. *Hepatology* (2006) 43(2):362–72. doi:10.1002/hep.21035
- Biron CA, Nguyen KB, Pien GC, Cousens LP, Salazar-Mather TP. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1999) 17:189–220. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.189
- Biron CA, Brossay L. NK cells and NKT cells in innate defense against viral infections. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2001) 13:458–64. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00241-7
- Altomonte J, Wu L, Chen L, Meseck M, Ebert O, Garcia-Sastre A, et al. Exponential enhancement of oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus potency by vectormediated suppression of inflammatory responses in vivo. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16(1):146–53. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300343
- 43. Okuda H. Hepatocellular carcinoma development in cirrhosis. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* (2007) **21**(1):161–73. doi:10.1016/j.bpg.2006.07.002
- Mazzanti R, Gramantieri L, Bolondi L. Hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology and clinical aspects. *Mol Aspects Med* (2008) 29(1–2):130–43. doi:10.1016/ j.mam.2007.09.008
- Donato MF, Colombo M, Matarazzo M, Paronetto F. Distribution of basement membrane components in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer* (1989) 63(2):272–9. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19890115)63:2<272::AID-CNCR2820630212>3.0.CO;2-L
- 46. Lai KK, Shang S, Lohia N, Booth GC, Masse DJ, Fausto N, et al. Extracellular matrix dynamics in hepatocarcinogenesis: a comparative proteomics study of PDGFC transgenic and Pten null mouse models. *PLoS Genet* (2011) 7(6):e1002147. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002147
- 47. Carloni V, Luong TV, Rombouts K. Hepatic stellate cells and ECM in HCC: more complicated than ever. *Liver Int* (2014). doi:10.1111/liv.12465
- Leonardi GC, Candido S, Cervello M, Nicolosi D, Raiti F, Travali S, et al. The tumor microenvironment in hepatocellular carcinoma (review). *Int J Oncol* (2012) 40(6):1733–47. doi:10.3892/ijo.2012.1408
- Yang JD, Nakamura I, Roberts LR. The tumor microenvironment in hepatocellular carcinoma: current status and therapeutic targets. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2011) 21(1):35–43. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2010.10.007
- Guidotti LG, Rochford R, Chung J, Shapiro M, Purcell R, Chisari FV. Viral clearance without destruction of infected cells during acute HBV infection. *Science* (1999) 284(5415):825–9. doi:10.1126/science.284.5415.825
- 51. Rehermann B. Pathogenesis of chronic viral hepatitis: differential roles of T cells and NK cells. *Nat Med* (2013) **19**(7):859–68. doi:10.1038/nm.3251
- 52. Dunn C, Peppa D, Khanna P, Nebbia G, Jones M, Brendish N, et al. Temporal analysis of early immune responses in patients with acute hepatitis B virus infection. *Gastroenterology* (2009) 137(4):1289–300. doi:10.1053/j. gastro.2009.06.054

- 53. Paulsen D, Urban A, Knorr A, Hirth-Dietrich C, Siegling A, Volk HD, et al. Inactivated ORF virus shows antifibrotic activity and inhibits human hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV) replication in preclinical models. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(9):e74605. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074605
- 54. Weber O, Siegling A, Friebe A, Limmer A, Schlapp T, Knolle P, et al. Inactivated *Parapoxvirus ovis* (Orf virus) has antiviral activity against hepatitis B virus and herpes simplex virus. *J Gen Virol* (2003) 84(Pt 7):1843–52. doi:10.1099/vir.0. 19138-0
- 55. Liu TC, Hwang T, Park BH, Bell J, Kirn DH. The targeted oncolytic poxvirus JX-594 demonstrates antitumoral, antivascular, and anti-HBV activities in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16(9):1637–42. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.143
- 56. Li YL, Wu J, Wei D, Zhang DW, Feng H, Chen ZN, et al. Newcastle disease virus represses the activation of human hepatic stellate cells and reverses the development of hepatic fibrosis in mice. *Liver Int* (2009) 29(4):593–602. doi:10.1111/j.1478-3231.2009.01971.x
- 57. Altomonte J, Marozin S, De Toni EN, Rizzani A, Esposito I, Steiger K, et al. Antifibrotic properties of transarterial oncolytic VSV therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma in rats with thioacetamide-induced liver fibrosis. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21(11):2032–42. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.181
- Nowatzky J, Knorr A, Hirth-Dietrich C, Siegling A, Volk HD, Limmer A, et al. Inactivated Orf virus (*Parapoxvirus ovis*) elicits antifibrotic activity in models of liver fibrosis. *Hepatol Res* (2013) 43(5):535–46. doi:10.1111/j.1872-034X. 2012.01086.x
- Amann T, Bataille F, Spruss T, Muhlbauer M, Gabele E, Scholmerich J, et al. Activated hepatic stellate cells promote tumorigenicity of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Sci* (2009) 100(4):646–53. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01087.x
- 60. Ju MJ, Qiu SJ, Fan J, Xiao YS, Gao Q, Zhou J, et al. Peritumoral activated hepatic stellate cells predict poor clinical outcome in hepatocellular carcinoma after curative resection. *Am J Clin Pathol* (2009) 131(4):498–510. doi:10.1309/AJCP86PPBNGOHNNL
- Altomonte J, Ebert O. Replicating viral vectors for cancer therapy: strategies to synergize with host immune responses. *Microb Biotechnol* (2012) 5(2):251–9. doi:10.1111/j.1751-7915.2011.00296.x
- Prestwich RJ, Errington F, Diaz RM, Pandha HS, Harrington KJ, Melcher AA, et al. The case of oncolytic viruses versus the immune system: waiting on the judgment of Solomon. *Hum Gene Ther* (2009) 20(10):1119–32. doi:10.1089/hum.2009.135
- Stanford MM, Breitbach CJ, Bell JC, McFadden G. Innate immunity, tumor microenvironment and oncolytic virus therapy: friends or foes? *Curr Opin Mol Ther* (2008) 10(1):32–7.
- 64. Irvine KR, Chamberlain RS, Shulman EP, Surman DR, Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Enhancing efficacy of recombinant anticancer vaccines with prime/boost regimens that use two different vectors. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (1997) 89(21):1595–601. doi:10.1093/jnci/89.21.1595
- 65. Ilett EJ, Prestwich RJ, Kottke T, Errington F, Thompson JM, Harrington KJ, et al. Dendritic cells and T cells deliver oncolytic reovirus for tumour killing despite pre-existing anti-viral immunity. *Gene Ther* (2009) 16(5):689–99. doi:10.1038/gt.2009.29
- Thorne SH, Negrin RS, Contag CH. Synergistic antitumor effects of immune cell-viral biotherapy. *Science* (2006) **311**(5768):1780–4. doi:10.1126/science. 1121411
- Laga R, Carlisle R, Tangney M, Ulbrich K, Seymour LW. Polymer coatings for delivery of nucleic acid therapeutics. *J Control Release* (2012) 161(2):537–53. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.02.013
- Alcami A. Viral mimicry of cytokines, chemokines and their receptors. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3(1):36–50. doi:10.1038/nri980
- Seet BT, McFadden G. Viral chemokine-binding proteins. J Leukoc Biol (2002) 72(1):24–34.
- Sieben M, Herzer K, Zeidler M, Heinrichs V, Leuchs B, Schuler M, et al. Killing of p53-deficient hepatoma cells by parvovirus H-1 and chemotherapeutics requires promyelocytic leukemia protein. *World J Gastroenterol* (2008) 14(24):3819–28. doi:10.3748/wjg.14.3819
- 71. Li Y, Yu DC, Chen Y, Amin P, Zhang H, Nguyen N, et al. A hepatocellular carcinoma-specific adenovirus variant, CV890, eliminates distant human liver tumors in combination with doxorubicin. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61(17):6428–36.

- Mao CY, Hua HJ, Chen P, Yu DC, Cao J, Teng LS. Combined use of chemotherapeutics and oncolytic adenovirus in treatment of AFP-expressing hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int* (2009) 8(3):282–7.
- Protzer U, Maini MK, Knolle PA. Living in the liver: hepatic infections. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12(3):201–13. doi:10.1038/nri3169
- 74. Dranoff G, Jaffee E, Lazenby A, Golumbek P, Levitsky H, Brose K, et al. Vaccination with irradiated tumor cells engineered to secrete murine granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulates potent, specific, and long-lasting anti-tumor immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1993) **90**(8):3539–43. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.8.3539
- Huang AY, Golumbek P, Ahmadzadeh M, Jaffee E, Pardoll D, Levitsky H. Role of bone marrow-derived cells in presenting MHC class I-restricted tumor antigens. *Science* (1994) 264(5161):961–5. doi:10.1126/science.7513904
- 76. Janke M, Peeters B, de Leeuw O, Moorman R, Arnold A, Fournier P, et al. Recombinant Newcastle disease virus (NDV) with inserted gene coding for GM-CSF as a new vector for cancer immunogene therapy. *Gene Ther* (2007) 14(23):1639–49. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3303026
- 77. Cerullo V, Pesonen S, Diaconu I, Escutenaire S, Arstila PT, Ugolini M, et al. Oncolytic adenovirus coding for granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor induces antitumoral immunity in cancer patients. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70(11):4297–309. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3567
- Kim JH, Oh JY, Park BH, Lee DE, Kim JS, Park HE, et al. Systemic armed oncolytic and immunologic therapy for cancer with JX-594, a targeted poxvirus expressing GM-CSF. *Mol Ther* (2006) 14(3):361–70. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2006. 05.008
- 79. Liu BL, Robinson M, Han ZQ, Branston RH, English C, Reay P, et al. ICP34.5 deleted herpes simplex virus with enhanced oncolytic, immune stimulating, and anti-tumour properties. *Gene Ther* (2003) 10(4):292–303. doi:10.1038/sj. gt.3301885
- Grote D, Cattaneo R, Fielding AK. Neutrophils contribute to the measles virusinduced antitumor effect: enhancement by granulocyte macrophage colonystimulating factor expression. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(19):6463–8.
- 81. Park BH, Hwang T, Liu TC, Sze DY, Kim JS, Kwon HC, et al. Use of a targeted oncolytic poxvirus, JX-594, in patients with refractory primary or metastatic liver cancer: a phase I trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2008) 9(6):533–42. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70107-4
- Heo J, Reid T, Ruo L, Breitbach CJ, Rose S, Bloomston M, et al. Randomized dose-finding clinical trial of oncolytic immunotherapeutic vaccinia JX-594 in liver cancer. *Nat Med* (2013) 19(3):329–36. doi:10.1038/nm.3089
- Shin EJ, Wanna GB, Choi B, Aguila D III, Ebert O, Genden EM, et al. Interleukin-12 expression enhances vesicular stomatitis virus oncolytic therapy in murine squamous cell carcinoma. *Laryngoscope* (2007) 117(2):210–4. doi:10.1097/01.mlg.0000246194.66295.d8
- 84. Luo J, Xia Q, Zhang R, Lv C, Zhang W, Wang Y, et al. Treatment of cancer with a novel dual-targeted conditionally replicative adenovirus armed with mda-7/IL-24 gene. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(8):2450–7. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-07-4596
- Vigil A, Park MS, Martinez O, Chua MA, Xiao S, Cros JF, et al. Use of reverse genetics to enhance the oncolytic properties of Newcastle disease virus. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(17):8285–92. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1025
- 86. Dong Z, Greene G, Pettaway C, Dinney CP, Eue I, Lu W, et al. Suppression of angiogenesis, tumorigenicity, and metastasis by human prostate cancer cells engineered to produce interferon-beta. *Cancer Res* (1999) 59(4):872–9.
- Wirth T, Kuhnel F, Fleischmann-Mundt B, Woller N, Djojosubroto M, Rudolph KL, et al. Telomerase-dependent virotherapy overcomes resistance of hepatocellular carcinomas against chemotherapy and tumor necrosis factorrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand by elimination of Mcl-1. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(16):7393–402. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3664
- Boozari B, Mundt B, Woller N, Struver N, Gurlevik E, Schache P, et al. Antitumoural immunity by virus-mediated immunogenic apoptosis inhibits metastatic growth of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gut* (2010) 59(10):1416–26. doi:10.1136/gut.2009.196519
- Altomonte J, Braren R, Schulz S, Marozin S, Rummeny EJ, Schmid RM, et al. Synergistic antitumor effects of transarterial viroembolization for multifocal hepatocellular carcinoma in rats. *Hepatology* (2008) 48(6):1864–73. doi:10.1002/hep.22546

- 90. Wu L, Huang TG, Meseck M, Altomonte J, Ebert O, Shinozaki K, et al. rVSV(M Delta 51)-M3 is an effective and safe oncolytic virus for cancer therapy. *Hum Gene Ther* (2008) **19**(6):635–47. doi:10.1089/hum.2007.163
- Altomonte J, Wu L, Meseck M, Chen L, Ebert O, Garcia-Sastre A, et al. Enhanced oncolytic potency of vesicular stomatitis virus through vector-mediated inhibition of NK and NKT cells. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2009) 16(3):266–78. doi:10. 1038/cgt.2008.74
- Wada Y, Nakashima O, Kutami R, Yamamoto O, Kojiro M. Clinicopathological study on hepatocellular carcinoma with lymphocytic infiltration. *Hepatology* (1998) 27(2):407–14. doi:10.1002/hep.510270214
- Greten TF, Manns MP, Korangy F. Immunotherapy of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol (2006) 45(6):868–78. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2006.09.004
- Greten TF, Manns MP, Korangy F. Immunotherapy of HCC. *Rev Recent Clin Trials* (2008) 3(1):31–9. doi:10.2174/157488708783330549
- Greten TF, Duffy AG, Korangy F. Hepatocellular carcinoma from an immunologic perspective. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(24):6678–85. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1721
- 96. Lee WC, Wang HC, Hung CF, Huang PF, Lia CR, Chen MF. Vaccination of advanced hepatocellular carcinoma patients with tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cells: a clinical trial. *J Immunother* (2005) 28(5):496–504. doi:10.1097/ 01.cji.0000171291.72039.e2
- Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol (1994) 12:991–1045. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.12.1.991
- Schulz O, Diebold SS, Chen M, Naslund TI, Nolte MA, Alexopoulou L, et al. Toll-like receptor 3 promotes cross-priming to virus-infected cells. *Nature* (2005) 433(7028):887–92. doi:10.1038/nature03326
- Kirn DH, Wang Y, Le Boeuf F, Bell J, Thorne SH. Targeting of interferon-beta to produce a specific, multi-mechanistic oncolytic vaccinia virus. *PLoS Med* (2007) 4(12):e353. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0040353
- 100. Saloura V, Wang LC, Fridlender ZG, Sun J, Cheng G, Kapoor V, et al. Evaluation of an attenuated vesicular stomatitis virus vector expressing interferonbeta for use in malignant pleural mesothelioma: heterogeneity in interferon responsiveness defines potential efficacy. *Hum Gene Ther* (2010) **21**(1):51–64. doi:10.1089/hum.2009.088
- 101. Brown JL, Barsoum J, Qin XQ. CD4+ T helper cell-independent antitumor response mediated by murine IFN-beta gene delivery in immunocompetent mice. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2002) 22(6):719–28. doi:10.1089/ 10799900260100222
- 102. Su C, Peng L, Sham J, Wang X, Zhang Q, Chua D, et al. Immune geneviral therapy with triplex efficacy mediated by oncolytic adenovirus carrying an interferon-gamma gene yields efficient antitumor activity in immunodeficient and immunocompetent mice. *Mol Ther* (2006) 13(5):918–27. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.12.011
- 103. Farrell CJ, Zaupa C, Barnard Z, Maley J, Martuza RL, Rabkin SD, et al. Combination immunotherapy for tumors via sequential intratumoral injections of oncolytic herpes simplex virus 1 and immature dendritic cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(23):7711–6. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1364
- 104. Kottke T, Diaz RM, Kaluza K, Pulido J, Galivo F, Wongthida P, et al. Use of biological therapy to enhance both virotherapy and adoptive T-cell therapy for cancer. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16(12):1910–8. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.212
- 105. Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Pulido C, Rommelfanger D, Galivo F, Kaluza K, et al. Activating systemic T-cell immunity against self tumor antigens to support oncolytic virotherapy with vesicular stomatitis virus. *Hum Gene Ther* (2011) 22(11):1343–53. doi:10.1089/hum.2010.216
- 106. Gonzalez-Carmona MA, Marten A, Hoffmann P, Schneider C, Sievers E, Schmidt-Wolf IG, et al. Patient-derived dendritic cells transduced with an A-fetoprotein-encoding adenovirus and co-cultured with autologous

cytokine-induced lymphocytes induce a specific and strong immune response against hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Liver Int* (2006) **26**(3):369–79. doi:10. 1111/j.1478-3231.2005.01235.x

- 107. Diaz RM, Galivo F, Kottke T, Wongthida P, Qiao J, Thompson J, et al. Oncolytic immunovirotherapy for melanoma using vesicular stomatitis virus. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(6):2840–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3974
- 108. Song XT. Combination of virotherapy and T-cell therapy: arming oncolytic virus with T-cell engagers. *Discov Med* (2013) 16(90):261–6.
- 109. Yu F, Wang X, Guo ZS, Bartlett DL, Gottschalk SM, Song XT. T-cell engagerarmed oncolytic vaccinia virus significantly enhances antitumor therapy. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22(1):102–11. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.240
- 110. Fournier P, Schirrmacher V. Oncolytic Newcastle disease virus as cutting edge between tumor and host. *Biology* (2013) 2(3):936–75. doi:10.3390/ biology2030936
- 111. Bridle BW, Stephenson KB, Boudreau JE, Koshy S, Kazdhan N, Pullenayegum E, et al. Potentiating cancer immunotherapy using an oncolytic virus. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(8):1430–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.98
- 112. Kottke T, Errington F, Pulido J, Galivo F, Thompson J, Wongthida P, et al. Broad antigenic coverage induced by vaccination with virus-based cDNA libraries cures established tumors. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(7):854–9. doi:10.1038/ nm.2390
- 113. Power AT, Bell JC. Taming the Trojan horse: optimizing dynamic carrier cell/oncolytic virus systems for cancer biotherapy. *Gene Ther* (2008) 15(10):772–9. doi:10.1038/gt.2008.40
- 114. Qiao J, Wang H, Kottke T, Diaz RM, Willmon C, Hudacek A, et al. Loading of oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus onto antigen-specific T cells enhances the efficacy of adoptive T-cell therapy of tumors. *Gene Ther* (2008) 15(8):604–16. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3303098
- 115. Tesfay MZ, Kirk AC, Hadac EM, Griesmann GE, Federspiel MJ, Barber GN, et al. PEGylation of vesicular stomatitis virus extends virus persistence in blood circulation of passively immunized mice. *J Virol* (2013) 87(7):3752–9. doi:10.1128/JVI.02832-12
- 116. Wisse E, Jacobs F, Topal B, Frederik P, De Geest B. The size of endothelial fenestrae in human liver sinusoids: implications for hepatocyte-directed gene transfer. *Gene Ther* (2008) 15(17):1193–9. doi:10.1038/gt.2008.60
- 117. Doronin K, Shashkova EV, May SM, Hofherr SE, Barry MA. Chemical modification with high molecular weight polyethylene glycol reduces transduction of hepatocytes and increases efficacy of intravenously delivered oncolytic adenovirus. *Hum Gene Ther* (2009) **20**(9):975–88. doi:10.1089/hum. 2009.028

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 14 February 2014; accepted: 07 April 2014; published online: 22 April 2014. Citation: Altomonte J and Ebert O (2014) Sorting out Pandora's box: discerning the dynamic roles of liver microenvironment in oncolytic virus therapy for hepatocellular carcinoma. Front. Oncol. 4:85. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00085

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Altomonte and Ebert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Pharmacological modulation of anti-tumor immunity induced by oncolytic viruses

Nicole E. Forbes^{1,2}, Ramya Krishnan^{1,2} and Jean-Simon Diallo^{1,2}*

¹ Center for Innovative Cancer Research, Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa, ON, Canada

² Faculty of Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Edited by:

Volker Schirrmacher, DKFZ, Germany

Reviewed by:

Pier Paolo Claudio, Marshall University, USA Jianping Huang, University of Florida, USA

*Correspondence:

Jean-Simon Diallo, Center for Innovative Cancer Research, Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, 501 Smyth Road, Ottawa, ON K1J 8L6, Canada

e-mail: jsdiallo@ohri.ca

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) not only kill cancer cells by direct lysis but also generate a significant anti-tumor immune response that allows for prolonged cancer control and in some cases cures. How to best stimulate this effect is a subject of intense investigation in the OV field. While pharmacological manipulation of the cellular innate anti-viral immune response has been shown by several groups to improve viral oncolysis and spread, it is increasingly clear that pharmacological agents can also impact the anti-tumor immune response generated by OVs and related tumor vaccination strategies. This review covers recent progress in using pharmacological agents to improve the activity of OVs and their ability to generate robust anti-tumor immune responses.

Keywords: Oncolytic virotherapy, anti-tumor immunity, cancer, combination therapy, pharmacological therapy, chemotherapy, immuno-modulatory therapy

INTRODUCTION: ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES: MULTI-MECHANISTIC BIOTHERAPEUTICS AGAINST CANCER

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) are self-amplifying biotherapeutics that have been selected or engineered to preferentially infect and kill cancer cells. Generated from a multitude of viral species, OVs exploit cancer-associated cellular defects arising from genetic perturbations including mutations and epigenetic reprograming [reviewed in Ref. (1)]. Among others, these cellular defects lead to dysfunctional anti-viral responses and immune evasion, increased cell proliferation and metabolism, and leaky tumor vasculature (2). These characteristics in turn provide a fertile ground for viral replication and subsequent lysis of tumor cells and permit the growth of genetically attenuated OVs that are otherwise harmless to normal cells.

In addition to the direct killing of cancer cells, OVs can also trigger a potent anti-tumor immune response. Infected tumor cells induce the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and expose both viral and tumor-associated antigens to patrolling immune cells, promoting the differentiation of antigen-presenting cells and T-cell activation (3–5). How much tumor infection and lysis are necessary to trigger these responses remains a topic of debate; however, it is clear that the combination of direct oncolysis and activation of anti-tumor immunity can lead to durable cures in pre-clinical mouse models of cancer.

A number of OVs are currently being evaluated in clinical trials to treat a range of cancer types. For a more comprehensive overview, the reader is invited to consult an excellent review by Russell et al. (6). Of particular note, herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV-1), vaccinia virus, reovirus, and adenovirus-based OV strains have made the most progress toward approval (7-10). Shanghai Sunway Biotech's oncolytic adenovirus (H101), deleted for the viral E1B gene and thought to target p53 deficient cancer cells, was the first approved OV in China as early as 2005, indicated for head and neck cancers. (11). Profound

tumor regression is common following treatment with OVs; for example, durable objective responses were observed in 3/14 patients (hepatocarcinoma, lung cancer, and melanoma) following treatment with vaccinia virus JX-594 in a phase I trial (7). This virus has been deleted for viral thymidine kinase (TK), making it dependent on cellular TK that is overexpressed in cancer cells (7). In addition to the TK deletion that provides tumor selectivity, the virus also expresses granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) to stimulate anti-tumor immunity. Most recently, Amgen's HSV-1-based talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) led to 16% durable response in a phase III clinical trial for late-stage melanoma, and it is expected that the company will file for FDA approval in North America in the coming year (12, 13). Like JX-594, T-VEC expresses GM-CSF but has deletions in viral genes ICP34.5 and ICP47 that confer tumor selectivity and promote antigen presentation, respectively (14).

While widespread approval and clinical implementation of oncolytic virotherapy are in the foreseeable future, heterogeneity in clinical response to OVs remains a significant challenge as evidenced from a number of early and late-stage human clinical trials (6, 15, 16). This heterogeneity in response can be attributed to factors that impact OV delivery and spread within tumors, such as pre-existing immunity and remnant tumor anti-viral responses, as well as to a variably immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment that can prevent the generation of an effective anti-tumor immune response. To overcome these challenges, it has been long recognized in the OV field that improvements to therapeutic efficacy either through viral engineering or through combination therapies will be critical (6, 17). In the current review, we will focus on advances in therapeutic strategies employing small-molecule pharmacological agents that ameliorate OV treatment in vivo by manipulating the innate and/or adaptive immune response to virus and tumor (summarized in Table 1).

| Drug | Mechanism of action/molecular target | Reported immunomodulatory effect (systemic immunomodula- tion or specific modulation of anti-viral response | Oncolytic virus | Reference |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| CLASSIC CHEMOTH | IERAPY AGENTS | | | |
| Cyclophosphamide DNA alkylation | DNA alkylation | Systemic immunomodulation | HSV Adenovirus | Ikeda et al. (20), Ikeda et al. (21), Wakimoto et al. (22), and Currier et al. (24 Thomas et al. (25), Dhar et al. (26), Cerullo et al. (27), and Hasegawa et al. (28) |
| | | | Vaccinia Reovirus Measles | Lun et al. (29) Qiao et al. (30) and Kottke et al. (34) Ungerechts et al. (31) and Ungerechts et al. (32) |
| Gemcitabine | Nucleoside substitution and inhibition of DNA replication, ribonucleotide reductase inhibitor | Systemic immunomodulation | Adenovirus Parvovirus Reovirus VSV HSV Vaccinia Myxoma | Leitner et al. (38), Liu et al. (39), Onimaru et al. (40), Bhattacharyya et al. (41), Cherubini et al. (42), Wang et al. (43), and Kangasniemi et al. (44) Angelova et al. (45) Gujar et al. (48) Hastie et al. (49) Watanabe et al. (50) and Esaki et al. (51) Yu et al. (52) Wennier et al. (53) |
| Bortezomib | Proteasome inhibition | Systemic immunomodulation | VSV (VSV-mIFNβ) Reovirus Adenovirus (hTERT-Ad) | Yarde et al. (61) Carew et al. (62) Boozari et al. (63) |
| Mitoxantrone | Type II topoisomerase inhibition | Systemic immunomodulation | HSV | Workenhe et al. (69) |
| Irinotecan | Type I topoisomerase inhibition | systemic immunomodulation | HSV Sindbis | Tyminski et al. (74) Granot and Meruelo (75) |
| Temozolomide | DNA alkylation | Systemic immunomodulation | Adenovirus | Alonso et al. (80), Holzmuller et al. (81), Liikanen et al. (82), and Tobias et al. (83) |
| EPIGENETIC MODU | | | HSV | Aghi et al. (84) and Kanai et al. (85) |
| Valproic acid | Histone deacetylase inhibition | Specific modulation of anti-viral response | HSV | Otsuki et al. (106) |
| Trichostatin A | Histone deacetylase inhibition | Specific modulation of anti-viral response | HSV Vaccinia | Liu et al. (105) MacTavish et al. (108) |
| Entinostat (MS-275) | Histone deacetylase inhibition | Both | VSV | Nguyen et al. (99) and Bridle et al. (109) |
| 5-Azacitidine | DNA methyltransferase inhibition | Specific modulation of anti-viral response | HSV | Okemoto et al. (111) |
| PI3K/Akt/mTOR PA | | | | |
| LY294002 | PI3K inhibition | Specific modulation of anti-viral response | HSV | Kanai et al. (116) |

Table 1 | Combinations of pharmacological and oncolytic therapies with demonstrated improvements in *in vivo* treatment efficacy.

(Continued)

Table 1 | Continued

| Drug | Mechanism of action/molecular target | Reported immunomodulatory effect (systemic immunomodula- tion or specific modulation of anti-viral response | Oncolytic virus | Reference |
|------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Rapamycin | mTORC1 and mTORC2 inhibition | Both | Adenovirus HSV VSV | Jiang et al. (120) Fu et al. (121) Alain et al. (122) |
| Everolimus RAD001) | mTORC1 inhibition | Both | Adenovirus | Lukashev et al. (119) |
| OTHER | | | | |
| Viral sensitizer 1 (VSe1) | Unknown | Specific modulation of anti-viral response | VSV | Diallo et al. (125) |
| Friptolide | Global transcription inhibition via RNA pol II inhibition | Specific modulation of anti-viral response | VSV | Ben Yebdri et al. (130) |
| Sunitinib | Receptor tyrosine kinase inhibition | Specific modulation of anti-viral response | VSV Reovirus Vaccinia | Kottke et al. (87) and Jha et al. (88) Kottke et al. (87) Hou et al. (89) |
| lpilimumab | CTLA-4 inhibition | Systemic immunomodulation | NDV | Zamarin et al. (138) |

Numerous studies have shown that combining oncolytic virotherapy and pharmacological therapy leads to improved outcomes in vivo. This table summarizes these reports, presenting the small molecule used in the study, its main mechanism of action or molecular target, its reported immuno-modulatory effect(s), and type of oncolytic virus used. Abbreviations: HSV, herpes simplex virus; VSV, vesicular stomatitis virus; mIFN\\beta, murine interferon beta; hTERT-Ad, human telomerase reverse transcriptase promoter-regulated adenovirus; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; mTORC1, mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2; CTLA-4, cytotoxic Tlymphocyte antigen 4.

STANDARD CHEMOTHERAPEUTIC DRUGS THAT BOOST OV ACTIVITY THROUGH SYSTEMIC EFFECTS ON IMMUNE CELLS AND THE IMMUNE RESPONSE

Most cancer patients with advanced disease will be subjected to some form of chemotherapy. This will largely depend on the type of cancer and other salient pathophysiological characteristics. Given that most patients enrolled in clinical trials to test the efficacy of OVs suffer from advanced disease (7), a natural trend in the OV field has been to test OVs in combination with chemotherapeutics that are currently the standard of care. Classic chemotherapy drugs typically capitalize on the fact that cancer cells are continuously replicating unlike most normal cells (18). However, some normal cell types have higher replication rates, leading to significant off-target effects. Hematopoietic cells among others can be affected and this can lead to systemic immunosuppression (discussed below). While the evaluation of chemotherapeutic drugs in the context of OV therapy has been fairly empirical for the most part, their immunosuppressive effects can inherently complement OV activity by increasing OV spread within tumor beds and/or increasing anti-tumor immune responses. The following sections provide an overview of classic chemotherapy drugs that have been evaluated in combination with OVs focusing on their anti-cancer mechanism of action, examples of OVs with which they have been tested, and the mechanism by which these agents suppress immunity and co-operate with OVs to improve therapeutic outcomes.

CYCLOPHOSPHAMIDE

Cyclophosphamide (CPA) is a nitrogen mustard alkylating agent that leads to cross-linking of nucleotides. Its active metabolite, phosphoramide mustard, interferes with DNA replication by forming guanine-to-guanine intra-strand and inter-strand crosslinks (19). Aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) catalyzes the conversion of the immediate precursor of phosphoramide mustard, aldophosphamide, to an inactive metabolite. Normal cells, for example intestinal epithelial cells and bone marrow stem cells, have a high level of ALDH, protecting them from the effects of CPA's toxic metabolites. In contrast, some lymphocytes have a lower level of ALDH, which makes them more susceptible to the effects of CPA. CPA has been used in combination with several OVs including HSV-1 (20-24), adenovirus (25-28), vaccinia (29), reovirus (30), measles (31-33), and vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) (33), leading to improved anti-tumor activity in vivo. Several studies suggest that CPA can be efficacious in combination with OVs by preventing immune-mediated viral neutralization through inhibiting or delaying the rise of neutralizing antibodies and depleting anti-viral immune cells including natural killer (NK) cells, monocytes, macrophages, and lymphocytes (20, 22, 23, 25, 26). For example, one study showed that CPA inhibits tumor infiltration of innate phagocytes (macrophages, microglia, and NK cells) following HSV treatment in a syngeneic rat glioma model, leading to increased viral persistence and improved overall efficacy (23). Other studies suggest CPA can also enhance the generation of anti-tumor immunity by inhibiting regulatory T-cells (Tregs) (27, 34). Results from a first in-human clinical trial using Ad-GM-CSF (CGTG-102) to treat solid tumors suggest that metronomic dosing of CPA decreases Tregs without compromising the induction of anti-tumor T-cell responses. This was found to be associated with increased cytotoxic T-cell responses and the induction of Th1 type immunity in most patients. The best progression-free survival and overall patient survival rates were seen with the combination of metronomic CPA and intratumoral infection of adenovirus (27).

GEMCITABINE

Gemcitabine is a fluorinated deoxycytidine nucleoside analog. Incorporation of this analog into DNA prevents further addition of nucleosides during DNA polymerization and thereby halts DNA replication and cell division. Gemcitabine also binds irreversibly to the active site of ribonucleotide reductase. As a result, nucleotide production is halted and DNA replication ceases, leading to apoptosis in rapidly dividing cells [reviewed in Ref. (35)]. While gemcitabine can decrease neutralizing antibodies similar to CPA (36), it is thought to promote anti-tumor immune responses by off-target elimination of myeloid derived stem cells (MDSCs), which suppress T-cell responses. Gemcitabine treatment thereby increases the activity of CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells that recognize tumor antigens (37). This drug has been shown to increase the anti-tumor activity of a wide array of OVs including adenovirus (38–44), parvovirus (45, 46), reovirus (47, 48), VSV (49), HSV (50, 51), vaccinia (52), and myxoma virus (53). In the latter example, the anti-cancer activity of oncolytic myxoma virus was improved using gemcitabine in disseminated pancreatic cancer murine models (53). Interestingly, no sensitization occurred in immunocompromised mice, supporting the requirement for a virus-triggered anti-tumor immune response in mediating the combination effect. The combination of gemcitabine and reovirus was recently evaluated in a phase I clinical trial and while antitumor immune responses were not measured, neutralizing antibodies against reovirus were decreased by gemcitabine treatment. In this study, 80% of evaluable patients showed either partial response or stable disease (36).

BORTEZOMIB

Bortezomib is a proteasome inhibitor approved to treat multiple myeloma and mantle cell lymphoma. It reversibly binds the catalytic site of the 26S proteasome with high affinity and specificity (54). Bortezomib has been shown to inhibit NF-κB by preventing degradation of I κ B- α in some cell types (55) although the opposite effect has also been observed (56). Other mechanisms of action by which bortezomib may kill cancer cells are through ER-stress and activation of the unfolded protein response (UPR) (57) and triggering apoptosis by preventing the degradation of pro-apoptotic proteins (56, 58). Some studies have shown that treatment of cancer cells using bortezomib increases surface expression of Hsp90 and Hsp60 in cancer cells leading to their more effective phagocytosis by dendritic cells (DCs), improving tumor vaccine effects (59). Bortezomib-treated mice also exhibit increased DC maturation and phagocytic potential (59). On the other hand, one study found that bortezomib treatment leads to apoptosis of

Bortezomib has been tested in combination with oncolytic VSV (61), reovirus (62), and adenovirus (63). Using VSV-mIFNβ, combined treatment with bortezomib was inhibitory to virus replication in myeloma cells in vitro but led to improved therapeutic efficacy compared to single treatments in syngeneic murine myeloma models (61). Given no observed effect on tumor viral load, this suggests bortezomib likely increases virus-induced cell death and/or potentiates the anti-tumor response mediated by the virus. Supporting the former, in combination with the oncolytic adenovirus hTERT-Ad, bortezomib enhanced infection-induced ER-stress and activated the UPR and UPR-associated apoptotic cell death in vitro (63). In subcutaneous hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) mouse models, bortezomib refocused the immune response toward tumor-associated antigens by inhibiting immune recognition of the virus. This allowed for a reduction in viral dose in the combination therapy while maintaining similar efficacy. It was further demonstrated that bortezomib's efficacy is dependent upon a functional CD8+ T-cell response, as no response was seen in vivo upon depletion of CD8+ T-cells.

MITOXANTRONE

Mitoxantrone is a type II topoisomerase inhibitor and a DNA intercalating agent. Thus, it disrupts DNA synthesis and DNA repair in both healthy cells and cancer cells (64). Mitoxantrone was initially developed for treatment of cancer and has been notably approved to treat leukemia and prostate cancer. However, due to its immunosuppressive effects, mitoxantrone was also approved for the treatment of multiple sclerosis over a decade ago. Similar to other immunosuppressive chemotherapies, its activity can be attributed to its effects on proliferating immune cells, but it also has additional effects on antigen-presenting cells and enhances suppressor T-cell functions. Mitoxantrone treatment notably reduces the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-2, interferon- γ (IFN- γ), and tumor necrosis factor alpha (65–68). This drug has been tested in combination with oncolvtic HSV-1 in syngeneic murine breast tumor models (69) but only in vitro with adenovirus in prostate cancer cells (70-72). In the case of the HSV-1 ICP0 null OV KM100, mitoxantrone was found to induce immunogenic cell death and whereas no enhanced cell killing was observed in vitro, the combination treatment improved survival compared to single treatments in a Her2/neu TUBOderived syngeneic murine tumor model. This effect was associated with increased intratumoral infiltration of neutrophils and tumor antigen-specific CD8+ T-cells. It was also observed that CD8+ and CD4+ T-cells as well as Ly6G+ neutrophils were important in mediating the improved anti-tumor efficacy.

IRINOTECAN

Irinotecan or more accurately its active metabolite SN-38 inhibits topoisomerase I leading to a blockade in DNA replication and transcription. It is mainly used in colon cancer as part of a regimen known as FOLFIRI, which also includes folinic acid and 5-fluorouracil. This course of therapy has been found to reduce the number of Tregs in colorectal cancer patients with minimal impact on total lymphocyte and CD4+ T-cells counts (73). Few studies

have used irinotecan in combination with OVs *in vivo*. One study showed that HSV-1 expressing CYP2B1, which converts irinotecan into SN-38, leads to improved survival in combination with irinotecan as compared to virus or drug alone in an immunodeficient mouse glioma model (74). While potential immunological effects were not assessed, a likely contributor to the effect of combination therapy is the increased conversion of irinotecan to active SN-38 due to the expression of CYP2B1 by the virus. Another study used oncolytic Sindbis to treat immunodeficient mice bearing human ovarian tumors (75). In this model irinotecan improved the oncolytic efficacy of Sindbis and this effect required NK cells.

TEMOZOLOMIDE

Temozolomide (TMZ) is an alkylating agent that leads to alkylation/methylation of DNA and has demonstrated clinical benefits in patients with glioblastoma (GBM) (76) and advanced metastatic melanoma (77). At higher doses, TMZ can be myeloablative and in these conditions, CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells, as well as Tregs are markedly reduced. Vaccination using an anti-tumor peptide vaccine following TMZ-induced myeloablation leads to improved CD8+ T-cell anti-tumor responses and prolongs survival in a murine model of established intracerebral tumors (78). However, Treg depletion has also been observed following lowdose TMZ in rats (79). Oncolytic adenovirus (80-83) and HSV (84, 85) have been tested in vivo in combination with TMZ, albeit immune effects have not been systematically explored. In one study with Ad5/3-D24-GM-CSF \pm low-dose CPA (to reduce Tregs), treatment with TMZ increased tumor cell autophagy, anti-tumor immunity, and ultimately reduced tumor burden in murine models of xenogeneic prostate cancer (82). When used in chemotherapy-refractory patients, adenovirus infusion followed by TMZ treatment was found to increase tumor-specific T-cells and immunogenic cell death as well as overall survival compared to adenovirus treatment alone.

SUNITINIB

Sunitinib is an oral, small-molecule, and multi-targeted receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) inhibitor that was approved by the FDA for the treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma (RCC) and gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST) in 2006. Since then it has also been approved for use in neuroendocrine pancreatic cancer. Sunitinib inhibits cellular signaling by targeting multiple RTKs. These include platelet-derived growth factor receptors (PDGF-R) and vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGF-R). Sunitinib also inhibits KIT (CD117), the RTK that drives the majority of GISTs. In addition, sunitinib inhibits other RTKs including RET, CSF-1R, and FLT3. Sunitinib has been recently shown to have additional off-target effects that block effector proteins of the IFN signaling pathway such as RNaseL and PKR (86).

Sunitinib has been evaluated in combination with VSV (87, 88), reovirus (87), and vaccinia virus (89). In the context of VSV oncovirotherapy, sunitinib decreased phosphorylation of the PKR substrate eIF2- α , leading to increased viral titers *in vitro*. Quite remarkably, combination therapy resulted in complete and sustained tumor regression in several immunodeficient and immuno-competent mouse tumor models (88). However, sunitinib may have additional effects on the infectivity of tumor vasculature.

One study used sunitinib to transiently inhibit VEGF signaling, creating a "VEGF burst" upon treatment recovery. In combination with oncolytic VSV and reovirus, this led to increased viral infection and endothelial cell lysis as well as virus spread from blood vessels to cancerous tissues (87). A recent study looked at the combined effect of sunitinib and oncolytic vaccinia virus in syngeneic kidney and breast cancer mouse models, and found the combined treatment led to the most dramatic tumor reduction. Infection of tumors with oncolytic vaccinia as a monotherapy led to decreased VEGF expression (89), in line with the observation that vaccinia induces tumor vascular shutdown in both murine tumor models and in patients (90–92). Thereby, the combination effect in this study was attributed to enhanced tumor devascular-ization, although other potential effects of sunitinib on the cellular anti-viral response cannot be ruled out.

DRUGS THAT EPIGENETICALLY REPROGRAM IMMUNE RESPONSES TO ENHANCE OV THERAPY

Epigenetic changes in gene regulation and expression can lead to phenotypic heterogeneity in genetically identical cell populations. Through reversible modifications to DNA and chromatin structures by enzymes targeting DNA, histones, and the distribution pattern of nucleosomes, the ability of transcriptional factors to access their respective promoters can be deeply altered (93). Not surprisingly, many enzymes that are involved in epigenetic regulation are deregulated in cancer and manipulation of the cancer epigenome using small molecules has been explored successfully as a treatment modality for cancer. As will be discussed in the following sub-sections, modification of the cancer epigenome has also proven beneficial to improve oncolytic virotherapy through effects on the cellular anti-viral response, the anti-tumor immune response, and even viral gene expression [for a more extensive review, refer to Ref. (1)].

HDAC INHIBITORS

Transformed cells often have defective IFN signaling pathways due to the cytokine's ability to suppress cellular proliferation and stimulate immune responses, both of which cancer cells must bypass in order to evolve to full-blown malignancies (94-96). Indeed, it has been estimated that roughly three quarters of tumor cell lines within the NCI60 panel have defective IFN responses (97). Numerous reports have attributed dysfunctional IFN pathways in tumors to epigenetic silencing including DNA promoter hypermethylation and transcriptionally suppressive histone modifications [reviewed in Ref. (1)]. The extent to which interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs), the effector arsenal of the IFNmediated anti-viral response, are epigenetically silenced can lead to differences in the sensitivity to virus infection (98-102). Importantly, transcriptional activation of ISGs has been shown to require histone deacetylase (HDAC) activity (103), which has spawned the evaluation of HDAC inhibitors (HDIs) in combination with several OVs.

HDAC inhibitors including valproic acid (VPA), trichostatin A (TSA), suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA), and MS-275 have all been used in the context of OV therapy to effectively "reprogram" IFN-responsive tumors to become permissive to OV infection. HDIs such as VPA and TSA were found to enhance

HSV oncolysis in oral squamous carcinoma cells (SCC) (104) and glioma tumors (105–107). In one report, this was attributed to an inhibition of virally induced ISG expression, even in the presence of exogenously added IFN β (106). The result of HDI/HSV combination therapy led to prolonged survival in several murine tumor models (105, 106). TSA also enhanced the oncolytic capacity of vaccinia virus, where the two agents synergistically increased cell killing *in vitro* in several cancer cell lines and the combination therapy led to improved survival responses in syngeneic lung metastasis and subcutaneous colorectal carcinoma mouse models (108).

Similarly, MS-275 (entinostat), SAHA (vorinostat), and other HDIs robustly sensitized resistant cells to VSV-mediated oncolysis by suppressing transcription of IFN β and ISGs, increasing viral titers, and increasing cancer cell death. This potent synergy was cancer cell-specific and led to delayed tumor progression in xenograft models and improved viral spread within tumors in a syngeneic metastatic breast cancer model (99). While only evaluated *in vitro* in this study, HDI treatment of several cancer cell lines increased spreading of vaccinia and Semliki Forest viruses as well. This activity was ultimately linked to HDI-elicited dampening of the response to IFN (99).

In addition to the effects of HDIs on the response to IFN, evidence suggests HDIs can have additional immuno-modulatory properties. Particularly striking effects of HDIs have been observed in the context of a heterologous oncolytic prime-boost strategy, where mice with syngeneic B16 melanoma brain tumors were first primed with an oncolytic adenovirus expressing the tumor-associated antigen dopachrome tautomerase (hDCT, overexpressed in B16) then treated with oncolytic VSV expressing hDCT. MS-275 given along with VSV-hDCT potentiated the antitumor response to hDCT while suppressing the adaptive anti-viral response, ultimately redirecting the immune response toward the tumor. As a result, efficacy was dramatically improved, where the majority of mice given MS-275 in the prime-boost regime experienced long-lasting (>200 day) cures, compared to 100% mortality before day 50 in the mice given the same therapy minus MS-275 (109). In this study, it was also shown that MS-275 reduced virus neutralizing antibodies and memory CD8+ T-cells while maintaining prime-induced levels of humoral and cellular immunity against the tumor antigen (109).

5-AZA

DNA methylation and histone modifications are highly interdependent epigenetic processes (110). In addition to histone acetylation-mediated gene silencing, ISGs and other genes implicit in the IFN-mediated anti-viral response are often silenced in cancers by DNA hypermethylation at CpG islands in their promoter region [reviewed in Ref. (1)]. In addition to cellular genes, viral genomes can also be susceptible to direct epigenetic silencing. For example, oncolytic HSV rQNestin34.5 is transcriptionally silenced upon infection of glioma cells, due to increased DNA methylation levels at the virally encoded mammalian Nestin promoter (111). As such, some groups have investigated using OVs in combination with 5-AZA-2'-deoxycytidine (5-AZA): a DNA methyltransferase inhibitor that prevents DNA methylation and allows silenced DNA to regain accessibility to transcription factors. In the case of oncolytic HSV rQNestin34.5, treatment with 5-AZA was sufficient to de-repress transcription under control of the Nestin promoter, allowing viral gene expression, increased viral replication, and HSV-mediated glioma cell killing. This translated to increased survival in glioma bearing mice treated with both 5-AZA and the OV, compared to either treatment administered alone (111). However, it is interesting to mention that in the same study, VPA an HDAC inhibitor was sufficient to drive down DNA methylation at the Nestin promoter *in vitro* in infected glioma cells, highlighting the closely interrelated impact of DNA methylation and histone modification (111).

PI3K/Akt/mTOR PATHWAY INHIBITORS

The phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway is critical to cell survival/apoptosis signaling in response to stress. Genetic mutations in the P13K pathway frequently occur in cancers resulting in dysfunctional apoptotic responses and pro-survival signaling (112). Various growth hormones and stress signals including IFN- α activate PI3K, which triggers a signaling cascade leading to Akt phosphorylation (112, 113). This activates the kinase, which then phosphorylates a number of cellular factors involved in cell survival and proliferation such as NF- κ B, which is also involved in inducing the type I IFN cascade.

Several PI3K pathway inhibitors including GDC-0941 and NVP-BEZ235 are currently being clinically evaluated for the treatment of cancer (114). Both GDC-0941 and LY294002, a common PI3K inhibitor chemical probe, inhibit PI3K activity via competitive inhibition of an ATP binding site on the p85α subunit (115). The PI3K inhibitors LY294002, GDC-0941, BEZ235, as well as the Akt inhibitor tricibine, acted synergistically with oncolytic HSV MG18L to induce apoptosis in glioma cell lines *in vitro* in a cancer cell-specific manner. Remarkably, combination therapy resulted in durable cures in mice bearing glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) tumors, surpassing the efficacy of either therapy administered alone (116). Recent findings also indicated LY294002 increased killing of multiple myeloma cells *in vitro* triggered by the oncolytic adenovirus ZD55-TRAIL (117).

Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a master regulator of cellular translation, is downstream of PI3K and Akt signaling. Indeed, both GDC-0941 and NVP-BEZ235, a PI3K inhibitor developed by Novartis, have been reported to inhibit mTOR as well as PI3K (114). While mTOR controls translation of a host of cellular mRNAs and can also impact translation of viral proteins, evidence suggests it can control the anti-viral response by regulating translation of IFN and other key mediators of the anti-viral response such as IRF-7 (118). The mTOR inhibitor rapamycin, a well-known immunosuppressant, has been tested in combination with several OVs including oncolytic adenovirus (119, 120), HSV (121), VSV (122), and myxoma (123, 124). Treatment with rapamycin or closely related mTOR inhibitors such as everolimus (RAD001) has been reported to suppress the adaptive immune response to OVs by reducing levels of antibodies generated against the viruses (120), improving OV activity in several rodent models of cancer (119-121). In one study, enhancement of OV activity was also observed *in vitro* following treatment with rapamycin (121). This may be due to the impact of rapamycin on the IFN response as determined from another study where rapamycin was shown to reduce levels of VSV-induced IFN in rats, improving VSV efficacy in an aggressive rat glioma model (122). Interestingly, oncolytic myxoma is enhanced by rapamycin in normally resistant human tumor cells *in vitro*; however, the mechanism by which this occurs is thought to be due to rapamycin-induced increases in Akt kinase levels optimal for sustaining myxoma replication (123).

OTHER PROMISING IMMUNO-MODULATORY OV-ENHANCING DRUGS

NOVEL VIRAL SENSITIZERS

The paragraphs above have shown countless examples of empirically or rationally selected combination therapeutic approaches aiming to improve the activity of OVs using well-characterized chemotherapeutics and signaling pathway inhibitors. A highthroughput screen was performed in an effort to expand this approach in an unbiased manner to identify previously uncharacterized small molecules that enhance OV activity. This screen was performed using oncolytic VSVAM51 in the resistant murine breast cancer cell line 4T1 (125). Several molecules were identified as novel "viral sensitizers" (VSes) that were capable of boosting VSV replication and spread in vitro. One of these compounds, VSe1, boosted VSVAM51 replication by up to 1000-fold, and was found to synergistically increase tumor cell killing. The mode of action of VSe1 is not fully understood but at a minimum it involves disruption of the IFN response. More specifically, ISGs typically triggered upon VSV infection remained silenced in cells pre-treated with VSe1 (125). When used as a combination therapy to treat an aggressive mouse colon carcinoma model refractory to VSVAM51, VSe1 potentiated OV activity leading to delayed tumor progression in the context of the combination treatment, while either VSVAM51 or VSe1 alone had no appreciable anti-cancer effects (125).

TRIPTOLIDE

Triptolide (TPL) is a naturally derived component of the Chinese herb *Tripterygium wilfordii* and has been used for centuries as an anti-inflammatory remedy that has also been found to have anti-cancer properties (126–128). TPL is known to be a global transcription inhibitor and has multiple effects including the inhibition of RNA polymerase II and the expression of genes involved in apoptosis and NFkB signaling (129). A recent report found that TPL also suppresses IFN signaling downstream of IRF3 (130). When combined with oncolytic VSV both *in vitro* in VSV-resistant tumor cells and *in vivo* in an aggressive mouse GBM tumor model, the two therapies synergistically improved tumor-specific virus replication leading prolonged survival and delayed tumor progression compared to either therapy given alone (130).

JAK KINASE INHIBITORS

Ruxolitinib (Jakafi) is a Jak1/2 kinase inhibitor (131) approved in 2011 for the treatment of myelofibrosis (132). Patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms often possess an activating mutation in the gene encoding *Jak2* (133), resulting in aberrant inflammatory cytokine release and splenomegaly. Treatment with ruxolitinib, while not targeting the genetic determinant of the neoplasm, led to profound resolution of severe symptoms in human trials to treat myelofibrosis (splenomegaly, weight loss, fatigue), and this clinical efficacy was associated with a potent reduction in inflammatory cytokine levels (134). Given that Jak1 is required for type

I IFN signaling and induction of ISGs, Jak1 inhibitors have the potential to benefit OV therapy in IFN-responsive tumors. Both ruxolitinib and Jak inhibitor 1 were sufficient to sensitize VSV-resistant squamous cell carcinoma cells *in vitro* to VSV infection, and this sensitization was associated with marked decreases in ISG expression (135). Pre-treatment with the Jak inhibitor 1 also sensitized sarcoma and bladder carcinoma cells to VSV infection *in vitro* (136).

CHECKPOINT INHIBITORS

Targeting T-cell inhibitory check point molecules, including the Tcell inhibitory receptor cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and programed cell death 1 (PD1), is a relatively new therapeutic approach to cancer therapy. During normal immune responses, T-cell checkpoint receptors such as PD1 and CTLA-4 prevent overactive T-cell responses, which can lead to harmful tissue damage. However in cancers, tumor infiltrating T-cells are often inhibited by both PD1 and CTLA-4 stimulation. As a result, T-cell anergy is a major barrier to immune-mediated tumor recognition and clearance. Given the ability of OVs to stimulate an anti-tumor immune response, combining OV with checkpoint inhibitors has emerged as a logical combination approach. While several groups are currently working on this approach, published studies to date have focused on ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA-4 antibody approved to treat melanoma in 2011. By targeting CTLA-4, ipilimumab blocks interaction with its ligands, CD80/CD86, leading to increases in Tcell mediated anti-tumor responses. Anti-CTLA-4 antibodies have been used in combination with oncolytic parvovirus in vitro (137) and Newcastle disease virus (NDV) in vivo to treat murine B16 melanoma (138). Remarkably, the combination therapy of NDV and anti-CTLA-4 led to nearly 70% cures in a B16 melanoma mouse model compared to 20% cures for anti-CTLA-4 antibody alone and no effect of the OV on its own (138). Notably, NDV complemented with anti-CTLA-4 led to an increase in the infiltration of activated CD8+ and CD4+ T-cells and a reduction in Tregs.

CONCLUSION

Successful therapy using OVs will ultimately depend on effectively navigating the delicate balance between the anti-viral response and the anti-tumor immune response such as to minimize the former in the short term and maximize the latter in the long term. As outlined above, several approved drugs and novel small molecules can be effective tools to dampen the innate and adaptive anti-viral responses, increase the anti-tumor immune response, or both. However, given the close interplay between the cellular antiviral response and the adaptive immune response that is required for prolonged tumor control, OV/drug scheduling is likely to be critical. To this end, it is probable that the combination of some of the agents described above may allow for additional flexibility and more effective therapy. For example, one can easily foresee first using a drug that specifically dampens the cellular antiviral to permit robust OV replication followed with another that promotes the generation of an anti-tumor response. However, given the efficacy of each approach is undoubtedly both context-dependent (e.g., tumor type and tumor site) and OV-dependent, more preclinical and clinical studies will be necessary to identify winning combinations that can maximize the potential for curing cancers in a clinical context.

While many studies demonstrate therapeutic benefit of combination therapies at least in animal models, we can perceive a deficit in regards to systematic head-to-head comparisons of different combination therapies coupling OVs and the immunemodulatory drugs reviewed above. While such a feat may prove daunting experimentally, this exercise seems warranted and necessary to delineate a more educated choice of combination therapies to push forward into clinical trials. One clear trend overall is that evaluation of promising combination therapies with novel immuno-modulatory agents seems to stop at the pre-clinical level. There are likely several factors that contribute to this. For example, companies developing novel small molecules may be reluctant to explore combinations with OVs that are still relatively novel themselves. Similarly, novel small molecules need to be validated clinically, which complicates clinical trial design and adds additional risk from the perspective of those spearheading clinical translation of OVs. This is particularly challenging for novel small molecules such as VSe1, which have been selected for the sole purpose of enhancing OV activity (125). This type of smallmolecule/OV co-development can only be reasonably achieved by pharmaceutical companies that have experience in developing both small-molecule and biological therapies separately. Hence, from a clinical perspective, it is likely that the combination of OV therapy with a chemotherapy drug that is part of current standard of care would be the easiest to implement as demonstrated with the combination of oncolytic adenovirus and CPA (27). With promising results emerging from the clinic showing benefits combining OVs with traditional chemotherapy drugs, and as pharmaceutical companies such as Amgen begin to take heed of the potential of OV therapy for the treatment of cancer, clinical evaluation of some of the more novel OV-synergizing compounds seems likely in the near future as a means to overcome heterogeneity in clinical response.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Terry Fox Research Institute (grant # TFF 122868) and The Lotte and John Hecht Memorial Foundation Innovation Grant of the Canadian Cancer Society (grant #2012-701460) held by Jean-Simon Diallo.

REFERENCES

- Forbes NE, Abdelbary H, Lupien M, Bell JC, Diallo JS. Exploiting tumor epigenetics to improve oncolytic virotherapy. *Front Genet* (2013) 4:184. doi:10.3389/fgene.2013.00184
- Ilkow CS, Swift SL, Bell JC, Diallo JS. From scourge to cure: tumour-selective viral pathogenesis as a new strategy against cancer. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10:e1003836. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003836
- Prestwich RJ, Errington F, Ilett EJ, Morgan RS, Scott KJ, Kottke T, et al. Tumor infection by oncolytic reovirus primes adaptive antitumor immunity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:7358–66. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0831
- Gujar SA, Pan DA, Marcato P, Garant KA, Lee PW. Oncolytic virus-initiated protective immunity against prostate cancer. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19:797–804. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.297
- Steele L, Errington F, Prestwich R, Ilett E, Harrington K, Pandha H, et al. Proinflammatory cytokine/chemokine production by reovirus treated melanoma cells is PKR/NF-kappaB mediated and supports innate and adaptive antitumour immune priming. *Mol Cancer* (2011) 10:20. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-10-20

- Russell SJ, Peng KW, Bell JC. Oncolytic virotherapy. Nat Biotechnol (2012) 30:658–70. doi:10.1038/nbt.2287
- Park BH, Hwang T, Liu TC, Sze DY, Kim JS, Kwon HC, et al. Use of a targeted oncolytic poxvirus, JX-594, in patients with refractory primary or metastatic liver cancer: a phase I trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2008) 9:533–42. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70107-4
- Galanis E, Markovic SN, Suman VJ, Nuovo GJ, Vile RG, Kottke TJ, et al. Phase II trial of intravenous administration of Reolysin((R)) (Reovirus Serotype-3-dearing Strain) in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20:1998–2003. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.146
- Kim KH, Dmitriev IP, Saddekni S, Kashentseva EA, Harris RD, Aurigemma R, et al. A phase I clinical trial of Ad5/3-Delta24, a novel serotype-chimeric, infectivity-enhanced, conditionally-replicative adenovirus (CRAd), in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* (2013) 130:518–24. doi:10.1016/ j.ygyno.2013.06.003
- Morris DG, Feng X, Difrancesco LM, Fonseca K, Forsyth PA, Paterson AH, et al. REO-001: a phase I trial of percutaneous intralesional administration of reovirus type 3 dearing (Reolysin(R)) in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Invest New Drugs* (2013) 31:696–706. doi:10.1007/s10637-012-9865-z
- Garber K. China approves world's first oncolytic virus therapy for cancer treatment. J Natl Cancer Inst (2006) 98:298–300. doi:10.1093/jnci/djj111
- 12. Andtbacka RH, Collichio FA, Amatruda T, Senzer NN, Chesney J, Delman KA, et al. OPTiM: a randomized phase III trial of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) versus subcutaneous (SC) granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) for the treatment (tx) of unresected stage IIIB/C and IV melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) **31**:LBA9008.
- 13. Helfand C. Amgen to Pursue T-Vec Approval Despite PhIII Survival Miss [Online]. FierceMarkets. (2014) [cited 2014 Jun 24]. Available from: http:// www.fiercevaccines.com/story/amgen-pursue-t-vec-approval-despite-phiii-survival-miss/2014-06-03?utm_medium=nl&utm_source=internal
- 14. Senzer NN, Kaufman HL, Amatruda T, Nemunaitis M, Reid T, Daniels G, et al. Phase II clinical trial of a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-encoding, second-generation oncolytic herpesvirus in patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) 27:5763–71. doi:10. 1200/JCO.2009.24.3675
- Breitbach CJ, Burke J, Jonker D, Stephenson J, Haas AR, Chow LQ, et al. Intravenous delivery of a multi-mechanistic cancer-targeted oncolytic poxvirus in humans. *Nature* (2011) 477:99–102. doi:10.1038/nature10358
- Heo J, Reid T, Ruo L, Breitbach CJ, Rose S, Bloomston M, et al. Randomized dose-finding clinical trial of oncolytic immunotherapeutic vaccinia JX-594 in liver cancer. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:329–36. doi:10.1038/nm.3089
- Ottolino-Perry K, Diallo JS, Lichty BD, Bell JC, Andrea Mccart J. Intelligent design: combination therapy with oncolytic viruses. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:251–63. doi:10.1038/mt.2009.283
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell (2011) 144:646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Emadi A, Jones RJ, Brodsky RA. Cyclophosphamide and cancer: golden anniversary. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2009) 6:638–47. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2009. 146
- Ikeda K, Ichikawa T, Wakimoto H, Silver JS, Deisboeck TS, Finkelstein D, et al. Oncolytic virus therapy of multiple tumors in the brain requires suppression of innate and elicited antiviral responses. *Nat Med* (1999) 5:881–7. doi:10.1038/11320
- 21. Ikeda K, Wakimoto H, Ichikawa T, Jhung S, Hochberg FH, Louis DN, et al. Complement depletion facilitates the infection of multiple brain tumors by an intravascular, replication-conditional herpes simplex virus mutant. *J Virol* (2000) 74:4765–75. doi:10.1128/JVI.74.10.4765-4775.2000
- Wakimoto H, Fulci G, Tyminski E, Chiocca EA. Altered expression of antiviral cytokine mRNAs associated with cyclophosphamide's enhancement of viral oncolysis. *Gene Ther* (2004) 11:214–23. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3302143
- Fulci G, Breymann L, Gianni D, Kurozomi K, Rhee SS, Yu J, et al. Cyclophosphamide enhances glioma virotherapy by inhibiting innate immune responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:12873–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0605496103
- 24. Currier MA, Gillespie RA, Sawtell NM, Mahller YY, Stroup G, Collins MH, et al. Efficacy and safety of the oncolytic herpes simplex virus rRp450 alone and combined with cyclophosphamide. *Mol Ther* (2008) **16**:879–85. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.49
- 25. Thomas MA, Spencer JF, Toth K, Sagartz JE, Phillips NJ, Wold WS. Immunosuppression enhances oncolytic adenovirus replication and antitumor efficacy

in the Syrian hamster model. *Mol Ther* (2008) **16**:1665–73. doi:10.1038/mt. 2008.162

- Dhar D, Spencer JF, Toth K, Wold WS. Effect of preexisting immunity on oncolytic adenovirus vector INGN 007 antitumor efficacy in immunocompetent and immunosuppressed Syrian hamsters. J Virol (2009) 83:2130–9. doi:10.1128/JVI.02127-08
- Cerullo V, Diaconu I, Kangasniemi L, Rajecki M, Escutenaire S, Koski A, et al. Immunological effects of low-dose cyclophosphamide in cancer patients treated with oncolytic adenovirus. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19:1737–46. doi:10.1038/ mt.2011.113
- 28. Hasegawa N, Abei M, Yokoyama KK, Fukuda K, Seo E, Kawashima R, et al. Cyclophosphamide enhances antitumor efficacy of oncolytic adenovirus expressing uracil phosphoribosyltransferase (UPRT) in immunocompetent Syrian hamsters. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133:1479–88. doi:10.1002/ijc.28132
- Lun XQ, Jang JH, Tang N, Deng H, Head R, Bell JC, et al. Efficacy of systemically administered oncolytic vaccinia virotherapy for malignant gliomas is enhanced by combination therapy with rapamycin or cyclophosphamide. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:2777–88. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2342
- Qiao J, Wang H, Kottke T, White C, Twigger K, Diaz RM, et al. Cyclophosphamide facilitates antitumor efficacy against subcutaneous tumors following intravenous delivery of reovirus. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:259–69. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1510
- 31. Ungerechts G, Springfeld C, Frenzke ME, Lampe J, Parker WB, Sorscher EJ, et al. An immunocompetent murine model for oncolysis with an armed and targeted measles virus. *Mol Ther* (2007) 15:1991–7. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300291
- 32. Ungerechts G, Frenzke ME, Yaiw KC, Miest T, Johnston PB, Cattaneo R. Mantle cell lymphoma salvage regimen: synergy between a reprogrammed oncolytic virus and two chemotherapeutics. *Gene Ther* (2010) 17:1506–16. doi:10.1038/gt.2010.103
- 33. Peng KW, Myers R, Greenslade A, Mader E, Greiner S, Federspiel MJ, et al. Using clinically approved cyclophosphamide regimens to control the humoral immune response to oncolytic viruses. *Gene Ther* (2013) 20:255–61. doi:10.1038/gt.2012.31
- 34. Kottke T, Thompson J, Diaz RM, Pulido J, Willmon C, Coffey M, et al. Improved systemic delivery of oncolytic reovirus to established tumors using preconditioning with cyclophosphamide-mediated Treg modulation and interleukin-2. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:561–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1688
- Mini E, Nobili S, Caciagli B, Landini I, Mazzei T. Cellular pharmacology of gemcitabine. Ann Oncol (2006) 17(Suppl 5):v7–12. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdj941
- 36. Lolkema MP, Arkenau HT, Harrington K, Roxburgh P, Morrison R, Roulstone V, et al. A phase I study of the combination of intravenous reovirus type 3 Dearing and gemcitabine in patients with advanced cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:581–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2159
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- 38. Leitner S, Sweeney K, Oberg D, Davies D, Miranda E, Lemoine NR, et al. Oncolytic adenoviral mutants with E1B19K gene deletions enhance gemcitabine-induced apoptosis in pancreatic carcinoma cells and anti-tumor efficacy in vivo. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:1730–40. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-08-2008
- Liu D, Kojima T, Ouchi M, Kuroda S, Watanabe Y, Hashimoto Y, et al. Preclinical evaluation of synergistic effect of telomerase-specific oncolytic virotherapy and gemcitabine for human lung cancer. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2009) 8:980–7. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0901
- 40. Onimaru M, Ohuchida K, Nagai E, Mizumoto K, Egami T, Cui L, et al. Combination with low-dose gemcitabine and hTERT-promoter-dependent conditionally replicative adenovirus enhances cytotoxicity through their crosstalk mechanisms in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Lett* (2010) **294**:178–86. doi:10.1016/ j.canlet.2010.01.034
- Bhattacharyya M, Francis J, Eddouadi A, Lemoine NR, Hallden G. An oncolytic adenovirus defective in pRb-binding (dl922-947) can efficiently eliminate pancreatic cancer cells and tumors in vivo in combination with 5-FU or gemcitabine. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2011) 18:734–43. doi:10.1038/cgt.2011.45
- 42. Cherubini G, Kallin C, Mozetic A, Hammaren-Busch K, Muller H, Lemoine NR, et al. The oncolytic adenovirus Adδδ enhances selective cancer cell killing in combination with DNA-damaging drugs in pancreatic cancer models. *Gene Ther* (2011) 18:1157–65. doi:10.1038/gt.2011.141

- 43. Wang H, Satoh M, Chen GP, Li DC, Hamada H, Arai Y. E1A, E1B doublerestricted adenovirus enhances the cytotoxicity and antitumor activity of gemcitabine to renal cell carcinoma. *Chin Med J (Engl)* (2011) **124**:1082–7.
- 44. Kangasniemi L, Parviainen S, Pisto T, Koskinen M, Jokinen M, Kiviluoto T, et al. Effects of capsid-modified oncolytic adenoviruses and their combinations with gemcitabine or silica gel on pancreatic cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 131:253–63. doi:10.1002/ijc.26370
- 45. Angelova AL, Aprahamian M, Grekova SP, Hajri A, Leuchs B, Giese NA, et al. Improvement of gemcitabine-based therapy of pancreatic carcinoma by means of oncolytic parvovirus H-1PV. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15:511–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1088
- 46. Angelova AL, Grekova SP, Heller A, Kuhlmann O, Soyka E, Giese T, et al. Complementary induction of immunogenic cell death by oncolytic parvovirus H-1PV and gemcitabine in pancreatic cancer. J Virol (2014) 88:5263–76. doi:10.1128/JVI.03688-13
- 47. Sei S, Mussio JK, Yang QE, Nagashima K, Parchment RE, Coffey MC, et al. Synergistic antitumor activity of oncolytic reovirus and chemotherapeutic agents in non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Mol Cancer* (2009) 8:47. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-8-47
- 48. Gujar SA, Clements D, Dielschneider R, Helson E, Marcato P, Lee PW. Gemcitabine enhances the efficacy of reovirus-based oncotherapy through anti-tumour immunological mechanisms. *Br J Cancer* (2014) 110:83–93. doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.695
- Hastie E, Besmer DM, Shah NR, Murphy AM, Moerdyk-Schauwecker M, Molestina C, et al. Oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus in an immunocompetent model of MUC1-positive or MUC1-null pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *J Virol* (2013) 87:10283–94. doi:10.1128/JVI.01412-13
- Watanabe I, Kasuya H, Nomura N, Shikano T, Shirota T, Kanazumi N, et al. Effects of tumor selective replication-competent herpes viruses in combination with gemcitabine on pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2008) 61:875–82. doi:10.1007/s00280-007-0567-8
- Esaki S, Goshima F, Kimura H, Murakami S, Nishiyama Y. Enhanced antitumoral activity of oncolytic herpes simplex virus with gemcitabine using colorectal tumor models. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 132:1592–601. doi:10.1002/ijc.27823
- 52. Yu YA, Galanis C, Woo Y, Chen N, Zhang Q, Fong Y, et al. Regression of human pancreatic tumor xenografts in mice after a single systemic injection of recombinant vaccinia virus GIV-1h68. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2009) 8:141–51. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0533
- Wennier ST, Liu J, Li S, Rahman MM, Mona M, Mcfadden G. Myxoma virus sensitizes cancer cells to gemcitabine and is an effective oncolytic virotherapeutic in models of disseminated pancreatic cancer. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20:759–68. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.293
- Bonvini P, Zorzi E, Basso G, Rosolen A. Bortezomib-mediated 26S proteasome inhibition causes cell-cycle arrest and induces apoptosis in CD-30+ anaplastic large cell lymphoma. *Leukemia* (2007) 21:838–42. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2404528
- Berenson JR, Ma HM, Vescio R. The role of nuclear factor-kappaB in the biology and treatment of multiple myeloma. *Semin Oncol* (2001) 28:626–33. doi:10.1053/sonc.2001.29542
- Diallo JS, Betton B, Parent N, Peant B, Lessard L, Le Page C, et al. Enhanced killing of androgen-independent prostate cancer cells using inositol hexakisphosphate in combination with proteasome inhibitors. *Br J Cancer* (2008) 99:1613–22. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6604730
- 57. Nawrocki ST, Carew JS, Dunner K Jr., Boise LH, Chiao PJ, Huang P, et al. Bortezomib inhibits PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum (ER) kinase and induces apoptosis via ER stress in human pancreatic cancer cells. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:11510–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2370
- Marshansky V, Wang X, Bertrand R, Luo H, Duguid W, Chinnadurai G, et al. Proteasomes modulate balance among proapoptotic and antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family members and compromise functioning of the electron transport chain in leukemic cells. *J Immunol* (2001) 166:3130–42. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166. 5.3130
- Chang CL, Hsu YT, Wu CC, Yang YC, Wang C, Wu TC, et al. Immune mechanism of the antitumor effects generated by bortezomib. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:3209–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103826
- Berges C, Haberstock H, Fuchs D, Miltz M, Sadeghi M, Opelz G, et al. Proteasome inhibition suppresses essential immune functions of human CD4+ T cells. *Immunology* (2008) 124:234–46. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02761.x

- Yarde DN, Nace RA, Russell SJ. Oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus and bortezomib are antagonistic against myeloma cells in vitro but have additive antimyeloma activity in vivo. *Exp Hematol* (2013) 41:1038–49. doi:10.1016/j. exphem.2013.09.005
- 62. Carew JS, Espitia CM, Zhao W, Kelly KR, Coffey M, Freeman JW, et al. Reolysin is a novel reovirus-based agent that induces endoplasmic reticular stress-mediated apoptosis in pancreatic cancer. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:e728. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.259
- Boozari B, Mundt B, Woller N, Struver N, Gurlevik E, Schache P, et al. Antitumoural immunity by virus-mediated immunogenic apoptosis inhibits metastatic growth of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gut* (2010) 59:1416–26. doi:10.1136/ gut.2009.196519
- 64. Mazerski J, Martelli S, Borowski E. The geometry of intercalation complex of antitumor mitoxantrone and ametantrone with DNA: molecular dynamics simulations. *Acta Biochim Pol* (1998) **45**:1–11.
- Fidler JM, Dejoy SQ, Smith FR III, Gibbons JJ Jr. Selective immunomodulation by the antineoplastic agent mitoxantrone. II. Nonspecific adherent suppressor cells derived from mitoxantrone-treated mice. J Immunol (1986) 136:2747–54.
- Neuhaus O, Wiendl H, Kieseier BC, Archelos JJ, Hemmer B, Stuve O, et al. Multiple sclerosis: mitoxantrone promotes differential effects on immunocompetent cells in vitro. *J Neuroimmunol* (2005) 168:128–37. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim. 2005.01.024
- 67. Kopadze T, Dehmel T, Hartung HP, Stuve O, Kieseier BC. Inhibition by mitoxantrone of in vitro migration of immunocompetent cells: a possible mechanism for therapeutic efficacy in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol* (2006) 63:1572–8. doi:10.1001/archneur.63.11.1572
- Okuda DT. Immunosuppressive treatments in multiple sclerosis. *Handb Clin Neurol* (2014) 122:503–11. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-52001-2.00022-4
- Workenhe S, Pol JG, Lichty BD, Cummings DT, Mossman KL. Combining oncolytic HSV-1 with immunogenic cell death-inducing drug mitoxantrone breaks cancer immune tolerance and improves therapeutic efficacy. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2013) 1:1–11. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0059-T
- Oberg D, Yanover E, Adam V, Sweeney K, Costas C, Lemoine NR, et al. Improved potency and selectivity of an oncolytic E1ACR2 and E1B19K deleted adenoviral mutant in prostate and pancreatic cancers. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16:541–53. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1960
- 71. Radhakrishnan S, Miranda E, Ekblad M, Holford A, Pizarro MT, Lemoine NR, et al. Efficacy of oncolytic mutants targeting pRb and p53 pathways is synergistically enhanced when combined with cytotoxic drugs in prostate cancer cells and tumor xenografts. *Hum Gene Ther* (2010) 21:1311–25. doi:10.1089/hum.2010.019
- 72. Miranda E, Maya Pineda H, Oberg D, Cherubini G, Garate Z, Lemoine NR, et al. Adenovirus-mediated sensitization to the cytotoxic drugs docetaxel and mitoxantrone is dependent on regulatory domains in the E1ACR1 gene-region. *PLoS One* (2012) **7**:e46617. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046617
- Maeda K, Hazama S, Tokuno K, Kan S, Maeda Y, Watanabe Y, et al. Impact of chemotherapy for colorectal cancer on regulatory T-cells and tumor immunity. *Anticancer Res* (2011) 31:4569–74.
- 74. Tyminski E, Leroy S, Terada K, Finkelstein DM, Hyatt JL, Danks MK, et al. Brain tumor oncolysis with replication-conditional herpes simplex virus type 1 expressing the prodrug-activating genes, CYP2B1 and secreted human intestinal carboxylesterase, in combination with cyclophosphamide and irinotecan. *Cancer Res* (2005) **65**:6850–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0154
- Granot T, Meruelo D. The role of natural killer cells in combinatorial anticancer therapy using Sindbis viral vectors and irinotecan. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2012) 19:588–91. doi:10.1038/cgt.2012.33
- 76. Stupp R, Mason WP, Van Den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. *N Engl J Med* (2005) 352:987–96. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa043330
- Middleton MR, Grob JJ, Aaronson N, Fierlbeck G, Tilgen W, Seiter S, et al. Randomized phase III study of temozolomide versus dacarbazine in the treatment of patients with advanced metastatic malignant melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2000) 18:158–66.
- Sanchez-Perez LA, Choi BD, Archer GE, Cui X, Flores C, Johnson LA, et al. Myeloablative temozolomide enhances CD8(+) T-cell responses to vaccine and is required for efficacy against brain tumors in mice. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e59082. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059082

- 79. Banissi C, Ghiringhelli F, Chen L, Carpentier AF. Treg depletion with a low-dose metronomic temozolomide regimen in a rat glioma model. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58:1627–34. doi:10.1007/s00262-009-0671-1
- Alonso MM, Gomez-Manzano C, Jiang H, Bekele NB, Piao Y, Yung WK, et al. Combination of the oncolytic adenovirus ICOVIR-5 with chemotherapy provides enhanced anti-glioma effect in vivo. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2007) 14:756–61. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7701067
- Holzmuller R, Mantwill K, Haczek C, Rognoni E, Anton M, Kasajima A, et al. YB-1 dependent virotherapy in combination with temozolomide as a multimodal therapy approach to eradicate malignant glioma. *Int J Cancer* (2011) 129:1265–76. doi:10.1002/ijc.25783
- Liikanen I, Ahtiainen L, Hirvinen ML, Bramante S, Cerullo V, Nokisalmi P, et al. Oncolytic adenovirus with temozolomide induces autophagy and antitumor immune responses in cancer patients. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:1212–23. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.51
- 83. Tobias AL, Thaci B, Auffinger B, Rincon E, Balyasnikova IV, Kim CK, et al. The timing of neural stem cell-based virotherapy is critical for optimal therapeutic efficacy when applied with radiation and chemotherapy for the treatment of glioblastoma. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2013) 2:655–66. doi:10.5966/sctm.2013-0039
- Aghi M, Rabkin S, Martuza RL. Effect of chemotherapy-induced DNA repair on oncolytic herpes simplex viral replication. J Natl Cancer Inst (2006) 98:38–50. doi:10.1093/jnci/djj003
- 85. Kanai R, Rabkin SD, Yip S, Sgubin D, Zaupa CM, Hirose Y, et al. Oncolytic virusmediated manipulation of DNA damage responses: synergy with chemotherapy in killing glioblastoma stem cells. J Natl Cancer Inst (2012) 104:42–55. doi:10.1093/jnci/djr509
- 86. Jha BK, Polyakova I, Kessler P, Dong B, Dickerman B, Sen GC, et al. Inhibition of RNase L and RNA-dependent protein kinase (PKR) by sunitinib impairs antiviral innate immunity. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:26319–26. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.253443
- Kottke T, Hall G, Pulido J, Diaz RM, Thompson J, Chong H, et al. Antiangiogenic cancer therapy combined with oncolytic virotherapy leads to regression of established tumors in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2010) **120**:1551–60. doi:10.1172/ JCI41431
- Jha BK, Dong B, Nguyen CT, Polyakova I, Silverman RH. Suppression of antiviral innate immunity by sunitinib enhances oncolytic virotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:1749–57. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.112
- Hou W, Chen H, Rojas J, Sampath P, Thorne SH. Oncolytic vaccinia virus demonstrates antiangiogenic effects mediated by targeting of VEGF. *Int J Cancer* (2014) 135:1238–46. doi:10.1002/ijc.28747
- Breitbach CJ, Paterson JM, Lemay CG, Falls TJ, Mcguire A, Parato KA, et al. Targeted inflammation during oncolytic virus therapy severely compromises tumor blood flow. *Mol Ther* (2007) 15:1686–93. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300215
- Liu TC, Hwang T, Park BH, Bell J, Kirn DH. The targeted oncolytic poxvirus JX-594 demonstrates antitumoral, antivascular, and anti-HBV activities in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:1637–42. doi:10.1038/mt. 2008.143
- Breitbach CJ, Arulanandam R, De Silva N, Thorne SH, Patt R, Daneshmand M, et al. Oncolytic vaccinia virus disrupts tumor-associated vasculature in humans. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:1265–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2687
- Magnani L, Eeckhoute J, Lupien M. Pioneer factors: directing transcriptional regulators within the chromatin environment. *Trends Genet* (2011) 27:465–74. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2011.07.002
- Picaud S, Bardot B, De Maeyer E, Seif I. Enhanced tumor development in mice lacking a functional type I interferon receptor. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2002) 22:457–62. doi:10.1089/10799900252952244
- Dunn GP, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD. Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6:836–48. doi:10.1038/nri1961
- Uno K, Hirosaki M, Kakimi K, Tominaga M, Suginoshita Y, Hasegawa G, et al. Impaired IFN-alpha production and the risk of cancer development. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2007) 27:1013–7. doi:10.1089/jir.2007.0047
- 97. Stojdl DF, Lichty BD, Tenoever BR, Paterson JM, Power AT, Knowles S, et al. VSV strains with defects in their ability to shutdown innate immunity are potent systemic anti-cancer agents. *Cancer Cell* (2003) **4**:263–75. doi:10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00241-1

- Naka K, Abe K, Takemoto K, Dansako H, Ikeda M, Shimotohno K, et al. Epigenetic silencing of interferon-inducible genes is implicated in interferon resistance of hepatitis C virus replicon-harboring cells. *J Hepatol* (2006) 44:869–78. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2006.01.030
- 99. Nguyen TL, Abdelbary H, Arguello M, Breitbach C, Leveille S, Diallo JS, et al. Chemical targeting of the innate antiviral response by histone deacetylase inhibitors renders refractory cancers sensitive to viral oncolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:14981–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0803988105
- 100. Fang TC, Schaefer U, Mecklenbrauker I, Stienen A, Dewell S, Chen MS, et al. Histone H3 lysine 9 di-methylation as an epigenetic signature of the interferon response. J Exp Med (2012) 209:661–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20112343
- 101. Chen Q, Denard B, Huang H, Ye J. Epigenetic silencing of antiviral genes renders clones of Huh-7 cells permissive for hepatitis C virus replication. J Virol (2013) 87:659–65. doi:10.1128/JVI.01984-12
- 102. Cho H, Proll SC, Szretter KJ, Katze MG, Gale M Jr, Diamond MS. Differential innate immune response programs in neuronal subtypes determine susceptibility to infection in the brain by positive-stranded RNA viruses. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:458–64. doi:10.1038/nm.3108
- 103. Chang HM, Paulson M, Holko M, Rice CM, Williams BR, Marie I, et al. Induction of interferon-stimulated gene expression and antiviral responses require protein deacetylase activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:9578–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.0400567101
- 104. Katsura T, Iwai S, Ota Y, Shimizu H, Ikuta K, Yura Y. The effects of trichostatin A on the oncolytic ability of herpes simplex virus for oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2009) 16:237–45. doi:10.1038/cgt.2008.81
- 105. Liu TC, Castelo-Branco P, Rabkin SD, Martuza RL. Trichostatin A and oncolytic HSV combination therapy shows enhanced antitumoral and antiangiogenic effects. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:1041–7. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.58
- 106. Otsuki A, Patel A, Kasai K, Suzuki M, Kurozumi K, Chiocca EA, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors augment antitumor efficacy of herpes-based oncolytic viruses. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:1546–55. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.155
- 107. Alvarez-Breckenridge CA, Yu J, Price R, Wei M, Wang Y, Nowicki MO, et al. The histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic acid lessens NK cell action against oncolytic virus-infected glioblastoma cells by inhibition of STAT5/T-BET signaling and generation of gamma interferon. J Virol (2012) 86:4566–77. doi:10.1128/JVI.05545-11
- 108. MacTavish H, Diallo JS, Huang B, Stanford M, Le Boeuf F, De Silva N, et al. Enhancement of vaccinia virus based oncolysis with histone deacetylase inhibitors. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e14462. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014462
- 109. Bridle BW, Chen L, Lemay CG, Diallo JS, Pol J, Nguyen A, et al. HDAC inhibition suppresses primary immune responses, enhances secondary immune responses, and abrogates autoimmunity during tumor immunotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:887–94. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.265
- Cedar H, Bergman Y. Linking DNA methylation and histone modification: patterns and paradigms. *Nat Rev Genet* (2009) 10:295–304. doi:10.1038/nrg2540
- 111. Okemoto K, Kasai K, Wagner B, Haseley A, Meisen H, Bolyard C, et al. DNA demethylating agents synergize with oncolytic HSV1 against malignant gliomas. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:5952–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3588
- Wong KK, Engelman JA, Cantley LC. Targeting the PI3K signaling pathway in cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev (2010) 20:87–90. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2009.11.002
- 113. Uddin S, Fish EN, Sher DA, Gardziola C, White MF, Platanias LC. Activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase serine kinase by IFN-alpha. *J Immunol* (1997) 158:2390–7.
- 114. Martini M, Ciraolo E, Gulluni F, Hirsch E. Targeting PI3K in cancer: any good news? Front Oncol (2013) 3:108. doi:10.3389/fonc.2013.00108
- 115. Vlahos CJ, Matter WF, Hui KY, Brown RF. A specific inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, 2-(4-morpholinyl)-8-phenyl-4H-1-benzopyran-4one (LY294002). J Biol Chem (1994) 269:5241–8.
- 116. Kanai R, Wakimoto H, Martuza RL, Rabkin SD. A novel oncolytic herpes simplex virus that synergizes with phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt pathway inhibitors to target glioblastoma stem cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:3686–96. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3142
- 117. Tong Y, Zhu W, Huang X, You L, Han X, Yang C, et al. PI3K inhibitor LY294002 inhibits activation of the Akt/mTOR pathway induced by an oncolytic adenovirus expressing TRAIL and sensitizes multiple myeloma cells to the oncolytic virus. Oncol Rep (2014) **31**:1581–8. doi:10.3892/or.2014.3020

- 118. Kaur S, Lal L, Sassano A, Majchrzak-Kita B, Srikanth M, Baker DP, et al. Regulatory effects of mammalian target of rapamycin-activated pathways in type I and II interferon signaling. J Biol Chem (2007) 282:1757–68. doi:10.1074/jbc.M607365200
- Lukashev AN, Fuerer C, Chen MJ, Searle P, Iggo R. Late expression of nitroreductase in an oncolytic adenovirus sensitizes colon cancer cells to the prodrug CB1954. *Hum Gene Ther* (2005) 16:1473–83. doi:10.1089/hum.2005.16.1473
- 120. Jiang ZK, Johnson M, Moughon DL, Kuo J, Sato M, Wu L. Rapamycin enhances adenovirus-mediated cancer imaging and therapy in pre-immunized murine hosts. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e73650. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073650
- 121. Fu X, Tao L, Rivera A, Zhang X. Rapamycin enhances the activity of oncolytic herpes simplex virus against tumor cells that are resistant to virus replication. *Int J Cancer* (2011) **129**:1503–10. doi:10.1002/ijc.25808
- 122. Alain T, Lun X, Martineau Y, Sean P, Pulendran B, Petroulakis E, et al. Vesicular stomatitis virus oncolysis is potentiated by impairing mTORC1-dependent type I IFN production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**:1576–81. doi:10.1073/pnas.0912344107
- 123. Stanford MM, Barrett JW, Nazarian SH, Werden S, Mcfadden G. Oncolytic virotherapy synergism with signaling inhibitors: rapamycin increases myxoma virus tropism for human tumor cells. J Virol (2007) 81:1251–60. doi:10.1128/ JVI.01408-06
- 124. Zemp FJ, Lun X, Mckenzie BA, Zhou H, Maxwell L, Sun B, et al. Treating brain tumor-initiating cells using a combination of myxoma virus and rapamycin. *Neuro Oncol* (2013) 15:904–20. doi:10.1093/neuonc/not035
- 125. Diallo JS, Le Boeuf F, Lai F, Cox J, Vaha-Koskela M, Abdelbary H, et al. A high-throughput pharmacoviral approach identifies novel oncolytic virus sensitizers. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:1123–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.67
- 126. Kiviharju TM, Lecane PS, Sellers RG, Peehl DM. Antiproliferative and proapoptotic activities of triptolide (PG490), a natural product entering clinical trials, on primary cultures of human prostatic epithelial cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2002) 8:2666–74.
- 127. Kitzen JJ, De Jonge MJ, Lamers CH, Eskens FA, Van Der Biessen D, Van Doorn L, et al. Phase I dose-escalation study of F60008, a novel apoptosis inducer, in patients with advanced solid tumours. *Eur J Cancer* (2009) 45:1764–72. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2009.01.026
- 128. Wong KF, Yuan Y, Luk JM. Tripterygium wilfordii bioactive compounds as anticancer and anti-inflammatory agents. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2012) 39:311–20. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1681.2011.05586.x
- 129. Zhou ZL, Yang YX, Ding J, Li YC, Miao ZH. Triptolide: structural modifications, structure-activity relationships, bioactivities, clinical development and mechanisms. *Nat Prod Rep* (2012) 29:457–75. doi:10.1039/c2np00088a
- 130. Ben Yebdri F, Van Grevenynghe J, Tang VA, Goulet ML, Wu JH, Stojdl DF, et al. Triptolide-mediated inhibition of interferon signaling enhances vesicular stomatitis virus-based oncolysis. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21:2043–53. doi:10.1038/mt. 2013.187
- 131. Quintas-Cardama A, Vaddi K, Liu P, Manshouri T, Li J, Scherle PA, et al. Preclinical characterization of the selective JAK1/2 inhibitor INCB018424: therapeutic implications for the treatment of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood* (2010) 115:3109–17. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-04-214957
- Mesa RA, Yasothan U, Kirkpatrick P. Ruxolitinib. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2012) 11:103–4. doi:10.1038/nrd3652
- 133. Quintas-Cardama A, Kantarjian H, Cortes J, Verstovsek S. Janus kinase inhibitors for the treatment of myeloproliferative neoplasias and beyond. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2011) 10:127–40. doi:10.1038/nrd3264
- 134. Verstovsek S, Kantarjian H, Mesa RA, Pardanani AD, Cortes-Franco J, Thomas DA, et al. Safety and efficacy of INCB018424, a JAK1 and JAK2 inhibitor, in myelofibrosis. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363:1117–27. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1002028
- 135. Escobar-Zarate D, Liu YP, Suksanpaisan L, Russell SJ, Peng KW. Overcoming cancer cell resistance to VSV oncolysis with JAK1/2 inhibitors. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2013) 20:582–9. doi:10.1038/cgt.2013.55
- 136. Paglino JC, van den Pol AN. Vesicular stomatitis virus has extensive oncolytic activity against human sarcomas: rare resistance is overcome by blocking interferon pathways. J Virol (2011) 85:9346–58. doi:10.1128/JVI.00723-11
- 137. Heinrich B, Goepfert K, Delic M, Galle PR, Moehler M. Influence of the oncolytic parvovirus H-1, CTLA-4 antibody tremelimumab and cytostatic drugs on the human immune system in a human in vitro model of colorectal cancer cells. Onco Targets Ther (2013) 6:1119–27. doi:10.2147/OTT.S49371

138. Zamarin D, Holmgaard RB, Subudhi SK, Park JS, Mansour M, Palese P, et al. Localized oncolytic virotherapy overcomes systemic tumor resistance to immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:226ra232. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008095

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 21 May 2014; accepted: 07 July 2014; published online: 23 July 2014.

Citation: Forbes NE, Krishnan R and Diallo J-S (2014) Pharmacological modulation of anti-tumor immunity induced by oncolytic viruses. Front. Oncol. **4**:191. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00191

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Forbes, Krishnan and Diallo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Chemotherapy and oncolytic virotherapy: advanced tactics in the war against cancer

Andrew Nguyen, Louisa Ho and Yonghong Wan*

Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Centre, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Edited by:

Volker Schirrmacher, German Cancer Research Center, Germany

Reviewed by:

Amedeo Amedei, University of Florence, Italy Pedro Berraondo, Centro de Investigación Médica Aplicada, Spain

*Correspondence:

Yonghong Wan, Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Centre, McMaster University, 1200 Main Street West, Hamilton, ON L8N 325, Canada e-mail: wanyong@mcmaster.ca

Cancer is a traitorous archenemy that threatens our survival. Its ability to evade detection and adapt to various cancer therapies means that it is a moving target that becomes increasingly difficult to attack. Through technological advancements, we have developed sophisticated weapons to fight off tumor growth and invasion. However, if we are to stand a chance in this war against cancer, advanced tactics will be required to maximize the use of our available resources. Oncolytic viruses (OVs) are multi-functional cancer-fighters that can be engineered to suit many different strategies; in particular, their retooling can facilitate increased capacity for direct tumor killing (oncolytic virotherapy) and elicit adaptive antitumor immune responses (oncolytic immunotherapy). However, administration of these modified OVs alone, rarely induces successful regression of established tumors. This may be attributed to host antiviral immunity that acts to eliminate viral particles, as well as the capacity for tumors to adapt to therapeutic selective pressure. It has been shown that various chemotherapeutic drugs with distinct functional properties can potentiate the antitumor efficacy of OVs. In this review, we summarize the chemotherapeutic combinatorial strategies used to optimize virally induced destruction of tumors. With a particular focus on pharmaceutical immunomodulators, we discuss how specific therapeutic contexts may alter the effects of these synergistic combinations and their implications for future clinical use.

Keywords: oncolytic virotherapy, cancer immunotherapy, cancer vaccines, combination therapy, drug therapy, combination, oncolytic viruses

Do not repeat the tactics, which have gained you one victory, but let your methods be regulated by the infinite variety of circumstances.

-Sun Tzu, The Art of War

INTRODUCTION

Oncolytic viruses (OVs) can selectively infect, replicate in, and kill tumor cells with minimal impact on normal tissue. These tumor-specific properties, called oncotropism, is dependent on the expression of surface receptors that allow viral binding and entry, as well as, the permissiveness of the tumor cell toward viral replication. Genetic manipulation of the viral genome aims to improve the inherent therapeutic value of OVs by enhancing their capacity for targeted tumor killing (1,2). Through transgene insertion, OVs can serve as directed gene-delivery vehicles, and thus accommodate a diverse array of therapeutic strategies. Arming OVs with additional weaponry, such as pro-apoptotic genes, tumor suppressors, or genes stimulating antitumor immunity, can enhance their killing capacity. With a broad arsenal, modified-OVs have the potential to target a wide spectrum of different cancer types. However, administration of OVs as a monotherapy has demonstrated varying degrees of success in clinical trials (3-5). This is likely due to host antiviral immune-mediated mechanisms that limit OV dissemination and promotes pre-mature viral clearance. Over an extended period, selective pressure on heterogeneous tumor populations can also lead to therapeutic resistance to OVs via

receptor loss or mutation of essential signaling pathways required for viral replication (6). To overcome these barriers, many clinically established and novel chemotherapeutics have been used in combination with oncolytic virotherapy, showing synergistic effects that potentiate tumor killing (7–9). In this review, we summarize how immunomodulatory chemotherapeutic combinatorial strategies have been used to optimize virally induced destruction of tumors and discuss their implications for future directions and clinical use.

MECHANISMS OF ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES TUMOR TROPISM AND ONCOLYSIS

The oncotropism of viruses is guided by cell surface receptors that enable viral binding and entry, and the permissiveness of the infected cell to viral replication. Surface receptors that are recognized by different types of viruses can be specific to neoplastic cells. These viruses target receptors characteristic of malignant phenotypes, such as Poliovirus that binds CD-155 that is almost exclusively present in high grade glioma cells (10, 11), and Sindbis virus that recognizes high-affinity laminin receptor overexpressed in many cancers (12). Other viruses, such as vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) exhibit a remarkably robust and pantropic selectivity by binding to the ubiquitously expressed LDL receptor (13). Therefore, instead of relying on receptor specificity, tumor tropism of VSV is dependent on the permissiveness of malignant cells to viral infection. VSV belongs to a class of interferon (IFN)-sensitive viruses, which preferentially infects tissues exhibiting reduced or absent IFN responsiveness (14–17). This is a typical feature of tumors, which often acquire defects in pathways involved in innate antiviral immunity, such as the IFN pathway, as a mechanism for immune escape. In fact, many of the biological pathways altered by viral infection are similar to cellular changes acquired during carcinogenesis. For instance, mutated oncogenes such as BRAF or Cyclin A, increases the infectivity of VSV and parvovirus, respectively (18, 19). As well, impaired apoptotic ability typically observed in neoplastic cells provides an opportunity for OVs to enhance their replicative capacity (20).

Selective retargeting of viruses to tumor cells can also be generated in viruses without innate oncolytic abilities. Adenovirus (Ad)-based vectors are a good demonstration of this approach, since they possess a wide tropism, but a lytic life cycle that can be exploited for oncolytic virotherapy (21). One method to restrict viral replication to tumor cells is the modification of E1A and E1B genes that results in conditionally replicative Ad. As a result, selective replication occurs in cells defective in p53 or Rb tumor suppressor pathways; a characteristic observed in 50% of human cancers (22). Alternatively, various transductional retargeting strategies exist that largely involve fusing tumor targeting ligands to the Ad fiber knob domain, summarized in Ref. (23).

Viral oncolysis directly destroys tumor cells through either their lytic replication cycle or the expression of endogenous cytotoxic gene products (24). To further enhance their oncolytic effects, transgenes encoding pro-apoptotic proteins are inserted into OVs to subvert cell death machinery. These proteins include various death-inducing ligands such as TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) (25, 26), Fas ligand (FasL) (27), and tumor suppressor genes (e.g., p53, p16) (28, 29). Alternatively, small hairpin RNA targeting factors can be inserted to silence genes involved in cell survival or proliferation, including hTERT and ki67 (30) or MYCN oncogene (31). Oncolytic viral infection can also induce autophagy, a conserved catabolic process crucial in maintaining cellular homeostasis (32). Cellular autophagy machinery is disrupted by certain viruses to facilitate its own replication (33, 34) and enhance oncolysis (35, 36). By engineering viruses to express autophagy-inducing genes, such as Beclin-1 (37) and mTOR pathway regulators (38, 39), improved therapeutic outcomes can be achieved. This approach may be particularly useful for treating apoptosis-resistant types of cancer, thus warranting further development toward clinical application. Lastly, some OVs can exert indirect mechanisms of tumor killing, including tumor vascular shutdown (40, 41) and the induction of antitumor immune responses, the latter of which is described in further detail in the following section.

INDUCTION OF ANTITUMOR IMMUNE RESPONSES

The various mechanisms through which OVs are capable of lysing cancer cells result in the release of tumor associated antigens (TAAs), proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and other danger signals, which facilitates immune cell recruitment and activation within tumors. In particular, activation and maturation of dendritic cells (DCs) and other antigen presenting cells (APCs) allow for efficient cross-presentation to T cells, and subsequent initiation of antitumor and antiviral immune responses (42, 43). However, OVs induce only weak tumor-specific immune responses, due to premature viral clearance and immunosuppressive regulatory factors within the tumor.

To potentiate their immunogenic effects, genetic engineering strategies have been used to encode OVs with various cytokines, immunomodulators, and TAAs (44, 45). Evaluation of the antitumor efficacy of OVs expressing cytokines, such as IL-12, IL-2, IL-4, IL-18, IL-24, and TNFα, has shown improved therapeutic effects (46-49). One of the most promising cytokines tested within the OV platform to date, is the granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), which promotes DC maturation and induces tumor antigen-specific cytotoxic T cells. Three major viral vectors, Ad, VV, and HSV, armed with GM-CSF have been demonstrated to enhance antitumor immunity and cytotoxicity in several clinical trials (50-57). In particular, Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC), a GM-CSF-expressing oHSV-1 that has recently completed phase III trials in melanoma and head and neck cancer, are the first to demonstrate efficacy of OV immunotherapy, with an approximately 30% response rate against systemic disease, following local injection into accessible tumors (52, 53). Similar to GM-CSF, Fms-like tyrosine kinase-3 ligand (FLT3L) is a potent growth factor capable of recruiting and expanding DCs in vivo (58). OVs expressing FLT3L trigger DC and T cell infiltration into the tumor and enhance both antitumoral and antiviral immune responses (42, 59, 60), implicating potential benefits of using FLT3L as an adjuvant to cancer vaccination. Another strategy to boost the antitumor response involves genetically engineering OVs to express inflammatory chemokines, and thus increasing the number of tumor-infiltrating immune cells. Expression of CCL5, CCL3, and CCL19 by OVs enhances chemotaxis of immune cells within the tumor and improves overall therapeutic benefits in vivo (61-64). Interestingly, distinct effects on virus activity were also observed, in which VV expressing CCL5 or CCL19 resulted in increased persistence within the tumor and more rapid clearance from non-tumor tissues, respectively (61, 65, 66). Finally, crosspresentation of TAA to T cells through DC activation can also be achieved by arming OVs with co-stimulatory molecules such as CD40L (67, 68) and heat shock proteins (69).

A more direct approach to engage antigen-specific T cells is to engineer OVs to express TAAs, termed oncolytic vaccines (70). As such, TAAs are overexpressed in the tumor during viral replication, thus increasing the opportunity for immune responses to be generated toward tumor-specific antigens. However, successful antitumor activity has only been reported using model tumor antigens such as OVA or LacZ (71, 72) and the same approach was poorly effective against a self-TAA of low immunogenicity (70, 73). Altogether, these results suggest that overexpression of a TAA is insufficient to overcome immunosuppression in the tumor or immunodominant responses against viral antigens. Therefore, additional approaches are required to boost TAA-specific responses beyond these barriers. Indeed, significantly improved therapeutic efficacy can be achieved by adoptive transfer of TAA-specific transgenic T cells (74) or priming the host with a heterologous vector expressing the TAA (70), prior to oncolytic vaccination. Both approaches have been demonstrated to increase TAA-specific T cell frequency, by redirecting the focus of immune responses to the TAA, rather than the viral vector. Such OV-based cancer immunotherapies show promise by harnessing both oncolytic and antitumor immune-mediated attacks. Clinical evaluation of adoptive T cell transfer and OVs are currently underway as monotherapies (4, 75), however their success as a combination therapy has yet to be determined in human cancers.

CHALLENGES OF ONCOLYTIC VIRUS MONOTHERAPY

Oncolytic viruses as a standalone therapeutic intervention have rarely been shown to induce complete, long-term regression of established tumors *in vivo* (76, 77). Tumors can develop multiple barriers to various anticancer therapies, including oncolytic virotherapy. Here, we detail several mechanisms that may hinder the therapeutic efficacy of OVs and the challenges they pose to the development of improved cancer virotherapies.

IMMUNOLOGICAL BARRIERS

The first line of defense against viral infection is the innate immune cells that patrol, detect, and rapidly eliminate foreign invaders. DCs express pattern recognition receptors that allow for the detection and subsequent uptake of viral particles. These activated DCs then migrate to draining lymph nodes to initiate the development of adaptive immune responses and to trigger NK cell activation. NK cells have a predominant role in impeding the early spread of viruses by directly lysing virally infected cells. Together, DCs and NK cells produce a range of cytokines that promotes T helper 1 (Th1) cell activity and potent cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses that are necessary for clearing virus-infected cells (78). Additionally, humoral immune responses, namely the production of neutralizing antibodies by B cells and plasma cells, provide several lines of antiviral defense (79). Plasma cells derived from B1 cells imparts early defense against viral infection by producing polyspecific antibodies. CD4⁺ T helper cells then stimulate naive B cells at later stages, in order to generate memory B cells and long-lived plasma cells that produce high amounts of specific neutralizing IgG antibodies. Finally, the complement system, composed of soluble factors and cell surface receptors, blocks viral infection by acting on both the innate and adaptive immune responses. These mechanisms include, enhancing humoral immunity, regulating antibody effector mechanisms, and modulating T cell function (80).

Altogether, these immunological barriers pose a particular problem for repeat administration of OVs, by further promoting the development of adaptive antiviral immunity and reducing of its oncolytic effects. Moreover, a large fraction of the population has previously been exposed to the naturally occurring viruses that are commonly employed for generating therapeutic strains. Therefore, the infectious potential of recognized OVs (e.g., Ad, HSV) becomes limited by high levels of neutralizing antibodies (81, 82). These circulating antibodies can limit viruses from ever reaching the tumor site, especially since some viral particles, including HSV-1- and murine leukemia virus-derived viruses, are particularly prone to inactivation by the complement system (83, 84).

TUMOR ENVIRONMENT

Tumors are a heterogeneous assortment of cells, composed of cancer cells, stromal cells, and infiltrating leukocytes, which promote tumor growth and maintain an immunosuppressive environment (85). Tumor-infiltrating leukocytes (TILs) can negatively regulate immune responses within the tumor, which include regulatory T cells (Tregs), myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC), and type 2 macrophages (M2). Their immunosuppressive functions can be exerted by secretion of cytokines (e.g., IL-10 and TGF- β), through inhibitory receptors (e.g., CTLA-4 and PD-L1) via cell contact, and secretion of amino-acid depleting enzymes (arginase and IDO) in the tumor microenvironment. Tumor cells themselves also have mechanisms to suppress antitumor immunity, such as the shedding of NKG2D ligands, MICA/B that blocks NK cell and T cell function (86) and facilitates the expansion of immunosuppressive CD4⁺ T cells (87). Soluble mediators released by tumor cells can directly inhibit CTLs, which include TGFB, IL-10, PGE₂, histamine, hydrogen peroxide, and adenosine (88), in addition to the hypoxic conditions and low extracellular pH that characterize the tumor environment (89, 90). Therefore, antitumor immune responses induced by modified-OVs may not be sufficient to combat a highly immunosuppressive tumor environment, unless additional therapeutic regimens are employed.

Preclinical and clinical evidence indicates that OVs often infect neoplastic lesions in a heterogeneous and incomplete fashion, irrespective of administration route and whether viruses are replication-competent or not (91-93). Physicochemical barriers to infection, including tumor size (94), the layers of dense intratumoral connective tissue (95), the elevated interstitial pressure (96), the poorly permissive vasculature (97), and the large areas of necrosis/calcification (98) play a prominent role in determining viral dissemination. As a result, oncolytic virotherapy may result in incomplete eradication of the primary tumor mass or possibly even promote metastasis of the tumor cells and eventually leading to recurrence of disease. Similar to what is observed in chemotherapy and radiotherapy regimens, malignant cells are also prone to become resistant to oncolytic virotherapy over time. This is presumably linked to the intrinsic nature of cancers to exhibit genomic instability and the propensity for accumulating mutations (99-101).

COMBINING IMMUNOMODULATORY CHEMOTHERAPY WITH ONCOLYTIC VIROTHERAPY

Chemotherapeutic drugs used in combination with OVs can potentiate their cytotoxic mechanisms (9), but may also act to remove barriers to successful oncolytic virotherapy. Counteracting immunological barriers can improve the persistence of viruses and/or weaken the immunosuppressive forces within the tumor microenvironment. In this section, we summarize how pharmaceutical immunomodulators may be used to promote adaptive antitumor immune responses induced by OVs.

EVADING ANTIVIRAL IMMUNE RESPONSES

Histone-deacetylase inhibitors (HDACi) are anti-inflammatory agents that can modulate immune responses to viral infection. By impeding the type I IFN response, a major component of the cellular innate antiviral response, HDACi's can enhance the spread and antitumor effects of OVs (102). In addition, HDACi's may also enhance OV efficacy through initial suppression of immune cell recruitment and inhibition of inflammatory cell pathways within NK cells (65). Similarly, a high throughput

screen of pharmaceutical agents identified a novel drug (Vse1) that could enhance oncolytic virotherapy by disrupting the IFNinduced antiviral response and repressing antiviral gene transcripts (103). Another drug that can be used for immune suppression is cyclosphorine A, which markedly increased and prolonged the therapeutic effect of reovirus therapy of metastatic cancer (104, 105). However, the most common immunosuppressant drug used in the context of oncolytic virotherapy is cyclophosphamide (CPA); a chemotherapeutic alkylating agent that also induces apoptotic cell death. CPA has complex immunemodulating effects, affecting humoral and cellular mediators of both the innate and acquired immune responses. These immunosuppressive functions have been shown to enhance viral oncolysis and improve antitumor efficacy of HSV (83, 106, 107), Ad (108), measles virus (109), reovirus (110, 111), and VV (112). More specifically, at high doses, CPA has been shown to limit neutralizing antibody titers below the limit of detection during herpes virus hrR3 infection (106). Furthermore, in vivo depletion of complement significantly improved survival of HSV and CPA treated tumor-bearing rats (83). Global immunosuppression has also been reported to occur as a result of CPA therapy, including significant decreases in total white blood cell, lymphocyte, neutrophil, and monocyte counts in tumor-bearing mice. This was accompanied by significantly improved survival and decreased tumor volume in mice treated with both Ad and CPA relative to treatment with either therapy alone (108). Host lymphodepletion can enhance the therapeutic efficacy of OVs, as demonstrated by the reduction of antiviral antibody titers and subsequent promotion of viral persistence (113).

COUNTERACTING THE IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE TUMOR ENVIRONMENT

Regulatory T cells and MDSC are TIL populations that are a major component of the immunosuppressive tumor environment. Most pharmaceutical strategies that counteract immune resistance mechanisms within the tumor are aimed at depleting these inhibitory immune cell populations. Reduction of Tregs in cancer patients has been demonstrated to occur following treatment with fludarabine and paclitaxel (118, 119). Other chemotherapeutic drugs shown to decrease Tregs and inhibit their suppressive ability include CPA, paclitaxel, and temozolomide and cisplatin treatment, which enhances antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells in murine tumor models (114-117). In particular, CPA, paclitaxel, and temozolomide can successfully reduce Treg activity (120-122) when delivered as metronomic doses (i.e., repetitive, low doses). In the case of CPA, metronomic doses serve to minimize toxicity and avoid global immunosuppression resulting from administering a single, high dose. Comparison of metronomic and maximum tolerated doses of CPA revealed that deletion of proliferating tumor-specific CTLs occurred in both dosing schedules. However, at metronomic doses, slower kinetics of deletion and survival of cells with a CD43^{lo} "memory" phenotype was observed, resulting in potent restimulatory capacity (122). This is supported by clinical evidence, in which metronomic CPA can deplete Tregs and restore T and NK cell effector function in advanced cancer patients (123). In the context of oncolytic virotherapy, preconditioning of mice with either CPA or anti-CD25 mAb to deplete Tregs enhances therapeutic benefits of oncolytic reovirus and VSV (111,

124). Furthermore, early clinical evaluation of metronomic CPA and oncolytic Ad combination treatment demonstrates improved antitumor efficacy, resulting from increased cytotoxic T cells and induced Th1 type immunity (125).

In healthy tissues, MDSCs play a protective role during inflammation to maintain homeostasis of pathogenic immune responses. However, accumulation of MDSCs in the tumor environment is also capable of promoting tumor growth by inhibiting antitumor effector T cell responses. They exert their effects through multiple immunomodulatory roles, such as upregulating the production of immune-suppressive factors (e.g., nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species), overexpressing anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TGF- β and IL-10), suppressing proliferation and cytokine production by T cells and NK cells, and inducing apoptosis of CD8⁺ T cells (126). Furthermore, MDSCs can mediate the expansion of other immunosuppressive Treg and M2 populations (127-129). Numerous chemotherapeutic drugs have been used to deplete MDSCs, including gemcitabine, sunitinib, 5-FU, docetaxel, and retinoic acid (130-134). Combinations of OVs with various MDSC depleting drugs have been investigated at length, overall demonstrating improved survival in preclinical studies. The therapeutic benefits of using these OV-drug combinations depend on several factors, including the type of OV-drug combination used, the timing, frequency, and dosage of drug administration, and the cancer type targeted. However, given that these immunomodulatory drugs have other antitumoral effects, few studies have directly assessed their ability to deplete MDSCs in each context (135, 136). Notably, use of these drugs to deplete MDSCs can also positively or negatively affect oncolytic virotherapy. For instance, metronomic treatment of either gemcitabine or 5-Fu with oncolytic Ad, increases viral uptake by upregulating the expression of internalization receptors (137). Moreover, sunitinib negatively regulates the antiviral OAS-RNase L pathway, thus enhancing viral replication of VSV in tumors (138). In contrast, concurrent therapy of 5-Fu with HSV-1 inhibits virus replication and oncolysis (139). Therefore, optimization of these OV-drug combination strategies to benefit both the oncolytic and antitumor immune effects of OVs requires further investigation.

Given that chemotherapies have non-specific effects, some drugs can also modulate tumor cell immunogenicity to benefit oncolytic virotherapy. For example, paclitaxel can upregulate MHC class I expression and antigen-processing machinery components (140). 5'-aza-2'-deoxycytidine and 5-Fu have been shown to enhance tumor antigen expression (141–143), while Ara-C (cytosine arabinoside) treatment results in the induction of costimulatory molecules that provide a greater chance of effective immune activation (144, 145). Furthermore, both doxorubicin and Ara-C decreases the expression of immune checkpoint molecules, such as PD-L1, blocking their inhibitory effects on infiltrating T cells (146, 147). Some drugs, namely CPA, 5-Fu, and Dacarbazine, can sensitize tumor cells to CD8⁺ T cell-mediated apoptosis (148, 149), and thus may serve as ideal candidates for therapeutic combinations with various cancer immunotherapies.

EVALUATING THE LANDSCAPE OF OV-DRUG COMBINATIONS

Tumor cell heterogeneity as a result of DNA instability promotes the natural selection of tumor progeny with greater proliferative

capacity and invasive potential (150, 151). As a result, treatment methods that address a singular therapeutic strategy may be insufficient to completely eliminate tumor growth. OV-drug combinatorial strategies present countless different permutations, and consequently, numerous possibilities to mobilize multiple and simultaneous therapeutic approaches. However, previous studies that report synergistic outcomes from combining OVs with chemotherapy largely focus on a single therapeutic aspect, such as their effect on viral spread and persistence, cytotoxicity, or immunomodulation. As we become more familiar with how various chemotherapeutic drugs function, it is increasingly apparent that many drugs act in a multi-mechanistic fashion. In other words, chemotherapeutic agents can impact multiple biological processes, which in turn can further potentiate OV-drug interactions. For instance, rapamycin and its analogs have been shown to alter mTOR signaling to increase the tropism of OVs (152), inhibit angiogenesis (153), induce autophagy (32), and inhibit the function of M2 macrophages (154). HDACis such as Trichostatin A alter chromatin structure and regulate gene expression on an epigenetic level, leading to a wide range of biological effects like promoting tumor antigen presentation (155), improving tumor susceptibility to OVs (156-158), down-regulating the antiviral response (159), and targeting tumors and tumor vasculature (160). Lastly, receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib can downregulate antiviral pathways (138), deplete MDSCs (131), inhibit M2 macrophages (161), and reduce tumor vascularization (162). Therefore, rather than evaluating individual therapeutic strategies that are complementary to oncolytic viral activity, combinatorial strategies using chemotherapeutic drugs should take into account of their entire functional repertoire, in order to determine the best overall approach. However, given the complex, interconnected biological pathways that regulate viral infection and tumor growth, assessing OV-drug combinations is not a simple task.

CHALLENGES OF COMBINATION THERAPY

As previously mentioned, the biological pathways that OVs manipulate to support their replication are similar to those utilized by cancer cells to become increasingly malignant (e.g., defects in the IFN pathway, apoptotic-resistance, immune suppression). In fact, targeting certain pathways with chemotherapy will also, by association, compromise the replicative capacity of OVs. As a result, discernable conflicts between virus-enabled therapeutic strategies and drug-enabled therapeutic strategies may limit the extent to which the two can be combined. For example, viruses require actively dividing cells to maximize their replicative efficiency, while many anticancer agents are either cytotoxic or cytostatic with death-inducing or anti-proliferative effects, respectively (9). Furthermore, studies suggest that the leaky vasculature of tumors is exploited by viruses to successfully extravasate into the tumor site (163, 164). Some OVs can actually stimulate angiogenesis to increase vascular permeability in tumors (165). Thus, antiangiogenic therapy may thus adversely affect the localization of OVs to the tumor microenvironment. Finally, modulation of the host immune response through chemotherapy may conflict with the therapeutic function of the oncolytic virus. For instance, low dose CPA may remove immunosuppressive cells such as Tregs to improve vaccine-induced adaptive antitumor immune responses;

however, it also promotes the antiviral immune response, leading to early viral clearance (166). Conversely, high dose CPA may enhance viral oncolysis through wide-spread immunosuppression of the innate and adaptive antiviral immune response, but also completely abrogate the antitumor immune response (167). These conflicting mechanisms (apoptosis vs. viral replication, antiangiogenesis vs. viral trafficking, antiviral immune responses vs. antitumor immune responses) are further compounded when we consider that drugs often regulate multiple biological host processes. Nevertheless, OV-drug combinations that demonstrate therapeutic incompatibility are still efficacious in some models. In these cases, it is likely that the number of beneficial interactions between OVs and drugs outweigh the number of detrimental effects, resulting in an overall enhanced therapeutic outcome. While current combinatorial strategies have been able to identify unique synergistic OV-drug platforms, the challenge going forward is to obtain a greater understanding of OV-drug interactions. Based on these exploratory findings, we will be able to identify optimal treatment conditions that minimize therapeutic trade-offs.

SUCCESSFUL COMBINATION THERAPY IS CONTEXT-DEPENDENT

As previously mentioned, seemingly incompatible OV-drug combinations have shown therapeutic efficacy because their positive effects outweigh their negative effects. Based on these initial studies, it is also apparent that some factors can tip the OV-drug dynamic in favor of enhanced cancer therapy in one context, but also have the reverse effects in another. For instance, concurrent administration of 5-FU has been shown to inhibit the replication of wild-type HSV-1 strain KOS (139); however, the same drug has been shown to actually enhance viral replication of NV1066 (HSV-1 with a single copy of ICP0, ICP4, and γ_1 34.5 deleted) in pancreatic cancer cell lines (168). Interestingly, growth arrest and DNA damage as a result of 5-FU administration upregulates the expression of DNA damage-inducible protein GADD34, which bears significant homology with the deleted γ_1 34.5. As a consequence, GADD34 can functionally replace γ_1 34.5, prevent premature shutoff of protein synthesis, and thus enhance viral replication (169). Another factor that is demonstrated to be context-dependent is the schedule and dosage of drug delivery given during OVdrug combination therapy. However, if their costs and benefits to oncolytic virotherapy are clear, we may adjust these variables for an optimized therapeutic outcome. For example, VEGF blockade through a variety of small-molecule chemotherapeutics decreases the tumor uptake of systemic oncolytic HSV, but can actually improve the treatment of sarcoma-bearing mice if anti-angiogenic therapy is given subsequent to virus administration (170).

Overall, specific strategies to optimize OV-drug combinations depend on the circumstances of the model system. To this point, we have previously shown that systemic vaccination with recombinant VSV encoding the xenogeneic TAA, human dopachrome tautomerase (hDCT), was unable to induce robust tumor-specific immunity because the host immune response was predominantly redirected toward viral antigens expressed on the vector. Therefore, by adopting a heterologous prime-boost system whereby mice were initially primed with recombinant Ad-hDCT and boosted with VSV-hDCT, substantive immunity was generated against the tumor, while the antiviral response to VSV was dampened (70). The HDACi, MS-275, is an ideal candidate for combination therapy with this prime-boost system because it has previously been shown to decrease IFN responsiveness in tumors, thus augmenting viral oncolysis. However, MS-275 is also immunosuppressive and resulted in abrogation of the priming response if given concurrently with Ad-hDCT. Alternatively, if drug treatment was given concurrently with VSV-hDCT, the boosting response was unaffected and over 60% of mice challenged with intracranial melanoma were cured (171). Since MS-275 is an HDACi; an epigenetic modifier that can modify the expression of numerous genes, its range of effects have not yet been fully elucidated. As such, many unknown functional properties may still exist, especially in the context of oncolytic virotherapy.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

War strategy dictates methods in which to arrange and maneuver military forces during armed conflicts. Using the available resources and landscape to your advantage is a key aspect to defeating the enemy. The analogy of OVs as fighters, "targeting" cancer cells and being "armed" with various genes, is commonplace in the literature. Its ability to induce antitumor immune responses is akin to the call for air support, bringing in additional fighters that can help to identify and target enemy forces. The introduction of chemotherapeutic drugs to the battlefield is then, chemical warfare; a wide-spread, indiscriminate weapon. With our various forces at hand, how do we determine the best strategy to defeat our opponents? As with any war strategy game, finding the best approach begins with knowing the enemy (type of cancer), knowing our forces (viruses, drugs, and immune cells), their strengths and weaknesses (function), and finally how they interact with each other on the battlefield (combination therapy). Before you make a move, you postulate various scenarios in which your opponent may attack, but also how you can take the advantage. In a similar fashion, to identify the most suitable approach to OV-drug combination therapies, we should adopt a broader perspective to the treatment of cancer. Then and only then, will we not only win some battles, but we may also win the war.

REFERENCES

- 1. Pol J. Oncolytic viruses: a step into cancer immunotherapy. *Virus Adapt Treat* (2012) **4**:1–21. doi:10.2147/VAAT.S12980
- Atherton MJ, Lichty BD. Evolution of oncolytic viruses: novel strategies for cancer treatment. *Immunotherapy* (2013) 5(11):1191–206. doi:10.2217/imt.13.123
- Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, et al. Trial watch: oncolytic viruses for cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(6):e24612. doi:10.4161/onci.24612
- Patel MR, Kratzke RA. Oncolytic virus therapy for cancer: the first wave of translational clinical trials. *Transl Res* (2013) 161(4):355–64. doi:10.1016/j.trsl. 2012.12.010
- Buonaguro FM, Tornesello ML, Izzo F, Buonaguro L. Oncolytic virus therapies. *Pharm Pat Anal* (2012) 1(5):621–7. doi:10.4155/ppa.12.65
- Moerdyk-Schauwecker M, Shah NR, Murphy AM, Hastie E, Mukherjee P, Grdzelishvili VZ. Resistance of pancreatic cancer cells to oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus: role of type I interferon signaling. *Virology* (2013) 436(1):221–34. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2012.11.014
- Forbes NE, Abdelbary H, Lupien M, Bell JC, Diallo JS. Exploiting tumor epigenetics to improve oncolytic virotherapy. *Front Genet* (2013) 4:184. doi:10.3389/fgene.2013.00184

- Wennier ST, Liu J, McFadden G. Bugs and drugs: oncolytic virotherapy in combination with chemotherapy. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* (2012) 13(9):1817–33. doi:10.2174/138920112800958850
- Ottolino-Perry K, Diallo JS, Lichty BD, Bell JC, McCart JA. Intelligent design: combination therapy with oncolytic viruses. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(2):251–63. doi:10.1038/mt.2009.283
- Mendelsohn CL, Wimmer E, Racaniello VR. Cellular receptor for poliovirus: molecular cloning, nucleotide sequence, and expression of a new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. *Cell* (1989) 56(5):855–65. doi:10.1016/ 0092-8674(89)90690-9
- Merrill MK, Bernhardt G, Sampson JH, Wikstrand CJ, Bigner DD, Gromeier M. Poliovirus receptor CD155-targeted oncolysis of glioma. *Neuro Oncol* (2004) 6(3):208–17. doi:10.1215/S1152851703000577
- Berno V, Porrini D, Castiglioni F, Campiglio M, Casalini P, Pupa SM, et al. The 67 kDa laminin receptor increases tumor aggressiveness by remodeling laminin-1. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2005) 12(2):393–406. doi:10.1677/erc.1.00870
- Finkelshtein D, Werman A, Novick D, Barak S, Rubinstein M. LDL receptor and its family members serve as the cellular receptors for vesicular stomatitis virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(18):7306–11. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1214441110
- Krishnamurthy S, Takimoto T, Scroggs RA, Portner A. Differentially regulated interferon response determines the outcome of Newcastle disease virus infection in normal and tumor cell lines. *J Virol* (2006) 80(11):5145–55. doi:10.1128/JVI.02618-05
- Stojdl DF, Lichty B, Knowles S, Marius R, Atkins H, Sonenberg N, et al. Exploiting tumor-specific defects in the interferon pathway with a previously unknown oncolytic virus. *Nat Med* (2000) 6(7):821–5. doi:10.1038/77558
- Stojdl DF, Lichty BD, tenOever BR, Paterson JM, Power AT, Knowles S, et al. VSV strains with defects in their ability to shutdown innate immunity are potent systemic anti-cancer agents. *Cancer Cell* (2003) 4(4):263–75. doi:10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00241-1
- Noser JA, Mael AA, Sakuma R, Ohmine S, Marcato P, Lee PW, et al. The RAS/Raf1/MEK/ERK signaling pathway facilitates VSV-mediated oncolysis: implication for the defective interferon response in cancer cells. *Mol Ther* (2007) 15(8):1531–6. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300193
- Wollmann G, Davis JN, Bosenberg MW, van den Pol AN. Vesicular stomatitis virus variants selectively infect and kill human melanomas but not normal melanocytes. J Virol (2013) 87(12):6644–59. doi:10.1128/JVI.03311-12
- Rommelaere J, Geletneky K, Angelova AL, Daeffler L, Dinsart C, Kiprianova I, et al. Oncolytic parvoviruses as cancer therapeutics. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2010) 21(2–3):185–95. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.02.011
- Mansour M, Palese P, Zamarin D. Oncolytic specificity of Newcastle disease virus is mediated by selectivity for apoptosis-resistant cells. *J Virol* (2011) 85(12):6015–23. doi:10.1128/JVI.01537-10
- Kruyt FA, Curiel DT. Toward a new generation of conditionally replicating adenoviruses: pairing tumor selectivity with maximal oncolysis. *Hum Gene Ther* (2002) 13(4):485–95. doi:10.1089/10430340252809784
- 22. Fukuda K, Abei M, Ugai H, Seo E, Wakayama M, Murata T, et al. E1A, E1B double-restricted adenovirus for oncolytic gene therapy of gallbladder cancer. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(15):4434–40.
- Mathis JM, Stoff-Khalili MA, Curiel DT. Oncolytic adenoviruses selective retargeting to tumor cells. Oncogene (2005) 24(52):7775–91. doi:10.1038/sj. onc.1209044
- Chu RL, Post DE, Khuri FR, Van Meir EG. Use of replicating oncolytic adenoviruses in combination therapy for cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10(16):5299–312. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-0349-03
- Wohlfahrt ME, Beard BC, Lieber A, Kiem HP. A capsid-modified, conditionally replicating oncolytic adenovirus vector expressing TRAIL leads to enhanced cancer cell killing in human glioblastoma models. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(18):8783–90. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0357
- 26. Zhao L, Dong A, Gu J, Liu Z, Zhang Y, Zhang W, et al. The antitumor activity of TRAIL and IL-24 with replicating oncolytic adenovirus in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2006) 13(11):1011–22. doi:10.1038/sj.cgt.7700969
- 27. Sathaiah M, Thirunavukkarasu P, O'Malley ME, Kavanagh MA, Ravindranathan R, Austin F, et al. Oncolytic poxvirus armed with Fas ligand leads to induction of cellular Fas receptor and selective viral replication in FasR-negative cancer. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2012) **19**(3):192–201. doi:10.1038/cgt.2011.77

- van Beusechem VW, van den Doel PB, Grill J, Pinedo HM, Gerritsen WR. Conditionally replicative adenovirus expressing p53 exhibits enhanced oncolytic potency. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62(21):6165–71.
- 29. Ma J, He X, Wang W, Huang Y, Chen L, Cong W, et al. E2F promoterregulated oncolytic adenovirus with p16 gene induces cell apoptosis and exerts antitumor effect on gastric cancer. *Dig Dis Sci* (2009) **54**(7):1425–31. doi:10.1007/s10620-008-0543-0
- 30. Fang L, Cheng Q, Li W, Liu J, Li L, Xu K, et al. Antitumor activities of an oncolytic adenovirus equipped with a double siRNA targeting Ki67 and hTERT in renal cancer cells. *Virus Res* (2014) 181:61–71. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2013. 12.021
- 31. Li Y, Zhang B, Zhang H, Zhu X, Feng D, Zhang D, et al. Oncolytic adenovirus armed with shRNA targeting MYCN gene inhibits neuroblastoma cell proliferation and in vivo xenograft tumor growth. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol (2013) 139(6):933–41. doi:10.1007/s00432-013-1406-4
- Meng S, Xu J, Wu Y, Ding C. Targeting autophagy to enhance oncolytic virus-based cancer therapy. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2013) 13(6):863–73. doi:10.1517/14712598.2013.774365
- 33. McFarlane S, Aitken J, Sutherland JS, Nicholl MJ, Preston VG, Preston CM. Early induction of autophagy in human fibroblasts after infection with human cytomegalovirus or herpes simplex virus 1. *J Virol* (2011) 85(9):4212–21. doi:10.1128/JVI.02435-10
- Rodriguez-Rocha H, Gomez-Gutierrez JG, Garcia-Garcia A, Rao XM, Chen L, McMasters KM, et al. Adenoviruses induce autophagy to promote virus replication and oncolysis. *Virology* (2011) **416**(1–2):9–15. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2011. 04.017
- 35. Alonso MM, Jiang H, Yokoyama T, Xu J, Bekele NB, Lang FF, et al. Delta-24-RGD in combination with RAD001 induces enhanced anti-glioma effect via autophagic cell death. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16(3):487–93. doi:10.1038/sj.mt. 6300400
- 36. Jiang H, Gomez-Manzano C, Aoki H, Alonso MM, Kondo S, McCormick F, et al. Examination of the therapeutic potential of Delta-24-RGD in brain tumor stem cells: role of autophagic cell death. J Natl Cancer Inst (2007) 99(18):1410–4. doi:10.1093/jnci/djm102
- Colunga AG, Laing JM, Aurelian L. The HSV-2 mutant DeltaPK induces melanoma oncolysis through nonredundant death programs and associated with autophagy and pyroptosis proteins. *Gene Ther* (2010) 17(3):315–27. doi:10.1038/gt.2009.126
- Ito H, Aoki H, Kuhnel F, Kondo Y, Kubicka S, Wirth T, et al. Autophagic cell death of malignant glioma cells induced by a conditionally replicating adenovirus. J Natl Cancer Inst (2006) 98(9):625–36. doi:10.1093/ jnci/djj161
- Botta G, Passaro C, Libertini S, Abagnale A, Barbato S, Maione AS, et al. Inhibition of autophagy enhances the effects of E1A-defective oncolytic adenovirus dl922-947 against glioma cells in vitro and in vivo. *Hum Gene Ther* (2012) 23(6):623–34. doi:10.1089/hum.2011.120
- Breitbach CJ, De Silva NS, Falls TJ, Aladl U, Evgin L, Paterson J, et al. Targeting tumor vasculature with an oncolytic virus. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(5):886–94. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.26
- Hou W, Chen H, Rojas J, Sampath P, Thorne SH. Oncolytic vaccinia virus demonstrates anti-angiogenic effects mediated by targeting of VEGF. *Int J Cancer* (2014). doi:10.1002/ijc.28747
- 42. Edukulla R, Woller N, Mundt B, Knocke S, Gurlevik E, Saborowski M, et al. Antitumoral immune response by recruitment and expansion of dendritic cells in tumors infected with telomerase-dependent oncolytic viruses. *Cancer Res* (2009) **69**(4):1448–58. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1160
- Endo Y, Sakai R, Ouchi M, Onimatsu H, Hioki M, Kagawa S, et al. Virus-mediated oncolysis induces danger signal and stimulates cytotoxic Tlymphocyte activity via proteasome activator upregulation. *Oncogene* (2008) 27(17):2375–81. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210884
- Melcher A, Parato K, Rooney CM, Bell JC. Thunder and lightning: immunotherapy and oncolytic viruses collide. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(6):1008–16. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.65
- Bridle BW, Hanson S, Lichty BD. Combining oncolytic virotherapy and tumour vaccination. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2010) 21(2–3):143–8. doi:10.1016/j. cytogfr.2010.02.009
- 46. Wong RJ, Chan MK, Yu Z, Kim TH, Bhargava A, Stiles BM, et al. Effective intravenous therapy of murine pulmonary metastases with an oncolytic herpes

virus expressing interleukin 12. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) **10**(1 Pt 1):251–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-0197-3

- 47. Vigil A, Park MS, Martinez O, Chua MA, Xiao S, Cros JF, et al. Use of reverse genetics to enhance the oncolytic properties of Newcastle disease virus. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(17):8285–92. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1025
- 48. Post DE, Sandberg EM, Kyle MM, Devi NS, Brat DJ, Xu Z, et al. Targeted cancer gene therapy using a hypoxia inducible factor dependent oncolytic adenovirus armed with interleukin-4. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(14):6872–81. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3244
- Choi IK, Lee JS, Zhang SN, Park J, Sonn CH, Lee KM, et al. Oncolytic adenovirus co-expressing IL-12 and IL-18 improves tumor-specific immunity via differentiation of T cells expressing IL-12Rbeta2 or IL-18Ralpha. *Gene Ther* (2011) 18(9):898–909. doi:10.1038/gt.2011.37
- Cerullo V, Pesonen S, Diaconu I, Escutenaire S, Arstila PT, Ugolini M, et al. Oncolytic adenovirus coding for granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor induces antitumoral immunity in cancer patients. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70(11):4297–309. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3567
- Koski A, Kangasniemi L, Escutenaire S, Pesonen S, Cerullo V, Diaconu I, et al. Treatment of cancer patients with a serotype 5/3 chimeric oncolytic adenovirus expressing GMCSF. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(10):1874–84. doi:10.1038/mt. 2010.161
- 52. Senzer NN, Kaufman HL, Amatruda T, Nemunaitis M, Reid T, Daniels G, et al. Phase II clinical trial of a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-encoding, second-generation oncolytic herpesvirus in patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) **27**(34):5763–71. doi:10.1200/JCO.2009.24.3675
- Kaufman HL, Bines SD. OPTIM trial: a phase III trial of an oncolytic herpes virus encoding GM-CSF for unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. *Future* Oncol (2010) 6(6):941–9. doi:10.2217/fon.10.66
- Heo J, Reid T, Ruo L, Breitbach CJ, Rose S, Bloomston M, et al. Randomized dose-finding clinical trial of oncolytic immunotherapeutic vaccinia JX-594 in liver cancer. *Nat Med* (2013) 19(3):329–36. doi:10.1038/nm.3089
- 55. Kim JH, Oh JY, Park BH, Lee DE, Kim JS, Park HE, et al. Systemic armed oncolytic and immunologic therapy for cancer with JX-594, a targeted poxvirus expressing GM-CSF. *Mol Ther* (2006) 14(3):361–70. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2006. 05.008
- 56. Kanerva A, Nokisalmi P, Diaconu I, Koski A, Cerullo V, Liikanen I, et al. Antiviral and antitumor T-cell immunity in patients treated with GM-CSF-coding oncolytic adenovirus. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(10):2734–44. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2546
- 57. Kim MK, Breitbach CJ, Moon A, Heo J, Lee YK, Cho M, et al. Oncolytic and immunotherapeutic vaccinia induces antibody-mediated complementdependent cancer cell lysis in humans. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5(185):185ra63. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3005361
- Dong J, McPherson CM, Stambrook PJ. Flt-3 ligand: a potent dendritic cell stimulator and novel antitumor agent. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2002) 1(5):486–9. doi:10.4161/cbt.1.5.161
- Bernt KM, Ni S, Tieu AT, Lieber A. Assessment of a combined, adenovirusmediated oncolytic and immunostimulatory tumor therapy. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(10):4343–52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3527
- 60. Barnard Z, Wakimoto H, Zaupa C, Patel AP, Klehm J, Martuza RL, et al. Expression of FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand by oncolytic herpes simplex virus type I prolongs survival in mice bearing established syngeneic intracranial malignant glioma. *Neurosurgery* (2012) **71**(3):741–8. doi:10.1227/NEU. 0b013e318260fd73 discussion 8,
- 61. Li J, O'Malley M, Urban J, Sampath P, Guo ZS, Kalinski P, et al. Chemokine expression from oncolytic vaccinia virus enhances vaccine therapies of cancer. *Mol Ther* (2011) **19**(4):650–7. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.312
- Lapteva N, Aldrich M, Weksberg D, Rollins L, Goltsova T, Chen SY, et al. Targeting the intratumoral dendritic cells by the oncolytic adenoviral vaccine expressing RANTES elicits potent antitumor immunity. *J Immunother* (2009) 32(2):145–56. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e318193d31e
- 63. Li J, O'Malley M, Sampath P, Kalinski P, Bartlett DL, Thorne SH. Expression of CCL19 from oncolytic vaccinia enhances immunotherapeutic potential while maintaining oncolytic activity. *Neoplasia* (2012) 14(12):1115–21.
- 64. Reichel CA, Puhr-Westerheide D, Zuchtriegel G, Uhl B, Berberich N, Zahler S, et al. C-C motif chemokine CCL3 and canonical neutrophil attractants promote neutrophil extravasation through common and distinct

mechanisms. *Blood* (2012) **120**(4):880–90. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-01-402164

- 65. Alvarez-Breckenridge CA, Yu J, Price R, Wei M, Wang Y, Nowicki MO, et al. The histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic acid lessens NK cell action against oncolytic virus-infected glioblastoma cells by inhibition of STAT5/T-BET signaling and generation of gamma interferon. *J Virol* (2012) **86**(8):4566–77. doi:10.1128/JVI.05545-11
- Bhat R, Dempe S, Dinsart C, Rommelaere J. Enhancement of NK cell antitumor responses using an oncolytic parvovirus. *Int J Cancer* (2011) **128**(4):908–19. doi:10.1002/ijc.25415
- Galivo F, Diaz RM, Thanarajasingam U, Jevremovic D, Wongthida P, Thompson J, et al. Interference of CD40L-mediated tumor immunotherapy by oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus. *Hum Gene Ther* (2010) 21(4):439–50. doi:10.1089/hum.2009.143
- 68. Feder-Mengus C, Schultz-Thater E, Oertli D, Marti WR, Heberer M, Spagnoli GC, et al. Nonreplicating recombinant vaccinia virus expressing CD40 ligand enhances APC capacity to stimulate specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses. *Hum Gene Ther* (2005) 16(3):348–60. doi:10.1089/hum.2005.16.348
- Huang XF, Ren W, Rollins L, Pittman P, Shah M, Shen L, et al. A broadly applicable, personalized heat shock protein-mediated oncolytic tumor vaccine. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(21):7321–9.
- Bridle BW, Stephenson KB, Boudreau JE, Koshy S, Kazdhan N, Pullenayegum E, et al. Potentiating cancer immunotherapy using an oncolytic virus. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(8):1430–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.98
- 71. Granot T, Yamanashi Y, Meruelo D. Sindbis viral vectors transiently deliver tumor-associated antigens to lymph nodes and elicit diversified antitumor CD8(+) T-cell immunity. *Mol Ther* (2014) 22(1):112–22. doi:10.1038/ mt.2013.215
- Willmon CL, Saloura V, Fridlender ZG, Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Thompson J, et al. Expression of IFN-beta enhances both efficacy and safety of oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus for therapy of mesothelioma. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(19):7713–20. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1013
- Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Pulido C, Rommelfanger D, Galivo F, Kaluza K, et al. Activating systemic T-cell immunity against self tumor antigens to support oncolytic virotherapy with vesicular stomatitis virus. *Hum Gene Ther* (2011) 22(11):1343–53. doi:10.1089/hum.2010.216
- Rommelfanger DM, Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Kaluza KM, Thompson JM, Kottke TJ, et al. Systemic combination virotherapy for melanoma with tumor antigenexpressing vesicular stomatitis virus and adoptive T-cell transfer. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(18):4753–64. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0600
- Humphries C. Adoptive cell therapy: honing that killer instinct. *Nature* (2013) 504(7480):S13–5. doi:10.1038/504S13a
- Vaha-Koskela MJ, Heikkila JE, Hinkkanen AE. Oncolytic viruses in cancer therapy. Cancer Lett (2007) 254(2):178–216. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2007.02.002
- Russell SJ, Peng KW, Bell JC. Oncolytic virotherapy. Nat Biotechnol (2012) 30(7):658–70. doi:10.1038/nbt.2287
- 78. Romagnani C, Della Chiesa M, Kohler S, Moewes B, Radbruch A, Moretta L, et al. Activation of human NK cells by plasmacytoid dendritic cells and its modulation by CD4+ T helper cells and CD4+ CD25hi T regulatory cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35(8):2452–8. doi:10.1002/eji.200526069
- Dorner T, Radbruch A. Antibodies and B cell memory in viral immunity. *Immunity* (2007) 27(3):384–92. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.09.002
- Stoermer KA, Morrison TE. Complement and viral pathogenesis. Virology (2011) 411(2):362–73. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2010.12.045
- Fisher KD, Stallwood Y, Green NK, Ulbrich K, Mautner V, Seymour LW. Polymer-coated adenovirus permits efficient retargeting and evades neutralising antibodies. *Gene Ther* (2001) 8(5):341–8. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3301389
- 82. Massari I, Donnini A, Argentati K, Straino S, Mangoni A, Gaetano C, et al. Agedependent effects of repeated immunization with a first generation adenovirus vector on the immune response and transgene expression in young and old rats. *Exp Gerontol* (2002) **37**(6):823–31. doi:10.1016/S0531-5565(02)00011-6
- 83. Ikeda K, Wakimoto H, Ichikawa T, Jhung S, Hochberg FH, Louis DN, et al. Complement depletion facilitates the infection of multiple brain tumors by an intravascular, replication-conditional herpes simplex virus mutant. *J Virol* (2000) 74(10):4765–75. doi:10.1128/JVI.74.10.4765-4775.2000
- Pensiero MN, Wysocki CA, Nader K, Kikuchi GE. Development of amphotropic murine retrovirus vectors resistant to inactivation by human serum. *Hum Gene Ther* (1996) 7(9):1095–101. doi:10.1089/hum.1996.7.9-1095

- Devaud C, John LB, Westwood JA, Darcy PK, Kershaw MH. Immune modulation of the tumor microenvironment for enhancing cancer immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology (2013) 2(8):e25961. doi:10.4161/onci.25961
- Groh V, Wu J, Yee C, Spies T. Tumour-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. *Nature* (2002) 419(6908):734–8. doi:10.1038/nature01112
- Groh V, Smythe K, Dai Z, Spies T. Fas-ligand-mediated paracrine T cell regulation by the receptor NKG2D in tumor immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7(7):755–62. doi:10.1038/ni0906-1004a
- Whiteside TL. Tumor-induced death of immune cells: its mechanisms and consequences. Semin Cancer Biol (2002) 12(1):43–50. doi:10.1006/scbi.2001.0402
- Palazon A, Aragones J, Morales-Kastresana A, de Landazuri MO, Melero I. Molecular pathways: hypoxia response in immune cells fighting or promoting cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(5):1207–13. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1591
- Mendler AN, Hu B, Prinz PU, Kreutz M, Gottfried E, Noessner E. Tumor lactic acidosis suppresses CTL function by inhibition of p38 and JNK/c-Jun activation. Int J Cancer (2012) 131(3):633–40. doi:10.1002/ijc.26410
- Lun X, Alain T, Zemp FJ, Zhou H, Rahman MM, Hamilton MG, et al. Myxoma virus virotherapy for glioma in immunocompetent animal models: optimizing administration routes and synergy with rapamycin. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70(2):598–608. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1510
- Smyth JW, Fleeton MN, Sheahan BJ, Atkins GJ. Treatment of rapidly growing K-BALB and CT26 mouse tumours using Semliki Forest virus and its derived vector. *Gene Ther* (2005) 12(2):147–59. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3302390
- 93. Vaha-Koskela MJ, Kallio JP, Jansson LC, Heikkila JE, Zakhartchenko VA, Kallajoki MA, et al. Oncolytic capacity of attenuated replicative semliki forest virus in human melanoma xenografts in severe combined immunodeficient mice. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(14):7185–94. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2214
- 94. Cordaro TA, de Visser KE, Tirion FH, Graus YM, Haanen JB, Kioussis D, et al. Tumor size at the time of adoptive transfer determines whether tumor rejection occurs. Eur J Immunol (2000) 30(5):1297–307. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(200005)30:5<1297::AID-IMMU1297>3.0.CO;2-C
- 95. Li ZY, Ni S, Yang X, Kiviat N, Lieber A. Xenograft models for liver metastasis: relationship between tumor morphology and adenovirus vector transduction. *Mol Ther* (2004) 9(5):650–7. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2004.01.021
- Stohrer M, Boucher Y, Stangassinger M, Jain RK. Oncotic pressure in solid tumors is elevated. *Cancer Res* (2000) 60(15):4251–5.
- Bilbao R, Bustos M, Alzuguren P, Pajares MJ, Drozdzik M, Qian C, et al. A blood-tumor barrier limits gene transfer to experimental liver cancer: the effect of vasoactive compounds. *Gene Ther* (2000) 7(21):1824–32. doi:10.1038/sj.gt. 3301312
- Cairns R, Papandreou I, Denko N. Overcoming physiologic barriers to cancer treatment by molecularly targeting the tumor microenvironment. *Mol Cancer Res* (2006) 4(2):61–70. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-06-0002
- 99. Alain T, Kim M, Johnston RN, Urbanski S, Kossakowska AE, Forsyth PA, et al. The oncolytic effect in vivo of reovirus on tumour cells that have survived reovirus cell killing in vitro. Br J Cancer (2006) 95(8):1020–7. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6603363
- 100. Kim YT, Ganly I, Brown R, Stuart D. Acquired resistance to cytolysis of the E1B-attenuated adenovirus, dl1520, in ovarian tumour cell lines. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2003) 10(8):589–90.
- Vitale I, Galluzzi L, Castedo M, Kroemer G. Mitotic catastrophe: a mechanism for avoiding genomic instability. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2011) 12(6):385–92. doi:10.1038/nrm3115
- 102. Nguyen TL, Abdelbary H, Arguello M, Breitbach C, Leveille S, Diallo JS, et al. Chemical targeting of the innate antiviral response by histone deacetylase inhibitors renders refractory cancers sensitive to viral oncolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(39):14981–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0803988105
- 103. Diallo JS, Le Boeuf F, Lai F, Cox J, Vaha-Koskela M, Abdelbary H, et al. A high-throughput pharmacoviral approach identifies novel oncolytic virus sensitizers. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(6):1123–9. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.67
- 104. Hirasawa K, Nishikawa SG, Norman KL, Coffey MC, Thompson BG, Yoon CS, et al. Systemic reovirus therapy of metastatic cancer in immune-competent mice. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(2):348–53.
- 105. Smakman N, van der Bilt JD, van den Wollenberg DJ, Hoeben RC, Borel Rinkes IH, Kranenburg O. Immunosuppression promotes reovirus therapy of colorectal liver metastases. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2006) 13(8):815–8.

- 106. Ikeda K, Ichikawa T, Wakimoto H, Silver JS, Deisboeck TS, Finkelstein D, et al. Oncolytic virus therapy of multiple tumors in the brain requires suppression of innate and elicited antiviral responses. *Nat Med* (1999) 5(8):881–7. doi:10.1038/11320
- 107. Kambara H, Saeki Y, Chiocca EA. Cyclophosphamide allows for in vivo dose reduction of a potent oncolytic virus. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(24):11255–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2278
- 108. Thomas MA, Spencer JF, Toth K, Sagartz JE, Phillips NJ, Wold WS. Immunosuppression enhances oncolytic adenovirus replication and antitumor efficacy in the Syrian hamster model. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16(10):1665–73. doi:10.1038/ mt.2008.162
- 109. Ungerechts G, Springfeld C, Frenzke ME, Lampe J, Parker WB, Sorscher EJ, et al. An immunocompetent murine model for oncolysis with an armed and targeted measles virus. *Mol Ther* (2007) 15(11):1991–7. doi:10.1038/sj.mt.6300291
- 110. Qiao J, Wang H, Kottke T, White C, Twigger K, Diaz RM, et al. Cyclophosphamide facilitates antitumor efficacy against subcutaneous tumors following intravenous delivery of reovirus. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(1):259–69. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1510
- 111. Kottke T, Thompson J, Diaz RM, Pulido J, Willmon C, Coffey M, et al. Improved systemic delivery of oncolytic reovirus to established tumors using preconditioning with cyclophosphamide-mediated Treg modulation and interleukin-2. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) **15**(2):561–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1688
- 112. Lun XQ, Jang JH, Tang N, Deng H, Head R, Bell JC, et al. Efficacy of systemically administered oncolytic vaccinia virotherapy for malignant gliomas is enhanced by combination therapy with rapamycin or cyclophosphamide. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(8):2777–88. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2342
- 113. Kim HS, Kim-Schulze S, Kim DW, Kaufman HL. Host lymphodepletion enhances the therapeutic activity of an oncolytic vaccinia virus expressing 4-1BB ligand. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(21):8516–25. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2522
- 114. Ghiringhelli F, Larmonier N, Schmitt E, Parcellier A, Cathelin D, Garrido C, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress tumor immunity but are sensitive to cyclophosphamide which allows immunotherapy of established tumors to be curative. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) **34**(2):336–44. doi:10.1002/eji. 200324181
- 115. Tseng CW, Hung CF, Alvarez RD, Trimble C, Huh WK, Kim D, et al. Pretreatment with cisplatin enhances E7-specific CD8+ T-Cell-mediated antitumor immunity induced by DNA vaccination. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(10):3185–92. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0037
- 116. Lutsiak ME, Semnani RT, De Pascalis R, Kashmiri SV, Schlom J, Sabzevari H. Inhibition of CD4(+)25+ T regulatory cell function implicated in enhanced immune response by low-dose cyclophosphamide. *Blood* (2005) 105(7):2862–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-06-2410
- 117. Ercolini AM, Ladle BH, Manning EA, Pfannenstiel LW, Armstrong TD, Machiels JP, et al. Recruitment of latent pools of high-avidity CD8(+) T cells to the antitumor immune response. J Exp Med (2005) 201(10):1591–602. doi:10.1084/jem.20042167
- 118. Zhang L, Dermawan K, Jin M, Liu R, Zheng H, Xu L, et al. Differential impairment of regulatory T cells rather than effector T cells by paclitaxel-based chemotherapy. *Clin Immunol* (2008) **129**(2):219–29. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2008. 07.013
- 119. Beyer M, Kochanek M, Darabi K, Popov A, Jensen M, Endl E, et al. Reduced frequencies and suppressive function of CD4+CD25hi regulatory T cells in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia after therapy with fludarabine. *Blood* (2005) **106**(6):2018–25. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-02-0642
- 120. Banissi C, Ghiringhelli F, Chen L, Carpentier AF. Treg depletion with a low-dose metronomic temozolomide regimen in a rat glioma model. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58(10):1627–34. doi:10.1007/s00262-009-0671-1
- 121. Chen CA, Ho CM, Chang MC, Sun WZ, Chen YL, Chiang YC, et al. Metronomic chemotherapy enhances antitumor effects of cancer vaccine by depleting regulatory T lymphocytes and inhibiting tumor angiogenesis. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(6):1233–43. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.34
- 122. Hermans IF, Chong TW, Palmowski MJ, Harris AL, Cerundolo V. Synergistic effect of metronomic dosing of cyclophosphamide combined with specific antitumor immunotherapy in a murine melanoma model. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(23):8408–13.
- 123. Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Puig PE, Ladoire S, Roux S, Martin F, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide regimen selectively depletes CD4+CD25+

regulatory T cells and restores T and NK effector functions in end stage cancer patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2007) **56**(5):641–8. doi:10. 1007/s00262-006-0225-8

- 124. Kottke T, Galivo F, Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Thompson J, Jevremovic D, et al. Treg depletion-enhanced IL-2 treatment facilitates therapy of established tumors using systemically delivered oncolytic virus. *Mol Ther* (2008) **16**(7):1217–26. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.83
- 125. Cerullo V, Diaconu I, Kangasniemi L, Rajecki M, Escutenaire S, Koski A, et al. Immunological effects of low-dose cyclophosphamide in cancer patients treated with oncolytic adenovirus. *Mol Ther* (2011) **19**(9):1737–46. doi:10. 1038/mt.2011.113
- 126. Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(3):162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506
- 127. Serafini P, Mgebroff S, Noonan K, Borrello I. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells promote cross-tolerance in B-cell lymphoma by expanding regulatory T cells. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68(13):5439–49. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6621
- 128. Sinha P, Clements VK, Bunt SK, Albelda SM, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Crosstalk between myeloid-derived suppressor cells and macrophages subverts tumor immunity toward a type 2 response. *J Immunol* (2007) **179**(2):977–83. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.2.977
- 129. Huang B, Pan PY, Li Q, Sato AI, Levy DE, Bromberg J, et al. Gr-1+CD115+ immature myeloid suppressor cells mediate the development of tumor-induced T regulatory cells and T-cell anergy in tumor-bearing host. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(2):1123–31. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1299
- 130. Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11(18):6713–21. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0883
- 131. Ko JS, Rayman P, Ireland J, Swaidani S, Li G, Bunting KD, et al. Direct and differential suppression of myeloid-derived suppressor cell subsets by sunitinib is compartmentally constrained. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(9):3526–36. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3278
- 132. Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5-Fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(8):3052–61. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3690
- 133. Kodumudi KN, Woan K, Gilvary DL, Sahakian E, Wei S, Djeu JY. A novel chemoimmunomodulating property of docetaxel: suppression of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor bearers. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16(18):4583–94. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0733
- 134. Kusmartsev S, Cheng F, Yu B, Nefedova Y, Sotomayor E, Lush R, et al. All-transretinoic acid eliminates immature myeloid cells from tumor-bearing mice and improves the effect of vaccination. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(15):4441–9.
- 135. Esaki S, Goshima F, Kimura H, Murakami S, Nishiyama Y. Enhanced antitumoral activity of oncolytic herpes simplex virus with gemcitabine using colorectal tumor models. *Int J Cancer* (2013) **132**(7):1592–601. doi:10.1002/ijc. 27823
- 136. Takehara Y, Satoh T, Nishizawa A, Saeki K, Nakamura M, Masuzawa M, et al. Anti-tumor effects of inactivated Sendai virus particles with an IL-2 gene on angiosarcoma. *Clin Immunol* (2013) **149**(1):1–10. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2013.05. 019
- 137. Bhattacharyya M, Francis J, Eddouadi A, Lemoine NR, Hallden G. An oncolytic adenovirus defective in pRb-binding (dl922-947) can efficiently eliminate pancreatic cancer cells and tumors in vivo in combination with 5-FU or gemcitabine. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2011) 18(10):734–43. doi:10.1038/cgt.2011.45
- 138. Jha BK, Dong B, Nguyen CT, Polyakova I, Silverman RH. Suppression of antiviral innate immunity by sunitinib enhances oncolytic virotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21(9):1749–57. doi:10.1038/mt.2013.112
- 139. Kulu Y, Kawasaki H, Donahue JM, Kasuya H, Cusack JC, Choi EW, et al. Concurrent chemotherapy inhibits herpes simplex virus-1 replication and oncolysis. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2013) **20**(2):133–40. doi:10.1038/cgt.2012.97
- 140. Kaneno R, Shurin GV, Kaneno FM, Naiditch H, Luo J, Shurin MR. Chemotherapeutic agents in low noncytotoxic concentrations increase immunogenicity of human colon cancer cells. *Cell Oncol (Dordr)* (2011) 34(2):97–106. doi:10.1007/s13402-010-0005-5
- 141. Correale P, Aquino A, Giuliani A, Pellegrini M, Micheli L, Cusi MG, et al. Treatment of colon and breast carcinoma cells with 5-fluorouracil enhances expression of carcinoembryonic antigen and susceptibility to HLA-A(*)02.01

restricted, CEA-peptide-specific cytotoxic T cells in vitro. *Int J Cancer* (2003) **104**(4):437–45. doi:10.1002/ijc.10969

- 142. Adair SJ, Hogan KT. Treatment of ovarian cancer cell lines with 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine upregulates the expression of cancer-testis antigens and class I major histocompatibility complex-encoded molecules. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58(4):589–601. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0582-6
- 143. Fonsatti E, Nicolay HJ, Sigalotti L, Calabro L, Pezzani L, Colizzi F, et al. Functional up-regulation of human leukocyte antigen class I antigens expression by 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine in cutaneous melanoma: immunotherapeutic implications. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(11):3333–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-06-3091
- 144. Donepudi M, Raychaudhuri P, Bluestone JA, Mokyr MB. Mechanism of melphalan-induced B7-1 gene expression in P815 tumor cells. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(11):6491–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.11.6491
- 145. Sojka DK, Donepudi M, Bluestone JA, Mokyr MB. Melphalan and other anticancer modalities up-regulate B7-1 gene expression in tumor cells. *J Immunol* (2000) 164(12):6230–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.12.6230
- 146. Vereecque R, Saudemont A, Quesnel B. Cytosine arabinoside induces costimulatory molecule expression in acute myeloid leukemia cells. *Leukemia* (2004) 18(7):1223–30. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2403391
- 147. Ghebeh H, Lehe C, Barhoush E, Al-Romaih K, Tulbah A, Al-Alwan M, et al. Doxorubicin downregulates cell surface B7-H1 expression and upregulates its nuclear expression in breast cancer cells: role of B7-H1 as an anti-apoptotic molecule. *Breast Cancer Res* (2010) 12(4):R48. doi:10.1186/bcr2605
- 148. van der Most RG, Currie AJ, Cleaver AL, Salmons J, Nowak AK, Mahendran S, et al. Cyclophosphamide chemotherapy sensitizes tumor cells to TRAIL-dependent CD8 T cell-mediated immune attack resulting in suppression of tumor growth. *PLoS One* (2009) 4(9):e6982. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0006982
- 149. Yang S, Haluska FG. Treatment of melanoma with 5-fluorouracil or dacarbazine in vitro sensitizes cells to antigen-specific CTL lysis through perforin/granzyme- and Fas-mediated pathways. J Immunol (2004) 172(7):4599–608. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.7.4599
- 150. Breitbach CJ, Burke J, Jonker D, Stephenson J, Haas AR, Chow LQ, et al. Intravenous delivery of a multi-mechanistic cancer-targeted oncolytic poxvirus in humans. *Nature* (2011) **477**(7362):99–102. doi:10.1038/nature10358
- 151. Sobol PT, Boudreau JE, Stephenson K, Wan Y, Lichty BD, Mossman KL. Adaptive antiviral immunity is a determinant of the therapeutic success of oncolytic virotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2011) **19**(2):335–44. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.264
- 152. Stanford MM, Barrett JW, Nazarian SH, Werden S, McFadden G. Oncolytic virotherapy synergism with signaling inhibitors: rapamycin increases myxoma virus tropism for human tumor cells. J Virol (2007) 81(3):1251–60. doi:10.1128/JVI.01408-06
- 153. Homicsko K, Lukashev A, Iggo RD. RAD001 (everolimus) improves the efficacy of replicating adenoviruses that target colon cancer. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(15):6882–90. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0309
- 154. Chen W, Ma T, Shen XN, Xia XF, Xu GD, Bai XL, et al. Macrophage-induced tumor angiogenesis is regulated by the TSC2-mTOR pathway. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(6):1363–72. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2684
- 155. Khan AN, Magner WJ, Tomasi TB. An epigenetic vaccine model active in the prevention and treatment of melanoma. J Transl Med (2007) 5:64. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-5-64
- 156. Otsuki A, Patel A, Kasai K, Suzuki M, Kurozumi K, Chiocca EA, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors augment antitumor efficacy of herpes-based oncolytic viruses. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16(9):1546–55. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.155
- 157. Katsura T, Iwai S, Ota Y, Shimizu H, Ikuta K, Yura Y. The effects of trichostatin A on the oncolytic ability of herpes simplex virus for oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2009) **16**(3):237–45. doi:10.1038/cgt.2008.81
- 158. MacTavish H, Diallo JS, Huang B, Stanford M, Le Boeuf F, De Silva N, et al. Enhancement of vaccinia virus based oncolysis with histone deacetylase inhibitors. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(12):e14462. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014462
- 159. Genin P, Morin P, Civas A. Impairment of interferon-induced IRF-7 gene expression due to inhibition of ISGF3 formation by trichostatin A. J Virol (2003) 77(12):7113–9. doi:10.1128/JVI.77.12.7113-7119.2003

- 160. Liu TC, Castelo-Branco P, Rabkin SD, Martuza RL. Trichostatin A and oncolytic HSV combination therapy shows enhanced antitumoral and antiangiogenic effects. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16(6):1041–7. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.58
- 161. Xin H, Zhang C, Herrmann A, Du Y, Figlin R, Yu H. Sunitinib inhibition of Stat3 induces renal cell carcinoma tumor cell apoptosis and reduces immunosuppressive cells. *Cancer Res* (2009) **69**(6):2506–13. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-08-4323
- 162. Kottke T, Hall G, Pulido J, Diaz RM, Thompson J, Chong H, et al. Antiangiogenic cancer therapy combined with oncolytic virotherapy leads to regression of established tumors in mice. J Clin Invest (2010) 120(5):1551–60. doi:10.1172/JCI41431
- 163. Matsumura Y, Maeda H. A new concept for macromolecular therapeutics in cancer chemotherapy: mechanism of tumoritropic accumulation of proteins and the antitumor agent smancs. *Cancer Res* (1986) 46(12 Pt 1):6387–92.
- 164. Fang J, Nakamura H, Maeda H. The EPR effect: unique features of tumor blood vessels for drug delivery, factors involved, and limitations and augmentation of the effect. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* (2011) **63**(3):136–51. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2010. 04.009
- 165. Aghi M, Rabkin SD, Martuza RL. Angiogenic response caused by oncolytic herpes simplex virus-induced reduced thrombospondin expression can be prevented by specific viral mutations or by administering a thrombospondinderived peptide. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(2):440–4. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3145
- 166. Bartlett DL, Liu Z, Sathaiah M, Ravindranathan R, Guo Z, He Y, et al. Oncolytic viruses as therapeutic cancer vaccines. *Mol Cancer* (2013) 12(1):103. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-12-103
- 167. Prestwich RJ, Harrington KJ, Pandha HS, Vile RG, Melcher AA, Errington F. Oncolytic viruses: a novel form of immunotherapy. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* (2008) 8(10):1581–8. doi:10.1586/14737140.8.10.1581
- 168. Eisenberg DP, Adusumilli PS, Hendershott KJ, Yu Z, Mullerad M, Chan MK, et al. 5-Fluorouracil and gemcitabine potentiate the efficacy of oncolytic herpes viral gene therapy in the treatment of pancreatic cancer. *J Gastrointest Surg* (2005) 9(8):1068–77. doi:10.1016/j.gassur.2005.06.024 discussion 77-9,
- 169. Braidwood LGS, Graham A, Conner J. Oncolytic herpes viruses, chemotherapeutics, and other cancer drugs. Oncolytic Virother (2013) 2:57–74. doi:10. 2147/OV.S52601
- 170. Eshun FK, Currier MA, Gillespie RA, Fitzpatrick JL, Baird WH, Cripe TP. VEGF blockade decreases the tumor uptake of systemic oncolytic herpes virus but enhances therapeutic efficacy when given after virotherapy. *Gene Ther* (2010) 17(7):922–9. doi:10.1038/gt.2010.82
- 171. Bridle BW, Chen L, Lemay CG, Diallo JS, Pol J, Nguyen A, et al. HDAC inhibition suppresses primary immune responses, enhances secondary immune responses, and abrogates autoimmunity during tumor immunotherapy. *Mol Ther* (2013) 21(4):887–94. doi:10.1038/mt.2012.265

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 19 March 2014; paper pending published: 21 May 2014; accepted: 28 May 2014; published online: 11 June 2014.

Citation: Nguyen A, Ho L and Wan Y (2014) Chemotherapy and oncolytic virotherapy: advanced tactics in the war against cancer. Front. Oncol. 4:145. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00145

This article was submitted to Tumor Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Nguyen, Ho and Wan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.